# Advances in Neurosurgery 17



# Head Injuries

# Prognosis Evoked Potentials Microsurgery Brain Death

Edited by R.A. Frowein M. Brock M. Klinger

With 154 Figures and 96 Tables

Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York London Paris Tokyo

### Proceedings of the 39th Annual Meeting of the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Neurochirurgie Cologne, May 8–11, 1988

Prof. Dr. Reinhold A. Frowein Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Köln Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

Prof. Dr. Mario Brock Neurochirurgische Klinik und Poliklinik Universitätsklinikum Steglitz, Freie Universität Berlin Hindenburgdamm 30, D-1000 Berlin 45

Prof. Dr. Margareta Klinger Neurochirurgische Klinik der Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg Schwabachanlage 6 (Kopfklinikum), D-8520 Erlangen

ISBN-13: 978-3-540-50550-1 e-ISBN-13: 978-3-642-74279-8 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-74279-8

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Neurochirurgie Tagung (39th. 1988. Cologne, Germany) Head injuries. (Advances in neurosurgery; 17) "Proceedings of the 39th Annual Meeting of the Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Neurochirurgie, Cologne, May 8–11, 1988"–T.p. verso. Includes bibliographies and index 1. Brain damage–Prognosis–Congresses. 2. Brain damage–Surgery–Congresses. 3 Evoked potentials (Electrophysiology)–Congresses. 4. Brain damage–Diagnosis–Congresses. 5 Brain death–Congresses. I Frowein, R.A (Reinhold A.), 1923- II. Brock, M (Mario), 1938- III. Klinger, M. (Margareta), 1943- IV. Title. V. Series RC387 5.D48 1988 617.4'81 89-6274

This work is subject to copyright All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in other ways, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is only permitted under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its version of June 24, 1985, and a copyright fee must always be paid. Violations fall under the prosecution act of the German Copyright Law.

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989 Softcover reprint of the hardcover 1st edition 1989

The use of registered names, trademarks, etc in the publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Product Liability: The publisher can give no guarantee for information about drug dosage and application thereof contained in this book. In every individual case the respective user must check its accuracy by consulting other pharmaceutical literature.

Offsetprinting and Binding Druckhaus Beltz, Hemsbach/Bergstr. 2122/3130-543210 – Printed on acid-free paper

### List of Contributors\*

Abe, S. 337 Hahn, L. 66 Harders, A. 198 Adelt, D. 107 Hashimoto, T. 337 Ammirati, M. 188 Hassler, W. 287, 304, 310 Anagnostopoulos-Haubitz, I. 66 Schleep, J. 331 Haupt, W.F. 259 Heintz, P. 351 Hirsch, H. 254 Baerwald, R. 344 Baumgärtner, H. 112 Bertalanffy, H. 158, 198 Bini, W. 140 Bock, W.J. 243 Hirschl, M. 316 Höger, Ch. 57 Brüning, A. 203 Bühl, G. 107 Hoffmann, B. 299 Hohmann, V. 254 Hundeshagen, H. 351 Kaegler, M. 254 Christophis, P. 102, 270 Clausert, L. 49 Cordes, M. 344 Kanki, T. 337 Csécsei, G. 102, 270 Karimi-Nejad, A. 225 Demmer, G. 281 Dewes, W. 27 Kayser, P. 23 Kilian, F. 240 Klein, H.J. 178 Dietrich, B. 117 Dietz, H. 351 Klug, N. 102, 270 Döring, H.P. 23 Klun, B. 53 Ebeling, U. 194 Knosp, E. 153 Eggert, H.R. 158 König, H.-J. 61, 331 Ehrenheim, Ch. 351 Engel, W. 93 Kolenda, H. 49, 57 Kolodziejczyk, D. 112 Eskinja, N. 164 Krähling, K.H. 331 Faßbinder, W. 246 Kreth, F. 220, 246 Feldges, A. 17, 281, 299 Kunz, U. 351 Firsching, R. 36, 237, 275 Kurthen, M. 27 Friedrich, U. 251 Lang, J. 125 Langer, C. 240 Frowein, R.A. 36, 73, 81, 237, 275, 292 Fürsch, A. 246 Gaab, M.R. 66, 97, 182 Gawlowski, J. 310 Lasjaunias, P. 133 Laun, A. 23, 270 Lausberg, G. 357 Loew, F. 117 Löhr, E. 299 Gerlach, L. 344 Lorenz, M. 66, 97 Gilsbach, J. 198 Grote, E. 310 Grote, W. 17 Lorenz, R. 220, 246 Ludin, H.P. 174 Grumme, Th. 112 Ludt, H. 117

\* The address of the senior author is indicated below the relevant contribution heading.

Mahran, A. 140 Maier-Hauff, K. 344 Mais, J. 93 Markakis, E. 49 Matula Ch. 153 Mayfrank, L. 198 Mehdorn, H.M. 17, 299 Meinig, G. 87 Mewe, R. 61 Molsen, H.-P. 78 Mooij, J.J.A. 295 Moskopp, D. 27 Mues, B. 254 Nakamura, N. 337 Nanassis, K. 237, 292 Naraghi, R. 182 Nau, H.-E. 17, 93, 240, 281 Pendl, G. 316 Perneczky, A. 153 Peters, R. 73 Pirschel, J. 310 Pothe, H. 327 Prohl, U. 87 Rama, B. 49 Rath, S.A. 178 Reinhard, V. 240 Reith, Ch. 357 Reulen, H.J. 174, 194 Reuter, F. 43 Richard, K.E. 73, 81, 292 Richter, J. 87 Rodesch, G. 133 Roth, B. 321 Samii, M. 140, 188 Schade, M. 57 Schäffer, J. 203 Schauseil-Zipf, U. 321 Scheremet, R. 158 Schmid, U.D. 174 Schmidt, K. 178

Schöner, W. 49 Schöppe, W. 246 Schröder, R. 292, 321 Schürmann, K. 1 Schwerdtfeger, K. 117 Seeger, W. 158 Seifert, V. 203, 214 Seiler, R.W. 174 Sepehrnia, A. 140 Siedschlag, W.-D. 78, 251 Sollmann, W.-P. 97 Solymosi, L. 27 Sprick, C. 243 Steinmetz, H. 304 Steudel, W.I. 220, 246 v. Stockert, A. 208 Stolke, D. 203, 214 Strowitzki, M. 117 Sturzenegger, M. 174 v. Tempelhoff, W. 243 Terbrugge, K. 133 Terhaag, D. 36 Trost, H.A. 66, 203, 214 Turner, E. 49 Ulrich, P. 87 van Ouwerkerk, W.J.R. 188 Verhagen, I.T.H.J. 295 Voßkämper, M. 321 Wagner, W. 264 Walter, G.F. 182 Warncke, J. 43 Wassmann, H. 208 Werner, C. 208 Wiedemayer, H. 17, 93, 240, 281 von Wild, K. 164 Winkelmann, H. 78, 251 Wirtelarz, R. 81 Zeilstra, D.J. 295 Zentner, J. 287

### Preface

This 17th Volume of Advances in Neurosurgery contains a selection of the scientific reports of the 39th Annual Meeting of the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Neurochirurgie, which was held in Cologne on 8-11 May 1988.

The meeting commenced with the FEDOR KRAUSE MEMORIAL LECTURE, in which Prof. Dr. Dr. Kurt Schürmann presented a universal report on his long excellent clinical and operative experience with tumors of the orbit.

The first section of the subsequent contributions dealt in particular with the long-term results of severe head injuries, as well as with problems of acute traumatic hematomas and brain edema.

The second section contained up-to-date papers on microsurgical experiences, especially on the anatomy and operative technique for lesions in and around the jugular foramen and the craniospinal transition.

In the third section the special new results of brain death determination were described.

Beyond this, numerous contributions on clinical and research results were presented in a poster exhibition which was systematically organized in order to give younger neurosurgeons the opportunity for extensive discussion.

I want to express my special thanks to all the authors and organizers as well as to Prof. Klinger and Prof. Brock for their rapid editing of the manuscripts and Springer-Verlag for their renewed acceptance and excellent production of this volume.

R.A. Frowein

## Contents

The Development of Orbital Surgery from a Neuro- surgeon's Viewpoint K. Schürmann (With 11 Figures)	1
Head Injuries - Long-Term Results - Prognosis	
Long-Term Outcome After Severe Head Injury in Children and Young Adults A. Feldges, H. Wiedemayer, HE. Nau, H.M. Mehdorn, and W. Grote (With 3 Figures)	17
Outcome After Severe Head Injury with Midbrain Syndrome in the Acute Stage A. Laun, P. Kayser, and H.P. Döring	23
Comparison of Magnetic Resonance Imaging, X-Ray Computed Tomography, Electroencephalography, and Long-Term Outcome After Head Injury: A Prospec- tive Reexamination of 55 Patients D, Moskopp, W. Dewes, L. Solymosi, and M. Kurthen (With 4 Figures)	27
Longlasting Coma After Head Injury: Late Results R.A. Frowein, D. Terhaag, and R. Firsching (With 6 Figures)	36
Traumatic Intracranial Hemorrhages in Elderly People F. Reuter and J. Warnske (With 2 Riguros)	12
Outcome of Patients with an Acute Traumatic Sub- dural Hematoma B. Rama, L. Clausert, E. Markakis, W. Schöner, H. Kolenda, and E. Turner	43 49
Acute Subdural Hematoma - An Unsolved Neuro- surgical Problem B. Klun (With 3 Figures)	53
Regeneration of Intellectual Functions Following Closed Brain Injury: Follow-up Study on a Pair of Twins Using the Co-twin as Control H. Kolenda, Ch. Höger, and M. Schade (With 2	
Figures)	57

The Influence of Independent Parameters on the Evaluation of Patients with Craniocerebral Trauma and Their Occupational Reintegration	C)
Prognostic Parameters in Severe Head Injury: A Multivariate Analysis H.A. Trost, M.R. Gaab, L. Hahn, M. Lorenz, and J. Haubitz (With 3 Figures)	66
Prognostic Value of Factors Affecting Outcome After Severe Head Injury R. Peters, K.E. Richard, and R.A. Frowein (With 3 Figures)	73
Organizational Model for the Diagnosis and Treat- ment of Skull and Brain Injuries at a Neuro- surgical Clinic with an Integrated Neororadio- logical Department	
H. Winkelmann, HP. Molsen, and WD. Siedschlag (With 4 Figures)	78
Frequency and Prognosis of Traumatic Brain Edema K.E. Richard, R. Wirtelarz, and R.A. Frowein (With 4 Figures)	81
ICP, nrCBF, and Contrast Scan for the Prognosis of Severe Head Injury G. Meinig, P. Ulrich, U. Prohl, and J. Richter	87
Head Injuries - Evoked Potentials	
Value of Multimodality Evoked Potentials in the Diagnosis of Skull/Brain Injuries in Neuro- surgical Intensive Care Units HE. Nau, H. Wiedemayer, J. Mais, and W. Engel	93
Somatosensory Evoked Potentials: Diagnostic and Prognostic Value in Head Injuries M. Lorenz, M.R. Gaab, and WP. Sollmann (With 3 Figures)	97
Prognostic Significance of Somatosensory Evoked Potentials in Traumatic Brain Stem Lesions P. Christophis, G. Csécsei, and N. Klug (With 3 Figures)	103
On the Prognosis of Severe Head Injury Using Multimodal Evoked Potentials D. Adelt and G. Bühl (With 4 Figures)	107
Isolated Traumatic Lesions of Ventricular and Periventricular Regions and Cerebral Midline Structures: Outcome Prediction by CT Scan, Evoked Potentials, and ICP Monitoring	
D. Kolodziejczyk, H. Baumgärtner, and Th. Grumme (With 2 Figures)	112

The Prognostic Importance of Somatosensory Evoked	
Potentials, Computed Tomography, and Clinical	
Findings in Severe Head Trauma	
K. Schwerdtfeger, M. Strowitzki, B. Dietrich,	
H. Ludt, and F. Loew	117

### Microsurgery

Anatomy in and on the Jugular Foramen J. Lang (With 5 Figures)	125
Branchial Paragangliomas G. Rodesch, P. Lasjaunias, and K. Terbrugge (With 4 Figures)	133
Surgery of the Jugular Foramen M. Samii, A. Sepehrnia, A. Mahran, and W. Bini (With 10 Figures)	140
Microsurgical Approaches to the Cavernous Sinus A. Perneczky, E. Knosp, and Ch. Matula (With 3 Figures)	153
A Combined Transsylvian-Subtemporal Approach for Management of Tumors Located in the Cavernous Sinus and in Meckel's Cave	
H. Bertalanffy, H.R. Eggert, R. Scheremet, and W. Seeger (With 1 Figure)	158
Microsurgical Resection of Tumors Involving the Cavernous Sinus: Possibilities and Limitations K. von Wild and N. Eskinja (With 3 Figures)	164
Anesthesia-Independent Facial Nerve Monitoring with Orthodromic Intra/Extracranial Neurography U.D. Schmid, H.J. Reulen, R.W. Seiler, M. Sturzenegger, and H.P. Ludin (With 2 Figures)	174
Clinical Subtyping of Trigeminal Neuralgia and Its Correlation to the Intraoperative Findings and Surgical Results Following Microvascular Decompression H.J. Klein, S.A. Rath, and K. Schmidt	178
Neurovascular Compression as a Cause of Essen- tial Hypertension: A Microanatomical Study R. Naraghi, M.R. Gaab, and G.F. Walter (With 1 Figure)	182
Essential Hypertension in Patients with Hemi- facial Spasm or Trigeminal Neuralgia W.J.R. van Ouwerkerk, M. Samii, and M. Ammirati (With l Figure)	188
Neurosurgical Topography of the Pyramidal Tract U. Ebeling and H.J. Reulen (With 3 Figures)	194
Postoperative Mortality in the Era of Microneu- rosurgery J. Gilsbach, A. Harders, L. Mayfrank, and H. Bertalanffy	198

Incidence, Management, and Outcome of Patients with Premature Rupture of Cerebral Aneurysms During Surgery V. Seifert, D. Stolke, H.A. Trost, A. Brüning, and J. Schäffer	203
Temporary Vessel Occlusion by Microvascular Clips H. Wassmann, C. Werner, and A. v.Stockert (With 4 Figures)	208
Aneurysmal Location and Operative Timing D. Stolke, V. Seifert, and H.A. Trost	214
Ventral Transvertebral Intradural Approach in Cervical and Thoracic Lesions R. Lorenz, W.I. Steudel, and F. Kreth (With 4 Figures)	220
Lateral Approach for Resection of Anterior Craniospinal Tumors A. Karimi-Nejad (With 5 Figures)	225
Brain Death	
Diagnosis of Brain Death R.A. Frowein, R. Firsching, and K. Nanassis	237
Differentiated Diagnostic Measurements in Deter- mining Brain Death in Clinical Practice F. Kilian, HE. Nau, H. Wiedemayer, V. Reinhard, and C. Langer	240
Neurosurgical Diagnosis of Brain Death in the Peripheral Hospital Preceding Multiorgan Donation	
(With 1 Figure)	243
Experience with Determination of Brain Death and Organ Donation N.J. Stoudol, F. Kroth, B. Lorong, A. Fürsch	
W. Faßbinder, and W. Schöppe	246
On Problems in the Determination of Brain Death WD. Siedschlag, U. Friedrich, and H. Winkelmann	251
Latency of Recovery and Electrical Silence of Auditory Evoked Potentials and the Electro- corticogram After Peracute Complete Brain Ischemia of 2-30 Minutes' Duration H. Hirsch, M. Kaegler, V. Hohmann, and B. Mues (With 4 Figures)	254
Methodological and Technical Problems in the Confirmation of Brain Death by Evoked Potentials W.F. Haupt (With 4 Figures)	259

Nasopharyngeal Recording of Subcortical Somatosensory Evoked Potentials in Brain Death W. Wagner (With 3 Figures)	264
Is the Loss of Evoked Potentials and Brain Stem Reflexes as Investigated Electrophysiologically Proof of Brain Death? N. Klug, A. Laun, G. Csécsei, and P. Christophis (With 4 Figures)	270
Multimodality Evoked Potentials in the Diagnosis of Brain Death R. Firsching and R.A. Frowein (With 4 Figures)	275
The Value of Motor Potentials Following Trans- cortical Stimulation in Diagnosing Brain Death - First Results	
H. Wiedemayer, HE. Nau, G. Demmer, and A. Feldges (With l Figure)	281
Motor-Evoked Potentials and Transcranial Doppler Sonography During Development of Cerebral Circulatory Arrest	
J. Zentner and W. Hassler (With 3 Figures)	287
Neuropathology of Brain Death in Relation to Con- tinuously Measured Intracranial Pressure R. Schröder, KE. Richard, K. Nanassis, and R.A. Frowein	292
The Use of Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound Moni- toring in the Determination of Brain Death I.T.H.J. Verhagen, D.J. Zeilstra, and J.J.A. Mooij (With 2 Figures)	295
Comparative Evaluation of Angiography and Trans- cranial Doppler Sonography in the Determination of Intracranial Circulatory Arrest H.M. Mehdorn, A. Feldges, B. Hoffmann, and E. Löhr (With 2 Figures)	299
Hemodynamics of Cerebral Circulatory Arrest: Correlation Between Perfusion Pressure and Blood Flow Velocity	
W. Hassler and H. Steinmetz (With 4 Figures)	304
Comparison of Transcranial Doppler Sonography and Cerebral Angiography for the Diagnosis of Cerebral Circulatory Arrest	
E. Grote (With 3 Figures)	310
Electrographic Changes in Brain-Dead Patients G. Pendl and M. Hirschl (With 2 Figures)	316
Brain Death in Fulminant Hepatic Failure U. Schauseil-Zipf, B. Roth, M. Voßkämper, and R. Schröder	321
Ethical and Legal Aspects of the Diagnosis of Cerebral Death in the GDR H. Pothe	327

XIII

#### New Research

Monitoring of Hemodynamics in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Using Transcranial Doppler and Laser	
T. Hashimoto, N. Nakamura, T. Kanki, and S. Abe (With 4 Figures)	337
Cerebral Blood Flow Measurements with <sup>99m</sup> Tc-HMPAO and <sup>123</sup> I-Amphetamine (HIPDM) in Patients with Cerebral Tumors (1)	
K. Maier-Hauff, L. Gerlach, R. Baerwald, and M. Cordes (With 2 Figures)	344
CSF Flow Visualization by Magnetic Resonance Imaging Techniques - Methods and Clinical Examples	
U. Kunz, P. Heintz, Ch. Ehrenheim, H. Dietz, and H. Hundeshagen (With 4 Figures)	357
Intracranial Complications After Anticoagulant Therapy	
Ch. Reith and G. Lausberg (With 3 Figures)	357
Subject Index	363

# The Development of Orbital Surgery from a Neurosurgeon's Viewpoint

#### K. Schürmann

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Mainz, Langenbeckstraße 1, D-6500 Mainz

#### FEDOR KRAUSE MEMORIAL LECTURE

Mr. President, dear Reinhold Frowein, ladies and gentlemen,

First of all, let me thank you for the great honor you have accorded me. Surely you could have found a more worthy person; nevertheless, I am very happy, especially since I may assume that this honor extends to all the members of my team, who have worked for 30 years with remarkable loyalty towards the goal of achieving a respectable standard of neurosurgery in Mainz in the field of patient care as well as in research. Therefore my gratitude goes first of all to them on this day.

Allow me now to dwell on FEDOR KRAUSE (1857-1937), who, along with OTFRID FOERSTER (1873-1941), is the greatest of our ancestors in Germany. It was WILHELM TÖNNIS, the youngest in the series of great German neurosurgeons, who suggested the creation of the FEDOR KRAUSE MEDAL and the OTFRID FOERSTER MEDAL in 1950, the founding year of the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Neurochirurgie, in order to honor these two remarkable men. He did so using the words of HANS SACHS:

> "Ehret Eure großen Meister, dann bannt Ihr gute Geister".<sup>1</sup>

He could not have justified the creation of the medals in a better way, and we too should act in accordance with this motto, since we owe so much to these old masters.

Who was FEDOR KRAUSE? Well, he was born in 1857, the same year as that important Briton VICTOR HORSLEY. HORSLEY and KRAUSE - two very great men who were nevertheless worlds apart. HORSLEY was a very strong, energetic almost fanatical personality who was exposed to strong criticism and animosity due to his often very aggressive form of surgery and his high rate of fatal results. HORSLEY devoted his studies to the reaction of the brain to electrical stimulation. He made very important contributions to clinical neurophysiology. In contrast FEDOR KRAUSE was a quiet, self-contained, and more modest personality. He had deep rooted artistic tendencies and in his youth had difficulty in deciding whether to pursue a career as a pianist or a physician. Both the playing of the piano and his work as a sen-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Honor your great masters and good spirits will be with you.

In Germany		Outside of Germany	
Hermann HELMHOLTZ Robert KOCH	1821-1894 1843-1910	Victor HORSLEY Charles Scott SHERRINGTON Hughling JACKSON	1857-1916 1857-1952 1835-1911
Eduard HITZIG Wilhelm ERB Carl WERNICKE Hermann OPPENHEIM	1838-1907 1840-1921 1848-1905 1858-1919	Jules Joseph DÉJÉRINE Pierre MARIE Joseph BABINSKI Sergej KORSAKOW	1849-1917 1853-1940 1857-1932 1854-1900
Rudolf VIRCHOW Ludwig EDINGER Franz NISSL Korbinian BRODMANN	1821-1902 1855-1918 1860-1919 1868-1918	Camillo GOLGI Santiago Ramon y CAJAL	1843-1926 1852-1934
Wilhelm Conrad RÖNT(	GEN 1845-1923	3	

Table 1. Well-known contemporaries of FEDOR KRAUSE (1857-1937)

sitive physician were to follow him throughout his life. It is remarkable that after his retirement he gave piano concerts in Rome, where he then lived with his daughter. These concerts were highly praised by Roman critics.

When we look at the contemporaries of FEDOR KRAUSE, we see that he was born into a period of great discoveries and great discoverers. Naturally this did not fail to have an influence on his personality (Table 1).

Table 2. Chronological table of FEDOR KRAUSE'S main contributions to the development of neurosurgery

- 1892 Extradural temporal approach to the ganglion Gasseri over the base of the middle cranial fossa (independent of HARTLEY, USA, also 1892)
- 1894 Laminectomy in intraspinal tumors
- 1898 Unilateral approach to the cerebellopontine angle over a homolateral opening of the posterior cranial fossa
- 1900 Transfrontal approach to the optic chiasm and to the pituitary gland over the base of the anterior cranial fossa
- 1909 Excision of a lumbar disc prolapse (cauda equina-compression by a "ENCHONDROMA")
- 1911 Intraoperative topographical studies on the human cerebral cortex of the central region
- 1913 Suboccipital infratentorial approach to the quadrigeminal region (OP in the sitting position of the patient!)

One should not for a moment forget that neurosurgery at the time of FEDOR KRAUSE was performed only by a few general surgeons who had recognized the importance of surgery of the brain and the spinal cord and who therefore took great risks upon themselves in order to devote their innovative intelligence and their mental powers to this new area. Today we view their work with admiration and amazement.

There is almost no operative approach in modern neurosurgery which FEDOR KRAUSE did not already mention using with success (Table 2). The approach to the orbit, however, is an exception to this rule. It was the prerogative of KRÖNLEIN to perform the first procedure to remove an intraorbital tumor to maintain visual function - he removed a dermoid cyst in a 21-year-old man. The year 1886 witnessed the birth of lateral osseous orbitotomy, later known as KRÖNLEIN'S operation after its inaugurator. Until then enucleation or total orbital exenteration had been the method of choice for the treatment of intraorbital and retrobulbar tumors (Figs. 1-3)

The great merit of KRÖNLEIN'S operation lay in the fact that his procedure carried little operative risk and permitted the maintenance of visual function for the first time, although his method initially remained limited to lateral and upper ventral tumors, which were usually those of the tear gland. It is evident that the KRÖNLEIN operation retains its importance provided it is correctly used and is necessary modified. Let me now describe to you in what manner the orbit and its contents wakened my special interest right from the beginning of my time in Mainz.

The beginning was much simpler than one would think. It was a key experience which led to the later development. This experience occurred in 1955, the first year of my independent work as a young neurosurgeon.

The professor of ophthalmology at that time, Professor JESS lovingly and with respect and admiration called "Papa JESS" (he was almost 70 years old) - asked me, the 35-year-old neurosurgeon with little experience, to see a pretty 15-year-old girl. She was almost blind on the right and was found to have optic atrophy and a slight prominence of the eye, while the X-rays according to RHESE showed a homolateral dilatation of the optic canal. According to our knowledge at that time, this triad was almost pathognomonic for an optic glioma (usually called a spongioblastoma of the optic nerve in our tumor classification of the time). The glioma extended from the rostral end of the eye to the optic canal, thereby leading to isolated dilatation of the optic canal.

Apart from the test of visual acuity, inspection (exophthalmos), palpation (resistance), and X-rays according to RHESE, no methods for demonstrating the optic nerve canal were available at that time. Above all there was no orbitophlebography, no computer tomography, and no magnetic resonance imaging. "Have courage," I said to myself, "you must show what you are capable of." Now one must know that my respected teacher WILHELM TÖNNIS had taught me that these optic gliomas must be operated on in two stages, a technique he had developed with the Berlin ophthalmologist LÖHLEIN and reported in 1948. According to this method, the first part of the procedure is intracranial operation by the neurosurgeon, who separates the optic nerve at the chiasm, dissects it out of the optic canal, and displaces the stump towards the orbit. The optic canal is then separated from the brain by a long-lapped dura flap. A week later the ophthalmologist removes the eyeball together with the optic glioma. That was the way I had seen the method performed in Cologne. But now, being confronted with



Fig. 1 A, B. Fifty-six year old patient with a huge tumor of the right orbit, treated by orbital exenteration in 1652. The patient survived. A Illustration of the patient. B Sketch of the removed tumor. (From Joh. Beyers)



Fig. 2 A, B. Patient with a huge tumor of the left orbit and a large extraorbital mass, a so-called medullary carcinoma. The tumor was removed by orbital exenteration in 1869. A patient before surgery. B patient 15 months after surgery. Patient died later, because of intracranial invasion of a tumor recurrence



Fig. 3 A, B. KRÖNLEIN's original patient at the age of 21 years, in whom in 1886 he performed the first osteoplastic resection of the exterior orbital wall for the removal of a dermoid cyst in the left superior ventrolateral orbit. A Original sketch of the patient from KRÖNLEIN's paper, published in 1888. B Original sketch of KRÖNLEIN's operation, which shows his classical lateral approach to the orbit, later called ORBITOTOMIA OSSEA LATERALIS

a pretty young girl, I thought that a single intracranial procedure without subsequent enucleation of the eyeball would produce a very much better cosmetic and functional result. In order to achieve this, the optic nerve had to be served at the chiasm and removed from the optic canal; upon removing the roof of the orbit temporarily the optic nerve could be pursued to the anterior end of the tumor and then removed. In this way the total removal of the tumor should be possible, I felt. In fact by operating carefully it was possible to preserve not only the eyeball itself but also the ocular muscles and supplying nerves. To put it briefly: the operation was a success.

Since the skin incision was placed behind the delineation between forehead and scalp, the result was very satisfying. The mobility of the eyeball remained undisturbed, the pupil of the blind eye remained narrow due to consensual light reaction, and the exophthalmos was gone. The girl showed no signs of an operation (Fig. 4). Now, why am I relating this? Actually the only reason is to encourage the younger neurosurgeons to reflect intensely on the problems facing them and to have the courage to draw conclusions for action.

To continue my narrative, "Papa JESS" propagated our successful operation in ophthalmological circles with the result that the number of such operations on these and other tumors of the orbit increased steadily, until we are now surveying a series of 436 cases of spaceoccupying lesions of the orbit (Table 3).

In the development of this branch of neurosurgery there were further milestones in Mainz. During the 1950s we operated almost exclusively

#### Table 3. Space occupying lesions of the orbit

Meningeomas	-	74
Cavernous Hemangiomas	-	62
Hemangiopericytoma	-	1
Optic nerve gliomas	-	21
Hamartoma	-	1
Lacrimal glandula tumors (mixed tumors, cylindromas, ca. etc.)	-	35
Mesenchymal tumors (fibromas, myxomas, lipomas)	-	33
Neurofibromas	-	12
Lymphomas (9 primary low grade non-hodgkin's b-cell lymphomas after KIELER classification)	-	21
(EPI-)Dermoids	-	20
Osteomas	-	7
Rhabdomyosarcomas (children)	-	9
Malignant neoplasms (ca, sa, meta, melanomas)	-	34
Granulomas	-	12
Chronic inflammatory fibrous so-called "PSEUDOTUMORS"	-	45
Fibrous dysplasia	-	2
Aneurysmal bone cyst	-	1
Leucemic resp. leucoblastic tumors	-	2
Unclassified tumors	-	30
Inflammation processes and mucoceles	-	14
		436

from the transcranial approach in order to obtain a good view of the contents of the orbit, especially after we learned to remove more and more of the adjoining bony structures, such as the lateral wall of the orbit, the lesser sphenoid wing, the clinoid process, the floor of the middle fossa, and parts of the floor of the orbit (Fig. 5).

The operative view continued to improve steadily and the possibility of maintaining the function of important structures was also much improved over time. The removed bony parts could be reconstructed from adequate materials without difficulty. We used bone (from the



Fig. 4 a-c. Fifteen year old girl, treated in 1955 by a frontal osteoplastic craniotomy and total removal of an optic nerve glioma in one session (see text). a, b Patient 5 months after surgery. c Operative photograph of an optic nerve glioma, isolated within the right orbit between the bulb (anterior) and cut through intracanalicularly (posterior). In its middle part the optic nerve is swollen by the tumor

osteoplastic bony flap) and Palacos, which can be formed in the desired fashion.

The ophthalmologists invited me to present papers at their medical meetings and I was able to present our patient material, which increased steadily.

The nestor of ophthalmology at that time, Prof. THIEL, who was a well-versed surgeon himself, even went so far as to discourage the



Fig. 5. Operative sketch showing the large extent of bone resection in order to obtain an excellent view of the whole orbit and its contents. This facilitates the prevention of damage to functionally important elements and structures (see text) lateral approach by KRÖNLEIN, since the transcranial approach with all the additional resection of bony walls offered a better view for the surgeon and thus permitted a better functional result. This was very important because it left this entire area to the neurosurgeons. However, the great value of lateral osseous orbitotomý, the KRÖNLEIN operation, was not realized, even by me, until the operation was reintroduced in a modified form at a later date.

On studying the relevant literature I found the classical paper by WALTER DANDY, published in 1921, where the transfrontal approach is described in detail. Using this approach, DANDY removed an intracranial bilateral meningioma which had already broken through the orbital roof by following the tumor in the direction of the orbit after an osteoplastic craniotomy.

Although this transcranial approach to the orbit was already described in 1921 for the removal of retrobulbar tumors, a number of serious complications, such as purulent meningitis, cavernous sinus thrombosis, and (to quote literally) "lethal hazards" ruled out use of this elegant method for a long time. Only with the beginning of the antibiotic era after the Second World War was the transcranial



Fig. 6 a, b. Orbitophlebography by puncture of the vena angularis or vena frontalis, in order to visualize the course of the superior orbital vein: a The normal course of the superior orbital vein (a.p. view above, lateral view below). b Space-occupying lesion within the dorsal tip of the left orbit, causing compression, dislocation, and accumulative dilatation of the posterior part 3 of the vein near the entry zone into the cavernous sinus approach occasionally used. In Mainz we did not have the abovementioned difficulties because we used an adherent galea-periosteal flap to cover the sphenoid cells or the frontal sinus if they were opened during the procedure.

A further step forward on the road of orbit surgery was placed at our disposal by the neuroradiologists - in Mainz by Professor WENDE - and that was the introduction of phlebography of the orbit, because it permitted the visualization of the superior ophthalmic vein, whose specific displacements permitted us to determine the position of intraorbital lesions much more exactly than before. (Fig. 6). Through this method it became possible to group the intraorbital lesions according to quadrants and thus to modify the operative approaches accordingly. This also led to reconsideration and reintroduction of old and almost forgotten procedures, including orbitotomia simplex, introduced by KNAPP in 1874 (beginning with an eyebrow incision to approach lesions in the anterior part of the orbit), and orbitotomia ossea lateralis according to KRÖNLEIN, which was first performed in 1886.

Depending on the location and extent of a lesion, these approaches were then modified and enlarged. We ourselves were subsequently surprised by what these low-risk procedures offer in comparison to craniotomy if they are sensibly employed and adjusted to the individual case (Fig. 7).





Fig. 7 a, b. Extended lateral osseous orbitotomy in order to reach the dorsal orbital cone. a Stripped bone has to be resected. b Not only the lateral wall of the orbit but also the roof and in part the sphenoid ridge can be resected, if necessary A further "key experience" - at least for me personally - was the introduction of computer tomography in the mid 1970s. From this point in time the location and extent of the lesion, extension beyond boundaries, bony invasion, and other factors were so clearly delineated - especially with the use of the axial and coronary sections, as well as so-called bone resolution - that it became to possible to combine all the possible approaches to the orbital contents very simply. A few examples will serve to demonstrate this (Fig. 8): This method made it possible to plan the approach to the orbit completely individually depending on the circumstances of each case. The strategy and technique of operations received a new, hitherto impossible stimulus! Furthermore, this development was promoted by constant anatomic and microanatomic studies by and together with our good friend Prof. JOHANNES LANG in Würzburg, so that we were able to improve our operative results even further in respect of radical removemal with complete healing and maintenance of function.



The details of these studies cannot be described here, but they dealt with topographic relationships of the optic nerve and its coverings, its vascularization, and many other aspects. At any rate, they were extremely helpful in our efforts to maintain the function of the orbital contents at surgery. Figure 9 shows an example of such a lovely anatomic study which JOHANNES LANG provided us with (Fig. 9).

Let me now present our patient material and the operative techniques, which were employed according to the specific requirements of each case (Figs. 10, 11).

Ladies and gentlemen, in closing let me emphasize once more that the goal of our efforts in orbital surgery is and will continue to remain the complete removal of a space-occupying lesion and the maintenance of the important nerves and structures at the same time. We have come closer to this goal and yet we are at the beginning of a development which looks most promising.

With this brief address, I hope to have demonstrated that it is most worthwhile to concentrate on a small area of neurosurgery - surgery of the orbit - which was long considered to be of minor significance. You will forgive me for doing this from a subjective viewpoint, but I think my personal experience should be made available so that the younger ones among you may be motivated to draw conclusions for your own activities.

Fig. 8 a-f. Space-occupying lesions of the orbit, identified by cra-nial CT. a 71 year old male with a mixed lacrimal gland tumor on the left side. b The same patient; the tumor is to be seen in the superior ventrolateral quadrant, coronal section. In this case an orbitotomia ossea lateralis after KRÖNLEIN would be the optimal approach. c 40 year old female patient with a well delimited cavernous hemangioma in the right orbit, located retrobulbar within the muscle cone. The m. rectus medialis and m. rectus lateralis are well demonstrated. d The same patient in whome the coronal section shows very well that the tumor mass is located in the superior part of the orbit. The mm. rectus superior and levator palpebrae are to be seen superior to the tumor mass; the m. rectus lateralis is to be identified laterally, and the m. rectus medialis medially from the tumor mass. In this case a frontal osteoplastic craniotomy was the preferential approach, after which the patient recovered without any functional deficit. e 51 year old female patient with an optic nerve sheath meningioma on the left, which has an extension from the bulb to the optic nerve channel. Visual function less than 50%; therefore total tumor removal by an osteoplastic craniotomy with opening of the optic nerve channel was performed (see also Fig. 13). f 48 year old female patient with an optic nerve sheath meningioma on the right, located within the dorsal orbital tip and intracanalicularly. Visual function less than 20%. Total removal of the tumor was performed by a frontal osteoplastic craniotomy with opening of the optic canal, resection of the clinoid process, and prechiasmal resection of the tumor-bearing optic nerve



Fig. 9 a-c. Anatomical preparations by JOHANNES LANG. a Coronal cut through the dorsal tip of the right orbit, which shows the compact and close relations between the optic nerve (above), the ophthalmic artery (middle), the oculomotor nerve (below), the trochlear nerve (medial), and the muscles. b Lateral view of optic nerve from the right side. From the left the ophthalmic artery comes out of the canal and some of its branches enter the optic nerve from below. c Horizontal cut of the right orbit, which shows the compact location of the optic nerve and muscle cone within the dorsal orbital tip. Ventromedial to the bulb the trochlea is to be seen. In the case of an ORBITOTOMIA SIMPLEX SUPERIOR MEDIALIS the trochlea is temporarily detached, and refixed after tumor removal (see Fig. 10 b)



Fig. 10 a-c. Thirty-nine year old female a metastasis of a melanoblastoma within the left orbit, localized in the medial and basal part up to the dorsal cone. Nine years previously enucleation of the right bulb was performed because of a retinomelanoblastoma. a Patient before operation: right = ocular prosthesis; left = exophthalmos, superior and lateral dislocation of the bulb. Visual and motility almost normal. b Patient 6 months after total removal of the left intraorbital metastasis by an ORBITOTOMIA SIMPLEX MEDIALIS BASALIS. No dislocation of the bulb; visual and motility function almost normal. Patient survived approximately 4 years. c Preoperative and postoperative axial CT scans demonstrate the good surgical result



Fig. 11 a-d. Various approaches to the orbit; a orbitotomia simplex superior (extension to lateral or medial is possible); b orbitotomia simplex inferior (basalis), extended to orbitotomia ossea lateralis, and/or lateral craniotomy; c orbitotomia simplex superior, extended to orbitotomia ossea lateralis; d orbitotomia simplex inferior (basalis), extended to orbitotomia ossea lateralis. e-h Various osteoplastic approaches to the orbit; e orbitotomia superior medialis, extended to orbitotomia ossea lateralis and craniotomy; f orbitotomia simplex medialis, extended to superior; g orbitotomia transfrontalis lateralis; h orbitotomia transfrontalis medialis

Head Injuries - Long-Term Results - Prognosis

# Long-Term Outcome After Severe Head Injury in Children and Young Adults

A. Feldges, H. Wiedemayer, H.-E. Nau, H. M. Mehdorn, and W. Grote

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik am Klinikum der Gesamthochschule Essen, Hufelandstraße 55, D-4300 Essen 1

#### Introduction

Accidents continue to be the major cause of childhood mortality and morbidity. Between 1000 and 1500 children are victims of fatal traffic accidents in Germany every year [9]. On the other hand clinical experience indicates that children recover from head injury better than do adults. They also show an advantage in terms of survial rate and long-term outcome. The following study reflects the experiences of our clinic in the management of head injuries in children.

#### Patients and Methods

This series consisted of 105 children under 16 years old who had sustained a severe head injury with posttraumatic coma lasting at least 24 h. To fulfil the conditions of coma the patient had to show the following pattern of symptoms: The patient's eyes were continuously closed and opened neither on command nor on application of nociceptive stimuli [3]. For the evaluation of severity of clinical



Fig. 1. Distribution of 105 children with severe head injury according to age group

Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed by R A. Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989 coma we used the classification proposed by the Neuro-traumatology Committee of the WFNS in Brussels in 1976 [2]. Over a period of 8 years we treated 74 male and 31 female children with a coma corresponding to the conditions mentioned above.

Figure 1 shows the sizes of the age groups. As is to be expected, the majority of victims of the 93 traffic accidents were older children. In ten cases a fall was the cause of the head trauma. Fourteen patients presented open head injuries.

Evaluation of long-term outcome was performed using the Glasgow Out-come scale, which was proposed for the first time in 1975 [5]. The nonsurvivors were classified as stage 1, and patients in a vegetative state as stage 2. Stage 3 referred to severely disabled patients who needed support for daily performances.

Stage 4 signified disabled patients who, in contrast to the former group, were independent and able to provide for themselves. The condition for the assignment of stage 5 was fulfilled if the patient reached the same level of efficiency as before the trauma. Minimal neurological deficits were no reason for excluding children with these symptoms from the best group, stage 5.

Of the 68 survivors, 46 could be followed up over a period of 1 to almost 8 years (Fig. 2). The remaining 22 surviving patients were lost to follow-up. The frequency of severe coma states and the duration of post-traumatic unconsciousness were similar in these two groups.

#### Results

Of the 105 patients, 37 did not survive their head injury; almost 50% of the latter group died within the first 48 h after admission. The primary damage to the central nervous system remained the limiting factor in the further course of the 19 patients dying at a later time.

Secondary complications occurring in patients with a stable vegetative state, lasting between 3 weeks and 19 months, significantly affected the longer courses only. Sepsis, failure of the rigt heart, and peracute pneumonia were the most frequent causes of delayed death.

There was a proportional relationship between the primary damage to the central nervous system and the duration of posttraumatic unconsciousness. Thirty-one patients or 46% of the survivors were



Fig. 2. Long-term outcome in the 105 comatose head-injured children



Survivors – Follow-up period 12-95 months (Median M = 54 months)

Fig. 3. Left: Primary coma grade of the follow-up group with corresponding duration of unconsciousness. Right: Long-term outcome (Glasgow Outcome Scale) at least 12 months after trauma with corresponding duration of unconsciousness

unconscious for more than 7 days. With worsening state of coma there was a decreasing number of short-term comatose patients and an increasing rate of long-term unconsciousness and death. No children admitted in coma stage IV with flaccidity of muscle tone and wide, nonreacting pupils survived their injuries.

The more extensive the trauma, the higher was the incidence of associated injuries. There were almost twice as many fractures of limbs and five times as many abdominal injuries in coma stage III/IV as in coma stage I/II. But such injuries never definitively determined the course or the fate of the injured patient.

As in the nonsurvivors, the recovery and the long-term outcome of the surviving children were mainly influenced by the initial or secondary damage to the central nervous system. In Fig. 3 primary coma grade and long-term outcome are shown in relation to duration of unconsciousness. The median duration of unconsciousness in the 23 patients in coma grade II was only 5 days, while that in the 17 patients with an initial coma grade III was more than twice as long (14 days). Correspondingly, 14 severely disabled children (Glasgow Outcome Scale, stage 3) had survived coma lasting more than twice as long (median, 15 days) as that in the 17 patients classified as stage 4 on the Glasgow Outcome Scale (median, 6 days).

#### Discussion

No children with a primary coma grade IV (Table 1) for more than 4 h survived. This corresponded to the results in series of head-injured adults [3]. The majority of these severely injured children died in the first 48 h. Almost half the children with coma grade III died, but the courses were generally longer. Only one patient in coma grade II did not survive. At the time of the follow-up examination no patient was in a vegetative state.

All head-injured children with a primary coma grade I or II who were not unconscious for longer than 48 h recovered very well and reached the pretraumatic level of efficiency or were only slightly disabled

	Glasgow Outcome Scale				
Coma grade, Brussels	1	2	3	4	5
I					
 II	▲		A 000		
III			<b>***</b> **	**	•
IV					

Table 1. Dependence of Glasgow Outcome Scale on duration of unconsciousness and primary coma grade. Survey of all 46 analyzed patients

Duration of unconsciousness:

< 2	dàys
2-7	days
> 7	days

(Glasgow Outcome Scale, stages 4 and 5). With increasing duration of coma proceeding from the same coma grade (I or II), the long-term outcome worsened. Most of the children who had an initial coma grade II and only reached a long-term outcome of stage 3 were unconscious for more than 7 days. This was emphasized in the children with coma grade III, of whom 80% remained in coma for more than 7 days. On the other hand an exceptionally good recovery - reaching stage 5 - was possible despite an initial coma grade III and unconsciousness for 15 days.

Posttraumatic long-term epilepsy was described in 17% of the patients with good recovery and in 30% of the severely disabled ones [6]. In our series only 5 of 32 children with stage 4 or 5 outcome showed this posttraumatic sequel.

For the evaluation of the long-term outcome, the pretraumatic neurological state has, of course, to be taken into consideration. In other series 20% of the injured children showed pretraumatic behavioral disturbances and up to 30% presented mild or more extensive cerebral impairments before trauma [7]. Of the 42 children in our follow-up group, only five presented pretraumatic disturbances like the above mentioned. On the other hand the validity of our findings is restricted because they are based on catamnesis only. In our series the mortality was 38%. On the other hand the long-term outcome was more favorable in the children than in older patients. Of adults over 50 years old, 95% died after unconsciousness lasting 7 days following a head injury [3]. Moreover, only 5% of patients aged 20-30 years survived a coma of 15 days', duration [3], whereas 21% of the children in our study did so. Of the survivors, 69% reached the same level as before the trauma or were only slightly disabled. The remaining 31% were severely disabled, needing daily support.

However, differences in pathophysiological mechanisms and in the site of lesions may explain the better results of head-injured children. This is true for both the survival rate and the long-term outcome. Thus brain stem disorders and diffuse brain swelling are more frequent in children, while parenchymal lesions, particularly superficial contusions, are rare in children compared to adults [2]. The extent of cerebral dysfunction is distinctly reflected by the depth of initial coma following a head injury [1,4].

It is important to predict the outcome of comatose head-injured patients as early as possible, and this is especially true for children. For the rare courses of good recovery in children who initially present a poor coma grade and a long duration of coma, application of all reasonable measures of nursing and medical care is justified.

#### Summary

One hundred and five head-injured children up to 16 years old were considered; they were admitted to our clinic over a period of 8 years and remained in a comatose state for at least 24 h. According to the severity of the initial injury, 37 patients died, mainly in the first 48 h after trauma. Of the 68 survivors, 46 could be examined over a follow-up period ranging from 12 to 95 months (median: 54 months). We could reveal that there was a distinct relationship between the long-term outcome on the one hand and both the extent of primary coma and the duration of posttraumatic unconsciousness on the other. Onethird of the follow-up group recovered well and reached the same level of efficiency as before the injury.

Furthermore 36% were able to provide for themselves and were independent despite their slight disability. Of the examined patients, 31% presented such severe mental and physical deficits that they were dependent on daily support. This study proved that permanent neurological and physical disabilities following severe head injuries are influenced by the initial coma state, the duration of posttraumatic unconsciousness, and the age of the young patients.

#### References

- Braakmann R, Gelpke GJ, Habbema JDF, Maas AIR, Minderhoud JM (1980) Systematic selection of prognostic features in patients with severe head injury. Neurosurgery 6:362-370
- Brihaye J, Frowein RA, Lindgren S, Loew F, Stroobrandt G (1978) Report on the meeting of the WFNS Neuro-traumatology Committee Brussels 19.-23. September 1976 I. Coma Scaling Acta Neurochirurgica 40:181-186
- Frowein RA (1979) Prognostic assessment of coma in relation to age. Acta Neurochir (Wien), Suppl. 28:3-11
- Frowein RA, Haar auf der K, Terhaar D (1980) Assessment of coma reliability of prognosis. Neurosurgical Review 3:67-74

- 5. Jennett B, Bond M (1975) Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. The Lancet, March I:480-484
- 6. Jenett B, Snoek J, Bond MR, Brooks N (1981) Disability after severe head injury. Observations on the use of the Glasgow Outcome Scale. J. Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry
- 7. Lange-Cosack H, Tepfer G (1973) Das Hirntrauma im Kindes- und Jugendalter. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York
- Reinhard V, Gerhard L, Nau HE, Nahser HC (1983) Schädelhirntrauma (SHT) im Kindesalter. Neurochirurgia 6, 26:177-180
- 9. Statistisches Jahresbuch für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland

Outcome After Severe Head Injury with Midbrain Syndrome in the Acute Stage

#### A. Laun, P. Kayser, and H. P. Döring

Zentrum für Neurochirurgie der Universität Gießen, Klinikstraße 37, D-6300 Gießen

The acute midbrain syndrome (GCS 4+5) [18] (WFNS coma scale III) [4] is part of the most severe form of central dysregulation from which recovery is possible [9]. In patients with a midbrain syndrome (MS) due to severe head injury we were able to work out prognostic factors by correlating clinical course and computer tomographic findings over 7 years [13,14]. The aim of the present study was to investigate the long-term morbidity and functional recovery of patients who suffered from an MS during the acute stage of a severe brain injury.

#### Material and Methods

Between 1978 and 1983 1053 patients with cerebral trauma were treated in the Department of Neurosurgery, Gießen. Two hundred and thirty-two presented signs of decerebrate postures, of whom 80 (35%) survived. In collaboration with the family doctors, the health insurance companies, and the workmen's compensation insurance scheme, as well as the patients themselves, we managed to reinvestigate 30 of them clinically.

In another five cases adequate information could be obtained from other departments, including rehabilitation centers. Besides a physical examination, electroencephalography (EEG), measurement of evoked brain stem potentials and brain stem reflexes. computerized tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance tomography (MRT) were performed. In 32 patients we employed a psychometric test battery including the HAWIE test [10], the do-Aufmerksamkeitsbelastungstest [3], the Freiburger Persönlichkeitsinventar [6], and the Benton test [2].

Results

#### Patients

The average age of the 35 patients (28 male) was  $21.7 \pm 10.9$  years with a range from 8 to 57 years. In four cases a compound head injury was found, while 31 revealed a closed head trauma. On admission 28 patients were graded GCS 4+5, five GCS 6+7, and two better than GCS 10. Seven patients who presented in a rather good neurological status on admission developed an MS within the first 3 days of their clinical course. The initial CT revealed a contusion in ten cases, an epidural hematoma in six, and a subdural hematoma in

		<6 h	7-24 h	2-9 days	s >9 days
	No.	8	6	7	14
GOS	2 PVS				
	3 SD		2	1	6
	4 MD		1	3	5
	5 GR	8	3	3	3

Table 1. Duration of mesencephalic syndrome in relation to outcome (GOS)

<1 day/>1 day: P = 0.0133

PVS, persistent vegetative state; SD/MD, severe/moderate disability; GR, good recovery

two. Ten patients showed combined lesions, and in seven no spaceoccupying lesion could be detected.

The mean follow-up period was  $5.7 \pm 2.2$  years (range 1-9 years). Recovery was graded as good (GOS 5) in 17 cases; nine patients presented as moderately and nine as severely disabled. Eighteen patients regained working ability, six of them in their own profession.

#### Correlations

There was no correlation between GOS and CT lesions. On the other hand those patients who showed decerebrate postures for less than 24 h had a significantly (P < 0.05) better outcome (Table 1).

Performance IQ was significantly better (P = 0.02) when the duration of MS was less than 9 days. The short memory capacity was not related to the duration of the MS.

The intellectual capacity and ability to understand complex situations were significantly (P <0.05) better in those patients with better recovery. GOS was correlated to FSIQ (P = 0.0152), PIQ (P = 0.0081), and d<sub>2</sub>-Aufmerksamkeitsbelastungstest (P = 0.0287). It was not correlated to the VIQ and the Benton test (Table 2).

#### Discussion

Our results showing no correlation between outcome after severe head injury and detection of lesions by CT scan were confirmed by the data of BUSCH [5]. MRT, however, seems a lot more sensitive in terms of unmasking minor abnormalities, so it must be taken into account in further investigations [15]. In terms of survival, our data are comparable to those in studies performed by FROWEIN [7,8] and Mahapatra [16]. Nevertheless, the proportion of cases presenting a more favorable outcome seems slightly higher in our group. This might be due to a longer time interval between trauma and reexamination. In addition, less than 50% of the surviving patients could be investigated.

			HAWIE			d <sub>2</sub>	Benton
			PIQ	VIQ	FSIQ	GZ-FSW	ERW-L-C
GOS	3	SD	79.7	95.1	87	79.5	-2.3
	4	MD	92.3	95.3	93.6	95.1	-2.6
	5	GR	105.9	103.5	105.2	100.1	-1.7
	P		0.0081		0.0152	0.0287	

Table 2. Correlation between GOS and psychometric tests

PIQ, performance IQ; VIQ, verbal IQ; FSIQ, full scale IQ; GZ-FSW, total number - fault-standard; ERW-L-C, solution expectation form C

The value of using a psychometric test battery in patients who have survived a severe head injury is still controversial [11,17,19]. However, we believe it to be an important tool to detect dysfunctions which might be underestimated in a general clinical examination.

#### Summary

In this study we found correlations between the duration of MS and outcome. Outcome evaluated with the GOS was significantly correlated with FSIQ, PIQ, and the  $d_2$  test. PIQ was correlated with the duration of MS.

#### References

- Alberico AM, Ward JD et al. (1987) Outcome after severe head injury. J Neurosurg 67:648-656
  Benton AL (1986) Der Benton-Test. Hans Huber, Berlin Stuttgart
- Benton AL (1986) Der Benton-Test. Hans Huber, Berlin Stuttgart Toronto
- Brickenkamp R (1981) Test d<sub>2</sub>, Aufmerksamkeits-Belastungs-Test. Dr. Hogrefe, Göttingen Toronto Zürich
- 4. Brihaye J, Frowein A, Lindgren S, Loew F et al. (1978) Report on the meeting of the W.F.N.S. Neuro-traumatology Committee, Brussels 19-23 Sept. 1976. Acta Neurochir 40:181-186
- Busch G (1987) Rehabilitation of patients with organic brain damage after diseases requiring neurosurgery. In: Advances in neurosurgery, Vol. 15. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg 255-258
- 6. Fahrenberg J, Hampel R, Selg H (1984) Das Freiburger Persönlichkeitsinventar FPI. Dr. Hogrefe, Göttingen Toronto Zürich
- 7. Frowein RA (1983) Age and duration of coma as factors in the prognosis of head injuries with longlasting coma. In: Villani R et al. (eds) Advances in neurotraumatology. Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam-Oxford, Princeton, pp 189-191
- Frowein RA, auf der Haar K (1987) Rehabilitation after severe head injuries. In: Advances in neurosurgery, Vol 15, Springer, Berlin Heidelberg 272-277
- 9. Gutterman P, Shenklin HA (1970) Prognostic features in recovery from traumatic decerebration. J Neurosurg 32:330-335
- 10. Hamburg-Wechsler-Intelligenztest für Erwachsene (1964) Testsätze, Textbände. Hans Huber, Bern
- 11. Hartje W (1987) Neuropsychologische Folgen traumatischer Hirnschädigungen – spezifische Syndrome oder unspezifische Beeinträchtigungen. In: Kohlmeyer K (ed) Aktuelle Probleme der Neurotraumatologie und Klinischen Neuropsychologie. Regensburg + Biermann, Münster, pp 136-142
- 12. Jennett B, Bond M (1975) Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet 1:480-484
- 13. Laun A (1982) Zum Problem der Zisternenverquellung und direkter sowie sekundärer Schädigungen am Hirnstamm (computertomographische Analysen). In: Müller E (ed) Das traumatische Mittelhirnsyndrom. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 60-64
- 14. Laun A (1987) Acute direct and indirect lesions of the brain stem - CT findings and their evaluation. Acta Neurochirur 40:29-56
- 15. Lobato R, Savabia R et al. (1986) Normal computerized tomography scans in severe head injury. J Neurosurg 65:784-789
- Mahapatra AK, Tandon PN et al. (1985) Bilateral decerebration in head-injured patients. Surg Neurol 23:536-540
   Rey E-R, Bueckart B, Oldigs J (1987) Aufmerksamkeitsveränderungen
- 17. Rey E-R, Bueckart B, Oldigs J (1987) Aufmerksamkeitsveränderungen bei Hirntraumatikern: Eine experimental-psychologische Untersuchung mit Hilfe von Reaktionszeitaufgaben. In: Kohlmeyer K (ed) Aktuelle Probleme der Neurotraumatologie. Regensberg + Biermann, Münster, pp 190-204
- 18. Teasdale G, Jennett B (1974) Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness. A practical scale. Lancet 2:81-84
- 19. Violon A, De Mol J (1987) Psychological sequelae after head traumas in adults. Acta Neurochir 85:96-102

# Comparison of Magnetic Resonance Imaging, X-ray Computed Tomography, Electroencephalography, and Long-Term Outcome After Head Injury: A Prospective Reexamination of 55 Patients<sup>1</sup>

# D. Moskopp, W. Dewes, L. Solymosi, and M. Kurthen

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Bonn, Sigmund-Freud-Straße 25, D-5300 Bonn 1

# Introduction

Some authors judge magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to be a more sensitive method than high resolution X-ray computed tomography (CT) for the assessment of brain pathology after head injury [1,4,5,10-15, 19-24,27,29,31,33-36]. Literature dealing with the artifacts and shortcomings of MRI remains an exception [9]. These publications lead to several questions: Which correlations exist between MRI and CT in the posttraumatic pathology of the brain? What kind of artifacts should one be acquainted with? Does a restitutio integrum after any posttraumatic coma still exist? And is the concept of "commotio" [3,18,25] of further use? Therefore, we reexamined some of our patients by a modified MRI technique [6].

# Patients and Methods

During December 1987 we reexamined 55 slightly to severely headinjured patients (44 men, 11 women). The mean follow-up at that time was 16 months (range: 0.5-120). Criteria for Selection were: history of posttraumatic coma or deep drowsiness with inpatient treatment, initial CT, willingness to participate, and no contraindications to MRI [31]. The mean age at the time of accident was 30 years (range: 10-66), and the mean duration of coma, 7 days (seconds/minutes to 2 months; one patient who had been in a persistent vegetative state for 10 years was not taken into account, cf. Fig. 3 [32]. Twenty-eight of the patients had been treated conservatively; four had been trephined for intracranial pressure monitoring, 16 had been treated by large craniotomies; and 13 had been operated on by maxillary surgeons, four of them by teams of the two disciplines.

Both MRI (Gyroscan S15: 1.5 Tesla) and CT (Somatom DR) were performed without contrast media (scans parallel to the orbitomeatal line; thickness: infratentorial = 4 mm, above = 8 mm). For MRI a modified multislice 12-weighted gradient echo sequence with cardiac gating was used, as described elsewhere [6]. The electroencephalogram (EEG) was monitored for 20 min with hyperventilation. Clinical outcome was classified according to the Glasgow Outcome Scale [16].

27

<sup>1</sup> Dedicated to the nurses and physiotherapists who have cared for them.

No.	First CT	<u>Control</u> , CT	12/87 MRI
23	+	+	+
6	-	-	-
9	+	-	+
6	+	+	Artifact
3	+	-	Artifact
5	+	-	-
3	-	-	+

# Table 1. Pathological brain imaging after head injury

# Results

The follow-up was 100% for clinical and CI data, and 84% for EEG data. MRI was now performed for the first time, and was utilizable in 95% of patients (three of whom were claustrophobics).

The clinical outcome was as follows: good recovery, 22; independent but disabled, 28; conscious but dependent, 4; vegetative state, 1 [32]. Three patients still suffered from posttraumatic epilepsy. The development of EEG alterations was as follows: normalization, 14; improvement, 23; unchanged, 6; worsening, 2; not comparable, 9. An estimated comparison of the parenchymal pathology (yes/no/artifact = +/-/?) in CT (on admission/early controls = A, current = B) and MRI (= C) by one of us (DM, cf. Table 1) yielded: 23 A+B+C+; 6 A-B-C-; 9 A+B-C+; 6 A+B+C?; 3 A+B-C?; 5 A+B-C-; 3 A-B-C+ (very early initial CI and comparatively late control, cf. Fig. 1). With the MRI sequences used, artifacts (mainly "black spots") were seen in regions of extreme air/bone contrast (frontobasal, temporobasal, paramastoidal), in the neighborhood of calcifications, and as a result of abrasions of paramagnetic material (cf. Fig. 2) mainly but not exclusively from trephines and saws.

#### Discussion

As compared to the cited literature, this study reexamined more patients after a longer mean posttraumatic period, including a precedent case of one patient with a hitherto rarely found persistent vegetative state of 10 years' duration [17,26] (cf. Fig. 3). For the rest of the patients, the clinical and electrophysiological outcome was relatively fair, especially for single patients (e.g., independence after an 18-day coma with fixed bilateral mydriasis for 3.5 days, and independence after 2 months of a transient "vegetative state"). The pure technical and morphological data of the MRI of this study are described elsewhere [7]. As a rough guideline for interpreting the MRI scans, a bright appearance in these sequences disclosed cerebrospinal fluid, demyelination, or parenchymal cicatrices, while darkness represented regions of lowered or extinguished signals. This is the case for air (e.g., paranasal sinuses), calcifications (e.g., pineal gland, choroid plexus; cave: upper tangential cuts of the petrous bone), rapidly flowing blood ("flow phenomenon") [31], and different metallic compounds. Because of the amounts of paramagnetic substances (esp. ferric iron, Fe<sup>3+</sup>) typically present in the neurons of the extrapyramidal motoric system [8,28,30], particularly the pallidum, the red nucleus, and substantia nigra appear



Fig. 1. Imaging of posttraumatic intracranial bleedings: acute subdural, subarachnoid, intracerebral (intraventricular). Follow-up with CT compared to MRI after 15 months. The hemorrhage of the right basal ganglia increased during the first posttraumatic hours; after 15 months the residua are less evident in CT than in MRI (black spots). Additional reduced signal intensities (black) are seen at the frontal left, in front of the right cornu anterius, and at the temporal right (residua of posttraumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage?, contrecoup?). There are no gross rub-off artifacts after craniotomy. KaFr, initials; 17 y, age at the time of accident: 17 years; 1 m, 1 month of posttraumatic coma; op-neu, operation because of left-sided spaceoccupying subdural hematoma; A, CT on admission (upper left); 6 h, postoperative CT after 6 h (upper right); 15 m, reexamination after 15 months by CT (lower left) and MRI (lower right). Clinical outcome: disabled but independent. EEG: theta-delta focus, temporal left. Note: Here, as in other figures, "patient's left" = viewer's left

dark. However, it is not yet clear under which circumstances metallic rub-off from the neurosurgical tools causes huge artifacts (cf. Fig. 2), sometimes impeding any diagnosis in the most interesting neurosurgical region [9]. At least 7 of 16 patients who underwent extensive trephination had had no abrasion artifacts, without correlation to the postoperative timespan. (Correlation with the operator's attitude toward irrigation/suction? Trials with blunt/sharp saws etc. are underway.)

The most interesting regions of altered signal intensity are those representing posthemorrhagic residua (diamagnetic: oxyhemoglobin; paramagnetic: deoxyhemoglobin, methemoglobin, hemichromes, ferritin,



Fig. 2. CT (above) and MRI (below) 2 weeks after operative removal of a bullet (muzzle-loader accident). CT: Postoperative state. Air artifacts (sinus frontalis opened by the bullet) and subgaleal swelling (partial volume effect) are seen. The hypodensity (frontal right) may correspond to a mixture of brain edema and isodense blood residua. One bone particle (hyperdense) is left in situ. MRI: Despite huge bifrontal artifacts (missile lesion and trephination), a part of the CT hypodensity can be identified as a bright area including a dark spot (bone) surrounded by a dark garland. The MRI scan alone could have been misinterpreted as showing space-occupying rebleeding. FrHe, initials; 33 y, age at the time of accident: 33 years; ? min, very short altered consciousness, probably seconds; apnea, neurosurgical emergency removal of the bullet by flap craniotomy; 2 w, outcome without neurological deficit at 2 weeks. EEG: pathological (thetadelta focus, frontal right)



Fig. 3. CT (above) and MRI (middle/below) 10 years after closed head injury with a persistent vegetative state. CT: Widening of external and internal cerebrospinal fluid space; doubtful hypodensity of the upper left thalamus (lower scans disclose the atrophy of the brain stem). MRI: Bilateral reduced intensities: periventricular, frontal right, basal ganglia, and brain stem (coronal sections). GiNo, initials; 16 y, age at the time of accident: 16 years; 10 y, duration of apallic syndrome;  $op-\sigma$ , no neurosurgical operation; 10 y, clinical outcome after 10 years: vegetative state. EEG: since March 1978 flat beta-wave variant. (From [32])

porobasal contusions). This is one of the reasons why a standardized comparison of CT and MRI has not yet been completely possible (cf. Table 1, cum grano salis). Another problem relates to the follow-up and is documented by Fig. 1: The first posttraumatic CT could have been done very early, and if the course was uneventful the first CT control may have been performed after the reabsorption of minute bleedings. The residua of these hemorrhages remain visible in the MRI, but theoretically they could have been documented at a certain



Fig. 4. Imaging of posttraumatic intracranial bleedings (intracerebral, intraventricular, subarachnoid): follow-up with CT compared with MRI after 30 months. Residua of the initial bilateral periventricular hemorrhages remain more clearly visible in the MRI than in the CT scans. Bleedings with direct contact to the cerebrospinal fluid seem to behave differently (washed out effect). FiUl, initials; 23 y, age at the time of accident: 23 years; 7 d, 1 week of posttraumatic coma; op-max, maxillofacial surgery because of mandibular fractures; 3 d, CT control after 3 days (above); 2.5 y, reexamination after 30 months by CT (middle) and MRI (below). Clinical outcome: good recovery. EEG: pathological with diffuse dysrhythmia

time with the CT as well. This should be kept in mind with regard to the above-mentioned categorization of "follow-up of CT: negative and MRI: positive." Overall, there is no doubt that at least nine times the MRI was able to preserve the morphology of initially CT-visible lesions which had become CT-invisible with time (cf. Fig. 4). Sometimes MRI was less specific: in our series this was especially the case for one partial infarction of the right posterior cerebral artery, and for the morphology of CT hypodensities after emergency operations, which could have been misinterpreted as space-occupying rebleeding on the basis of the MRI scan alone (cf. Fig. 2).

#### Conclusion

Rather than being competitive, MRI and CT hold their own advantages in imaging brain pathology after head injury: CT remains the procedure of choice in identifying neurosurgically relevant spaceoccupying lesions in the acute phase in critically ill patients [2,13] and is unrivalled in the diagnosis of bony structures (especially the middle ear) as well as for claustrophobic or very agitated patients. MRI discloses a somewhat higher sensitivity with the sequence used here, though it was sometimes less specific and had a greater susceptibility to artifacts. From this study it has become evident that whenever one has to assess the outcome after head injury it is advisable to perform MRI complementary to CT. The concept of "commotio" may serve as a preliminary working hypothesis. The diagnosis of "healing without morphological residua" should be reserved for those head-injured patients with utilizable and negative posttraumatic CT and MRI.

Acknowledgments. The authors are indebted to Mrs. H. Kraheck, Mrs. K. Mutlaq, Mrs. M. Schlolaut, Mr. H.-U. Klatt, and Mr. W. Nettekoven and his team for technical assistance.

#### References

- Alexander RC, Schor DP, Smith WL jr (1986) Magnetic resonance imaging of intracranial injuries from child abuse. J Pediatr 109:975-979
- Barnett GH, Ropper AH, Johnson KA (1988) Physiological support and monitoring of critically ill patients during magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosurg 68:246-250
- 3. Bergmann EV (1880) Die Gehirnerschütterung. In: Bergmann EV (ed) Die Lehre von den Kopfverletzungen. Enke, Stuttgart, pp 295-315
- Brant-Zawadzki M, Davis PL, Crocks LE, Mills CM, Norman D, Newton TH, Sheldon P, Kaufman L (1983) NMR demonstration of cerebral abnormalities: comparison with CT. AJNR 140:847-854
   Cabanis EA, Perez G, Tamraz JC, Iba-Zizen MT, Roger B, Alfonso
- Cabanis EA, Perez G, Tamraz JC, Iba-Zizen MT, Roger B, Alfonso JM, Rougemont D (1986) Cephalic magnetic resonance imaging of boxers. Acta Radiol (Stockh) Suppl 369:365-366
- 6. Dewes W, Träber F, Gieseke J, Harder T (1987) Modifizierte T2-gewichtete Gradientenechosequenz für die MR-Tomographie des ZNS. Fortschr Röntgenstr 147:337-342
- 7. Dewes W, Moskopp D, Solymosi L, Kurthen M, Harder T, Kersting G (1988) MR-tomography of traumatic changes of the CNS. (in press)
- Drayer B, Burger P, Darwin R, Riederer S, Herfkens R, Johnson GA (1986) MRI of brain iron. AJR 147:103-110
- 9. Firsching R, Heindel W, Ernestus RI, Frowein RA, Bunke J (1987) Postoperative magnetic resonance imaging artifacts: Report of three cases. J Neurosurg 67:776-778
- Gandy SE, Snow RB, Zimmerman RD, Deck MDF (1984) Cranial nuclear magnetic resonance imaging in head trauma. Ann Neurol 16:254-257
- 11. Gomorri JM, Grossman RI, Goldberg HI, Zimmerman RA, Bilaniuk LT (1985) Intracranial hematomas: imaging by high-field MR. Radiology 157:87-93

- 12. Groswasser Z, Reider-Groswasser I, Soroker N, Machtey Y (1987) Magnetic resonance imaging in head injured patients with normal late computed tomography series. Surg Neurol 27:331-337
- 13. Hadley DM, Teasdale GM (1988) Magnetic resonance imaging of the brain and spine. J Neurol 235:193-206
- 14. Han JS, Kaufman B, Alfidi RJ, Yeung HN, Benson JE, Haaga JR, El Yousef SJ, Clampitt ME, Bonstelle CT, Huss R (1984) Head trauma evaluated by magnetic resonance and computed tomography: a comparison. Radiology 150:71-77
- 15. Jenkins A, Teasdale GM, Hadley MDM, MacPherson P, Rowan JO (1986) Brain lesions detected by magnetic resonance imaging in mild and severe head injuries. Lancet ii:445-446
- 16. Jennett B, Bond M (1975) Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet i:480
- 17. Jennett B, Teasdale GM (1981) Assessment of outcome. In: Jennett B, Teasdale GM (eds) Management of head injuries. FA Davis Co, Philadelphia, pp 311-316
- 18. Jennett B, Teasdale GM (1981) Type of injury sustained as a basis for classification, and pathological substrate of altered consciousness after head injury. In: Jennett B, Teasdale GM (eds) Management of head injuries. FA Davis Co, Philadelphia, pp 13 & 91-93
- 19. Jordan BD (1987) Neurologic aspects of boxing. Arch Neurol
   44:453-459
- 20. Kneeland JB, Cahill PT, Lee BCP, Peterson ME, Knowles RJR, Whalen JP (1985) Nuclear magnetic resonance: status of clinical application. Cornell Vet 75:130-158
- 21. Langfitt TW, Obrist WD, Alavi A, Grossman RI, Zimmerman R, Jaggi J, Uzzell B, Reivich M, Patton DR (1986) Computerized tomography, magnetic resonance imaging and positron emission tomography in the study of brain trauma: preliminary observations. J Neurosurg 64:760-767
- 22. Levine HS, Handel SF, Goldman AM, Eisenberg HM, Guinto FC (1985) Magnetic resonance imaging after 'diffuse' nonmissile head injury: a neurobehavioral study. Arch Neurol 42:963-968
- 23. Levine HS, Amparo E, Eisenberg HM, Williams DH, High WM, McArdle CB, Weiner R (1987) Magnetic resonance imaging and computerized tomography in relation to the neurobehavioral sequelae of mild and moderate head injuries. J Neurosurg 66:706-713
- 24. Mawk JR (1986) Magnetic resonance scan of an encephalomalacic brain lesion due to concussive shrapnel wound. Military Medicine (Wash, DC) 151:605-606
- 25. Petit JL (1783) Des plaies de la tête. In: Petit JL (Ouvrage posthume) Traité des maladies chirurgicales, et des opérations qui leur conviennent. Tome I, Méquignon, Paris, pp 43-60 (p 47!)
- 26. Plum F, Posner JB (1980) Prognosis in the vegetative state. In: Plum F, Posner JB (eds) The diagnosis of stupor and coma, 3/e. FA Davis Co, Philadelphia, pp 338-340
- 27. Raininko RK (1986) Low field magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography in the demonstration of posttraumatic brain abnormalities. Acta Radiol (Stockh) Suppl 369:374-376
- 28. Rutledge JN, Hilal SK, Silver AJ, Defendini R, Fahn S (1987) Study of movement disorders and brain iron by MR. AJR 149:365-379
- 29. Snow RB, Zimmerman RD, Gandy SE, Deck MDF (1986) Comparison of magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography in the evaluation of head injury. Neurosurgery 18:45-52
- 30. Spatz H (1935) Anatomie des Mittelhirns. In: Bumke O, Foerster O (eds) Handbuch der Neurologie, Bd I, Springer, Berlin, pp 474-540 (for: Berliner Blau-Reaktion: pp 494-500)

- 31. Stevens JM, Valentine AR (1987) Review article: magnetic resonance imaging in neurosurgery. Br J Neurosurg 1:405-426
- 32. Wassmann H, Moskopp D, Reuter B, Linke DB, Dewes W, Solymosi L (1988) Verlaufsbeobachtung eines Patienten mit posttraumatischem apallischem Syndrom über zehn Jahre. Lecture Tl/1, 39th Annual Meeting of the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Neurochirugie, Köln, May 11
- 33. Wilberger JE, Deeb Z, Rothfus W (1987) Magnetic resonance imaging in cases of severe head injury. Neurosurgery 20:571-576
- 34. Zimmerman RA, Bilaniuk LT, Grossman RI, Levine RS, Lynch R, Goldberg HI, Samuel L, Edelstein W, Bottomley P, Redington RW (1985) Resistive NMR of intracranial hematomas. Neuroradiology 27:16-20
- 35. Zimmerman RA, Bilaniuk LT, Hackney DB, Goldberg HI, Grossman RI (1986) Head injury: early results of comparing CT and high-field MR. AJR 147:1215-1222
- 36. Zimmerman RA, Bilaniuk LT, Hackney DB, Goldberg HI, Grossman RI (1986) Magnetic resonance imaging of traumatic sinus and mastoid bleeding. Acta Radiol (Stockh) Suppl 369:367-369

# Longlasting Coma After Head Injury: Late Results

R.A. Frowein, D. Terhaag, and R. Firsching

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Köln, Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

In 490 survivors of severe head injury with longlasting coma, the maximal duration of coma beyond which survival was seen in only 5% of the cases decreased with age, ranging from 18 days among 10- to 20-year-olds in coma grade III to 6 days in 70-year-olds with coma grade II. Thus there was no change in the likelihood of recovery as compared to our first report in 1977, when the above-mentioned range was 20 to 5 days (FROWEIN, 1977, 1986).

In 1977 and in our current report, the maximal duration of coma allowing for complete recovery of the ability to work within 1-2 years was 4-8 days, which was distinctly shorter than for a 5% survival for the 40- to 60-year-olds. In adolescents up to 20 and young adults up to 30 years of age, the maximal duration of coma allowing for complete recovery was 12 days in 1977, while now the 5% survival limit is approached at 13-17 days of coma. When the duration of coma exceeded this limit of complete recovery, only partial or complete disability to work was achieved.

These late results are based on 339 long-term follow-ups (Fig. 1), but only a few patients recovered completely after a maximally long coma. The question is: Are these results due to variable age-related factors or to variables of the treatment? Does the term "coma" always mean the same thing?

#### Ability to Work and Duration of Coma

Among 339 patients with long-term follow-up, the number of survivors decreased with age and duration of coma. We therefore analyzed various degrees of recovery in relation to age and duration of coma. Several age groups and various durations of coma were distinguished to achieve sufficiently large numbers to be related to the degree of recovery (Table 1). The graphic presentation is easier to understand (Figs. 2-4). Within the various age groups the frequency of complete, partial, or no recovery again depended on age and duration of coma.

#### Frequency of Complete Recovery

Of 78 children between 6 and 12 years old, complete ability to attend school was achieved in 45%-65% after coma lasting up to 12 days and in 20% after coma up to 15 days (Fig. 2). Of 121 adolescents between 10 and 20 years old, complete recovery of the ability to work was achieved in 46%-50% after coma lasting up to 7 days and 15%-20% after coma up to 15 days. Of 91 adults between 20 and 40 years of age,

Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17
 Ed. by R. A. Frowein, M. Brock, and M. Klinger
 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989



Fig. 1. Outcome of 339 survivors of longlasting coma: degree of recovery of ability to work

			-2		-4		-7	_	12		15		<
		S 27	8	S 41	*	S 18	*	S 8	¥	S 0	8	S 3	÷
-50	c p no	1 4 6	4 15 22	7 4 13	17 10 32	2 2 10	11 11 56	1 1 3	13 13 38	-	-	- - 1	- - 33
		S 42	ę	S 43	£	S 32	¥	S 25	¥	S 6	8	S 5	ş
-40	c p no	13 5 5	31 12 12	10 8 5	23 17 12	4 9 8	13 28 25	2 6 8	8 24 32	1 1 1	17 17 17	- 5 -	100
		S 36	£	S 52	£	S 24	8	S 27	÷	S 12	8	S 10	8
-20	c p no	18 5 3	50 3 8	24 8 2	46 15 4	12 6 3	50 25 13	4 16 1	15 59 4	2 7 1	17 58 8	2 6 1	20 60 10
		S 23	£	S 22	8	S 17	÷	S 9	ş	S 5	8	S 2	8
-10	c p no	15 3 1	65 13 4	10 6 1	46 27 5	11 _ _	65 35 -	4 2 1	45 22 11	1 3 1	20 60 20	- - 1	- 50

Table 1. Late results in 339 survivors of longlasting coma

S, sum of all survivors in the particular group of age and duration of coma, comprising patients with complete recovery of ability to work (c), partial recovery (p), no recovery (no), and patients without follow-up. The patients not followed up are not listed



Fig. 2. Longlasting coma: complete recovery of ability to work in different age groups. The lines correspond to the percentages of cases calculated in Table 1

complete recovery of the ability to work was achieved in 31% after coma lasting up to 2 days and in 8%-17% after coma up to 15 days. Follow-up was possible in only 55 of 97 patients between the ages of 40 and 50 years; thus the statistical value was rather limited in this group. It may be noted, however, that complete recovery of the ability to work was achieved in 4%-17% after coma lasting up to 4 days and in 13% after coma up to 12 days. Thus, a distinct difference in the likelihood of complete recovery was found (a) in children and in adolescents up to 20 years of age with a maximal duration of coma of 7 days and (b) in adults. After a coma exceeding 7 days - with the exception of children - the likelihood of complete recovery amounted to 15%; it decreased with age and coma grade.

# Frequency of Partial Recovery

As expected, the frequency of partial disability to work followed a reversed pattern (Fig. 3). After coma lasting up to 2 days, all age groups had similar frequencies of partial recovery, e.g., 12%-15% of the 40- to 50-year-olds and 3% of the 10- to 20-year-olds. With increasing duration of coma, the percentage of partial disability to work increased except for the highest age group, but their number was small.

#### Frequency of Complete Disability to Work (CDW)

As expected, the percentage of CDW was highest after the age of 40 years. CDW was found in 22% of survivors with 2 days of coma. The frequency increased with the duration of coma (Fig. 4). In the 20- to 40-year-olds, the likelihood of definite CDW (12%-32%) was somewhat lower. After coma lasting longer than 12 days CDW decreased due to the small number of cases. The frequency of persistent CDW in chil-



Fig. 3. Longlasting coma: partial recovery of ability to work

dren and adolescents in long-term follow-ups was remarkably low, at 4%-8%.

Thus, the frequency of no recovery, partial recovery, and complete recovery of the ability to work confirms the relation of duration of coma and age to the 5% survival limit. Although these relations appear logical, they have not yet been reported in such a consistent way in the literature.

But why is the duration of coma allowing for complete recovery so close to the 5% survival limit? Like ROBERTS et al. (1979) and JENNETT and TEASDALE (1981), we found that recovery was mainly achieved within the 1st year after the injury. Only 20% showed some



Fig. 4. Longlasting coma: no recovery of ability to work

recovery after the lst year. Complete recovery was faster after coma grade I than after coma grades II and III (FROWEIN et al., 1986).

#### Variable Age; Same Duration of Coma; Good Recovery

In 35 patients with a duration of coma of 4-6 days, the time needed for recovery was related to age. The definition of the age groups was arbitrary: 1 of 7 patients between 21 and 56 years old were in coma grade III, 3 of 19 between 11 and 20 years old were in coma grade III, and 5 of 9 between 4 and 10 years old were in coma grade III (Fig. 5).

The interval between injury and complete recovery was 6 months in 48% (16 of 35) and 1 year in 31% (11 of 35). Complete recovery from coma grades I and II after 1 year was seen in 33% (2 of 6) of the 21- to 56-year-olds, 14% (2 of 14) of the 11- to 20-year-olds, and 50% (2 of 4) of the 4- to 10-year-olds. Disregarding coma grade, recovery after 1 year was seen in 29% (2 of 7) of the 21- to 56-year-olds, 21% (4 of 11) of the 11- to 20-year-olds, and 56% (5 of 9) of the 4- to 10-year-olds.

There were fewer adults than children and adolescents with complete recovery; however, if interpreted carefully, it seems their recovery



Fig. 5. Period up to complete recovery of patients of all age groups with a duration of coma of 4-6 days

	Longlasting coma complete recovery							par-			
			D	uration o	of c	oma: d	ays				tial
Profession	n	-3		-6		-9	-12	-15	-1	8	<
Teacher	3		2	Δ	1						2
Manager	7		3		4						5
Craftsman	12		] 5		3	2	1			1	9
							0				
Workman	10	Δ	5		3	1	1				10
Housewife	4		2		2						4
Pensioner											2
Secretary	4	0	1		1	0 1			Δ	1	
Student	5	000 .	3	Δ	1		0 1				3
Apprentice	17	۵۵۵۵۵	5		11					1	Q
Schoolchild	50				2					•	
			23		17	0		3			38
Child	8		4		3						10
8	120		53		46	10	5	3		3	102

Fig. 6. Professions of 120 survivors of longlasting coma

time was not longer. The clinical finding "coma" therefore seems to have a different meaning in different age groups.

#### Profession

In Fig. 6, 120 patients with complete recovery are listed according to their pretraumatic profession and duration of coma. This is one-third of all the courses we analyzed.

Almost half of them (58) were small children or schoolchildren. Complete recovery after coma lasting longer than 10 days was achieved in five cases (10%); obviously, this is not very many in absolute figures. Therefore, a comparison with selected patients from rehabilitation centers is not possible.

One-third of all patients came from small groups of students, secretaries, housewives, workers, and craftsmen. Only ten patients with intellectual professions recovered completely after a maximal duration of coma of 6 days. The distribution of professions with partial recovery was similar: 7 of 102 now work in jobs with intellectual demands.

#### Summary

Long-term follow-up of 339 patients after longlasting posttraumatic coma confirmed the relation of age and duration of coma to recovery. Consistent with the limits of treatment reported previously, the number of patients with complete recovery decreased with age and duration of coma. The paramount importance of intensive care treat-ment within the first few days after injury is stressed. Children may require more than 1 year for recovery.

# References

Frowein RA, Steinmann HW, Auf Der Haar K, Terhaag D and Karimi-Nejad A (1978) Limits to classification and prognosis of severe head injury. Advances in Neurosurgery 5:16-25 Frowein RA, Auf Der Haar K (1986) Rehabilitation after severe head

injuries. Advances in Neurosurgery 15:272-277

Jennett B, Teasdale G (1981) Management of head injuries. Philadelphia, F.A. Davis Company

Roberts AH (1979) Severe accidental head injury: an assessment of long-term prognosis. New York, Macmillan

# Traumatic Intracranial Hemorrhages in Elderly People

# F. Reuter and J. Warncke

Neurochirurgische Abteilung, Krankenhaus Neukölln, Rudower Straße 48, D-1000 Berlin 47

# Introduction

Life expectancy has clearly increased in recent decades and with it that percentage of the population of the FRG who are aged 60 years and older. At present women at the age of 70 have a life expectancy of about 11.6 years and men an expectancy of about 9 years. At the age of 80 years women have a life expectancy of about 6.2 years and men an expectancy of about 5.2 years. In the FRG people older than 60 years constitute 19% of the total population, whereas in Berlin they account for 27%. Of them 70% are women and 30% are men.

Higher age doubtless has an important influence on the outcome of severe head injury [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]. In a retrospective trial, KARIMI in 1983 came to the result that the mortality of patients suffering a moderate head injury increases by about 16%-20% because of the age factor. The situation of the inhabitants of Berlin and the area serviced by our hospital, which includes Kreuzberg and Neukölln, is the reason why we are frequently confronted with patients of a higher or very high age who have sustained a severe head injury.

# Methods

We reviewed the hospital records and neurological examinations of 64 patients aged over 60 who had been admitted to hospital and submitted to surgery in the years 1978-1987 because of head injury. Forty-six patients had a preoperative CT and 18 had an angiographic examination. All the patients who survived 5 days had a postoperative CT.

# Results

The 64 patients were aged 60-91 years and had acute and subacute traumatic intracranial hematomas. Of the patients, 66% were older than 70 years and 23% older than 80 years.

The operative diagnosis was epidural hematoma in nine cases, acute subdural hematoma in 37, subacute subdural hematoma in 16, and intracerebral hematoma in two. Associated injuries of the limbs or chest were found in only 12 of the patients. These injuries led to hypovolemic shock in only two cases.

In 50% of the patients data about past medical history were obtained. Before the injury nearly one-sixth of the patients were under medical care because of diseases of the cardiovascular system, arterial hypertension, or diabetes mellitus. Another one-sixth of the patients were chronic alcoholics.

With respect of the postoperative course we isolated three groups of patients:

Group 1 (27 patients): These patients had an average GCS score of 4.8 at admission and died within 1-20 days (on average 4.3 days) as a result of the traumatic brain damage. They had a nearly constant coma, with a GCS score always below 9.

Group 2 (22 patients): The state of consciousness in these patients, with an average GCS score of 8.7 at admission, improved within 1-16 days (on average 3 days) to a GCS score of 9-14 (median value: 10.3). All these patients died after secondary deterioration within 4-57 days (on average 18.7 days).

**Group 3** (15 patients): These patients improved within 1-11 days (median 3.5 days) after the operation and survived the injury. In this group there were four patients with a GCS score below 8 on admission.

In group 1 the mortality was due to the severity of the injury, and the clinical course was very short. Only one patient died because of extracerebral complications. In group 2 the mortality was due mainly to extracerebral complications. The clinical course was significantly longer than in group 1, and the number of complications increased in older age groups. Group 3 was characterized by a distinctly better GCS score on admission.

The overall mortality of patients aged over 60 was 76%, and that of patients aged over 70 was 86%. The highest mortality was found among patients with acute subdural hematoma (86%).

There was a close relationship between the GCS score on admission and the mortality. Out of 47 patients with a GCS score below 8, 87% died. This was twice as high as the mortality among 17 patients with a GCS score above 9.

The number of complications increased in older age groups. Complications which did not influence the mortality were relatively easy to treat and included diabetes mellitus, arterial hypertension, and delirium. On the other hand the appearance of pulmonary or circulatory complications, infections, or epileptic fits was associated with high mortality. The overall mortality of patients in whom these complications occurred was 90%.

# CT Study

The analysis of CT scans showed that the patency of the perimesencephalic cisterns was an important factor for survival. Out of 15 patients with patent perimesencephalic cisterns, seven - all aged above 70 years - died due to extracerebral complications. Out of 19 patients with completely obstructed perimesencephalic cisterns, only two survived (Table 1).

Case 1, 91 years old, a previously healthy and independent woman, presented with subacute subdural hematoma due to a fall from the

Perimesencephalic cisterns	No.	Group l Death	Group.2 Death	Group 3 Survival
Free	15	1	7	7
Incompletely obstructed	12	7	1	4
Completely obstructed	19	13	4	2
Total	46	21	12	13

Table 1. Patency of the perimesencephalic cisterns and mortality in 46 patients aged over 60 years

stairs, and with a GCS score of 9. The hematoma was evacuated, but a partial infarction within the a.c. media territory occurred. This patient survived with a neurological deficit and became dependent on external help (Figs. 1, 2).

Case 2 was a 61-year-old woman with subacute subdural hematoma and a GCS score of 6 on admission. This patient recovered without deficits and was subjected to cranioplasty 1 year after the injury.

Analysis of mortality and the shift of the midline as demonstrated in CT examination shows that among 23 patients with a shift of more than 4 mm, only one survived (Table 2).

Out of 42 patients aged over 70, six survived. All these patients had a GCS score on admission above 9. None of them had extracerebral injuries. Four of them had diabetes mellitus, arterial hypertension, or cardiac disease in their past medical history, and two were chronic alcoholics. The clinical course in these patients was subacute, e.g., two were admitted more than 24 h after the injury with slowly progressive deterioration. One patient had epidural hematoma with a

Diagnosis (hematoma)	<u>No s</u>	bift Death	Belc	Midline shift Below 4 mm Above 4 mm No Death No Death				
Acute subdural	7	5	3	2	17	17		
Subacute subdural	6	2	2	1	5	4		
Epidural	4	0	0	0	1	1		
Intracerebral	0	0	1	0	0	0		
Total	17	7	6	3	23	22		

Table 2. Midline shift in CT and mortality in 46 patients aged over 60 years



Fig. 1. K.M., 91 years old, preoperative CT: Subdural hematoma with occluded perimesencephalic cisterns and midline shift more than 4 mm

GCS score of 12, and three patients with acute subdural hematoma had GCS scores of 11, 12, and 13 respectively.

With the exception of the above-described two cases, none of the patients who survived had a midline shift in CT or completely occluded perimesencephalic cisterns. The surviving patients showed no signs of brain swelling at the time of craniotomy, and all of them had a GCS score above 10 on the first postoperative day.

#### Conclusion

Availability of means of diagnosis of intracranial hematoma in a patient who is very old puts the neurosurgeon in a difficult situation in which he has to decide about treatment of radiologically demonstrable surgical lesion knowing that the mortality of these patients will be extremely high in spite of removal of hematoma. In favorable circumstances, i.e., a high GCS score and no signs of tentorial herniation, as encountered among 6 of 42 patients aged over 70, surgery should be performed.

#### Summary

Surgical treatment of severe head injury in patients in the 7th to 9th decades of life is confronted by difficulties due to the age itself and to the complications of the injuries encountered. In our group of patients aged over 60 who had a GCS score below 8 on admis-



Fig. 2. K.M., 91 years old, postoperative CT

sion and who presented with a surgically treatable intracranial hematoma, the mortality was 87%. Among patients aged over 60 with a moderate degree of head injury (intracranial hematoma and GCS score of 9-13), there was a mortality of 50%.

The surgical treatment of traumatic intracranial hematoma in a patient aged over 70 should be considered when the GCS score on admission is above 9 and if there is no major midline displacement or occlusion of perimesencephalic cisterns on CT examination. It has to be stressed that among our patients aged over 70 who had a shift of the midline structures above 4 mm and occluded cisternes, none survived in spite of removal of the hematoma. The two surviving patients in whom these features were present in CT study had a subacute course with slowly progressive deterioration.

It can be concluded that in patients aged over 70 who harbor an intracranial traumatic hematoma and who have a potential chance of survival (no major midline shift and no signs of tentorial herniation in CT), approximately 50% will die due to extracerebral complications. Pneumonia, sepsis, pulmonary or cardiac complications, and epileptic fits developing during the postoperative course worsen the prognosis and are connected with an 80%-90% mortality.

#### References

1. Alberico AM, Ward JD, Choi SC, Marmarou A, Young HF (1987) Outcome after severe head injury. J Neurosurg 67:648-656

- Conzen M, Dette M, Sollmann H (1987) Retrospektive Analyse von 102 Subduralhämatomen. In: Bettag W (ed) Neurochirurgie in ausgewählten Kapiteln, Hippokrates Stuttgart, pp 56-62
- 3. Frowein RA (1979) Prognostic assessment of coma in relation to age. Acta Neurochir 28:3-12
- 4. Frowein RA, Richard KE, Schiltz F, Firsching R (1987) Schädel-Hirn-Verletzungen bei älteren Patienten. In: Bettag W (ed) Neurochirurgie in ausgewählten Kapiteln, Hippokrates Stuttgart, pp 45-55
- 5. Karimi-Nejad A, Tritz W (1984) Sequelae and prognosis of craniocerebral trauma in elderly people. In: Piotrowski W, Brock M, Klinger M (eds) Advances in neurosurgery. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, 12:212-217
- Lausberg G (1977) Zur Problematik der Schädel-Hirn-Verletzungen im höheren Lebensalter. In: Götz E, Rauschelbach HH (eds) Arbeit und Gesundheit. Müller E, Peters G, Hirnverletzung und Alter, Thieme, Stuttgart New York, pp 25-35
- Stuttgart New York, pp 25-35 7. Luerssen TG, Klauber MR, Marshall LF (1988) Outcome from head injury related to patients' age. J Neurosurg 68:409-416
- Teasdale G, Skene A, Parker L, Jenett B (1979) Age and outcome of severe head injury. Acta Neurochir 28:140-143

# Outcome of Patients with an Acute Traumatic Subdural Hematoma

B. Rama, L. Clausert, E. Markakis, W. Schöner, H. Kolenda, and E. Turner Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Göttingen, Robert-Koch-Straße 40, D-3400 Göttingen

# Introduction

Reviewing the literature of the last 50 years for survival rates of more than 1300 patients suffering from acute traumatic subdural hematoma, one must be surprised by the fact that survival rates have not increased significantly due to better diagnostic tools and progress in intensive care medicine.

Survival rates between 4% and 81% were reported while a correlation between survival rate and the time interval from cerebral trauma to neurosurgical treatment was judged to be uncertain [1-5,7-8,10-20].

In 1980 an air rescue facility was installed under the auspices of the Department of Anesthesiology in our hospital. This gave rise to this study to investigate the influence of rapid hospital admission of patients with acute subdural hematoma on survival rates.

# Material and Methods

Between 1980 and 1986 188 patients were treated in our hospital after severe cerebral trauma. Of these 188 patients, 156 underwent surgery for decompression from acute subdural hematoma. Ten of these 156 showed no certain relevant history of trauma and had to be excluded from survival rate calculations. The remaining group was split into five subdivisions depending on the time interval between trauma and neurosurgical treatment as follows: less than 3 h, 3-6 h, 6-12 h, 12-24 h, and 24-48 h. As a measure for the clinical course of these patients the Glasgow Outcome Scale was used [6]. Furthermore we looked for symptoms and associated lesions. Follow-up examinations were performed at least over a period of 1 year after injury. Data for survival rate calculations and Glasgow Outcome Scaling were supplied by our outpatient department and other hospitals or general practitioners. Additionally information was drawn from a questionnaire which was sent to the patients.

# Results

Mortality and survival rate: Out of 188 patients, 156 were operated on, and of these, 65 survived. Of the 32 patients treated conservatively, 11 survived. The overall survival rate was 40.4%. Mode of admission: 73 patients were transferred by air ambulance, 55 were transported to our hospital in a surface ambulance under primary anesthesiological service, and 50 were admitted without first aid service by an anesthesiologist. No certain information was available from ten patients.

Time delay from cerebral trauma to surgery: Results from 146 patients regarding survival rates are listed in Table 1.

Clinical symptoms: In the group of patients with primary coma, lethality was found to be 66%. Those victims with secondary coma had a lethality of 49%. Decerebrate rigidity was lethal in 75%. All patients with a lack of light reflexes of their medium sized pupils died. Lethality in patients with mydriasis bilaterally was 84%; with mydriasis contralaterally it was 70%, and with mydriasis on the same side it was 59%. Only 29% of the patients with light-reactive pupils died.

Type of cerebral trauma: Survival rates of victims suffering from isolated acute subdural hematoma (n = 50), from an additional contusion (n = 65), and from a second epi- or subdural hematoma contralaterally (n = 73) showed no significant differences (38%, 44%, and 38% respectively).

Associated lesions: 100 patients had acquired additional injuries involving the abdominal region (survival rate 25%), the extremities (survival rate 38%), the thoracic region (survival rate 46%), or the spine (survival rate 58%). Survival rates decreased with the number of combined lesions - from 59% in those with one extracerebral lesion down to 39% in those with two more lesions and 27% in those with three more lesions.

Age: The overall survival rate in the group of patients younger than 60 years was found to be 45%, while it was 29% among those older than 60 years.

Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS): One-fifth of the surviving group were in a vegetative state or severely disabled, while four-fifths were moderately disabled or in good recovery (GOS 1 = 60%, GOS 2 = 4%, GOS 3 = 4%, GOS 4 = 6%, GOS 5 = 26%). The clinical outcome according to the different time intervals between trauma and neurosurgical treatment is presented in Table 1.

#### Conclusions

Unfortunately this clinical study confirmed the mean survival rate of 40% in patients suffering from acute subdural hematoma. This figure agrees with the average results published in literature over the last 50 years.

At least it can be stated that immediate referral enables quick cerebral decompression. We were able to show that if neurosurgical therapy could be initiated within 6 h after cerebral trauma, 73% of the survivors recovered well. If treatment was only possible later

ment $(n = 146)$ , and	d clinical ou	tcome (Glasgow Outo	come Scale) of 7.	3 survivor	s (b)	
	ba			م		
Time from trauma to neurosurgical treatment (h)	Patients (n)	Survival rate (% per group)	Survivors (n)	GOS ( 5	8 per 4	group) 3/2
3	54	37	24	71	12	17
3–6	44	48	24	75	80	17
6-12	14	29	7	43	28	29
12-24	18	50	10	50	20	30
24-48	16	50	ω	50	25	25
Total	146		73			

Table 1. (a) Survival rates and time intervals from cerebral trauma to neurosurgical treatment (n = 146), and clinical outcome (Glasgow Outcome Scale) of 73 survivors (b)

than 6 h but not exceeding 48 h after injury, 25% less of the survivors achieved good recovery.

Definition of acute subdural hematoma should be limited to those cases having developed within 48 h, because the early signs of reabsorption and progressive changes appeared 24-36 h after cerebral trauma [9].

# References

- Echlin FA, Sordillo SVR, Garvey jr. TQ (1956) Acute, subacute, and chronic subdural hematoma. JAMA 161:1345-1350
- Faupel G, Dei-Anang K, Meinig G, (1987) Wie steht es mit der Überlebenschance beim epi- und subduralen Hämatom? In: Kohlmeyer K(ed) Aktuelle Probleme der Neurotraumatologie und klinischen Neuropsychologie, Regensberg & Biermann Münster, pp 306-318
- Neuropsychologie, Regensberg & Biermann Münster, pp 306-318
  Fell DA, Fitzgerald S, Moiel RH, Caram P (1975) Acute subdural hematomas. J Neurosurg 42:37-42
- Hernesniemi J (1979) Outcome following head injuries in the aged. Acta Neurochir 49:67-79
- 5. Jamieson KG, Yelland JDN (1972) Surgically treated traumatic subdural hematomas. J Neurosurg 37:137-149
- Jennett B, Bond M (1975) Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet 480-484
- 7. Klingensmith W, Voris HC (1951) Surgical treatment of extracerebral hematoma in acute craniocerebral injury. Am J Surg 81:533-537
- Laudig GH, Browder EJ, Watson RA (1941) Subdural hematoma. Ann Surg 113:170-191
- 9. Lindenberg R, Freytag E (1957) Morphology of cortical contusions. Arch Pathol (Chicago) 63:23-42
- 10. Loew F, Wüstner S (1960) Diagnose, Behandlung und Prognose der traumatischen Hämatome des Schädelinneren. Act Neurochir (Wien) suppl. VII Springer pp 23-140
- 11. McKissock W, Richardson A, Bloom WH (1960) Subdural hematoma (a review of 389 cases). Lancet: 1365-1369
- 12. McLaurin RL, Tutor FT (1961) Acute subdural hematoma. J Neurosurg 18:61-67
- 13. Nyström S, Mäkelä T (1964) Das akute, subdurale und chronische subdurale Hämatom. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 11:565-578
- 14. Penzholz H (1979) Therapie und Prognose der akuten intrakraniellen extrazerebralen Hämatome. Nervenarzt 50:141-143
- 15. Pia HW (1959) Das akute subdurale Hämatom. In: Beiträge zur Neurochirurgie 1. J.A. Barth (Leipzig) pp 71-72
- 16. Richards T, Hoff J (1974) Factors affecting survival from acute subdural hematoma. Surgery 75:253-258
- 17. Rosenorn J, Gjerris F (1978) Long-term follow-up review of patients with acute and subacute subdural hematomas. J Neurosurg 48:345-349
- 18. Seelig JM, Becker DP, Miller JD, Greenberg RP, Ward JD, Choi SC (1981) Traumatic acute subdural hematoma. N Engl J Med 304:1511-1518
- 19. Sollmann WP, Hussein S, Stolke D (1985) Behandlungsergebnisse von schweren Schädel-Hirn-Traumen mit und ohne Dexamethason-Therapie. Neurochirurgia 28:46-50
- 20. Stone JL, Rifai MHS, Sugar O, Lang RGR, Oldershaw JB, Moody RA (1983) Subdural hematomas 1. Acute subdural hematoma: progress in definition, clinical pathology, and therapy. Surg Neurol 19:216-231

Acute Subdural Hematoma - An Unsolved Neurosurgical Problem

# B. Klun

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik, Zaloska 7, YU-61000 Ljubljana

# Introduction

Acute subdural hematoma is one of the most common neurosurgical diseases and at the same time one with the highest mortality. It is difficult to imagine that any neurosurgeon would be willing to operate upon a condition with a mortality of 60% or higher, but in the case of subdural hematoma we do precisely this. It is also surprising that subdural hematoma has gained so little attention in literature and research; it seems that efforts have been directed to more attractive and "modern" topics, even if these often represent rare and exotic diseases. The achievements of modern neurosurgery, like new techniques in anesthesia, microsurgery, and intensive care, have greatly changed the results and indications in many fields of neurosurgery and resulted in an impressive lowering of mortality, but in respect of acute subdural hematoma no such trends are visible.

Different series have produced variable mortality figures, mostly in the 60%-70% bracket [1,2,3]. Lower figures are exceptions or due to selected cases [6].

It seems that the changing pattern of brain trauma, due in great part to high-speed vehicles, has greatly altered the pathology of intracranial hematomas. At the beginning of this century, the prevailing bleeding was epidural; today just the opposite is the case. In addition to more severe trauma, other factors contributing to the high mortality are faster transportation and better on the spot resuscitation, which increases the percentage case load brought alive into hospital, but of whom few will survive the first few hours.

This paper discusses the influence of therapeutic efforts in treating acute subdural hematomas during the last two decades and seeks an explanation for the unsatisfactory results.

# Results

A comparison of mortality in subdural and epidural bleeding in the years from 1965 to 1986 is displayed in Fig. 1. The first group includes 435 subdural hematomas and the second one 248 epidural hematomas. Excluded were all firearm injuries and subdural hematomas in children; in both groups multiple injuries were included. It can be seen that the mortality curve in subdural hematoma remains high and unchanged, with slight variations in some years. On the other hand, the curve for epidural hematoma shows a slow but clear downward trend. Mortality in this group is normally low and further lowering



Fig. 1. Mortality in the patients with acute subdural hematomas (435 cases) and epidural hematomas (248 cases) in the last two decades. A downward trend is visible for epidural hematomas, but the mortality in the subdural group remains virtually unchanged

would be difficult to achieve. It is important to stress that the relatively short transport routes in the area covered by our Department (most patients are admitted within 2 h) lower the mortality in the group of epidural bleedings, but seem to raise the mortality in subdural bleedings.

Figure 2 shows the mortality and morbidity in the same period for acute subdural hematoma. Owing to the extensive overlapping of the curves, the percentage on the ordinate is "stretched." The different methods of treatment are cited according to their date of introduction. This should be considered just as an orientation, since many of these methods were combined, or used under changing regimes. However, the figure proves that none of the treatments has changed the prognosis as regards either the mortality or the sequelae. The only clearly visible change occurred with the introduction of computerized tomography (CT), meaning that the prognosis was changed not by a therapeutic but by a diagnostic tool. The reason is obvious. Some patients were not operated on at all, either because of the large extent of the concomitant brain injuries, or because it was decided that the subdural bleeding was too small to be responsible for the clinical picture. In addition, intracerebral hematomas were easily diagnosed. On the other hand, the number of patients with considerable neurological deficit increased with the introduction of CT for obvious reasons.

#### Discussion

The explanation for the unsuccessful therapeutic efforts probably lies in the poor understanding of the real pathology of subdural hematoma. Acute subdural hematoma is not just a simple collection of

54





blood, comparable to epidural hematoma or distinguished from it just by anatomical landmarks, but part of a syndrome of the severely injured brain [4,5]. In other words, acute subdural hematoma is just a sign of multiple injuries of the brain.

Figure 3 shows the dilemma very clearly. This patient has the most severe contusions and destruction of both frontal lobes. The small subdural collection plays an unimportant role, if any, in the severe clinical picture. In the period before the introduction of CT, however, this bleeding would probably have been the only pathology seen on the angiogram. In most such cases, an immediate operation did not help, and often caused the condition to deteriorate because of the prolapsing brain, an almost invariable complication of extensive brain injuries.

Looking at subdural hematoma from this point of view, it is easy to understand why our therapeutic efforts have helped so little in improving the prognosis. If the brain injury represents the main pathology, it is difficult to believe that it will be influenced by evacuation of a blood collection, especially a small one. This also explains why large subdural hematomas have a better prognosis - in cases in which they are not combined with too extensive brain injuries - than the small ones.

The prognosis in acute subdural hematoma therefore remains gloomy with the current therapeutic possibilities and is one of the great unsolved problems in neurosurgery.



Fig. 3. A CT scan showing severe destruction of both frontal lobes and a small, unimportant subdural hematoma. CT allows a good evaluation of the total brain injury in contrast to angiography, which would most likely show the subdural bleeding only, which in turn could lead to an unnecessary or unsuccessful operation

# References

- 1. Cantore GP, Delfini R, Neri L (1978) Contribution to the surgical treatment of acute subdural haematomas. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 41:349-353
- 2. Fell DA, Fitzgerald S, Moiel RH et al. (1975) Acute subdural hematomas. J Neurosurg 42:37-42
- 3. Janieson KG, Yelland JDN (1972) Surgically treated traumatic sub-
- dural hematomas. J Neurosurg 37:137-149
  4. Klun B, Fettich M (1984) Factors influencing the outcome in acute subdural hematomas. A review of 330 cases. Acta Neurochir 71:171-178
- McKissock W, Richardson A, Bloom WH (1960) Subdural hematoma: a review of 389 cases. Lancet 1:1365-1369
- 6. Seelig JM, Becker DP, Miller JD et al. (1981) Traumatic acute subdural hematoma. N Engl J Med 304 (25):1511-1518

# Regeneration of Intellectual Functions Following Closed Brain Injury: Follow-up Study on a Pair of Twins using the Co-twin as Control

# H. Kolenda, Ch. Höger, and M. Schade

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Göttingen, Robert-Koch-Straße 40, D-3400 Göttingen

# Introduction

Neurological and especially intellectual sequelae of brain injuries in children are difficult to evaluate even in prospective studies as pretraumatic personality features and psychoreactive consequences interact with direct effects of the traumatic insult. Uniformity of genetic, of social, and in the ideal case of educational influences in monozygotic twins offers a chance to visualize these traumatic effects on a child's development. Following these considerations, a surprising concordance among both twins, brain-damaged and control, was demonstrated by DENCKER [4] in a retrospective study on 36 monozygotic pairs. EEG, psychometric intelligence, and social behavior agreed to such an extent that most of the remaining differences proved pretraumatic.

Our findings in a pair of female monozygotic twins, one of whom suffered a severe closed brain injury, demonstrate, besides the cited concordant aspects, significant differences according to complex intellectual functions.

# Case Report

The pair of twins studied was described anamnestically as inconspicuous until the 8th year of age. Their progress at school was above average. The firstborn twin was characterized as being a little quieter than her sister. This girl was hit by a car on her way from school. The primary neurological status was described by the following symptoms: unconsciousness and extension cramps of all extremities, and two generalized convulsions during admission to our clinic 1 h later. Check-ups indicated a left-sided hemiparesis and a 4-point Glasgow Coma Scale score.

Besides severe brain damage and a contusion of the left maxilla, no other injuries were found. Computerized tomography showed contusions in the left frontal and right temporal lobes.

Under epidural ICP monitoring we administered high-dose antiedematous therapy in the intubated and artificially respirated patient. During the 9th day she opened her eyes for the first time. At the end of the 3rd week, visual contact and emotional reactions were achieved. After 1.5 months she verbalized a few words spontaneously and after 3 months understanding was almost restituted though her vocabulary and psychoreactivity were still retarded. Another 3 months later she was able to start school again together with her twin sister.

#### Methods

One and 2 years after the accident a neurological, psychiatric, and psychological investigation was carried out on the brain-damaged child and her twin sister as control. Each time EEG records were obtained from both children, including hyperventilation records. Their parents were thoroughly questioned about behavioral abnormalities.

The following test battery was applied:

- HAWIK-R, the German version of the WISC intelligence test
- PET, the German version of the Illinois Test of Psycholinguistic Abilities (ITPA) [1]
- GFT, the German version of the BENDER-Gestalt Test
- Trials for visual and visuomotoric discrimination ability
- Trials for working capacity and velocity.

#### Results

Physical appearance revealed an obvious acceleration of our patient 1 year after the traumatic insult as compared with the co-twin. We attributed this to a long-term stress-induced release of growth hormone. After 2 years this difference of acceleration was nearly equalized (Figs. 1, 2).



Fig. 1. The twins at the age of 8 years and 8 months; 1 year after brain injury, patient to the left Fig. 2. The twins at the age of 9 years and 8 months; 2 years after brain injury, patient to the left In the neurological investigation we still found a latent left-sided hemiparesis and a reduced automatization of complex movement skills with only slight improvement during the 2nd year. Regarding her behavior, it was remarkable that her sound sister seemed to be a kind of model she used for orientating herself when she was exposed to unknown situations. In addition she was more quiet, slower, and made less attempt to attract attention.

There was no remarkable impairment in terms of progress of work, concentration, or earlier exhaustion. Two years after the trauma she was still doing well in working behavior but was more self-confident and optimistic.

Although her twin sister showed a high achievement motivation herself, she remained prudent and considerate towards our patient. After the 2nd year she worked more for herself and was more vivacious and verbally active owing to the reduction of emotional stress.

Psychometric testing was performed several times with our patient during the 1st year of convalescence outside our clinic. In accordance with the literature, verbal and knowledge skills were less affected by the brain damage than were action-bound skills, especially those involving visual or visuomotoric processing velocity. Depending on the severity of the initial brain injury, the latter also normalize during the 1st year.

The HAWIK-R evaluated the IQ of our patient to be 120 (= T-score 63) 1 year after the accident while that of her twin sister was 118 (= T-score 62), and other tests confirmed these findings. However, for evaluating the development during the 2nd year after the brain trauma the tests generally used in prospective studies were not meaningful. The only thing we proved by these was an increase of working velocity in our patient after the 2nd year. For this purpose the PET was successfully applied.

Testing the Hypothesis of No Difference concerning intellectual development in the twins without the intercurrent accidental event, we noticed proceeding impairments in our patient compared with her twin sister at the first investigation using the PET:

- On the Integration Level they concerned velocity of perception and the level of acoustic-linguistic automatic and sequential functions.
- On the Representation Level impairment of complex receptive, associative, and expressive function was verified.

Two years after traumatic insult our patient reached significantly better scores on acoustic-linguistic automatic function. Related to the PET T-scores a positive development from a lower average to an average value was remarkable during the 2nd year (Table 1). Her sound sister reached scores above average each time.

#### Discussion

From long-term studies of adults [2] and children [3] with head injuries it was known that timed measures of visuospatial and visuomotor skills tend to show more impairment than do verbal skills. As there was no suggestion of a specific pattern of cognitive and

Applied to	est	T	L	T2		
		Ρ	S	Р	S	
HAWIK-R		63	62	-	-	
PET	Integration Level (automatic, sequences)	44	55	49	57	
	Representation Level (complex functions)	52	60	53	60	

Table 1. Comparison between patient (P) and her sound twin sister (S) 1 year (T1) and 2 years (T2) after brain injury. The numbers represent T-scores achieved in the HAWIK-R and PET

intellectual deficit following brain damage after those studies, these sequelae were considered to be individual.

Our investigations on a pair of monozygotic twins demonstrated a specific pattern of impairments in the brain-injured child compared with the co-twin 1 and 2 years after traumatic insult using the PET. The impairments concerned complex cortical functions such as perception velocity, automatic and serial acoustic-linguistic skills, verbal perception, and visuomotoric associations. Although the accuracy of neuropsychological tests is said to be only 70% [5], our results agreed with detailed statements of the parents of our patient about improvement in both complex motoric and cognitive functions.

#### References

- Angermaier M (1974) Psycholinguistischer Entwicklungs Test. Beltz Test GmbH, Weinheim
- Becker B (1975) Intellectual changes after closed head injury. J Clin Psychol 31:307-309
- Chadwick O, Rutter M, Brown G (1981) A prospective study of children with head injuries: II. Cognitive sequelae. Psychol Med 11:49-61
- 4. Dencker S (1960) Closed head injury in twins. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2:569-575
- 5. Hartje W (1981) Neuropsychologische Diagnose zerebraler Funktionsbeeinträchtigungen. Nervenarzt 52:649-654

# The Influence of Independent Parameters on the Evaluation of Patients with Craniocerebral Trauma and Their Occupational Reintegration

R. Mewe and H.-J. König

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Münster, Jungeblodtplatz 1, D-4400 Münster

Neurosurgery, often seen as a smaller specialty among other clinical disciplines, has acquired considerable sociomedical significance on account of the steadily rising number of craniocerebral traumas. In particular, the clinical neurosurgeon is frequently called upon to evaluate damage to the nervous system resulting from craniocerebral trauma. The present study, focusing on the potential sociomedical impact or consequences of the current modes and practices of evaluation, involves a catamnestic investigation of 60 patients who, after isolated craniocerebral trauma, were primarily treated in the Münster Clinic of Neurosurgery, with subsequent medicolegal evaluation of the damage resulting from the trauma.

BLOHMKE et al. [1] have distinguished various subfields of social medicine:

- 1. Medical sociology
- Epidemiology of chronic diseases, definition of risk factors and noxae
- 3. Theory of prevention
- 4. Theory of rehabilitation
- 5. Theory and practice of social security from a medical point of view
- 6. Health information to the general public
- 7. Public health system

Regarding the type of institutions requiring sociomedical or sociolegal certification, and also the type of certificates wanted, we have to realize that for a neurosurgeon the majority of certificates will be called for by cooperative trade associations, i.e., by the legal bearers of industrial insurance against occupational injuries. Thus, our main interest in the following focuses on evaluations on behalf of statutory insurance corporations.

Within the framework of neurosurgical expertise, the most frequent problem is the assessment of "reduction of earning capacity" or reduced fitness for work after an accident or traumatic injury. In defining the exact percentage of reduction, the evaluation must be oriented not so much toward the actual earnings but rather the theoretical reduction of earning capacity in the respective occupational field, and working (life) conditions in general, disregarding the possible reduction of salary or income resulting from the accident. Statistics about the correlation of this reduction of capacity with the percentage of income reduction after an accident will as a rule show that in most cases the accident causing permanent phy-
sical damage does not lead to a material decrease of income, and may even occasionally involve a rise in salary.

Several studies on the rehabilitation and prognosis of patients with craniocerebral trauma were published in the 1960s and 1970s. FROWEIN [2] reported in 1961 on the prognosis after craniocerebral trauma with prolonged unconsciousness. Favorable survival expectancy was found only in those traumatized patients whose reactions improved within a maximum of 5 days after trauma. In another investigation the same author [3] presented data about the prospects for social rehabilitation of 100 patients with craniocerebral trauma surviving a period of complete unconsciousness lasting between 2 and 27 days, who had been regularly followed up over 2-13 years. Of these, 21% regained normal working capacity and 17% had a slightly reduced capacity, which means an overall adequate recovery in 38%. The study confirmed strong correlations of prognosis with the duration of unconsciousness and also with age. Essential recovery was achieved, on average, 2 years after the accident, but 3 years later in 10%.

Pampus [4] reported a catamnestic study of patients treated in the Rehabilitation Center of Cologne University between 1970 and 1972, and between 1974 and 1976. The material for the second period comprised 114 questionnaires. The patterns of remaining damage after rehabilitation were:

- Motoric disorders in 52%
- Vasovegetative dysregulation in 66.9%
- Mental symptoms in about 94%, comprising:
  - a) motivation disorders in 91%
  - b) impairment of intellectual capacity in 61%

Of 110 traumatized patients, one-third were reintegrated into free employment while two-thirds were not working. The author compared the results of the second period with those of a previous study on the

Table 1. Interdependence of previous work level and reduced working capacity (from [4])

	In 48 patients with cerebral trauma (1970-1972)	In 110 patients with cerebral trauma (1979)
Reduced working capacity		
Same level of work	37.5%	9.1%
Inferior level of work	10.4%	7.3%
Without work	6.3%	4.5%
60%		
Same level of work	4.28	5,5%
Inferior level of work	6.3%	9.1%
Without work	4.2%	10.0%
100%		
Same level of work	0 %	0 %
Inferior level of work	8.38	4.5%
Without work	14.6%	44.5%



Fig. 1. Age distribution of 60 patients with cerebrocranial trauma

period 1970-1972 (Table 1). Comparable with regard to the severity of damage, this group had been much better reintegrated, i.e., twothirds of the patients had been able to find a situation in free employment. According to the author, the difference was due to altered employment conditions in the second period, and to a general elevation of requirements in the labor market.

Figure 1 shows the age distribution in our group of 60 patients with craniocerebral trauma. Table 2 gives a correlation of professional activities and trauma-related reduction of earning capacity in the 60 patients we had to evaluate and certify between 1982 and 1985. This period of 3 years corresponds to that recorded by Pampus. In the subgroup with a reduction of 40%, reintegration into their previous jobs was possible in all cases: five students, two soldiers (evaluated according to the military pensions legislation), and two patients from skilled trades. The students suffered no impairment in their further professional training. In the subgroup of patients with 60% reduction, 4% were able to take up a simple employment after rehabilitation training, but the rest remained without employment in the free labor market, as did all patients with a reduction of earning capacity up to 100%. It should be mentioned that our study

Reduced capacity		% of total
40%	Same level of work Inferior level of work	15% 0%
	Without work	0%
60%	Same level of work	0%
	Inferior level of work	48
	Without work	52.8%
100%	Same level of work	0%
	Inferior level of work	0%
	Without work	23.2%

Table 2. Authors' data on the interdependence of work level and reduced capacity in 60 patients with cerebral trauma between 1982 and 1985

included six patients with a reduction of 50-70% who all remained active, namely on their own farms. As they are hardly comparable to the patients previously in employment, they are registered separately.

The pattern of damage observed in our patients at the time of evaluation after rehabilitation is largely comparable to that described by Pampus. Psychic problems such as low motivation and impaired concentration or memory were reported by about 90% of all patients.

The classification of craniocerebral traumas by TÖNNIS and LÖW (cited in [5]), adopted for our study, has established the often confirmed correlation between initial symptoms (main parameter: duration of unconsciousness) and the subsequent grade of deficiencies. Predicting professional reintegration or retraining potential on the basis of initial symptoms is hardly possible from the data gathered in our group of patients.

PAMPUS [4] stated in 1979: "A reduction of earning capacity by more than 60% is practically prohibitive for reintegration into the free labor market under current conditions." According to our investigations, the limit for reintegration tends to settle on a 40% reduction of earning power.

Investigation of the social situation of patients with cerebral trauma may rely on several different parameters which, however, are all hampered by a high degree of subjectivity and multifactorial influence. Questioning about familial status and housing conditions will elicit important aspects of social rehabilitation, but any answers about personal well-being or changes in social environment are subject to highly personal estimation. They depend not only on the effect of organic psychosyndromes, but also ultimately on the success of occupational reintegration. Accordingly, such estimates were always negative in an unexpectedly high number of nonreintegrated patients.

When we asked whether non-reintegrated patients received any pension, 39 of the answers were statistically valid, though highly divergent. In some cases applications were still under way but as yet unapproved, while in others the pension had been denied and the patients received unemployment compensation or social security payment. A third group was receiving pensions.

Other criteria could not be evaluated on account of the high proportion of permanently unemployed patients. When we asked for the patient's personal opinion on the adequacy of recompenses, i.e., according to his own feeling of "justice," answers were mostly negative.

Another query concerned the change of real income suffered at the time of catamnestic evaluation, i.e., some 3 years after the accident. The resulting data were equally insecure, being subject to strong personal influences. Moreover, it is impossible to ascertain whether and to what extent private insurances or other sources have been successfully approached for compensation.

Among the trauma-independent variables (Table 3) responsible for the ultimately unsatisfactory reintegration, the persistently unfavorable situation in the employment market, high levels of unemployment, and increasing requirements for classified jobs were certainly in the foreground. Guidelines for evaluation and certification issued by accident and labor injury insurance corporations have not been

## Table 3. Trauma-independent variables

- 1. Conditions and regulations of insurance
- Labor market
- 3. Protection against dismissal
- 4. Practice of expertise

altered during recent years. Another point is that an employee with a reduction of earning capacity of up to 50% is practically exempt from normal dismissal. Consequently, any employer is apt to be somewhat reticent in engaging such a person even if adequately rehabilitated. Last but not least, the practice of evaluation and certification is liable to certain individual variations. Psychosyndromes of cerebro-organic origin, as well as mental symptoms in general, are often of borderline significance; thus, the mere decision to require additional psychiatric expertise may influence the "reduction of earning capacity" ultimately certified in terms of grade or percentage.

It may be concluded that a "reduction of earning capacity or fitness" by 40% or more will practically render impossible any reintegration into the free employment market. We have to ask whether the practice of evaluation and certification should not be changed in the long run in order to prevent severe social iniquities, or whether the guidelines of statutory insurance corporations should be changed to allow for individual-oriented pensioning or compensation in parallel with the criteria adopted by private accident insurance companies. The results reported above seem incompatible with the fulfilment of the original intentions and aims of statutory insurance against industrial injuries.

# References

- Blohmke M (1975) Handbuch der Sozialmedizin. Bd. I S p 2, Ferdinand Enke, Stuttgart
- Frowein RA (1961) Zur vitalen Prognose von schweren Schädel-Hirn-Verletzungen mit langdauernder Bewußtlosigkeit. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 9:468
- Frowein RA, Auf der Haar K, Terhaag D, Kinzel W, Wieck HH. Arbeitsfähigkeit und Abbausyndrome nach Hirntraumen mit langdauernder Bewußtlosigkeit. Unfallheilkunde 71:233-249
- 4. Pampus I (1980) Aussichten der beruflichen Wiedereingliederung schwer Schädel-Hirn-Verletzter. In: Die Prognose und Rehabilitation des Schädel-Hirn-Traumas. p 83-89, Georg Thieme, Stuttgart

# Prognostic Parameters in Severe Head Injury: A Multivariate Analysis

H.A. Trost, M.R. Gaab, L. Hahn, M. Lorenz, and I. Haubitz

Neurochirurgische Klinik der Medizinischen Hochschule Hannover, Konstanty-Gutschow-Straße 8, D-3000 Hannover 61

# Introduction

In spite of decreasing numbers of traffic accidents and injuries, severe head trauma still plays a major role in neurosurgical practice. Notwithstanding important developments in the diagnosis of head injury, e.g., cranial CT and MRT, we have not so far been able to achieve a decisive improvement in our patients' prognosis. Primary brain damage, the quality of initial treatment at the site of the accident, safe and quick transport to the hospital, immediate operative treatment, and rehabilitation are still more important for the patient's outcome than the kind of conservative intensive care in the neurosurgical intensive care unit [2,12,16].

Whereas we can scarcely influence the course from the occurrence of traumatic brain damage to admission to the neurosurgical unit, the management in our clinic has to be reconsidered regularly in order to improve the prognosis by preventing or minimizing the secondary brain damage. A variety of authors have examined and described a vast plurality of prognostic factors in severe head injury, such as different clinical data, laboratory blood and CSF parameters, and the results of electrophysiological, morphological, and functional investigations of the injured brain [1,2,3,4,5,19].

Stimulated by the modern imaging techniques like cranial CT and MRT, new models of brain damage have been developed and discussed, e.g., "diffuse axonal injury," "white matter shear trauma," and primary brain stem lesion" [10,13]. The development of practicable methods for continuous measurement of intracranial pressure (ICP) allows early recognition of brain swelling and intracranial hemorrhage and thus monitoring and control of operative and conservative intensive therapy after initial treatment [7,9,15].

#### Patients and Methods

To evaluate these monitoring methods we investigated for more than 12 years the clinical state, course, and outcome in severely head injured patients by means of computerized analysis. We measured and evaluated the kind of injury, age and sex, the intensity and duration of coma, and the height and duration of elevated ICP according to the following protocol:

- Classification of initial coma (WFNS Coma Scale 0-IV)
- Precise follow-up of the clinical course at least twice daily with a modified, extended Glasgow Coma Scale [18]
- 66 Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

- Immediate CT scan after admission and at repeated intervals
- Start of ICP monitoring within 6 h of trauma using a low invasive epidural method with miniaturized transducers (Gaab)
- Continuous EEG record (two bipolar channels, computer analysis by FFT)
- Classification of outcome according to the Glasgow Outcome Scale by control examination 8-14 months posttrauma according to the Glasgow Outcome Scale [11]

Recently introduced methods such as regional cerebral blood flow investigation by stable xenon CT and transcranial Doppler sonography or neurophysiological monitoring using EEG, SEP, and BAEP were not referred to for this evaluation. The results of our neurophysiological monitoring are described by Lorenz in this volume.

All patients were treated according to the degree of coma: patients with coma III were respirated with mild hyperventilation. High doses of dexamethasone were given up to Nov. 1979, moderate doses of pentobarbital up to 1982. Critical rises in ICP were treated by osmotherapy (mannitol, sorbitol, glycerol), oncotherapy, or antiacidotic therapy. All data were evaluated by computer. ICP and EEG were analyzed on- or off-line with an Intertechnique IN 110 computer calculating mean ICP, max. ICP >30 min, max. ICP >5 min (effective peak ICP), and the occurrence (frequency, amplitude, duration) of A, B, C, and other ICP waves. EEG was evaluated by FFT or Berg transformation.

#### Results

Complete data of 379 severely head injured patients (297 men and 82 women) could be evaluated. The distribution of age and sex corresponds to that of all head trauma patients treated in our departments. ICP monitoring was dependent on the availability of intensive care resources and ICP measuring equipment and was employed in severely head injured patients with coma expected to last for more than 24 h and/or significant pathological findings in the CT scan. Therefore young patients were somewhat overrepresented and these young patients often had more serious traumata.

We could confirm the well-known relation between age and prognosis [6,14]. With the exception of infants, who are especially susceptible to water-electrolyte imbalances and malignant brain swelling, we found an almost linear correlation between age and prognosis. There was also a significant relationship between different stages of the initial coma, the duration of coma, and prognosis (Fig. 1).

The statistically most important factor for our patient's prognosis was the epidurally measured ICP (mean ICP as well as duration and maximum peak of intracranial hypertension) (Fig. 2). However, children and adolescents may have a surprisingly good outcome despite a massively elevated ICP of up to and even over 70 mmHg. Adults and especially people aged over 50 years hardly tolerated even a briefly elevated ICP of more than 35 mmHg.

Surprisingly a coma of long duration may have a good prognosis if there is no pathological rise in ICP of over 20 mmHg, e.g., in "traumatic normal pressure coma" (126 survivors = 33.2%). Coma associated with elevated ICP over 30 mmHg, which we call "high pressure coma," has a significantly worse prognosis (39 survivors = 10.3%) (Fig. 3). This important differential diagnosis between patients with







coma due to brain stem lesions and patients with coma and supratentorial brain swelling is further justified by ICP wave analysis and SEP measurements [8]. In normal pressure coma there are no plateau waves and only rare uncritical B-waves. Using SEP measurements an increase in central conduction time gives a good parameter for depth of coma and prognosis, provided this increase is not caused by primary brain stem concussion in patients with normal pressure coma.

Fig. 1. Relationship between outcome and a age and b depth and c duration of coma. The relative frequency of three outcome groups (Glasgow Outcome Scale) is shown in dependency on age (years) and depth (WFNS Coma Scale) and duration (days) of coma. [Glasgow Outcome Scale: 1 = good recovery, 2 = moderate disability, 3 = severe disability, 4 = persistent vegetative, 5 = dead]



Fig. 3 a-d. Traumatic normal pressure coma and high pressure coma. Typical CT scans of (c) normal pressure coma (primary concussive brain stem lesion without hypertensive brain swelling) and (d) high pressure coma (frontal contusion with massive brain swelling) are shown together with the relationship of these two pathophysiologically different states to three age (years) and outcome [Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS)] groups (a, b)

## Discussion

Two pathophysiological groups can clearly be differentiated after head injury: patients without any significant increase in ICP and patients with coma due to intracranial hypertension. In patients with traumatic normal pressure coma no space-occupying lesions are to be found in CT scans. The disturbance of consciousness is therefore not a result of brain stem compression but of a primary brain stem lesion or diffuse axonal injury. These lesions are quite often found by careful examination. Contrary to previous opinion, primary brain stem lesions and/or white matter trauma are often functional with good recovery and better statistical prognosis. The mechanism underlying such lesions may be a tractional, shearing, or rotational stress of the nerve fibers in the brain stem during acute acceleration of the head. The prognosis of these injuries depends on their morphological extension and not on the ICP.

Patients with elevated ICP, too, often show an initial coma followed by a delayed rise in ICP. This may be a sign of a "diffuse brain injury" combining a primary brain stem lesion/axonal injury with subsequent midbrain compression after the delayed development of brain swelling.

The close relation between raised ICP and prognosis underlines the clinical importance of ICP monitoring. As stated above adults hardly tolerate even short increases in ICP of more than 35 mmHg. Therefore such critical elevations must immediately be recognized and appropriately treated [17]. In children and adolescents a much better prognosis can be achieved even when high pressure coma is present, as long as adequate and appropriate therapy is administered.

#### Summary

Over a period of 12 years we prospectively investigated patients with traumatic coma by means of continuous ICP monitoring, repeated CT scans, and clinical follow-up. Even when clinical midbrain syndromes were present, over 30% of our patients never had any rise in ICP or space-occupying lesions. This traumatic normal pressure coma is attributed to a primary brain stem lesion or a diffuse axonal injury caused by tractional, shearing, or rotational stress in acceleration trauma. Its prognosis depends on the initial morphological damage and not on the ICP. Diffuse brain injury leading to high pressure coma, however, results in secondary brain stem compression by brain swelling; therefore the ICP is its most important prognostic factor.

ICP monitoring is therefore considered as indispensable in the management of severe head injury, in addition to clinical observation and repeated radiological investigations.

#### References

- Auer L, Marth E, Petek W, Holzer H, Gell G (1978) The prognostic value of biochemical data from blood and CSF: analysis in patients with severe head injury. Advances in Neurosurgery 5:132-137
- Becker DP, Miller JD, Ward JD et al. (1977) The outcome from severe head injury with early diagnosis and intensive management. J Neurosurg 47:491-502
- 3. Braakmann R, Gelpke GJ, Habbema JDF et al. (1980) Systematic selection of prognostic features in patients with severe head injury. Neurosurgery 6:362-370
- 4. DeSalles AAF, Kontos HA, Becker DP et al. (1986) Prognostic significance of ventricular CSF lactic acidosis in severe head injury. J Neurosurg 65:615-624
- 5. Deutsch G, Eisenberg HM (1987) Frontal blood flow changes in recovery from coma. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 7:29-34

- 6. Frowein RA (1979) Prognostic assessment of coma in relation to age. Acta Neurochir, Suppl. 28:3-12
- 7. Gaab M, Knoblich OE, Dietrich K, Gruss P (1978) Miniaturized methods of monitoring intracranial pressure in craniocerebral trauma before and after operation. Advances in Neurosurgery 5:5-11
- 8. Gaab MR, Haubitz I (1983) Intracranial pressure, primary/secondary brain stem injury and prognosis in cerebral trauma. In: Ishii S., Nagai H, Brock M (eds) Intracranial pressure V. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 501-506
- 9. Gaab MR, Ottens M, Busche F, Müller G, Trost HA (1986) Routine computerized neuromonitoring. In: Miller JD, Teasdale GM, Rowan JO, Galbraith SL, Mendelow AD (eds) Intracranial pressure VI. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 240-247
- 10. Jenkins A, Teasdale G, Hadley HDM, Macpherson P, Rowan JO (1986) Brain lesions detected by magnetic resonance imaging in mild and severe head injuries. Lancet II:445-446
- 11. Jennett B, Bond M (1975) Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. A practical scale. Lancet I:480-484
- 12. Jennett B, Teasdale G, Braakman R et al. (1979) Prognosis of patients with severe head injury. Neurosurgery 4:283-298
- 13. Lobato RD, Sarabia R, Rivas JJ, Cordobes F et al. (1986) Normal computerized tomography scans in severe head injury - prognostic and clinical management implications. J Neurosurg 65:784-789
- 14. Luerssen TG, Klauber MR, Marshall LF (1988) Outcome from head injury related to patient's age. A longitudinal prospective study of adult and pediatric head injury. J Neurosurg 68:409-416
- 15. Miller JD (1987) ICP monitoring: current status and future directions. Acta Neurochir 85:80-86
- 16. Richards P (1986) Severe head injury: the first hour. Br Med J 293:643
- 17. Saul TG, Ducker TB (1982) Effect of intracranial pressure monitoring and aggressive treatment on mortality in severe head injury. J Neurosurg 56:498-503
- 18. Teasdale G, Jennett B (1974) Assessment of coma and impaired
- consciousness. A practical scale. Lancet 2:81-84 19. Trost HA, Gaab M, Haubitz I, Pflughaupt KW, Halves E (1980) Osmoregulation, Hirnschaden und Prognose. In: Mertens HG, Przuntek H: Verh Dtsch Ges für Neurologie 1. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 468-471

# Prognostic Value of Factors Affecting Outcome After Severe Head Injury

# R. Peters, K. E. Richard, and R. A. Frowein

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Köln, Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

## Introduction

For the prognosis of patients with severe head injury, up to now mostly signs of impaired cerebral function, such as state of consciousness and verbal or motor response, have been considered. The usefulness of other regularly available data, i.e., intracranial pressure (ICP), serum osmolality, and serum urea has been demonstrated [1,3,5,6].

## Patient Material

To examine the value and ranking order of these variables for an early prognosis of patients with severe head injury we studied 112 patients by discriminant analysis [4]. All of these patients were comatose for more than 6 h after trauma (GCS  $\leq 7$ ).

## Results

Looking at the degree of coma (according to WFNS, [2], 30% of the coma II patients died, 40% of the coma III patients, and 100% of the coma IV patients. The influence of age on prognosis is well known, as is the influence of diagnosis and additional injury to the chest or abdomen. These influences were confirmed in our study.

In all patients ICP was measured intraventricularly or with an epidural sensor during the 1st week after trauma.

Irrespective of age, increases in mean ICP up to an extent of 40-60 mmHg were survived. The tolerance towards ICP peaks varied: children and adolescents in some cases survived peaks over 90 mmHg, young adults peaks up to 70 mmHg, and elderly patients peaks up to 50 mmHg. One patient over 50 years of age survived pressure peaks up to 90 mmHg.

Regarding the highest values of serum osmolality, we found that there were steep increases in mortality above a level of 320 mosmol and that a mortality of 100% was reached above 340 mosmol. A similar tendency was observable as regards the highest values of serum urea. Mortality reached 92% at urea values above 100 mg/dl.

If one examines the worst values of the variables used, i.e., the state of consciousness, ICP, serum osmolality, and serum urea, it seems possible to attach 78% of the patients to the groups of sur-

vivors or nonsurvivors by considering only the state of consciousness. However, this retrospective analysis does include patients with coma IV.

We studied the question of whether and to what extent the abovementioned factors could be useful for early prognosis based on data from the first days after trauma. As in our clinical material deterioration to coma IV was always fatal, we excluded these cases from the following discriminant analysis of possible prognostic factors.

Under these circumstances the analysis showed that on the day of trauma the state of consciousness was not useful for a prognostic statement. With the help of mean or maximum ICP values not more than 50% of the patients could be correctly classified. On the day of trauma no other variable qualified as having a prognostic value.

On the 1st day after trauma the state of consciousness did not reach a prognostic value either. Maximum ICP, serum osmolality, and serum urea qualified for a prognostic statement with a reliability between 50% and 63% (Fig. 1). Considering these variables together, the percentage of cases correctly classified increased to 76%. With the additional use of diagnosis and age, correct classification of cases reached 82%. For this day, the variables with prognostic value ranked as follows: serum osmolality, aspiration, maximum ICP, state of consciousness, serum urea, and diagnosis.



1st day after trauma - coma IV cases excluded

Fig. 1. Percentage of correct prognostic classifications on the basis of the used variables (state of consciousness, ICP  $\bar{x}$ , etc) and ranking order of the qualified variables on the 1st day after trauma. acc, accident; adm, admission; S, serum; mx, maximum;  $\bar{x}$ , mean

74



2nd day after trauma - coma IV cases excluded

Fig. 2. Percentage of correct prognostic classifications on the basis of the used variables and ranking order of the qualified variables on the 2nd day after trauma. Abbreviations as in Fig. 1

On the 2nd day after trauma, state of consciousness or ICP made a correct classification possible in 58% (Fig. 2). The classification result was better on the basis of serum osmolality, reaching 75%. Regarding these variables together, 72%, or, with additional consideration of diagnosis and age, 80% of the patients could be classified correctly. Again, serum osmolality was in first place.

Considering data from the 3rd day after trauma, the percentage of cases correctly classified on the basis of osmolality decreased to 64%, while with additional use of age and diagnosis the percentage was 71% (Fig. 3). In addition to age and serum osmolality, prognostic value was reached by positive or absent primary pulmonary aspiration. Patients without pulmonary aspiration had normal ICP values in 45% of cases. In contrast, only 24% of the patients with pulmonary aspiration had normal ICP values.

# Conclusion

Considering classification results for the first 7 days after trauma based on the given variables, the following conclusions can be drawn (Table 1): excluding patients with coma IV, state of consciousness and ICP during the first days after trauma do not qualify as making possible a sound prognosis. Serum osmolality, the five variables together, and additional data, i.e., age, diagnosis, and pulmonary state, do seem to have prognostic value.

We found that during the 1st week after trauma all variables regarded together allow a prognostic statement whose accuracy reaches the



# 3rd day after trauma - coma IV cases excluded

Fig. 3. Percentage of correct prognostic classifications on the basis of the used variables and ranking order of the qualified variables on the 3rd day after trauma. Abbreviations as in Fig. 1

range of 70%-80%. Therefore, the chances for an early prognosis are still limited.

Only continuous observation of the patient during a longer period after severe head injury allows for a prognostic statement with sufficient reliability. As has been shown before [3], the necessary duration of these observations is inversely proportional to the patient's age.

# References

- Alberico AM, Ward JD, Choi SC, Marmarou A, Young HF (1987) Relationship to mass lesions, diffuse injury, and ICP course in pediatric and adult patients. J Neurosurg 67:648-656
- Brihaye J, Frowein RA, Lindgren S, Loew F, Stroobandt G (1976) Report on the meeting of the W.F.N.S. I Coma Scaling. Acta Neurochir 40:181-186
- Frowein RA (1980) Prognostische Beurteilung des posttraumatischen Komas. In: Wieck HH (Hrsg) Neurotraumatologie: Derzeitige Schwerpunkte. Thieme, Stuttgart New York pp 78-86
- Krishnaiah PR, Kanal N (1982) Classification, pattern recognition and reduction of dimensionality. In: Handbook of statistics, Vol 2. North-Holland, Amsterdam Oxford New York
- 5. Richard KE (1980) Langzeitkontrolle von Schädelinnendruck und metabolischen Änderungen im Serum und Ventrikelliquor nach schweren Schädelhirntraumen. In: Wieck, HH (Hrsg) Neurotraumatologie: Derzeitige Schwerpunkte. Thieme, Stuttgart New York pp 90-97

Tab]	le 1.	Summary c	of correc	ct progn	ostic (	classi	ficat	ion on	the	basis	of of
the	used	variables	s during	the lst	week a	after	head	injury.	On	days	4/5
and	6/7	the worst	values o	luring b	oth dag	ys wer	e tak	cen			

		Day of trauma	Day l	Day 2	Day 3	Days 4/5	Days 6/7
1	State of consciousness	-	-	58%	57%	-	59%
2	ICP x	50%	-	-	-	-	-
3	ICP mx	48%	60%	58%	61%	-	-
4	S osmolality	-	63%	75%	64%	62%	-
5	S urea	-	59%	64%	48%	67%	62%
v	ariables 1-5	-	76%	72%	64%	648	67%
±	Variables 1-5 Diagnosis Multiple injury Aspiration Consciousness Age	- accider admissi	82% nt ion	80%	71%	75%	73%

 $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$ , mean; mx, maximum; S, serum

6. Richling B, Auer L, Gell G, Oberbauer R (1980) Zum Wert klinischer, vegetativer und laborchemischer Parameter in der Prognose schwerer Schädel-Hirntraumen. In: Wieck HH (Hrsg) Neurotraumatologie: Derzeitige Schwerpunkte. Thieme, Stuttgart New York pp 87-89

# Organizational Model for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Skull and Brain Injuries at a Neurosurgical Clinic with an Integrated Neuroradiological Department

# H. Winkelmann, H.-P. Molsen, and W.-D. Siedschlag

Abteilung Neuroradiologie der Neurochirurgischen Klinik im Städtischen Klinikum Berlin-Buch, Karower Straße 11, DDR-1115 Berlin-Buch

The place of accident, the quality of the initial care, and the transportation to the nearest regional neurosurgical department are often decisive for survival of patients with severe skull and brain injuries. Furthermore, it is very important how diagnostic and therapeutic procedures are organized (Fig. 1).

The time factor is very important in the planning of therapy. Therefore we tried to establish a model for interdisciplinary cooperation between neurosurgeons, neuroradiologists, and anesthetists so as to ensure optimal conditions for diagnostic procedures and surgical treatment. It is necessary to win minutes by organizing transport and diagnostic procedures and by preparing operative procedures (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. Model of possible treatment depending on requirement of patients with skull and brain injuries

78 Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17
 Ed. by R. A. Frowein, M. Brock, and M. Klinger
 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989



Fig. 2. Interdisciplinary organization of CT and parallel procedures

Neuroradiological procedures are reduced to plain X-ray and CT examination, sometimes with control scans. Sometimes during the intensive care CT scan controls enable adequate surgical therapy or appropriate conservative therapy to be administered (Fig. 3).

Angiography is only necessary in cases of rupture of vessels or pulsating exophthalmos; in the latter context it must be performed as soon as possible. In cases of carotid-sinus cavernosus fistula, CT reveals marked thickening of eye muscles which decreases soon after balloon occlusion of the fistula.

When later complications develop, examinations are usually not as urgent as in acute cases. Neuroradiological procedures include plain



Fig. 3. Strategy of examination (in a specialized clinic) in cases of skull and brain injuries



Fig. 4. Course of examinations in later traumatic complications

X-ray examinations of the skull, conventional tomography, and CT. In cases of posttraumatic damage to vessels, angiography is necessary. Only in rare cases is cisternography, combined with tomography, necessary (Fig. 4).

In conclusion, all regional hospitals must be able to perform optimal diagnostic and therapeutic procedures in acute cases of brain injury. A consultation by telephone with neurosurgical clinics may be useful to establish the optimal course and to differentiate between the necessity of acute treatment and the possibility of later treatment in a specialized neurosurgical unit.

# Frequency and Prognosis of Traumatic Brain Edema

# K.E.Richard, R.Wirtelarz, and R.A.Frowein

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Köln, Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

# Introduction

The limitation of traumatic brain edema has been one of the main aims in the prevention of secondary damage in recent years. "Brain swelling," a term introduced by LANGFITT and co-workers [2,3], is used to describe a pathological increase in cerebral blood volume after head injuries [1,4]. Our study is concerned with the following questions:

- How often do brain swelling and brain edema occur after brain trauma?
- What is the rate of progression of both?
- How do brain swelling and brain edema influence the prognosis?

# Patient Material

In 100 consecutive head-injured patients, treated in 1985, yet before the onset of the new randomized double-blind dexamethasone study, neurological course and outcome were correlated with the findings of the CTS of the head.

In the CT scan we differentiated the following findings:

- 0 : No pathological alteration
- 1 : Brain swelling
  - (in accordance with ZIMMERMANN et al. [5], brain swelling was assumed when the perimesencephalic cistern, the ventricles, or the subarachnoid spaces of the brain surface were compressed)
- 2 : Contusion or hematoma
- 3 : Contusion or hematoma with signs of brain swelling
- 4 : Contusion or hematoma with perifocal or local postischemic brain edema
- 5 : Contusion or hematoma with brain swelling and brain edema

In the majority of the patients (64%) the first CT scan was performed within the first 3 h; in the rest it was performed 4-24 h after trauma.

#### Results

# Frequency of Brain Swelling and Brain Edema

Without consideration of the time factor, 24% of the CT scans revealed no pathological findings, 17% brain swelling, 4% contusion or hematoma without the signs of brain swelling or brain edema, 29% contusion or hematoma with accompanying brain swelling, 5% contusion or hematoma with brain edema, and 21% contusion or hematoma with brain swelling and brain edema. Thus, the most frequent findings were contusion or hematoma with brain swelling, as well as these findings together with brain edema.

Temporal Development of Brain Swelling and Brain Edema

Brain edema was evident in the CT scans at the earliest after the 3rd posttraumatic hour, whereas signs of brain swelling appeared within the first 3 posttraumatic hours.

Children and Juveniles (Fig. 1). The marked difference in the rate of appearance of brain swelling and brain edema was well demonstrated in the children and juveniles. Remarkably frequent were the early CT findings of brain swelling, locally as a concomitant phenomenon of contusion or hematoma. In half of the patients brain edema developed at a later stage. Earliest recognition of brain edema in the CT scan



Fig. 1. Temporal and development of brain swelling (1-3) and brain edema (4-5) on the CT scan in children and juveniles after severe head injury. Brain edema never appeared before the llth hour

82



Fig. 2. Typical course of posttraumatic brain edema. Simultaneously with the apex of the cerebral edema, extreme epidural pressure peaks appeared at days 6 and 7 after trauma

was 11 h after trauma, but it was usually recognized between the 2nd and 7th days. Two of the courses were lethal.

Figure 2 represents an example of protracted brain edema in an 18-year-old female. Primarily, the CT revealed a small subdural hematoma with diffuse brain swelling. At day 6 after trauma, a therapyresistant increase in epidural pressure was monitored simultaneously with edema of the left cerebral hemisphere.

Younger Adults (Fig. 3). In one patient of this group (21- to 40-years-old), who was suffering from AIDS, a hyperdense area was observed in the frontoparietal region at 5 1/2 h after trauma. Apart from this exception, in this age group brain edema was first diagnosed after 30 h using CT scan. Even in this group signs of local or diffuse brain swelling were found remarkably often within the first few hours.

Older Adults (Fig. 4). In the 41- to 65-year-old group, particularly frequent findings in the CT were diffuse or hemispheric brain swelling. At a later stage, in 8 of 15 patients brain edema additionally developed. In one patient with a gunshot wound, this appeared only 5 h after trauma; in the remaining cases, however, it did not appear before the 17th hour. On the whole, signs of brain swelling were already recognizable within the first 3 h.



Fig. 3. Temporal development of brain swelling (1-3) and brain edema (4-5) on the CT scan in young adults (21-40 years old). Brain edema did not appear before the 28th hour

In older patients (>65 years), with one exception brain edema did not develop before the 3rd day.

Brain Swelling and Brain Edema in Relation to Patient's Age and Outcome (Table 1)

In 28 of 100 head-injured patients, CT did not reveal any pathological alteration. All of these patients survived. Of 11 patients (18%) with brain swelling, two died; both were juveniles. Contusions or hematomas without brain swelling were seldom seen. Out of three older patients, one died. Of 28 head-injured patients with contusion or hematoma and brain swelling, more than 50% died, independent of age. The mortality in patients with contusion or hematoma and brain edema but without brain swelling was significantly lower: 22%. If, in addition, brain swelling was present, the mortality increased to 48%.

## Conclusion

Sequence analysis of the traumatic sequelae in CT of the head makes it evident that brain swelling and brain edema are secondary processes with vastly differing temporal progression. Brain swelling develops very frequently within the first 3 h, not only in children and juveniles, but also in older patients with severe head injury. This leads very rapidly to a life-threatening restriction of the intracranial space capacity, particularly in conjunction with the development of a hematoma or a contusion. Brain edema develops at a



Fig. 4. Temporal development of brain swelling (1-3) and brain edema (4-5) on the CT scan in older adults (41-65 years old). Brain edema did not appear before the 17th hour

later stage, usually not before the 9th hour and quite often as an additional complication of acute brain swelling which is resistant to therapy. Therefore, the main priority should be given to means of preventing posttraumatic brain swelling.

# References

- Bruce DA, Alavi A, Bilaniuk L, Dolinskas C, Obrist W (1981) Diffuse cerebral swelling following head injuries in children: the syndrome of "malignant brain edema". J Neurosurg 54:170-178
- Langfitt TW, Tannanbaum HM, Kassell NF (1966) The etiology of acute brain swelling following experimental head injury. J Neurosurg 24:47-56
- 3. Langfitt TW, Weinstein JD, Kassell NF (1966) Vascular factors in head injury: contribution to brain swelling and intracranial hypertension. In: Caveness WE, Walker AE (eds) Head injury. Conference Proceedings. Lippincott, Philadelphia pp 172-194
- 4. Ito U, Seida M, Tomida S, Yamazaki S, Inaba Y (1985) Acute brain swelling, contusional brain edema, and ischemic brain damage in acute head injury. In: Inaba Y, Klatzo I, Spatz M (eds) Brain edema. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 621-631
- Zimmerman RA, Bilaniuk LT Bruce D, Dolinskas C, Obrist W, Kuhl D (1978) Computed tomography of pediatric head trauma: acute general cerebral swelling. Radiology 126:403-408

			0	+	7	Г	г	4	г	I	I			
		•65 (n:15)	(n:15)	£	5	I	4	1	I	1	1			
				+	З	I	1	1	ļ	1	m			
			•	+	8	ц	1	3	1	1	1			
	ears)	41-65	(n:29	(1)	12	ъ	2	7	1	1	2			
	ge (y			+	6	J	1	7	I	l	ъ			
	t's a		~	+	6	ю	1	9	1	1	I			
	atien	0-20 21-40 21-40 (n:23)	21-40 n:33	21-40	(n:33	£	13	г	I	£	1	3	9	
	Å			+	11	1	г	г	1	I	7			
			0-∠0 (n:23)	0-20 (n:23)	0-20 (n:23)	~	+	7	г	г	m	1	7	I
						Ξ	6	4	1	н	1	4	1	
				-	7	1	1	m	1	1	4			
-	шe	г	6	+	31	10 48%	2 22%	16 58%	1 33%	2 18%	11			
	Outco	Tota. (n:10	Tota (n:10	Tota (n:10	Tota (n:1(	E	39	10 48%	6 678	6 218	1 33%	7 648	9 328	
				-	30	4%	1 11%	6 21\$	1 33\$	2 18\$	19 688			
				ى م		21	6	28	m	11	28			
•				<b>CT</b> findings		5 Contusion/hematoma + brain swelling + brain edema	<b>4</b> Contusion/hematoma + brain edema	3 Contusion/hematoma + brain swelling	2 Contusion/hematoma	l Brain swelling	0 None			

t completely recovered; (1) slightly disabled; + nonsurvivors

Table 1. CT findings in relation to outcome and age of the head-injured patients

86

# ICP, nrCBF, and Contrast Scan for the Prognosis of Severe Head Injury

G. Meinig, P. Ulrich, U. Prohl, and J. Richter BG-Unfallklinik, Friedberger Landstraße 430, D-6000 Frankfurt/Main 60

Being capable of reaching an early diagnosis and prognosis of severe head trauma is a prerequisite for the sensible, ethically and economically justifiable employment of our sophisticated means of intensive care. Consequently in this paper we discuss whether prognosis is possible on the basis of initial findings of certain diagnostic methods employing medical equipment, i.e., intracranial pressure (ICP) measurement, cerebral blood flow (CBF) measurement, and contrast scan examination (for the determination of brain death).

# ICP

According to our own evaluation, ICP alone provides only limited evidence for use in prognosis. Too often an ICP is seen in the normal or upper region - "normal pressure coma" (A. TROST, preceding essay) as a result of obviously successful early ICP therapy, whereas the most severe neurological deficit is present. When the ICP approaches the medial arterial blood pressure, i.e., there is an insufficient cerebral perfusion pressure, evaluation of the condition of the patient usually can be achieved without ICP measurement.

# nrCBF

In the situation in question (normal pressure coma) CBF measurement provides additional information; this was, incidentally, made clear by the results of earlier experiments by REULEN [3,4]. With focal as well as with global brain edema, each accompanied by a normal ICP, we found highly pathological reduced CBF conditions, presumably as a consequence of narrowing of the capillary and postcapillary bed. Accordingly, in a group of 15 severe head and brain injury patients we found ICP rates in the normal/upper normal range for days, whereas patients suffered brain death within 1-3 days whenever the CBF rates eventually fell to 20 ml/100 g/min or below.

The situation is absolutely clear with CBF rates around 10 ml/100 g/min or below. Such rates, as is common knowledge, are incompatible with life.

BROCK et al. [1], KOHLMEYER [2], and ZWETNOW [5] have already described the xenon-133 clearance curve, which is distinguished by the fact that the highest counting rate after xenon inhalation or intraarterial/intravenous injection remains low. Only a minor dose of xenon reaches the brain, whereas an initial peak may be shown by extracerebral blood flow (external configuration of the clearance curve). In the case of brain death, xenon clearance itself is extremely slow, tending towards zero.

#### Contrast Scan

Proof of lack of cerebral perfusion by means of computer tomography involving intravenous contrast medium application is technically sophisticated. The detector system has a more than hundredfold sensitivity compared to conventional X-ray films, which is why it is possible to make minor differences in contrast visible. As with digital subtraction angiography, it is possible to provide safe intraarterial evidence of contrast medium that has been applied intravenously.

First of all a lateral radiograph needs to be produced. Scans have to be positioned in the region of the heart, the aorta, the lower and upper cervical region, and the base of the brain. Next plain reference scans for these positions have to be performed. While applying 100 ml of a protracted bolus-shaped intravenous injection of a nonionic contrast medium, scans at the same positions as mentioned above are repeated. Safe evidence of the intravenously applied contrast medium in the heart, the aorta, and the neck vessels may hereby be obtained. In the case of brain death, filling and visibility of vessels at the base of the brain does not occur. Brain death can be confirmed by means of a density dispersion curve.

If it is possible to find evidence of contrast medium enhancement in just one of the vessels at the base of the brain, the assumption of lack of cerebral perfusion must be abandoned.

Between December 1984 and April 1988 the method described above was applied to 27 of our patients who showed signs of clinical brain death. In two cases normal enhancement of vessels at the base of the brain was found and in three cases there was partial enhancement, so that in a total of five cases brain death could be definitely established only by clinical diagnosis and repetition of the contrast scan examination the following morning.

While contrast scan examination only answers the question of whether perfusion is still detectable, measurement of cerebral blood supply allows for a more quantitative evaluation, and with increasing brain edema it is possible to provide evidence of increasing deceleration of cerebral blood supply. Thus at an early phase, before brain death occurs, we can obtain an indication of the prognosis.

When measuring CBF the degree of sedation must be taken into account. In principle only measurement of a nonsedated patient is reliable, because studies with different kinds of sedative, like Etomidate, Fentanyl, and Miedazolan, in part have shown a considerable deceleration of CBF which may lie between 20% and 30%. In individual cases an increase in blood flow was also observed.

#### Summary

In summary it may be stated that criteria for the prognosis of severe head trauma need to be developed in view of overfilled intensive care units, expenditure minimization in health care, organ transplantation, and also the often senseless prolongation of the irreversible process of dying which is made possible by our advanced methods of therapy. The above-mentioned ICP/CBF measurements and contrast scan examinations, in parallel with other methods, allow for an initial step towards the development of such criteria. But these first steps need to be more firmly established and further developed so that eventually they may become compulsory.

#### References

- Brock M, Hadjidimos A, Schürmann K, Ellger H, Fischer F (1966) Zur klinischen Messung der örtlichen Hirndurchblutungsmessung nach der intraarteriellen Isotopen-Clearance-Methode. DMW pp 1377-1381
- Kohlmeyer K (1976) Untersuchungen der Hirndurchblutung mit Xenon-133. Therapiewoche 26, pp 4516-4537
- Meinig G, Reulen HJ, Magawly C, Hadjidimos A, Frei HJ, Schürmann K Connection between regional cerebral blood flow, local tissue water and local tissue lactate in cerebral oedema. Modern aspects of neurosurgery, Vol. 3. Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, pp 216-220
- of neurosurgery, Vol. 3. Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, pp 216-220 4. Meinig G, Reulen HJ, Magawly C (1973) Regional cerebral blood flow and cerebral perfusion pressure in global brain oedema induced by water intoxication. Acta Neurochir 29:1-13
- 5. Zwetnow NN (1970) Effects of increased cerebrospinal fluid pressure on the blood flow and on the energy metabolism of the brain. Acta physiologica scandinavica, Suppl 339:1-31

Head Injuries - Evoked Potentials

# Value of Multimodality Evoked Potentials in the Diagnosis of Skull/Brain Injuries in Neurosurgical Intensive Care Units

H.-E. Nau, H. Wiedemayer, J. Mais, and W. Engel Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Essen, Hufelandstraße 55, D-4300 Essen 1

# Introduction

The value of evoked responses has been investigated in recent years. The initial euphoria has disappeared. Publications concerning the value of evoked responses in neurosurgical intensive care patients are not frequent [4]. Therefore we analyzed the follow-ups of such patients in order to learn something about the advantages of this method.

# Patients and Methods

Follow-ups were done in 135 patients subsequently treated in the neurosurgical intensive care unit in the Neurosurgical University Clinic, Essen. Fifty-seven of them suffered from skull/brain injuries. The details of this patient group are shown in Table 1.

_			
Total number	57		
Average age (years)	36		
Average (days)	9.5		
Median (days)	8		
Mortality	31	(54.4%)	
Coma stages (Brussels)			
on admission			
0	13	(22.8%)	
T	11	(19, 38)	
ŤT	17	(29 89)	
	12	(2) 19)	
	12	(21.18)	
10	4	(/ 8)	
Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS)			
on admission			
3	11	(19.3%)	
4-6	35	(61 4)	
7_10	33	(15 99)	
11 15	2		
11-13	2	(3.38)	

Table 1. Characteristics of the analyzed skull/brain injured patients

The parameters and settings of evoked potential monitoring have been reported elsewhere [4]. We differentiated between normal potentials (I), slight potential deformities and prolonged latencies (II), marked potential deformities (III), and loss of the response (IV). In this way, we achieved a practicable differentiation for daily work.

Results

Severity of Injury and Alterations of Evoked Responses

There was no connection between the severity of trauma and the degree of alteration of the evoked responses, nor was there a correlation between the coma stage and alterations of electrical phenomena.

Special Clinical Situations and Evoked Potential Monitoring

Crisis of Intracranial Pressure (ICP). In two of four patients with rising ICP we found normal acoustic evoked responses whereas the other modalities showed abnormal configurations. We have pointed to the connections between ICP and visual evoked potentials elsewhere [3]. The beginning of alterations of brain stem acoustic evoked responses (BAERs) and somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) apparently depends on the degree of transtentorial herniation [6]. The follow-up detected the beginning of the pathophysiological mechanisms.

Brain Stem Lesions. Among 135 investigated neurosurgical intensive care patients we found 40 with brain stem disorders with extension mechanisms and disorders of brain stem reflexes. Twenty-one of the cases were due to brain trauma. All patients belonged to coma stage III (corresponding to GCS 4-6). Only seven of them had brain stem lesions displayed by computed tomography. In 12 patients the brain stem disorders were secondary to the trauma. The outcome was poorer than in the rest of the group; their coma lasted longer than in the other patients who survived. All patients with brain stem lesions had alterations of BAERs except one. Thirteen had no acoustic responses, and eight of them died. The alterations were: disappearance of waves III and V always with side differences. Pathological findings in the m-SSEPs (somatosensory responses evoked by median nerve stimulation) were not so frequent (7 of 21).

Apallic Syndrome. Characteristic constellations in the apallic syndrome were missing. We could not recognize any connections between evoked responses and clinical stage.

Brain Death. The value of evoked responses in diagnosing brain death was emphasized by the German Bundesärztekammer [1]. We have commented on this problem elsewhere [2,5]. The difficulties in derivations and interpretation of the results must be carefully considered.

Evoked Responses, Follow-ups, and Prognosis

Follow-ups were necessary in order to update neurophysiological information. The more severe the initial alterations had been, the

Outcome	(GOS)		1	>1
FEPs	Normal	I	20	24
	Patholog.	II/III	10	1
	Loss	IV	0	0
BAERs	Normal	I	11	19
	Patholog.	II/III	9	4
	Loss	IV	11	2
SSEPs	Normal	I	13	17
	Patholog.	II/III	6	6
	Loss	IV	9	0

Table 2. Correlations between alterations of evoked responses and outcome in skull/brain injured patients

poorer was the outcome. Of 20 patients with a loss of BAERs, 13 died; all those with a loss of SSEPs (11) did so, too. The relation between evoked response abnormalities and prognosis is shown in Table 2.

#### Discussion

The results of 57 analyzed follow-ups in brain-injured patients in the intensive care unit (ICU) were surprising, because no connection could be found between the degree of potential abnormalities and coma stage in general. In brain stem lesions, however, BAERs were a sensitive method of diagnosing lesions, even those not visible on CT scans. m-SSEPs were found to be more stable. Whenever there are alterations in the SSEP, the lesions may also be in the pathways to and in the cortex, so that the interpretation can be difficult. Marked alterations of both modalities indicate a fatal prognosis. Though our experience with motoric responses is still small, it shows that they disappear very early and cannot contribute to a differentiation between coma and brain death. The great value of evoked potential monitoring consisted in estimating the outcome at an early stage after admission. Especially in patients with interfering drugs, evoked potential measurements were useful. Even in these patients pathophysiological mechanisms (increasing ICP, herniation) could be recognized.

#### Summary

Evoked potentials in patients with skull/brain injuries can contribute to staging the patient on admission. The method provides information on the function of the neural pathways and on pathophysiological mechanisms and alterations during therapy (especially in the drug-treated patient). It is of prognostic importance at an early stage, and is also of value in diagnosing brain death.

#### References

 German Bundesärztekammer (1986) Kriterien des Hirntodes. Deutsches Ärzteblatt 83:2940-2946

- 2. Kilian F, Nau HE, Wiedemayer H, Reinhardt V, Langer C (1989) Differentiated diagnostic measurements in determining brain death in clinical practice (see section Brain Death in this volume)
- Nau HE, Gerhard L, Foerster M, Nahser HCh, Reinhardt V, Joka Th (1987) Optic nerve trauma: clinical, electrophysiological, and histological remarks. Acta Neurochir 89:16-27
- 4. Nau HE, Rimpel J (1987) Multimodality evoked potentials and electroencephalography in severe coma cases. Intensive Care Med 13:249-255
- 5. Nau HE, Wiedemayer H, Brune-Nau R, Pohlen G, Kilian F (1987) Zur Validität von Elektroenzephalogramm (EEG) und evozierten Potentialen in der Hirntoddiagnostik. Anästhesie Intensivther Notfallmed 22:273-277
- 6. Zerkowski HR, Nau HE, Doetsch N, Rimpel J, Michel M (1986) Intrakranielle Druckerhöhung beim Göttinger Miniaturschwein - ein auf den Menschen übertragbares Hirntodmodell. Wissenschaftliche Berichte der österreichischen Ges. für experimentelle Chirurgie. Wien, p 37

# Somatosensory Evoked Potentials: Diagnostic and Prognostic Value in Head Injuries

# M. Lorenz, M. R. Gaab, and W.-P. Sollmann

Neurochirurgische Klinik der Medizinischen Hochschule Hannover, Konstanty-Gutschow-Straße 8, D-3000 Hannover 61

# Introduction

The treatment of severe human head injuries requires investigative methods to assess the clinical status, to monitor the development of the disease, and to facilitate a prediction of outcome. In addition to the neurological examination, to anatomical studies by CT or MRI, and to recordings of EEG and intracranial pressure (ICP), evoked potentials (EPs) offer further possibilities for these requirements after head injury. In nearly all patients somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs) are of greater prognostic value than brain stem auditory evoked potentials (BAEPs) [1,6] or visual evoked potentials [3]. Also a combination of these EP methods can be used [3].

# Patients and Methods

Within the last 30 months 71 patients with severe head injury (Glasgow Coma Score  $\leq 8$  for at least 24 h after trauma) have been studied. SEPs were recorded from the neck and the contralateral scalp after stimulation of the median nerves over the wrist. From these waves the central conduction time (CCT) and the amplitude ratio of the primary cortical and the cervical response (AR) were calculated (Fig. 1). SEPs were considered to be pathological when CCT was  $\geq 6.6$  ms or AR < 0.3. In several patients continuous ICP and EEG monitoring and repeated transcranial Doppler sonography (TCD) were performed. The outcome was classified according to the five grades of the Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS). Two patients died of unrelated causes (excluded from this series) and two patients were lost to follow-up.

#### Results

Patients who suffered from subdural hematoma and those older than 45 years had a significantly worse outcome than others. The CCT and AR showed a good correlation to the coma grade. Especially in the groups of patients with GCS 3-4 and GCS 7-8, a convincing level of significance was seen (Fig. 2). There were only small differences between the electrophysiological potentials from the better and from the worse hemisphere. However, the CCT differences between both hemispheres did not seem to have any correlation to the clinical state or to the later outcome. The comparison between the SEP records and the simultaneously measured ICP and TCD showed no clear correlation either. The calculated CCT and AR were of reliable prognostic value in most cases (Fig. 3) but the predictive value sometimes varied during the course of the disease. When CCT and AR were in the normal



Fig. 1. SEPs after stimulation of the median nerve. Central (somatosensory) conduction time (CCT) = difference of latencies of the cortical N<sub>20</sub> and the cervical N<sub>15</sub>. Amplitude ratio = amplitude of the primary cortical response N<sub>20</sub>P<sub>25</sub> divided by the amplitude of the cervical N<sub>15</sub>, recorded over cerv. 2 (= HWK2)



Fig. 2. Glasgow Coma Score (GCS) and CCT at time of recording. The CCT increases with worsening of the clinical state. Mean CCT (ms) and SEM



Fig. 3. Outcome (Glasgow Outcome Scale) and CCT. The CCT increases with worsening of outcome. Mean CCT and SEM

range at the last recording, 77.3% had a good outcome (GOS 1-2), 13.6% were disabled (GOS 3), and 9.1% (two patients) died. The reasons were peracute brain swelling in one case and cerebral infection in the other. Of the patients who had pathological CCT and AR, 81% died or remained in a vegetative state (GOS 4-5), 14.3% were disabled, and 4.8% had a good outcome. When only CCT was more than 6.6 ms, 81.1% had a fair or poor outcome. When only AR was less than 0.3 the percentage with a bad prognosis was 91.7% (P <0.001) (Table 1). In most patients repeated recordings were necessary, because in some cases SEPs changed with the clinical state. A secondary deterioration after initially good responses could be seen as well as an improvement of former pathological recordings. Those patients who had a cortical electrical silence of SEPs over one or both hemispheres had a poor clinical course, and most of them died. In these patients the normal cervical response gave evidence of intracranial disturbances and provided exclusion of peripheral lesions. However, in patients who underwent larger osteoclastic craniotomies EPs seemed to lose their prognostic value, i.e., three patients had normalized CCTs and ARs but only one patient had a good outcome 6 months after decompressive trepanation. On the other hand all patients who showed a cortical electrical silence preoperatively died or remained in a vegetative state.

		Outc	ome	Р
		1+2	3-5	
ССТ	<6.6 ms >6.6 ms	85.7% 14.3%	18.9% 81.1%	<0.001
AR	>0.3 <0.3	55.9% 8.3%	44.1% 91.7%	<0.001

Table 1. Prognostic value of the CCT and AR at the last recording in correlation to outcome (according to the Glasgow Outcome Scale). Highly significant differences are seen between the two groups
### Discussion

As previously reported [6], a close correlation does not exist be-tween the CCT or AR and the simultaneously measured ICP in all patients, although a correlation could be shown by rapid inflation of a supratentorial balloon in an animal experiment [5]. The different pathophysiological patterns after brain injury, especially in cases with primary brain stem or midbrain contusions, may be one explanation. Regarding the results of 36 measurements, the differentiation into high pressure and low pressure coma may provide more infor-mation. This will be investigated in a larger series. In those patients who underwent decompressive craniotomy SEPs partly lost the correlation to coma grade and outcome. In the diagnostic instrumentation for brain death determination, the BAEPs are of greater interest in combination with the neurological state, EEG, and SEPs. In surviving patients, however, the BAEPs showed less prognostic value than SEPs [1,6]. SEPs are a powerful diagnostic method with a close correlation to the coma grade and with a highly significant prognostic value [1,3,4,6,7,8]. In combination with EEG, ICP monitoring, BAEPs, CT scans, and perhaps TCD, the SEPs provide the most reliable index of the severity of primary brain damage and can be used to assess patients and to monitor the development of the clinical course and of secondary brain damage. It has to be emphasized, however, that SEPs give significant statistical but not safe individual information. So recordings early after the injury may change due to different developments [1,3,6], e.g., brain swelling, and their prognostic value is not as high as that of later records. An early normalization of the SEPs is a favorable sign, while persistent bad responses or a fast deterioration usually predict a poor outcome [1,6,7]. The absence of cortical waves is an extremely bad prognostic sign. Such patients die or remain in a vegetative state [1, 6, 7].

Especially in deeply sedated and relaxed patients without the possibility of a clinical interpretation the SEPs improve the reliability of monitoring and are helpful in the practical management of patients with critical head injury. In our opinion, monitoring with SEPs should be done more routinely in these patients.

### References

- Cant BR, Hume AL, Judson JH, Shaw NA (1986) The assessment of severe head injury by short-latency somatosensory and brain-stem auditory evoked potentials. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 65:188-195
- Gaab MR, Ottens M, Busche F, Möller G, Trost HA (1986) Routine computerized neuromonitoring. In: Miller JD, Teasdale GM, Rowan JM, Galbraith SL, Mendelow AD (eds) Intracranial pressure VI. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg pp 240-247
- Greenberg RP, Newlon PG, Hyatt MS, Narayan RK, Becker DP (1981) Prognostic implications of early multimodality evoked potentials in severely head injured patients. J Neurosurg 55:227-236
- 4. Hume AL, Cant BR (1978) Conduction time in central somatosensory pathways in man. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 45:361-375
- 5. Ladds A, Nitta M, Tsutzui R, Symon L (1986) The effect of an acute rise in ICP on the primary somatosensory pathway. In: Miller JD Teasdale GM, Rowan JM, Galbraith SL, Mendelow AD (eds) Intracranial pressure VI. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg pp 325-330
- 6. Lorenz M, Gaab MR (1988) Neurophysiological investigations and ICP monitoring: an aid in the therapy of head injury. In: Walter W, Brandt M, Brock M, Klinger M (eds). Advances in Neurosurgery, vol 16. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg pp 100-104

- 7. Rumpl E, Prugger M, Gerstenbrand F, Hackl JM, Pallua A (1983) Central somatosensory conduction time and short latency somatosensory evoked potentials in post-traumatic coma. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 56:583-596
- Symon L, Momma F, Schwerdtfeger K, Bentivoglio P, Costa e Silva IE, Wang A (1986) Evoked potential monitoring in neurosurgical practice. Advances and technical standards, vol 14. ed. by Symon L, Brihaye J, Guidetti B, Loew F, Miller JD, Nornes H, Pasztor E, Pertuiset B, Yasargil MG. Springer-Verlag Wien New York pp 25-70

# Prognostic Significance of Somatosensory Evoked Potentials in Traumatic Brain Stem Lesions

# P. Christophis, G. Csécsei, and N. Klug

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Gießen, Klinikstraße 29, D-6300 Gießen

### Introduction

Early CT in a case of cerebral trauma often shows no changes of the brain stem, and clinical evaluation is not rarely rendered more difficult by intensive therapy (narcotics, sedatives, relaxants, intubation). The prognostic evaluation of primary or secondary brain stem damage is thus problematic.

An objective function test is represented by the monitoring of evoked potentials. Previous studies [1,6,7,8,11,13,14,15] and our own observations have led us to examine the value of somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs) on the basis of a large number of patients. In this survey the central somatosensory conduction time (CCT) seems of much importance. CCT is the time that the sensory triggered impulses from the sphenoidal or bulbar nuclear areas need to reach the primary somatosensory cortex. Pathological changes involve a prolonged or nonmeasurable CCT and occur uni- or bilaterally. Such changes can be caused by brain stem damage, as well as by hemisphere damage or a combination of both.

In this paper, SEP changes in patients with brain stem lesions and their prognostic value are examined.

# Material and Methods

Eighty-six unconscious patients were examined after acute trauma with neurological signs of a brain stem lesion. The average age was 35.8 years (4-65 years). The patients were divided into two groups:

- 1. Patients with a primary acute brain stem lesion (n = 24), in most cases with an additional small contusion of cerebral foci. An extracerebral hematoma was evacuated immediately in two patients. In six patients no damage of the cerebrum could be demonstrated radiologically.
- 2. Patients with a secondary brain stem lesion, with an acute, traumatic, supratentorial space-occupying lesion (n = 62). The majority of these patients (n = 44) had acute or subacute extracerebral hematomas. The rest (n = 18) mainly showed a lateralized, cerebral contusion or hemorrhage with mass displacement and secondary transtentorial herniation. SEPs were monitored on admission in all patients, at the latest 10 h after injury.

Early and cortical SEPs were evoked by percutaneous bipolar stimulation of the wrist median nerve (right angle impulse, duration 0.2 ms, voltage 40-100 V, stimulating frequency 5-8 Hz). 256-512 potentials were added and averaged (filter 200-1000 Hz, amplification 5-10 x  $10^3$ ). The cortical potential was derived transcranially from the contralateral somatosensory cortex (P3/P4), while the early potential was derived from the second cervical spine.

The "indifferent" electrical reference was a centromedian electrode  $(C_z)$ . The patients' data were compared with those of normal persons (n = 40).

### Results

In the control group the standard value varied from 4.5 to 6.3 ms ( $\bar{x} \pm 2$  SD). A significant difference between both groups was not found. The cortical SEP was absent bilaterally in seven patients with primary brain stem lesions and unilaterally in three others. A pathological change was found in all cases of demonstrated cortical potentials. There was always a clear bilateral decrease in the amplitude and also a symmetrical latency increase in the cortical signal (Fig. 1). The early SEP was always present and usually normal. Slight asymmetry between the left and right side was found in amplitude and latency in only 15% of the cases. In bilaterally measurable CCT (n = 14) there was no certain asymmetry in the majority of cases (Fig. 2).

In secondary brain stem lesions (n = 62) the cortical SEP was absent bilaterally in 21 patients and unilaterally in seven others. Of the cases with demonstrable cortical potentials, 67% were found to have asymmetrical potential changes of the latency and/or the amplitude between the left and the right side (Fig. 3). In the majority of the remaining patients with a symmetrical cortical SEP there were no pathological findings. The early SEP was always demonstrable. In more than half of the patients (53%) it was normal on both sides. The amplitudes and/or the latency were asymmetrical in 27%. A bilateral symmetrical latency increase existed in most of the remaining 20%. A symmetrical amplitude decrease was rare (n = 2). In measurable CCT (n = 41) a clear time difference was found (Fig. 1). The measured CCT was compared with the clinical course for prognostic evaluation of

K L. 300967401



SEP



103



Fig. 2. First CCT findings in 86 patients with primary and secondary brain stem lesions. P, pathologically pronounced side; N, less pathologically pronounced or normal side. The black points stand for patients with a bilaterally absent cortical SEP

the first derived SEP. Concerning morbidity and mortality, only slight differences in SEP changes were found between the primary and secondary brain stem lesions. This is why both groups were chosen for the prognostic evaluation. Thus, the survival rate in patients with bilateral or unilateral normal CCT is higher than that in patients with bilateral pathological or absent CCT (Table 1).

#### Discussion

Some SEP investigations have been performed in small numbers of comatose patients with midbrain or bulbar syndrome as well as locked-in syndrome and central death [1,6,7,8,9,11,13,14,15]. The cortical SEP is mainly evaluated and the CCT is occasionally considered in comatose patients. All the authors suspect a negative prognosis in severe bilateral changes of the cortical SEP. Systematic SEP investigations with a larger number of patients have not been performed.



Fig. 3. Typical SEP changes in patients with secondary brain stem lesions In our investigations of primary traumatic brain stem lesions, we found a symmetrical bilateral change of the CCT and cortical potentials in the majority of cases. In secondary traumatic brain stem lesions we found an asymmetry between the right and left side. One can therefore presume that there is always bilateral damage of the somatosensory tracts in primary traumatic brain stem lesions. On the other hand it seems that an acute progressing supratentorial space occupying lesion can lead to unilateral and in the further course to a bilateral functional impairment of the somatosensory tract due to transtentorial herniation.

The first SEP findings and the clinical outcome of traumatic brain stem lesions are closely correlated. CCT changes are of much significance (Table 1), and the prognostic value of the first findings appears very high. In the case of a bilateral absence of the cortical potential and the CCT, one could presume that the central brain stem region, and especially the reticular formation, is severely damaged, because the somatosensory tracts (lemniscus medialis) lie in the deepest brain stem layers.

C	CT	No.	Recovered; moderately disabled	Severely disabled; apallic	Brain death	Other causes of death
N P	Normal	5	5	-	-	-
N P	Normal Prolonged	25	23	-	-	2
N P	Prolonged	18	16	-	1	l
N P	Normal Absent	6	4	1	-	1
N P	Prolonged Absent	4	1	1	1	1
N P	Absent	28	-	3	25	-
	Total	86	49 (57%)	 5 (6%)	27 (31%)	) 5 (6%)

Table 1. Comparison between the CCT results and the clinical outcome in traumatic brain stem lesions

N, less pathologically pronounced or normal side; P, pathologically pronounced side

### Summary

The early and cortical SEPs were monitored in 86 patients with primary and secondary brain stem lesions. The CCT was measured and compared with a healthy control group (n = 40). Changes in or absence of cortical potentials and CCT were compared with the clinical outcome. Of the investigated potentials, 24 belonged to the primary brain stem lesions and 62 to the secondary brain stem lesions. There was mainly a side-different cortical potential and CCT in secondary brain stem lesions, whereas in primary lesions there was no certain side difference in the results. In the primary as well as the secondary brain stem lesions we found a bilateral absence of the cortical signal and CCT in about one-third of cases. The survival rate is higher in bilateral or homolateral normal patients than in patients with primary bilateral pathological or absent CCT.

### References

- 1. Anziska B, Cracco RQ (1980) Short latency somatosensory evoked potentials in brain dead patients. Arch Neurol 37:222-225
- 2. Cracco RQ (1972) The initial positive potential of the human scalp recorded somatosensory evoked response. EEG Clin Neurophysiol 32:623-629
- 3. Cracco RQ (1973) Spinal evoked response: peripheral nerve stimulation in man. EEG Clin Neurophysiol 35:379-386
- 4. Desmedt JE (1971) Somatosensory cerebral evoked potentials in man. In: Rémond A (ed) Handbook of electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology. Elsevier, Amsterdam 9:55-82
- 5. Desmedt JE, Noél P (1973) Average cerebral evoked potentials in the evaluation of lesion of the sensory nerves and of the central somatosensory pathway. In: Desmedt JE (ed) New developments in electromyography and clinical neurophysiology. Karger, Basel, 2:352-371
- 6. Goldic WD, Chiappa KH, Young RR (1981) Brainstem auditory and short latency somatosensory evoked responses in brain death. Neurology 31:248-256
- 7. Greenberg RP, Newlon PG, Hyatt MS, Narayan RK, Becker DP (1981) Prognostic implications of early multimodality evoked potentials in severely head-injured patients. J Neurosurg 55:227-236
- Hall III JW, Tucker DA (1986) Sensory evoked responses in the intensive care unit. Ear Hear 7(4):220-232
   Haupt WF (1987) Multimodale evozierte Potentiale und Hirntod.
- Nervenarzt 58:653-657
- 10. Hume AL, Cant BR (1978) Conduction time in central somatosensory pathway in man. EEG Clin Neurophysiol 45:361-375
- 11. Hume AL, Cant BR, Shaw NA (1979) Central somatosensory conduction time in comatose patients. Ann Neurol 5:379-384
- 12. Kritschevsky M, Widerholt WC (1978) Short latency somatosensory evoked potentials. Arch Neurol 35:706-711
- 13. Noél P, Desmedt JE (1975) Somatosensory cerebral evoked potentials after vascular lesions of the brainstem and diencephalon. Brain 98:113-128
- 14. Seelig JM, Greenberg RP, Becker DP, Miller JD, Choi SC (1981) Reversible brain-stem dysfunction following acute traumatic subdural hematoma. J Neurosurg 55:516-523
- 15. de la Torre IC, Trimble IL, Beard RT (1978) Somatosensory evoked potentials for the prognosis of coma in humans. Exp Neurol 60:304-317
- 16. Yamada T, Kayamori R, Kimura J, Best DO (1984) Topography of somatosensory evoked potentials after stimulation of the median nerve. EEG Clin Neurophysiol 59:29-43

# On the Prognosis of Severe Head Injury Using Multimodal Evoked Potentials

# D. Adelt and G. Bühl

Abteilung für Neurochirurgie der Med. Fakultät der Technischen Hochschule, Neuklinikum, Pauwelsstraße 1, D-5100 Aachen

### Introduction

Determination of the prognosis of patients with severe head injury is a very frequent topic of discussion and is still extremely difficult even after the advent of computer tomography. This is especially true after injury, when the of first 2 days duration of the unconsciousness, an important parameter of clinical progress [1], is not known.

### Patients

The investigation was carried out on 93 unconscious patients suffering from severe head injury ranging in age from 3 to 94 years. The clinical course was monitored using multimodal evoked potentials. The first electrophysiological examination (initial findings) took place during the first few hours after arrival in the clinic, but no later than 48 h after the accident. Additional examinations were carried out during the comatose stage, on the average every 2nd day until maximally 48 days after the accident. In total there were 542 monitorings (301 AEP and 241 SEP examinations). SEPs, as well as AEPs, were recorded in 77 patients. The clinical condition was noted during each electrophysiological examination and the degree of coma was scaled according to FROWEIN et al. [1]. Of the 93 patients examined, 40 did not survive the accident; 48% died within the first 24 h after arrival in the clinic. Sixty-two of the 93 traumatized patients had closed head injuries, 27 had intracranial hematomas, and four had open head injuries.

### Method

The examinations were routinely carried out with a Basis 8000 apparatus constructed by the Schwarzer Picker company. Contralateral deafening noises were stimulated monoaurally in an alternating pattern of 1500 suction-pressure clicks of 85 db-SL and a frequency of 10/s. The AEPs between the vertex and mastoid process were monitored ipsilaterally and contralaterally simultaneously with platinum needle electrodes. Only reproducible potentials were used in comparing the contralateral sides.

For the SEP monitoring the median nerve and/or the tibial nerve was stimulated with seven 90 grade impulses/s. The strength of the stimulus was always greater than 100 mV and on average 100 stimuli were measured. The lead was followed through the stimulated extremity to the appropriate area of the postcentral gyrus.

### Results

When the clinical and electrophysiological results were compared it was noted that the normal findings decreased proportionately with increasing grade of coma and at the same time the pathological findings increased. This was true of both modalities. Sixty-six percent of the examined patients in coma I had normal AEPs; this figure was 40% in coma II and III and only 5% in coma IV.

Of the patients in coma I, 78% had normal SEPs; corresponding figures were 33% in coma II, 25% in coma III, and 6% in coma IV. No normal potentials could be obtained in the case of brain death.

We attempted to determine the chance of survival with the aid of evoked potentials during the initial examination. The lethal outcome of normal patients and those without potentials was examined. Figures 1 and 2 show the lethal outcome in the various groups of coma. Lethal outcome in those with initially normal AEPs is shown in Fig. 1. None of the examined 19 injured patients with initially normal AEPs in coma I died. However, as can be seen in Fig. 2, three injured patients of the 18 with initially normal SEPs in coma I did die.

Figures 3 and 4 show the lethal outcome in those patients with an initial lack of potentials. All patients having a lack of AEPs initially died regardless of the grade of coma. In contrast some patients in the group with an initial lack of SEPs did recover: two out of three patients in coma IV recovered from the trauma even though they lacked SEPs initially. In contrast to the initially extinguished AEPs, it appears that the initially extinguished SEPs are still reversible.



Fig. 1. Lethal outcome with initially normal BAEPs



Fig. 2. Lethal outcome with initially normal SEPs

It seems that the prognosis for normal AEPs is quite favorable. Of the 26 patients with normal AEPs, only three died. The prognosis of the patients in coma III who had normal potentials in both modalities did not seem all that unfavorable either, as one might tend to believe when only taking the clinical aspects into account. Two of the six patients in coma III died.



Fig. 3. Lethal outcome with extinguished potentials, BAEPs



Fig. 4. Lethal outcome with extinguished potentials, SEPs

The potentials from 11 patients in our study could not be used since interference made either a lead or a definite interpretation impossible. The method is limited by the following types of interference:

In obtaining the AEPs it is possible that:

- 1. A hearing deficiency (because of a fracture of the petrosal bone, hematotympanon, or presbyacusis) hampers the stimulation.
- 2. Artifacts appear in the leads due to motor excitement or insufficient placement of the electrodes in wounds, drains, etc.

In the case of the SEPs:

- 1. Encasted or cannulized limbs can impede the stimulation.
- 2. Artifacts can arise in the same way as with the AEPs. In addition, medications can influence the potentials strongly.

### Discussion

A brain stem lesion is responsible for the clinical condition in many posttraumatic comatose patients. According to RUMPL et al. [6], the brain stem lesion determines the outcome of the patient for the most part. The evoked potentials give dependable information as to the brain stem function - each modality respective of its path throughout the brain stem.

Our electrophysiological findings are in accordance with observations by other authors [2,3,4,7] who believe in the prognostic value and the assessment of traumatic injuries by measuring evoked potentials.

### Conclusion

The AEPs are, as PAPANICOLAOU et al. [5] called them, a "predictor of survival" and are more dependable than the SEPs. Normal AEPs in coma I give a favorable prognosis in regard to the chance of survival. A total lack of AEPs on both sides indicates a bad prognosis because bilaterally extinguished AEPs cannot be survived. Initially extinguished AEPs seem to be irreversible. In contrast SEPs are reversible and are not to be regarded as so prognostically unfavorable.

In attempting to give a dependable prognosis it is essential that the electrophysiological findings be evaluated together with the clinical findings.

### References

- Frowein RA, Steinmann HW, Terhaag D, Auf der Haar K (1977) Koma Einteilung und Verlaufsbeobachtung. Hefte z Unfallheilk 132:187-195
- Greenberg RP, Newlon PG, Hyatt MS, Narayan RK, Becker DP (1981) Prognostic implications of early multimodality evoked potentials in severely head-injured patients. J Neurosurg 55:227-236
- 3. Narayan RK, Greenberg RP, Miller JD, Enas GG (1981) Improved confidence of outcome predictions in severe head injury. A comparative analysis of clinical examination. J Neurosurg 54:751-762
- Newlon PG, Greenberg RP (1984) Evoked potentials in severe head injury. J Trauma 24/1:61-66
- Papanicolaou AC, Loring DW, Eisenberg HM (1986) Auditory brain stem evoked responses in comatose head-injured patients. Neurosurgery Vol. 18/2:172-175
- Rumpl J, Brugger M, Gerstenbrand F, Hachl JM, Pallua A (1983) Central somatosensory conduction time and short latency somatosensory evoked potentials in posttraumatic coma. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 56:583-596
- 7. Seales DM, Rossiter SV, Weinstein ME (1979) Brain stem auditory evoked responses in patients comatose as a result of blunt head trauma. J Trauma 19:347-353

# Isolated Traumatic Lesions of Ventricular and Periventricular Regions and Cerebral Midline Structures: Outcome Prediction by CT Scan, Evoked Potentials, and ICP Monitoring

# D. Kolodziejczyk, H. Baumgärtner, and Th. Grumme

Neurochirurgische Klinik, Zentralklinikum Augsburg, Stenglinstraße, D-8900 Augsburg

# Introduction

Identification of reliable prognostic indicators for patients with severe head injury is of importance to match control and treatment. In addition to clinical data the recording of anatomical parameters (CT scan, MRT) and functional data [ICP, evoked potentials (EPs)] is common [1]. We examined the predictive value of these data in the small group of patients with traumatic lesions of ventricular and periventricular regions and cerebral midline structures.

### Patients and Methods

Between January 1983 and January 1988 1200 patients with severe head injury were treated. Twenty-three patients (1.9% : 14 males, 9 females; aged 3-66 years, median 28.3 years) showed isolated traumatic lesions of ventricular and periventricular regions and cerebral midline structures, i.e., lesions of the brain stem, basal ganglia (Fig. 1), corpus callosum, thalamus, capsula interna, and the ventricles themselves. Combined lesions of white matter or cortex and midline structures were excluded from the analyzed group. The clini-



Fig. 1 a, b. CT scans on day of accident in a 66-year-old male with bilateral contusions in the basal ganglia. The patient survived in a vegetative state

Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17
 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger
 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

cal conditions were graded by GCS score (group I, 3-6; group II, 7-10; group III, 11-15). The outcome was classified as follows: dead, severe disability or vegetative state, and good recovery. All patients underwent CT scan (Siemens DR 2) and ICP monitoring (Ladd or Gaeltec system) performed on the day of injury. The EPs were recorded by a transportable 4-channel unit (Ca 1000, Nicolet).

The AEP lesion patterns were graded as follows [2]:

Grade	I	: uni-or bilateral V-waves, III-V or I-V missing
		= worst prognosis
Grade	II	: reduced or delayed V-wave bilaterally
		= uncertain prognosis
Grade	III	: reduced or delayed V-wave unilaterally
		= favorable prognosis
Grade	IV	: normal AEPs = good prognosis

The SEP lesion patterns were graded as follows [2]:

Grade	I	<pre>: bilaterally provoked answers N<sub>20</sub>/P<sub>25</sub> missing = bad prognosis</pre>
Grade	II	: N <sub>20</sub> unilaterally delayed/or reduced, contralaterally reduced or missing = uncertain prognosis
Grade	III	: N <sub>20</sub> unilaterally normal, contralaterally reduced, delayed or missing = favorable prognosis
Grade	IV	: bilaterally normal medianus SEP = good prognosis

### Results

The GCS scores at admission, the CT diagnoses, and the clinical outcomes are shown in Table 1.

The traumatic cerebral lesions localized by CT scan are related to the posttraumatic interval before CT diagnosis (Fig. 2). If the CT diagnosis was delayed, all initial CT scans seemed normal. Continuous ICP monitoring in no case showed pathological pressure waves. The mean value achieved was 14.86 mmHg  $\pm$  5.29 (min.8, max. 26 mmHg). The ICP could not be used to predict an unfavorable outcome. The correlation between neurological outcome and prediction based on EP data is shown in Table 2. SEP data performed well as a prognostic indicator in predicting an unfavorable as well as a favorable outcome. The patients with a favorable EP-based prognosis who died suffered from extracranial complications.

### Discussion

Among the common prognostic parameters of severe head injuries the EPs are of great value in predicting outcome in the small subgroup of cerebral midline lesions. On admission to the clinic there is a great difference between the poor neurological conditions and the often seemingly normal CT scans. In only 6 of 23 patients was a diagnosis of contusional midline lesion made by CT scan on the day of the accident. Space-occupying signs were never present on the CT scan. On this basis there is no development of elevated ICP (mean 14.86 mmHg). CT recording of midline structure lesions could only predict a severe course, but not recovery or death. Compared with predictions based on AEPs, CT prediction of survival seemed of use only in brain stem con-

(n = 1) (Group 2: 1)			
Nucleus lentiformis	1	0	0
Corpus callosum (n = 1) (Group 2: 1)	0	1	0
Capsula interna (n = 1) (Group`l: 1)	1	0	0
<pre>Intraventricular bleeding (n = 3) (Group 1: 1 Group 2: 2)</pre>	2	1	0
Nucleus caudatus (n = 3) (Group 1: 1 Group 2: 1 Group 3: 1)	0	1	2
Thalamus (n = 3) (Group 1: 1 Group 2: 2)	1	1	1
Bilat. basal ganglia (n = 5) (Group l: 5)	1	4	0
Brain stem (n = 6) (Group 1: 6)	5	1	0
	Dead	Severe deficit/ vegetative state	Good recovery
		Clinical outcome	

Table 1. GCS score group<sup>a</sup> at admission, clinical outcome, and CT diagnosis (n = 23 patients)

<sup>a</sup> GCS group 1: score 3-6; GCS group 2: score 7-10; GCS group 3: score 11-15

tusions. In lesions of the nucleus caudatus a relatively favorable prognosis is justified (two of three patients with good recovery).

Combined prognostic prediction by GCS grading and CT scan seems of greater value in midline lesions than in brain contusions in other locations characterized by secondary development of space-occupying edema. It is unnecessary to monitor the ICP; CT scan offers the initial possibility of excluding further mass lesions. There is a significant improvement in outcome prediction when EPs are recorded than when only neurological examination, ICP, and CT scan are used. AEPs are reliable predictors of an unfavorable course but not a favorable

(based on interpe	ak latency I-	AEP prediction -VII, III-V, I-V; ampl:	tude ratio V/I)	
		•	Neurological outcome	
AEP prediction	No. of patients	Good recovery	Severe deficit/vegetative state	Dead
Grade 1 (worst) Grade 2 (uncertain) Grade 3 (favorable) Grade 4 (good)	16 a L a	000 M	0 1 7(!)	3 0 6(!)
Total	23	ñ	6	11
(based on central	conduction t	SEP prediction ime Nl3b-20; amplitud	e ratio <u>N20/P25</u> ) N13b	
SEP prediction	No. of patients	Good recovery	Neurotoyical ourcome Severe deficit/vegetative state	Dead
Grade 1 (bad) Grade 2 (uncertain) Grade 3 (favorable) Grade 4 (good)	3 2 3 3 3 5 1 3 5	-070	0 1 0 7	. 2aa
Total	23	m	6	11

Table 2. SEP/AEP outcome prediction and neurological outcome

a Extracerebral lethal complications



Fig. 2. Posttraumatic time interval before CT diagnosis of cerebral lesions in periventricular regions and midline structures

outcome (all three patients with AEP grade I died). SEP data, however, predicted an unfavorable as well as a favorable outcome. The favorable SEP predictions were nevertheless unrelated to extracerebral complications leading to poor or terminal outcome.

### Conclusion

- 1. The CT identification of isolated cerebral midline lesions often succeeded only after subsequent CT scan controls and does not offer certain prediction of the outcome.
- ICP monitoring also does not represent a therapeutic or prognostic indicator.
- 3. EPs partially fill the diagnostic and prognostic gap.

### References

- Narayan RK et al. (1981) Improved confidence of outcome prediction in severe head injury. J Neurosurg 54:751-762
- Riffel B, Stöhr M, Trost E, Ullrich A, Graser W (1987) Frühzeitige prognostische Aussage mittels evozierter Potentiale beim schweren Schädel-Hirn-Trauma. Z EEG - EMG 18:192-199

# The Prognostic Importance of Somatosensory Evoked Potentials, Computed Tomography, and Clinical Findings in Severe Head Trauma

K. Schwerdtfeger, M. Strowitzki, B. Dietrich, H. Ludt, and F. Loew Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Homburg, D-6650 Homburg/Saar

### Introduction

Somatosensory evoked potentials are generally thought to be a good predictor of outcome in severe head trauma [2,5,7,10,13,16]. However, in a recently published analysis [17] we stated that this is not valid for the elderly patient, who has a poorer prognosis. This difference to the reports of other investigators may be interpreted as possibly being caused by differences in the studied trauma population, for data about age distribution, lesion type, etc. are often incomplete in electrophysiological papers. However, prognostically favorable or hopeless combinations of age and electrophysiological findings could be outlined, proving that estimating outcome requires a multifactorial approach. Therefore we performed a multiple linear regression to elucidate the relative prognostic importance of clinical, electrophysiological, and CT findings.

### Clinical Material and Methods

Analysis was carried out using the data of 64 severely head-injured patients admitted to our hospital between June 1982 and September 1987. The distribution of some clinical data and of the outcome is shown in Table 1. The complete list of clinical, evoked potential, and CT findings assessed after the trauma is depicted in Table 2. They are called "input variables." Some parameters could be measured directly in centimeters or milliseconds (e.g., central conduction time or the size of hematomas); others had to be numerically coded in a grading system. As far as possible existing and widely accepted classification systems are used, for example the Glasgow coma scale [18] and the Greenberg scheme for evoked potentials [6]. The coding of the remaining variables is indicated in the table. Outcome, the dependent variable, was measured according to the Glasgow Outcome Scale [11].

The electrophysiological parameters are drawn from median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials. Stimulation and recording techniques correspond to the recommendations of the German EEG society. The information is reduced to the parameters listed in Table 2. The central conduction time is defined as latency difference between N20 and the main spinal component N13 [9]; in addition the amplitude ratio of the cortical primary complex (N20-P27) vs N13 was calculated. Computed tomography findings reflect the maximal diameter of the pathological processed recognized. No differentiation between intracerebral hematoma and contusion was done. The major part of the

				and the second se	And the owner of the local data and the locae data		the second se	the second s	the second s
I. Ag	ye distr	ibutio	n					,	
Age	0-10	-20	-30	-40	-50	-60	-70	-80	>80
No. %	2 3	14 22	14 22	11 17	6 9	10 16	1 2	2 3	0 0
II. 1	Incidend	ce of C	T lesio	ns					
	EPI		SUB		INT		AXIA	Ľ	NONE
No. <sup>a</sup> %	17 27		24 38		46 72		10 16		6 9
III.	Outcome	∈ (GOS)							
	GR		MD		SD		PVS		D
No. %	28 13		13 20		15 23		5 8		23 36

Table 1. Parameters characterizing the studied trauma population

CT findings: EPI, epidural hematoma; SUB, subdural hematoma; INT, intracerebral lesion, either hematoma or contusion; AXIAL, lesion in midline structures; NONE, no circumscript lesion detectable on CT

Glasgow outcome scale (GOS) classes: GR, good recovery; MD, moderate disability; SD, severe disability; PVS, persistent vegetative state; D, dead

<sup>a</sup> In patients with combined lesions each type was counted separately so the total number of cases exceeds 64

patient group had combined lesions (e.g., epidural hematoma plus contusion); each lesion type was separately assessed.

Statistics

Multiple linear regression is based upon the assumption that the dependent variable can be described by the addition of weighted input variables (Eq. 1).

$$Y = k_0 + k_1 \cdot x_1 + k_2 \cdot x_2 + \dots + k_n \cdot x_n$$
 (1)

However, the number of observed cases should exceed the number of input variables by at least three times, so in the concrete case a reduction is necessary. The task is facilitated by the bilateral presence of many observations which could be combined within one patient. This is called a linear combination and creates a new variable. Besides the addition of parameters measured on both sides, such linear combinations are done for pupil size and light reaction and for the size of the different types of CT lesions. Because it is well known that for equal sized lesions their location determines

118

### I. Variables measured initially

```
A. Clinical parameters
```

```
Age
Glasgow coma scale (GCS) value
Pupil size (l = normal, 2 = narrow, 3 = dilated, 4 = maximally
dilated) and reaction to light (l = present, 2 = missing)
Motor reaction (measured like in GCS)
Accompanying lesions (l = limb fracture, 2 = chest or abdomen
trauma, 3 = multiple extremity fractures, 4 = combination of
chest/abdomen/extremity lesions)
```

B. SEP results

Greenberg's scheme of cortical responses Central conduction time (CCT) Amplitude ratio of the primary complex vs Nl3 (amplitude)

C. CT findings

Hematoma - contusion (epidural, subdural, intracerebral, axial)
Size of the lesion
Midline shift
Cisterns (0 = all present, 1 = cortical cisterns not present,
2 = basal cisterns not present, 3 = neither cortical nor basal
cisterns present)

II. Outcome variable

```
Glasgow outcome scale (GOS)
(5 = good recovery, 4 = moderate disability, 3 = severe disability,
2 = persistent vegetative state, 1 = dead)
```

prognosis, epidural, subdural, intracerebral, and axial processes are differentially weighted prior to combination. The weights are related to the mortality of patients with each lesion type. All data modifications and computation of the regression coefficients are done using SPSS Version X. A stepwise regression was performed excluding redundant variables.

### Results

Because the variables entering the regression analysis should be independent, a correlation matrix was calculated showing that only a few parameters correlate with each other. These were the Glasgow Coma Scale value with the motor reaction and the Greenberg scheme value with the central conduction time. Due to the results of a probative run, motor reaction and Greenberg scheme value were removed from our model, too. Table 3 shows the result: only three parameters are necessary to predict outcome. These are ranked according to their relative importance (see BETA value): age, central conduction time, and the recognizable cisterns. The final regression equation is then:

Table 3. Oric sion procedun of the variat	yinal SPS ce. The J bles for	SSX resul regressic the outc	t protocol n coeffici ome is, ho	showing the ents are lis wever, bette	variables a sted in colu er seen in c	cccepted in mn B. The olumn BETA	relative	se regres- importance
Equation numk	ber l	Dependen	t variable	: GOS				
Multiple r		0.73171	Ana	lysis of var	iance af			
square Adjusted r sc Standard errc	juare or	0.50298 0.93736	Reg Res	ression idual	аг 43 43	sum or squ 43.5 37.7	ares M 3780 8135	ean square 14.51260 0.87864
			 [54	16.517	'19 Sign	if. F = .0	000	
		Va	riables in	the equatic	u			
Variable	В	SE	щ	Beta	Tolerance	F	Sig. T	
Age Com	-0.0505	548 0. 360 0	008138	-0.663294 -0.380704	0.947601 0.928041	-6.212 -3 528	00000	
Cisterns (Constant)	-0.2741	138 0. 868 0.	116776 463046	-0.250370	0.949916	-2.348 12.212	0.0000	

GOS value =  $5.6549 - 0.0505 \cdot \text{age} - 0.0939 \cdot \text{CCT} - 0.2741 \cdot \text{cisterns}$ 

### Discussion

A lot of initial observation after the trauma has been associated with outcome, but mostly univariate analysis has been performed. Interestingly, a former evaluation of our results [17] using cross tabs, as well as a set of univariate regressions performed as preparation for this study, showed no recognizable relationship between outcome and any input variable except age. Again we can only explain this by the composition of the studied trauma population because rather high correlations to input were achievable if we selected the cases below the age of 30. However, the age distribution and other parameters (see Table 2) are comparable to larger head trauma studies [1,4,12,15], so we feel our populations representative for brain injuries.

The existing multivariate studies [3,8,14] also differ in their judgment of prognostically important variables; however, age is always mentioned. The role of this parameter was again confirmed by our results, which rank it first among outcome predictors. The missing inclusion of other factors does not mean that they have no relationship to prognosis, but that they have only minor importance in the chosen model, which predicts outcome as the weighted sums of age, central conduction time, and the presence or absence of cisterns, which may be an indicator of raised intracranial pressure. For theoretical reasons this model may be criticized for its inclusion of rank scaled parameters (which in a simplification are assumed to be interval scaled). However, practical experience and especially the analysis of residuals, i.e., the difference between computed values using Eq. 2 and the observed values, showed no gross abnormality calling the model in question. The advantage of a linear regression is a more differentiated calculation of outcome which now will be tested prospectively.

### Summary

By means of a linear regression analysis we determined clinical, electrophysiological, and radiological findings bearing a strong relationship to outcome in severe head trauma. Age, central conduction time in median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials, and the presence or lack of cisterns on CT scans are found to be the most important predictors. Advantages and disadvantages of the model used are discussed and a regression equation is formulated.

Acknowledgments. This study was supported in part by a grant from the Kuratorium ZNS. The authors thank Dr. S. Gräber for assistance in statistical evaluation.

#### References

 Becker DP, Miller JD, Ward JD, Greenberg RP, Young HF, Sakalas R (1977) The outcome from severe head injury with early diagnosis and intensive management. J Neurosurg 47:491-502

- Cant BR, Hume AL, Judson JA, Shaw NA (1986) The assessment of severe head injury by short-latency somatosensory and brain stem auditory evoked potentials. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 65:188-195.
- 3. Choi SC, Ward JD, Becker DP (1983) Chart for outcome prediction in severe head injury. J Neurosurg 59:294-297
- 4. Gennarelli TA, Spielman GM, Langfitt TW, Gildenberg PL, Harringtom T, Jane JA, Marshall LF, Miller JD, Pitts LH (1982) Influence of the type of intracranial lesion on outcome from severe head injury. J Neurosurg 56:26-32
- 5. Greenberg RP, Becker DP, Miller JD, Mayer DJ (1977) Evaluation of brain function in severe human head trauma with multimodality evoked potentials. Part 2: Localization of brain dysfunction and correlation with posttraumatic neurological conditions. J Neurosurg 47:163-177
- 6. Greenberg RP, Mayer DJ, Becker DP, Miller JD (1977) Evaluation of brain function in severe human head trauma with multimodality evoked potentials. Part 1: Evoked brain-injury potentials, methods and analysis. J Neurosurg 47:150-162
- 7. Greenberg RP, Newolon PG, Hyatt MS, Narayan RK, Becker DP (1981) Prognostic implications of early multimodality evoked potentials in severely head-injured patients. J Neurosurg 55:227-236
- Hans P, Albert A, Born JD, Chapelle JP (1985) Derivation of a bioclinical prognostic index in severe head injury. Intensive Care Med 11:186-191
- 9. Hume AL, Cant BR (1978) Conduction time in central somatosensory pathways in man. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 45:361-375
- Hume AL, Cant BR, Shaw NA (1979) Central somatosensory conduction time in comatose patients. Ann Neurol 5:379-384
- 11. Jennett B, Bond M (1975) Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. A practical scale. Lancet 1:480-484
- 12. Jennett B, Teasdale S, Galbraith S, Pickard J, Grant H, Braakman R, Avezaat C, Maas A, Minderhoud J, Vecht CJ, Heiden J, Small R, Caton W, Kurze T (1977) Severe head injuries in three countries. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 40:291-298
- 13. Lindsay KW, Carlin J, Kennedy I, Fry J, McInnes A, Teasdale GM (1981) Evoked potentials in severe head injury - analysis and relation to outcome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 44:796-802
- 14. Murray GD (1986) Use of an international data bank to compare outcome following severe head injury in different centres. Stat Med 5:103-112
- 15. Overgaad J, Christensen S, Hvid-Hansen O, Haase J, Land AM, Hein O, Pedersen KK, Tweed WA (1973) Prognosis of head injury based on early clinical examination. Lancet 2:631-635
- 16. Rumpl E, Prugger M, Gerstenbrand F, Hackl JM, Pallua A (1983) Central somatosensory evoked potentials in post-traumatic coma. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 56:583-596
- 17. Symon L, Momma F, Schwerdtfeger K, Bentivoglio P, Costa e Silva IE, Wang A (1986) Evoked potential monitoring in neurosurgical practice. In: Symon L (ed) Advances and technical standards in neurosurgery, vol 14. Springer, Wien New York, pp 25-70
- 18. Teasdale G, Jennett B (1974) Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness. A practical scale. Lancet 2:81-83

Microsurgery

# Anatomy in and on the Jugular Foramen

# J. Lang

Anatomisches Institut der Universität Würzburg, Koelliker Straße 6, D-8700 Würzburg

### Anatomical Nomenclature

In Roman times the clavicula and the groove above it were known as the "jugulum." "Jugularis" means the veins and lymph vessels which run in this area and also their course through the skull: the foramen jugulare, or jugular foramen.

### Bony Structures

The jugular foramen is bordered by the petrous bone anteriorly and laterally and the occipital bone posteriorly and medially. In most skulls an incisura jugularis and a processus intrajugularis of the margo posterior partis petrosae are developed. Medial to this intrajugular process the janua arcuata is seen. Below and anterior to the dura-covered janua arcuata is the exit zone of the perilymphatic duct and in its neighborhood are accompanying vessels and small canals. On the posterior medial side of the foramen an intrajugular process of the occipital bone is present in 11% (LANG and SCHREIBER 1983). The medial border of the jugular foramen is surrounded by a bony spur of the occipital bone which is termed the processus hamatus. The results of our measurements of the foramen are shown in Fig. 1.

### Shape

More than 50% of jugular foramina are shaped like a triangle; in about 35% of cases we found an oval type, and in about 12% foramina divided by bony bridges at different levels and different orientations. The entrance area to the jugular foramen is oriented from above and laterally to below and medially. An important borderline is the terminal sigmoid ridge, which has very different orientations and was sometimes found to be doubled. On the medial and anterior edge of the jugular foramen is situated the lower end of the inferior petrosal sinus in most cases. Its bottom area is a groove between the petrous and the occipital bone. In this area is situated the petrobasilar synchondrosis or suture, more laterally or sometimes medially in the groove of the inferior petrosal sinus. In about 6% in this area a canal was found in which the inferior petrosal sinus, the IXth cranial nerve, or both run together. The walls of this canal may be formed of the petrous bone, the occipital bone, or both together (Fig. 1). LYSSENKOW (1926) found canals between the sulcus sinus petrosi inferioris and the outer skull base at a distance of 5-15 mm from the jugular foramen in 2.6%. The postnatal enlargement and shifting are shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 1. Jugular foramen: measurements in adults

### Dura Mater

The area of the jugular foramen, the sigmoid, and the inferior petrosal sinus is covered by dura mater (see Fig. 172 in KOOS et al. 1985). Medial to the margo terminalis sigmoidea the IXth-XIth cranial nerves reach the dura mater. The superior ganglia of the IXth and Xth cranial nerves are situated in small extensions of the dura mater and are reached by the arachnoid membrane at least on its upper surface. In most of the cases a dura guide plate is developed for the IXth-XIth cranial nerves which extends obliquely from anterolaterally to posteromedially and from the dura mater to the pericranium on the outer inferior skull base. In cases without larger bony spurs three different positions of the dural plate have been observed: The guide plate can be extended obliquely from anterolaterally to posteromedially with an anterior attachment medially to the intrajugular process of the petrous bone (Fig. 3). Less frequently the guide plate can be seen with an attachment on the intrajugular process of the petrous bone or the guide plate is formed in a sagittal direction and emerges from a region medial to the intrajugular process of the petrous bone and reaches the medial border of the margo terminalis sigmoidea.

In cases of completely divided jugular foramina, the bony bridges may be situated between the inferior petrosal sinus and the three nerves of the jugular foramen or between the IXth-XIth cranial nerves (see Fig. 146 in LANG 1983).

### IXth-XIth Cranial Nerves and the Jugular Foramen

The exit end entry zone of the glossopharyngeal nerve was measured in our material as 1.8 (1-3) mm lateral to the exit zone of the facial nerve. It has a short central segment (LANG 1982); its lateral fiber



Fig. 2. Jugular foramen; postnatal shifting and enlargement. MS, median sagittal plane. (After LANG et al. 1983)

after Lang et al. 1983

bundles are sensory and the medial ones motoric. The intracisternal length of the IXth cranial nerve was estimated between the brain stem and the dural pore to be 15.65 (10-20) mm (LANG and REITER 1985).

The Xth cranial nerve is built up by a mean of 8.6 (4-15) fiber bundles. Its intracisternal length is 15.5 (10.5-21) mm. On its dural pore is situated the superior ganglion of the vagus nerve.

The accessory nerve is composed of a spinal and a cranial part. We found a mean of 11 (6-16) cranial nerve fiber bundles which in the upper area had a mean length of 16 and in the lower area one of 23 mm between the brain stem and the dural pore and the jugular foramen area (Fig. 4).

Vessels

### Arteries

Not infrequently a loop of the PICA is situated on the inner surface of the dura mater. Sometimes we found this vessel between the Xth and XIth cranial nerves or between the IXth and Xth cranial nerves. The



Fig. 3. Nerve guide plate in the area of the jugular foramen (seen by retrosigmoid approach). Dura mater of the sigmoid sinus and partly of the inferior petrosal sinus is removed. The **arrows** indicate the inflow of the inferior petrosal sinus in the jugular foramen

PICA may have 1.5 mm thick anastomoses with meningeal arteries of the bottom area of the posterior fossa (see Fig. 277 in LANG 1981). In 80% of cases the ascending pharyngeal artery has its origin on the external carotid artery or from a trunk (together with another artery), in  $\sim$ 13% directly at or in the immediate neighborhood of the carotid bifurcation (LANG and HEILEK 1984). Sometimes we found two or three ascending pharyngeal arteries. In about 11% of cases the artery has its origin on the occipital artery, in about 5% on the internal carotid artery, and in 1.6% on the facial artery (for details about the course and origins, see LANG and HEILEK 1984). Twigs of the artery were found to the pharynx, to lymphatic nodes, to the ganglion of the sympathetic nerve and IXth-XIIth cranial nerves, to the prevertebral muscles, to the carotid canal and the auditory tube, and to the external cranial base. There was also one twig to the jugular foramen in 50%, two twigs to this foramen in 37.5%, and three twigs in 10.5%. The mean diameter of these jugular foramen branches was 0.63 mm. In about 4% we found twigs of the occipital artery running through the jugular foramen to the inside of the posterior cranial fossa. In about 56% branches of the ascending pharyngeal artery ran through the hypoglossal canal.



Fig. 4. Caudal cranial nerves in the area of the jugular foramen, seen by retrosigmoid approach. The length and number of the fiber bundles is shown

Sinuses and Nerves

In about 33% we found transcisternal veins to the area of the jugular foramen. In most cases these veins drain lateral to the IXth-XIth cranial nerves. In about 23% veins to the area of the hypoglossal area or the foramen magnum area were found.

The inferior petrosal sinus drains through a hole of the nerve guide plate in the upper area of the jugular bulb in about 9% (more often on the right than on the left), in the upper level of the jugular foramen in 11.5% (more often on the left than on the right), a little below this in about 16%, and below the cranial base in about 13%. In these cases the inferior petrosal sinus forms a vein which may drain in the inferior jugular vein up to 6 cm below the skull base.

In about 50% we found a medial and also in 50% a lateral intrapetrosal vein which connects the venous network around the internal carotid artery with the inferior petrosal sinus or the internal jugular vein (details see LANG and WEIGEL 1983). The inferior petrosal sinus reaches the area of the jugular foramen between the IXth and Xth cranial nerves in about 50%, anterior to the IXth cranial nerve in 30%, around the Xth cranial nerve in 16%, and between the Xth and XIth cranial nerves in 11%. Not rarely we found two pores in the nerve guide plate for the inferior petrosal sinus (see Fig. 3).

Lateral to the jugular foramen is found the bulb of the internal jugular vein. This bulb may be placed medially, below, or in the area

of the internal acoustic pore and meatus or laterally in the bottom area of the cavum tympani. It is placed 5-15 mm above the margo terminalis sigmoidea (higher on the right side than on the left). The venous plexus of the hypoglossal canal communicates in the jugular foramen area in about 18% (more often on the right than on the left), in about 17% with the inferior petrosal sinus inside the jugular foramen area. In the jugular foramen and its transition zone to the internal jugular vein in about 14% on the left side and in about 5% on both sides these veins of the hypoglossal canal and in about 6% on the right side the venous plexus of the hypoglossal canal did not drain in the internal jugular vein, but instead proceeded below the base of the skull backwards to the vertebral plexus.

The condylar emissary vein was found to drain into the superior bulb of the internal jugular vein in about 38% (more often on the left than on the right), in the area of the margo terminalis sigmoidea in 25% (more often on the right than on the left), into the sigmoid sinus in about 14%, and sometimes in the venous plexus of the hypoglossal canal or in the internal jugular vein. It is well-known that the condylar emissary vein is lacking in about 16%.

#### Dural Portals of the IXth-XIth Cranial Nerves

In our material (DAUSACKER 1974) the mean distance to the lower border of the internal acoustic pore was 4.52 (2.5-6.5) mm. Between the dural portals of the IXth and Xth cranial nerves we found a distance of 2-3 mm, and the mean distance between the portal of the XIth cranial nerve and the upper border of the XIIth cranial nerve was 11.4 mm. As regards the nerve cells, their function, and twigs of the superior and inferior ganglia of the IXth and Xth nerves, see LANG (1985) and Figs. 3 and 5. It should be noted that two to six



Fig. 5. Intumescences of the IXth and Xth cranial nerves

intumescences were found in the course of the tympanic nerve, the IXth cranial nerve, and the auricular branch of the Xth cranial nerve, and that in these intumescences a so-called chemodectoma (= glomus tumor) may be developed.

### Syndromes

Villaret's syndrome (lesion of the IXth-XIIth cranial nerves, including Horner's syndrome) and Vernet's syndrome have been been described (for details see LANG 1985).

In cases of intracranial lesions Collet-Sicard syndrome is often found. Jackson's syndrome (also intracranially) is a disturbance of the IXth-XIIth cranial nerves. Vernet's or Siebenmann's syndrome concerns only the jugular foramen area in its intracranial region (IXth-XIth cranial nerves), while Schmidt's syndrome is due to a lesion in the area of the external cranial portal to the Xth and XIth cranial nerves. Tapia's syndrome derives from a lesion of the Xth-XIIth cranial nerves (according to GEJROT 1968; MUMENTHALER 1973).

#### References

Collet-Sicard, cited after Gejrot T (1968)

Dausacker J (1974) Praktisch-Anatomische Befunde an der Mittleren und Hinteren Schädelgrube. Inaug-Diss, Würzburg

Gejrot T (1968) Jugular foramen syndromes. Disorders of the skull base region. Proceedings of the Tenth Nobel Symposium, Stockholm, Aug., pp 279-283

Jackson, cited after Gejrot T (1968)

Koos WTh, Spetzler RF, Pendl G, Perneczky A, Lang J (1985) Color atlas of microneurosurgery. Thieme, Stuttgart; Thieme-Stratton, New York

Lang J (1981) Klinische Anatomie des Kopfes: Neurokranium, Orbita,

kraniozervikaler Übergang. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York Lang J (1982) Über Bau, Länge und Gefäßbeziehungen der "zentralen" und "peripheren" Strecken der intrazisternalen Hirnnerven. Ein Beitrag zur vaskulären Hirnnervenschädigung und Dekompressionsbehandlung bei Trigeminusneuralgie, okularer Neuromyotonie, Spasmus hemifacialis, Tinnitus und Vertigo, Glossopharyngeusneuralgie und Caput obstipum spasticum. Zbl Neurochirurgie 43:217-258

Lang J (1983) Clinical anatomy of the head. Neurocranium - orbit craniocervical regions. Translated by RR Wilson and DP Winstanley. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York

Lang J (1985) Lanz/Wachsmuth, Praktische Anatomie, Bd I/l Kopf, Teil A: Übergeordnete Systeme, von J Lang, in Zsarb mit H-P Jensen und F Schröder. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York

Lang J, Heilek E (1984) Anatomisch-klinische Befunde zur A. pharyngea ascendens. Anat Anz 156:177-207

Lang J, Reiter U (1985) Über die intrazisternale Länge der Hirnnerven VII-XII. Neurochirurgia 28:153-157

Lang J, Schafhauser O, Hoffmann S (1983) Über die postnatale Entwicklung der transbasalen Schädelpforten: Canalis caroticus, Foramen jugular, Canalis hypoglossalis, Canalis condylaris und Foramen magnum. Anat Anz 153:315-357

Lang J, Schreiber Th (1983) Über Form und Lage des Foramen jugulare (Fossa jugularis), des Canalis caroticus und des Foramen stylomastoideum sowie deren postnatale Lageveränderungen. HNO 31:80-87

Lang J, Weigel M (1983) Nerve-Vessel relations in jugular foramen region. Anat Clin 5:1-16

Lyssenkow NK (1926) Austrittsvariationen des Sinus petrosus inf. Anat Anz 61:497-503 Mumenthaler M (1973) Neurologie. Ein kurzgefaßtes Lehrbuch für Ärzte und Studenten, 4. neu überarbeitete Auflage. Thieme, Stuttgart Rosen S (1950) The tympanic plexus. Arch Otolaryngol 52:15-18 Schmidt, cited after Gejrot T (1968) Tapia, cited after Gejrot T (1968) Vernet, cited after Gejrot T (1968) Villaret, cited after Gejrot T (1968)

# **Branchial Paragangliomas**

G. Rodesch, P. Lasjaunias, and K. Terbrugge

Centre Hospitalier de Bicetre, Dept. de Neuroradiologie, F-94275 Le Kremlin Bicetre Cedex, Paris

### Introduction

Also called chemodectomas, glomic or neurochristopathic tumors, paragangliomas are second in frequency of all neurogenic tumors. They derive embryologically from neural crest cells. Almost half of them occur in the temporal bone, but they are often multicentric or associated with other neural crest tumors.

Paragangliomas best represent the multidisciplinary therapeutic strategy and technical aspects involved in the treatment of benign neoplasms at the base of the skull.

### Epidemiology

Paragangliomas may be differentiated by their location: tympanic, jugular (these two being classified as temporal paragangliomas), carotid, vagal, laryngeal, nasopharyngeal, and orbital. Multicentricity is common, vagal and carotid paragangliomas being more likely to be multifocal than those in other locations. This multicentricity can be observed with malignant paragangliomas, as is secretory activity [6]. Vagal, carotid, and laryngeal paragangliomas have a malignant potential estimated at between 10% and 18%, whereas those in the temporal region have a lower incidence, at 3% [4].

Two groups of paragangliomas can be differentiated: those with a sex predominance (F/M ratio 2.5/1: temporal, vagal, nasal, nasopharyngeal lesions), and those without one (carotid, laryngeal, orbit lesions). There may also be a familial distribution with an autosomal dominant inheritance.

### Vascular Architecture - Angiographic Findings

Small arteries are present in the capsule and septa of paragangliomas. This pathological consideration explains the compartmental arrangement that exists inside the tumor [5]: angiographically, a feeding artery superselectively injected will strongly opacify a quarter of the lesion with a specific venous drainage, each part representing a "puzzle piece" of the entire tumor. Different types of tumor can therefore be described: unicompartmental masses (with only one puzzle piece) and multicompartmental masses (with at least two puzzle pieces). Furthermore, the existence of a capillary bed and arteriovenous communications explains the rapid venous filling seen on angiographic studies. One must also consider that because they are encapsulated, branchial paragangliomas seldom recruit regional arterial feeders from other territories like other types of invasive or nonencapsulated tumor.

Two important points have to be emphasized:

- The ascending pharyngeal artery is the unique link between paragangliomas in the tympanic, jugular, vagal, carotid, and laryngeal locations as each of these territories is supplied by a different branch of this artery (Fig. 1).
- Jugular paragangliomas specifically develop inside the lumen of the jugular vein. Extrinsic jugular or carotid compression is not specific and can be due to other cervical masses.

### Clinical Aspects - Semiology

Paragangliomas are slow growing tumors: the mean age of the patients presenting with this pathology is in the fifth decade. Two types of clinical symptoms should be distinguished: those due to the tumor itself and those due to its secretory activity.

The primary symptoms of paragangliomas are related to the location of the tumor. This allows three types of syndrome to be described:

1. Tympanic paragangliomas: The most prominent symptom is the presence of pulsatile tinnitus. It is unilateral and related to arteriovenous pulsation. Conductive hearing loss, otorrhagia, VIIth nerve palsy, and a reddish or bluish tympanic membrane complete the typical presentation that will enrich according to the tumoral growth.

2. Jugular paragangliomas: These usually present with jugular foramen syndrome. Nonpulsatile tinnitus and retroauricular pain may also be described. It is important to note that venous occlusion of the internal jugular vein usually has no specific clinical manifestations. Further extension occurs towards the tympanic bone or intracranially; the VIIth and lower cranial nerves may be involved [3,7].

3. Cervical paragangliomas: These present as expansile tumors often presenting as a cervical mass. They may extend into the parapharyngeal space [9], the oral cavity, or the larynx. Cranial nerve involvement is rare; if present, it affects primarily the XIIth nerve and the superior laryngeal nerve.

The most frequent presenting symptom in vagal paraganglioma is a mass in the cervical (78%) or pharyngeal space (44%); 30% of patients have cranial nerve impairment.

The endocrine activity of some paragangliomas may produce additional symptoms (in 5% of patients). These may be of different types: hypertension, headaches, palpitation, diaphoresis, or anxiety. Malignant vagal, carotid, and laryngeal paragangliomas are more likely to have endocrine manifestations [6]. It is also important to note that theoretically any paraganglioma has the potential to become malignant [1]. Because of this and because spontaneous regression of paragangliomas never happens, these lesions must always be eradicated whenever possible. This strategy, best achieved by surgery, must be





Fig. 1. A Selective injection of the neuromeningeal branch of the left ascending pharyngeal artery (arrow) in a case of left jugular paraganglioma. Venous drainage is craniopetal into the sigmoid sinus (curved arrow) and into the suboccipital venous plexus (open arrow). B Control angiogram in the left proximal ascending pharyngeal artery following embolization (asterisk); note the patency of the remaining divi-sions of the artery. C A blush is noted at the carotid bifurcation level during the ipsi- and contralateral controls (arrows B and C). At surgery both cervical lesions were found to be lymph node invasions. (Reprinted from Surgical Neuroangiography, with permission)

preceded by a precise morphological mapping that includes CT and angiography (diagnostic and, in the same session, therapeutic).

Supraselective angiography remains the most specific diagnostic technique and should always be performed. Ascending pharyngeal artery



Fig. 2. A Selective injection of the pharyngeal branch of the right ascending pharyngeal artery (APhA) in a case of vagal paraganglioma (asterisk). Note the ascending drainage towards the cavernous sinus (open arrow) and the arterial carotid canal branches of the APhA (arrow). B Internal carotid injection. Note the clival blush (open arrow). The lesion was only embolized; no surgery and no radiation therapy were undertaken. Both lesions were stable after 2 years. Spinal metastasis became symptomatic a few months ago. A similar patient has previously been reported [4]; however, although immediately operated on following embolization, she developed diffuse metastasis 16 months later, from which she died. (Reprinted from Surgical Neuroangiography, with permission)

injection confirms or rules out the diagnosis of a suspected branchial paraganglioma: absence of the typical appearance of the tumor blush excludes that diagnosis. The classical angiographic aspect is constituted by moderately enlarged feeding arteries, intense parenchymal blush, and rapid venous filling (Fig. 1). Although angiography is the diagnostic procedure of choice in cases of paraganglioma, it remains imprecise in differentiating malignant from multicentric disease (Fig. 2). Some specific features may nevertheless be distinguished:

1. Temporal paragangliomas: The ipsilateral vertebral, internal carotid, distal external carotid, posterior auricular, and occipital


Fig. 3. Venous phase of the dominant vertebral artery in a case of left jugular foramen paraganglioma (asterisk). The arrow points to the sigmoid sinus collateral pathways into the mastoid vein, proximal to venous thrombosis. (Reprinted from Surgical Neuroangiography, with permission)

arteries and the ascending pharyngeal arteries bilaterally (in order to visualize contralateral localization) must be studied. Late phase of the dominant vertebral artery will confirm occlusion or patency of the jugular vein (Fig. 3). In the case of transdural extension of the tumor, blood supply will be demonstrated by ipsilateral opacification of AICA and PICA. Carotid canal invasion is diagnosed by CT examination showing bone destruction, narrowing of the intrapetrous carotid artery, and tumoral blush on angiographic studies.

2. Cervical paragangliomas: The ipsilateral vertebral, proximal internal carotid, facial, lingual, superior laryngeal, carotid body, ascending cervical, inferior laryngeal, and bilateral ascending pharyngeal arteries must be studied. One should note that in these cases the tumors compress the internal jugular vein without invading it; in contrast, true parietal invasion of the adventitia of the internal carotid artery is sometimes noted.

### Therapeutic Strategies

As previously stated, treatment of paragangliomas (Table 1) requires a multidisciplinary approach [4]. Because paraganglion tumor cells are not radiosensitive, radiotherapy should be avoided as a primary form of treatment and the therapeutic panel should be constituted by embolization followed by surgery, aiming to remove the tumor entirely [2-4]. Embolization is a safe and efficient method to devascularize

### Table 1. Endovascular technical aspects

Arteriography + embolization in a single session

General anesthesia and femoral approach

Presurgical embolization with particles 2-10 days before removal

3 days' hospitalization (1 day prior + 1 day after)

Morbidity of embolization of paragangliomas:

- Transient cranial nerve palsy (VIIth, Xth, or XIIth) in 10%
- One case presented a postembolization incomplete VIIth that did not regress before surgery 5 days later

No mortality, no CNS complications in 82 cases (1977-1988)

these tumors, helping in the resection of the lesion and cranial nerve preservation. It can even be used as the sole therapy for inoperable lesions, where the objective is the stabilization of growth [4] (Fig. 4). It is therefore necessary to use an active agent that can be safely delivered into the tumor bed. In our experience, PVA particles of  $160/250 \ \mu m$  are the most reliable agent to embolize paragangliomas. Each feeding artery is superselectively catheterized, embolized, and further occluded proximally by strips of Gelfoam, to



Fig. 4. Pathology specimen of a paraganglioma removed l year following conventional presurgical embolization. Immediate postembolization improvement led to cancellation of surgery; l year later surgery was felt to be feasible. Histology shows the fibrotic transformation of three-quarters of the lesion, even though the most aggressive agents had not been used for this embolization. (Reprinted from Surgical Neuroangiography, with permission) Table 2. Multifocal blushes

Multicentric paragangliomas Metastasis Lymph node invasion Perilesional hyperemia (nontumoral) Pseudotumoral blush following surgery (nontumoral) Associated neural crest tumors (carcinoid, etc.)

partially devascularize the surgical field and promote further thrombosis within the tumor. Fluoroscopic controls and angiographic series are mandatory during the procedure in order to avoid ectopic embolization through dangerous anastomoses or reflux into cerebral arteries.

The sacrifice of the internal carotid artery is sometimes necessary (especially in the event of petrous apex involvement when extensive base of the skull surgery is foreseen); on the other hand, exceptionally embolization of AICA and PICA needs to be discussed. The rate of recurrence depends on the quality of the resection and spread of the disease (Table 2). Its management includes presurgical embolization even though some postoperative symptomatic blush does not reflect tumor recurrence in all situations.

### References

- Alford BR, Guilford FR (1962)A comprehensive study of tumors of the glomus jugulare. Laryngoscope 72:765-805
- 2. Fisch U (1982) Infratemporal fossa approach for glomus tumors of the temporal bone. Ann Otol Rhin Laryng 91:474-479
- Fisch U, Fagan P, Valavanis A (1984) The infratemporal fossa approach for the lateral skull base. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 17:513-552
- 4. Lasjaunias P, Berenstein A (1987) Branchial paragangliomas. In: Surgical neuroangiography vol 2: endovascular treatment of craniofacial lesions. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 127-162
- 5. Moret J, Lasjaunias P (1986) Vascular architecture of tympanojugular glomus tumor. In: The Ear (Vignaud J, Jardin C, Rosen L,) Masson, Paris, pp 289-303
- 6. Strauss M, Nicholas GE, Abt AB, Harrison TS, Seaton JF (1983) Malignant catecholamine-secreting carotid body paraganglioma. Otolaryng Head Neck Surg 91:315-321
- 7. Valavanis A, Fisch U (1983) The contribution of computed tomography in the management of glomus tumors of the temporal bone. Rev Laryng 104:411-415
- Valavanis A, Schubiger O, Oguz M (1983) High resolution, CT investigation of non-chromaffin paragangliomas of the temporal bone. AJNR 4:516-519
- 9. Zak FG, Lawson W (1982) The paraganglionic chemoreceptor system. Physiology, pathology and clinical medicine. Springer-Verlag, New York

# Surgery of the Jugular Foramen

M. Samii, A. Sepehrnia, A. Mahran, and W. Bini

Neurochirurgische Klinik, Krankenhaus Nordstadt, Haltenhoffstraße 41, D-3000 Hannover 1

# Introduction

Lesions involving the jugular foramen represent a rare group of skull base tumors. Their diagnosis and management present a great challenge to neuroradiologists, otolaryngologists, maxillofacial surgeons, and neurosurgeons, and interdisciplinary cooperation is needed to achieve an optimal outcome of this surgery.

# Material

Among over 900 skull base tumors of different etiology operated on at the Neurosurgical Clinic of the City of Hannover, Nordstadt Hospital between October 1978 and April 1988, we found 44 involving the jugular foramen. Their classification is shown in Table 1.

Among the 20 tumors arising within the jugular foramen, we found ten neurinomas, eight glomus jugulare tumors, one paraganglion, and one vascular tumor (hemangioepithelioid endothelioma). The other 24 skull base tumors infiltrating the jugular foramen were 16 meningiomas, four chordomas, three epidermoids, and one adenocarcinoma of the mastoid.

Tumors originating with the jugular foramen (n = 20)	in	Tumors secondarily affecting the jugular foramen (n = 24)			
Neurinomas	10	Meningiomas	16		
Glomus jugulare tumors	8	Clivus chordomas	4		
Paraganglion	1	Epidermoids	3		
Vascular tumors (hemangioepithelioid endothelioma)	1	Malignant tumors (adenocarcinoma of the mastoid)	1		

Table 1. Classification of 44 skull base tumors involving the jugularforamen

140 Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol. 17 Ed by R A Frowein, M. Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

### Findings

Neurinomas of the jugular foramen are very rare lesions. So far, there have been reports of approximately 80 cases in the world literature. They are grouped together due to the fact that clinically and even intraoperatively the nerve from which the tumor originates is not always identified. They are slowly growing tumors; the duration of symptoms in our patients varied from 6 months to 10 years.

The clinical picture of jugular foramen neurinomas depends on the site and extension of the tumor. Those extending intracranially present with cerebellopontine angle symptoms such as hearing loss, tinnitus, vertigo, and ataxia, and rarely with facial, trigeminal, or caudal cranial nerve affection. Those extending extracranially present with early deficits of the caudal cranial nerves. Neurinomas originating within the jugular foramen and extending both intra- and extracranially (the so-called dumbbell-shaped neurinomas) present with both types of symptoms and pose the most difficulty for operative management.

The most frequent presenting symptom was hoarseness to vocal cord paralysis (60%). The rest of the symptoms are listed in Table 2, and the clinicosurgical findings are shown in Table 3.

It is interesting to point out that the patient's complaints do not always correspond to the origin of the neurinoma, as, for example in patient No. 7, whose neurinoma originating from the accessory nerve (N.XI) had altered facial sensation and hemiparesthesia as the only symptomatology.

Glomus jugulare tumors (chemodectomas) arise from nonchromaffin paraganglial cells which are located at the promontory of the middle ear, along the tympanic nerve, or at the jugular bulb. Those arising at the jugular bulb show a more invasive and destructive character. Glomus jugulare tumors present with tinnitus, hearing loss, and headache lasting from a few months to over 3 years. Palsies of the lower cranial nerves were usually a late finding in the course of disease. The presenting symptomatology, classification, and clinical findings of glomus jugulare tumors in our patients are presented in Tables 4-6.

Table 2. Presenting symptomatology in neurinoma patients (n = 10; age 19-73 years; 4 females, 6 males)

Main symptoms	No.
Hoarseness	6
Dysphagia	5
Vertigo and unsteady gait	5
Diffuse headache	4
Hearing impairment	4
Tinnitus	2
Decreased taste sensation	2
Shoulder atrophy	2
Facial palsy	1
Altered face sensation	1
Nausea and vomiting	2

Patient			Tumor origin		Cranial nerve affection						
				v	VII	VIII	IX	х	XI	XII	
сс	38	F	N.IX		+	+	+				
CE	19	F	N.IX			+	+	+	+		
ST	32	М	N.IX			+	+	+	+	+	
JG	54	М	N.X					+			
KJ	45	М	N.X and XII					+		+	
SI	31	М	N.X			+		+			
JS	43	М	N.XI	+							
ΗE	73	F	N.XII							+	
DE	66	F	N.XII			+	+	+		+	
нн	38	М	N.IX-XI			+	+	+	+	+	
	CC CE ST JG KJ SI JS HE DE HH	CC 38 CE 19 ST 32 JG 54 KJ 45 SI 31 JS 43 HE 73 DE 66 HH 38	CC 38 F CE 19 F ST 32 M JG 54 M KJ 45 M SI 31 M JS 43 M HE 73 F DE 66 F HH 38 M	CC 38 F N.IX CE 19 F N.IX ST 32 M N.IX JG 54 M N.X KJ 45 M N.X and XII SI 31 M N.X JS 43 M N.XI HE 73 F N.XII DE 66 F N.XII HH 38 M N.IX-XI	Tumor origin	ient       Tumor origin       Cr         V       VII         CC 38 F       N.IX       +         CE 19 F       N.IX       +         ST 32 M       N.IX       +         JG 54 M       N.X       +         JG 54 M       N.X       +         JS 43 M       N.XI       +         HE 73 F       N.XII       +         HH 38 M       N.IX-XI       +	Tumor origin       Cranial network         V       VII         VII       VIII         CC 38 F       N.IX         V       VII         VII       VIII         CC 38 F       N.IX         ST 32 M       N.IX         JG 54 M       N.X         JG 54 M       N.X         JG 54 M       N.X         JI 45 M       N.X and XII         SI 31 M       N.X         JS 43 M       N.XII         HE 73 F       N.XII         HH 38 M       N.IX-XI         HH 38 M       N.IX-XI	Tumor origin       Cranial nerve a         V       VII         V       VII         VII       VIII         CC 38 F       N.IX         F       +         CE 19 F       N.IX         ST 32 M       N.IX         JG 54 M       N.X         KJ 45 M       N.X and XII         SI 31 M       +         JS 43 M       N.XI         HE 73 F       N.XII         HH 38 M       N.IX-XI	Tumor origin       Cranial nerve affect         V       VII         V       VII         CC 38 F       N.IX         F       N.IX         CC 38 F       N.IX         V       VII         VII       VIII         IX       X         CC 38 F       N.IX         Y       Y         V       VII         VII       VIII         X       +         Y       Y	Tumor origin       Cranial nerve affection         V       VII       VIII       IX       X XI         CC 38 F       N.IX       +       +       +         CE 19 F       N.IX       +       +       +         ST 32 M       N.IX       +       +       +         JG 54 M       N.X       +       +       +         SI 31 M       N.X       +       +       +         JS 43 M       N.XI       +       +       +         HE 73 F       N.XII       +       +       +         HH 38 M       N.IX-XI       +       +       +	

Table 3. Clinical findings in neurinoma patients

Meningiomas of the posterior skull base are divided into basal, craniocervical, petroclival, and CPA meningiomas. Each of them can invade the jugular foramen; 16 such cases are demonstrated in Table 7.

As a rarity, our material includes a case of a hemangioepithelioid endothelioma with regional lymph node metastasis. The patient was a 38-year-old woman who had as a primary complaint atrophy of the shoulder followed by hearing loss on the same side and dysphagia. At admission, we found Collet-Sicard syndrome (palsy of Nn. IX-XII), a perceptive deafness, and hypesthesia of the 2nd and 3rd branches of the trigeminal nerve (Table 8).

Epidermoids of the posterior cranial fossa usually present with headache, hydrocephalus, and/or gait ataxia. They may extend extracranially through the foramen magnum or the jugular foramen. Of 23 operated epidermoids, three showed involvement of the jugular foramen (Table 9).

Table 4. Presenting symptomatology in patients with glomus jugulare tumors (n = 8; age 19-62 years; 6 females, 2 males)

Main symptoms	No.
Hearing impairment	8
Tinnitus	7
Diffuse headache	6
Facial palsy	3
Altered facial sensation	3
Vertigo and unsteady gait	3
Hoarseness	3
Dysphagia	3
Tongue atrophy	3
Diplopia	ī

Table 5. Classification of chemodectomas (glomus jugulare tumors [KEMPE 1971])

Tumor class	Tumor localization and extension Ar	terial blood supply
1.	Small chemodectomas, confined to the middle ear and mastoid 1-: ly gen	Ext.carotid a.(main- ascending pharyn- al a.)
2.	Chemodectomas within the lumen of the jugular bulb, may extend 2- to the sigmoid sinus or to the neck veins	Vertebral a. (extra- anial portion)
3.	Chemodectomas dilating the jugular foramen, without infil- trating the skull base. The caudal cranial nerves remain intact	ll 4 tumor classes, to 4)
4.	Chemodectomas eroding the jugular foramen, infiltrating the skull base. Caudal cranial nerves involved, but facial n. intact	
5.	Chemodectomas eroding the petrous portion of the temporal bone, 1- affecting N.VII, VIII and occasi- 2- onally N.V. The tumor reaches the post. aspect of the cavernous 3- sinus and into the parapharyngeal space of the neck	Ext.carotid a. Vertebral a. (extra- cranial portion) Int.carotid a. (petrous and caver- nosal branches)
6.	Extended chemodectomas that cross the midline to invade the 1- clivus and the cavernous sinuses on both sides. Could metastasize 2- into lymph nodes, lungs or to the ribs. Without selective tumor 3- embolization, considered inope- rable	-Ext.carotid a. -Vertebral a. -Internal carotid a. (from both sides)

Clivus chordomas, though benign lesions, are locally very invasive and may infiltrate the caudal cranial nerves at the jugular foramen, as seen in four of our eight operated cases (Table 10).

Malignant tumors of the skull base, as seen in one operated case of papillary adenocarcinoma of the mastoid, may extend and infiltrate the jugular foramen, causing cranial nerve palsy of Nn. VII-XII (Table 11).

Patient Tum			Tumor class		Cranial nerve affection						
					V	VII	VIII	IX	х	XI	XII
1.	RP	24	M F	4		+	+		+		+
3. 4.	PA MC	19 30	F F	3		·	+ +	+	+	+	+
5. 6.	PG KM	51 36	M F	5 3		+	+ +	+	+		
7. 8.	HA CH	45 31	F F	5 3		+	+ +	+	+		+
9.	BF	41	М	Paragangli	.on		+	+	+	+	+

# Table 6. Clinical findings in patients with glomus jugulare tumors

# Operative Technique (Figs. 1-3)

The choice of the proper surgical approach is determined by tumor location and extension after a thorough preoperative neuroradiological diagnostic workup including CCT, NMR, and panangiography, especially DSA. For glomus jugulare tumors, which are very vascularized, a preoperative selective embolization of the feeding vessels is an important strategy in reducing the intraoperative tumor bleeding, thus significantly facilitating tumor resection.

Tumors arising from the jugular foramen and extending intracranially to the cerebellopontine angle (CPA) are excised via lateral suboccipital craniotomy, and those extending extracranially are removed

Tumor localization	Foramen jugulare syndrome	Other neurological findings
CPA meningiomas (n = 56)	9	Ataxia Vertigo Impaired hearing
Petroclival meningiomas $(n = 20)$	4	Ataxia Vertigo Impaired hearing
Craniocervical meningion $(n = 9)$	nas 2	Ataxia Hemihypesthesia Babinski's sign
Intraosseous meningiomas (n = 1)	5 <u>1</u>	N.XII paresis Occipital headache

Table 7. Meningiomas (n = 16)

Table 8. Vascular tumor (hemangioepithelioid endothelioma)

Main symptoms: Main complaints: 1. Diffuse headache 1. Shoulder weakness 2. Impaired hearing 2. Vertigo and unsteady gait 3. Visual disturbances 3. Dysphagia 4. Tongue atrophy Clinical findings: Clinical findings: 1. Collet-Sicard syndrome (Nn. IX-1. Cerebellar ataxia Hydrocephalus
 Papilledema XII paresis) 2. Perceptive deafness (30 dB) 3. Hypoesthesia V 2 and 3 4. Scotoma, left field of vision

through a cervical approach. Problematic are those tumors which are located within the jugular foramen and extend both intra- and extracranially. In the past, they have required a two-stage excision. In the early 1970s, a combined approach, retromastoid/transcervical, began to be standardized, allowing total excision in one session. Our modification to that approach differs slightly from those reported by FISCH and PILLSBURY (1979), GLASSCOCK et al. (1979), and KAYE et al. (1984); a retroauricular skin incision is extended along the anterior border of the sternocleidomastoid muscle to the level of the hyoid bone. The mastoid is exposed after the origin of both the sternocleidomastoid and the posterior belly of the digastric muscles have been mobilized. The caudal cranial nerves are identified in the neck and followed cranially to the skull base. The facial nerve is exposed in front of the stylomastoid foramen. Then the otological approach to the superior aspect of the jugular foramen is carried out. First, we drill a cortical mastoidectomy exposing the antrum, lateral semicir-cular canal, and the vertical portion of the facial nerve. Rerouting the facial nerve is only necessary if the tumor expands to the middle ear cleft or to the carotid canal, as in the case of extended glomus jugulare tumors.

Table 10. Clivus chordoma (n = 14)

Table 11. Malignant tumors (adenocarcinoma of the mastoid)

Main symptoms:

- Diplopia
   Diffuse headache
   Hoarseness of voice
- 4. Unsteady gait

Clinical findings:

- 1. N. VI paresis
- Foramen jugulare syndrome (Nn. IX-XI paresis)
- 3. Hydrocephalus
- 4. Hypoesthesia V 1, 2, and 3

Main symptoms:

- l. Facial paralysis
- 2. Purulent ear secretion

Table 9. Epidermoids

- 3. Impaired hearing
- 4. Dysphagia

Clinical findings:

- 1. Peripheral facial paresis
- 2. Conductive deafness
- Foramen jugulare syndrome (Nn. IX-XI paresis)
- 4. Hypoesthesia V 2 and 3



Fig. 1. The combined cervico-oto-neurosurgical approach showing the caudal cranial nerve and the jugular vein in the neck, the partially resected mastoid and the exposed facial nerve. Through a lateral subocciptal craniotomy the dura, transverse and sigmoid sinus are exposed, as well as the jungular foramen, which is opened from dorso-laterally (SAMII et al. 1988)

A lateral suboccipital osteoclastic craniotomy is performed exposing the junction of the transverse and sigmoid sinus, mobilizing the latter caudally down to the jugular foramen. The planum nuchale is further drilled till the lateral edge of the occipital condyle, and the petrous pyramid is drilled till the styloid process, so the jugular foramen is exposed and opened from dorsally. Through this approach, the tumor, sigmoid sinus, jugular bulb, and internal jugular vein (IJV) come into view. Neurinomas displace the jugular bulb dorsally, whereas glomus jugulare tumors arise from the dome of the jugular bulb, extending intraluminally to the sigmoid sinus and the IJV and also causing erosion of the skull base. Medial to the junction of the jugular bulb and the IJV, we identify the lateral process of the atlas with the origin of the oblique atlantis muscle.

The dura mater is opened cranial to the transverse sinus and lateral to the sigmoid sinus down to the jugular foramen. Then we retract the dura, the transverse and the sigmoid sinus, and the jugular bulb medially, allowing gentle traction of the cerebellum, opening the cerebellopontine cistern, and exposing the intracranial tumor portion at the CPA.



Fig. 2. The dura is opened at the jugular foramen, exposing the huge neurinoma, with its intra- and extracranial extension

We start resecting the extracranial portion of the tumor so that the caudal cranial nerves remain under vision, enucleating the tumor using microsurgical technique. The intracranial portion of the tumor is then resected through the widened jugular foramen, taking care not to damage the neural structures (Nn. IX-XII) ventral to the tumor



opened Jugular foramen

Fig. 3. Operative situation after total tumor removal; the tumor; the brain stem is seen through the opened jugular foramen

mass. In cases of glomus jugulare tumors, the sigmoid sinus is ligated and packed as well as the IJV. After enucleating the tumor intraluminally, an en bloc resection follows. In the presence of neurinomas and other nonvascular lesions we leave the sinus intact.

After meticulous hemostasis we return the jugular bulb to its site within the jugular fossa, and the dura is then sealed. A triangular piece of lyophilized dura is used to seal the defect at the jugular foramen, using fibrin glue and packing with the posterior belly of digastric muscle. Finally the sternocleidomastoid muscle is sutured at its site of origin.

To avoid a CSF leak, lumbar drainage is placed and antibiotics are given during the first 10-14 postoperative days.

### Results and Discussion

The outcome of jugular foramen surgery has improved tremendously thanks to the modern neuroradiological investigations, the micro-surgical techniques, and the teamwork between ENT, maxillofacial, and neurosurgeons.

Based on the extensive experience and the pioneering works of Cappes in the 1950s, SHAPIRO and NEUSS, GEJIOT, GARDNER et al., WULLSTEIN, DENECKE, HOUSE, and PORTMANN in the 1960s, KEMPE, MENZEL, FISCH, JENKINS, and JACKSON in the 1970s, and DRAF and SAMII, KAYE et al., CRUMLEY and WILLIAMS, HORN, HOUSE, HITSELBERGER, and HAKUBA in the 1980s, the combined approach to jugular foramen surgery has been standardized, allowing total tumor removal in one session, with less hazardous complications.

Our modification to the surgical technique showed a very satisfactory outcome (as listed in Tables 12-14). The operative mortality was nil. Two patients died 3 weeks and 6 months postoperatively, due to nonsurgical causes (cardiovascular insufficiency in the first case and leukemia in the second). Total tumor excision was achieved in all but two cases. The subtotal removals were a case of clivus chordoma and an extended petroclival meningioma infiltrating the jugular foramen and cavernous sinus.

Our overall surgical morbidity was 36.4% (n = 16). The 16 cases had new cranial nerve deficits, aspiration pneumonia, and/or CSF leak. How the new cranial nerve deficits evolved is represented in Tables 13 and 14. The five cases of CSF leak were successfully treated using lumbar drainage. This has become a standard postoperative technique in all our operated cases.

Table 12. Foramen jugulare surgery

No. of patients:	44
Total removal:	42 (95.5%)
Subtotal removal:	2 - l clivus chordoma
	l petroclival meningioma
Operative mortality:	0 (2 deaths due to nonsurgical causes)
Surgical morbidity:	16 (36.4%)
- cranial nerve lesions:	16 (36.4%)
- aspiration pneumonia:	7 (16%)
- CSF leak:	5 (11.4%)

Nerve	Preop. status	Postop. status	Nerve	Temporary	Permanent
		<u></u>	v	1	1
v	1	3	VI	1	0
VI	0	1	VII	4	2
VII	4	10	VIII	0	3
VIII	17	20	IX	0	2
IX	8	10	х	0	0
х	12	12	XI	2	0
XI	6	8	XII	0	0
XII	9	9			8 (18.2%)

Table 13. Cranial nerve affection

Table 14. New cranial nerve deficits (n = 16)

### Conclusion

To summarize our approach: thorough preoperative neuroradiological investigation with selective embolization of vascular lesions, interdisciplinary cooperation using proven, meticulous microsurgical technique, and the modified combined approach; all these factors together lead to an optimal outcome in the surgery of these challenging jugular foramen tumors. Our experience shows that a remission of the symptoms is observed in approximately half of the new cranial nerve deficits which may arise postoperatively. To avoid the appearance of CSF leak, lumbar drainage for the first 10-14 days postoperatively is mandatory. In the immediate postoperative period the danger of aspiration pneumonia is high and careful patient observation is important.

# A Clinical Example

A 41-year-old patient had noticed hoarseness as well as weakness of his left shoulder for about 20 years. Six years after the onset he started to complain of impaired hearing in his left ear as well as tinnitus. A few years later he noticed atrophy of the left side of his tongue and started to complain of choking and dysphagia, especially for fluids. A thorough diagnostic check, done at another clinic, could not reveal any cause for the caudal cranial nerve palsies. Headache was sporadic and diffuse and in the last 4 years he became dizzy and drowsy. Most recently he complained of permanent occipitocervical headache with attacks of blurred vision, nausea, and vomiting.

On clinical examination we found a horizontal rotatory nystagmus to both sides, perceptive deafness, and palsy of the left caudal cranial nerves. There was papilledema with slightly blurred vision, but the other cranial nerves were intact. There were no cerebellar signs, no pyramidal signs, and slightly exaggerated muscle reflexes on the left side.

The neuroradiological diagnostic investigations showed a huge, slightly hyperdense, well bordered tumor which extended intracranially to the CPA, reaching the tentorium and extending extracranially to the parapharyngeal space and infratemporal fossa (Fig. 4). The avascular tumor dilated the jugular foramen without destroying the skull base or petrous temporal bone (Fig. 5). The fourth ventri-



Fig. 4. A coronal CCT reconstruction showing a large neurinoma of the left jugular foramen, extending intracranially to the tentorium and extracranially to the parapharyngeal space

cle was compressed by the tumor, causing an occlusive hydrocephalus (Figs. 6, 7).

Angiography showed a slight tumor blush, while the left vertebral and basilar arteries were shifted by the tumor mass to the opposite side and the superior cerebellar artery was displaced upwards and medially.

First we performed a ventriculoperitoneal shunt to manage the hydrocephalus, after which the headache and blurred vision improved. Two weeks later the huge dumbbell-shaped neurinoma of the jugular foramen was successfully totally removed using the combined cervico-otoneurosurgical approach, previously mentioned (Figs. 8-10). The intracranial tumor diameter was 5 x 6 cm, the intraforaminal tumor diameter, 2.5 x 2 cm, and the extracranial tumor diameter, 2 x 1.5 cm. Lumbar drainage was placed for 14 days and the postoperative course was uneventful, except for a transient left-sided abducens and one seizure. The facial and vestibulocochlear nerves could be preserved, but the perceptive deafness worsened to 80 - 100 dB. A nasogastric tube was used for 3 weeks postoperatively, until the swallowing (lying to the opposite side) showed a slight improvement. For rehabilitation of the vocal cord paralysis a Teflon injection is planned, and with thorough physiotherapy the shoulder musculature showed a satisfactory improvement.



Fig. 5. The left jugular foramen is widened by the neurinoma. Note the sclerotic margins and the absence of bony destruction

150



Figs. 6, 7. MRI of the same neurinoma as in Figs. 4 and 5, showing its intra- and extracranial extension as well as compression and shifting of the brain stem. Note the dilated lateral and third ventricles, caused by the obstructive hydrocephalus

# References

Crumley RL, Wilson C (1984) Schwannomas of the jugular foramen. Laryngoscope, Vol. 94:772-777

Draf W, Samii M (1982) Diagnostik und operative Strategie bei großen Glomustumoren der lateralen Schädelbasis. Aktuelles in den Otorhinolaryngologie. Thieme-Verlag, Stuttgart, New York



8

Figs. 8-10. The postoperative CCT of the same patient, showing the lateral suboccipital craniotomy and the partially resected temporal bone. The hydrocephalus subsided and the ventricles normalized in size

Denecke HJ (1966) Zur Chirurgie ausgedehnter Glomustumoren im Bereich des Foramen jugulare. Arch Otolaryngol NY 187:656-662

Denecke HJ (1978) Die Chirurgie ausgedehnter Tumoren des Felsenbeins und der Otobasis. Laryng Rhinol 57:287-290

Fisch u. Pillsbury C (1979) Infratemporal fossa approach to lesions in the temporal bone and base of the skull. Arch Otolaryngol (1979) Vol. 105:99-107

Gardner G, Cocke EW, Robertson JT et al. (1977) Combined approach surgery for removal of glomus jugulare tumors. Laryngoscope 87:665-688

Gejrot T (1964) Retrograde venography of the internal jugular vein. Acta Otolaryngol Vol. 57:556-596

Gierlich (1908) Zur Symptomatologie der Tumoren des Kleinhirns und des KHBW. Dtsch Med Wschr 34:1800-1804

Glasscock ME, Jackson CG, Dickins IR, Wiet RJ (1979) Surgical management of glomus tumors. Panel discussion. Laryngoscope 89:1640-1653

Hakuba PA, Greenberg A (1971) Surgery for large glomus jugulare tumors: the combined suboccipital transtemporal approach. Arch Otolaryngol Vol. 93:227-231

Hakuba A, Hashi H, Fujitanietal K (1979) Jugular foramen neurinomas. Surg Neurol 11:83-94

Horn K, House WF, Hitselberger WE (1985) Schwannomas of the jugular foramen. Laryngoscope Vol. 95:761-765

Kaye AH, Hahn I et al (1984) Jugular foramen schwannomas. J Neurosurg 60:1045-1053

Kempe LG Glomus jugulare tumors. In: Youmans, Vol. 5:3285-3298. Text book of Neurological Surgery, Saunders Publication

Menzel J (1978) Neurochirurgische Therapie extensiver Glomus jugulare-Tumoren. Laryng Rhinol 57:281-286

Rosenwasser H (1945) Carotid body tumor of the middle ear and mastoid. Arch Otolaryngol 41:64-67

Samii M, Draf W (1988) Surgery of the skull base, Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg. In print

Samii M et al. (1988) Surgery of petroclival meningiomas. In print

# Microsurgical Approaches to the Cavernous Sinus

# A. Perneczky, E. Knosp, and Ch. Matula

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Wien, Währinger Gürtel 18-20, A-1090 Wien

# Introduction

The explosive development of technical standards in and around neurosurgery has made possible the treatment of previously problematic pathological conditions without too much risk to the patient, one example being lesions involving the cavernous sinus.

From the surgical point of view the cavernous sinus can be divided into three parts (Fig. 1). The anterior part corresponds to the parainfraclinoidal portion and is mainly connected with the problems of surgery of para- and infraclinoidal aneurysms [2,3,6,7,8]. The middle part represents the field of the lateral sinus wall, consisting of the IIIrd-Vth cranial nerves and the underlying posterior knee of the carotid siphon with the abducent nerve [1,4,5,8,9,10]. The posterior part involves the region of the petrous bone tip, including the gasserian ganglion and the canal of the internal carotid artery [1,7,9].

# Approaches

Ipsilateral Approach to the Anterior Siphon Knee [6,8]

In patients with para- and infraclinoidal aneurysms, where the aneurysm sac points anterolaterally, posterolaterally, or laterally, we choose an ipsilateral pterional approach (Fig. 2 A).

Steps of the ipsilateral approach are as follows:

- 1. Unroofing of the ipsilateral optic canal for gentle mobilization of the nerve
- 2. Removal of the anterior clinoid process
- 3. Identification of the roof of the cavernous sinus
- 4. Dissection of the fibrous ring around the carotid artery sharply
- 5. Blunt dissection along the internal carotid artery up to the anterior siphon knee

Contralateral Approach to the Anterior Siphon Knee [3,6,8]

In cases where the aneurysm points from infraclinoidal to medial the contralateral approach is appropriate. This approach obliquely leads below the optic chiasm to the medial wall of the contralateral inter-



Fig. 1. Three parts of the cavernous sinus to be surgically dissected by different approaches. 1 anterior part; 2 middle part (lateral wall); 3 posterior part

nal carotid artery. The craniotomy is performed fronto-latero-basally (Fig. 2 B).

The steps of the dissection are:

- 1. Opening of the chiasmatic cistern
- 2. Removal of the tuberculum sellae: the mucosa of the sphenoid sinus is left intact and retracted
- 3. Removal of the medial wall of the contralateral optic canal
- 4. Identification of the contralateral transversal plate (roof of the cavernous sinus) and fibrous ring
- 5. Sharp dissection of the fibrous ring
- Blunt dissection along the medial and anterior wall of the carotid artery up to the anterior siphon knee

Approach Through the Lateral Wall of the Cavernous Sinus [1,4,5,8,10]

If the lesion is located more proximally along the intracavernous carotid artery portion and/or involves the lateral wall of the caver-



Fig. 2 A, B. Approach to the anterior part of the cavernous sinus. A ipsilateral; B contralateral



Fig. 3 A, B. Approach through the lateral wall of the cavernous sinus. A modified dissection of Parkinson's triangle; B approach to the petrous portion of the internal carotid artery

nous sinus, we use a modified approach through the lateral wall of the cavernous sinus [8]. The craniotomy is orbitopterional. Since the lateral sinus wall consists of two layers, between which the IIIrd-Vth cranial nerves are located [10], it is possible to open the outer layer like a flap (Fig. 3) without tearing the venous space.

In other cases, however, where the extension of the process reaches more toward the floor of the middle cranial fossa, a subtemporal approach is necessary.

In cases where the intracavernous portion of the internal carotid artery is involved, initially the intrapetrous portion of the internal carotid artery must be exposed. For this exposure, the middle meningeal artery has first to be coagulated and the greater superficial petrosal nerve transected in order to prevent traction of the geniculate ganglion. The dissection of the petrous segment of the carotid artery belongs to the extradural steps of the procedure. The canal of the eustachian tube and the petrous portion of the carotid artery should be covered with a muscle flap in order to prevent possible CSF leak. If the flaplike opening of the lateral sinus wall is used, the lateral wall can be closed by sutures. In cases in which a defect of the lateral wall remains, we cover with oxycellulose and fibrin glue.

### Material and Results

Between 1980 and January 1988 we carried out intraoperative dissection of one or more parts of the cavernous sinus in 70 cases. In the anterior cavernous sinus portion the vascular lesions were predominant: there were 25 aneurysms and six patients with tumor [8]. By contrast in the middle part of the sinus tumorous processes were more frequent: there were two aneurysms and 36 tumorous lesions.

Table 1 shows the functional results in the tumor case group. The results of this series speak in favor of the direct medial repair of

Preop. lesion	Posto	perative r	Morbidity <sup>a</sup>		
1	Unchanged	Improved	Full reco- very	Transient	Persistent
тт <sup>р</sup>	4	5	4		
III	2	2	5	4	1
IV	1	1	2		
V	4	7			
VI	2	1	4		
VII	2	1			
VIII	2				
Hemiparesis	1	3	4	2	
Seizures	*	1	1		
POS			5	2	
Diabetes insip	idus			1	
Occlusion of i car. art.	nt.				3

Table 1. Functional results of cavernous sinus surgery for tumor lesions (n = 43)

<sup>a</sup> Two patients died of pneumonia; <sup>b</sup> II-VIII, cranial nerves

intra- and pericavernous lesions. This operative strategy has proven to be a safe procedure, feasible without deep hypothermia, extracorporeal circulation, or cardiac arrest. The technique in many cases permits total removal of intracavernous lesions with the preservation of the internal carotid artery and avoidance of operative traumatization of the nerves. It is likely that in the case of lesions invading the cavernous sinus this procedure will be the treatment of choice in the future.

### References

- Dolenc V (1983) Direct microsurgical repair of intracavernous vascular lesions. J Neurosurg 58:824-831
- Iwabuchi T, Suzuki Sh, Sobata E (1978) Intracranial direct operation for carotid-ophthalmic aneurysm by unroofing of the optic canal. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 43:163-169
- Milenkovic Z, Gopic H, Antovic P, Jovicic V, Petrovic B (1982) Contralateral pterional approach to a carotid-ophthalmic aneurysm ruptured at surgery. J Neurosurg 57:823-825
- Parkinson D (1965) A surgical approach to the cavernous portion of the carotid artery. Anatomical studies and case report. J Neurosurg 23:474-483
- Parkinson D (1973) Carotid-cavernous fistula: direct repair with preservation of the carotid artery. Technical note. J Neurosurg 38:99-106
- 6. Perneczky A, Knosp E, Vorkapic P, Czech TH (1985) Direct surgical approach to infraclinoidal aneurysms. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 76:36-44

- 7. Perneczky A, Knosp E (1986) The intracavernous connective tissue cover of the internal carotid artery. Anatomy and surgery. In: Scheunemann H, Schürmann K, Helms J (eds) Tumours of the skull base. de Gruyter, Berlin New York, pp 171-177
- Perneczky A, Knosp E, Czech Th (1987) Para- and infraclinoidal aneurysms. Anatomy, surgical technique and report on 22 cases. In: Dolenc V (ed) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 252-271
- 9. Sekhar LN, Schramm VL Jr, Jones NF, Yonas H, Horton J, Latchaw RE, Curtin H (1986) Operative exposure and management of the petrous and upper cervical internal carotid artery. Neurosurgery 6:967-982
- 10. Umansky F, Nathan H (1982) The lateral wall of the cavernous sinus. With special reference to the nerves related to it. J Neurosurg 56:228-234

# A Combined Transsylvian-Subtemporal Approach for Management of Tumors Located in the Cavernous Sinus and in Meckel's Cave

# H. Bertalanffy, H. R. Eggert, R. Scheremet, and W. Seeger

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Freiburg, Hugstetter Straße 55, D-7800 Freiburg i. Br.

# Introduction

Tumors confined to the cavernous sinus and Meckel's cave are of different entities and can have a varied clinical presentation [1]. The most common tumors in this area are meningiomas and neurinomas. The exact location and relation to surrounding structures can be sufficiently determined by computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. Various techniques and approaches for the surgical removal of such space-occupying lesions have been presented and described by a number of authors [4,9,10,12].

Normal and pathological anatomies of the parasellar region have been extensively studied and described [9,11,13,14,16,17]. In our institution tumors of the parasellar region are usually removed using either a standard pterional approach [18] or a standard subtemporal approach [6].

Large tumors often require extensive brain retraction. Postoperative complications (e.g., hemiparesis, aphasia) due to compression of the temporal lobe and the peduncle or due to interruption of significant temporal bridging veins are known from the literature [5] and were also observed in our own series [7].

Retraction of the medial part of the temporal lobe during a pterional (transsylvian) procedure can be limited in cases where the temporal lobe is fixed to the sphenoid wing by superficial sylvian veins.

To avoid these postoperative complications and to achieve an adequate view of large tumors originating in or invading the cavernous sinus and Meckel's cave, it seemed appropriate to use a combined transsylvian-subtemporal route which DRAKE suggested [6] for basilar aneurysm surgery.

# Clinical Material

Between September 1982 and March 1988, 74 patients who were admitted to the Neurosurgical Department, University of Freiburg, underwent surgical removal of space-occupying lesions of the medial skull base (Table 1). In 10 cases the combined transsylvian-subtemporal approach was applied. These patients included five females and five males, whose ages ranged from 9 to 65 years.

Preoperative symptoms and signs, tumor location, pathological entities, and postoperative complications are listed in Table 2.

158 Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol. 17 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989 Table 1. Pathological entities and operative approaches in 74 patients with tumors related to the cavernous sinus and/or Meckel's cave

	Pterional approach	Subtemporal approach	Combined approach
Meningioma	29	11	5
Neurinoma	8	3	1
Epidermoid	5	1	2
Pituitary adenoma	4		1
Metastasis	1	1	
Hemangioma		1	
Chordoma			1
Total	47	17	10

#### Surgical Procedure

A standard pterional craniotomy [18] is performed with the following modifications: the patient's head is turned sidewards so that the squamous portion of the temporal bone forms an angle of approximately 30° with the horizontal plane; the skin incision is extended back-wards 3-4 cm behind the hair line to expose a larger portion of the temporal bone; the temporal muscle is incised down to the zygomatic arch, which will also be exposed; the craniotomy is extended to the floor of the middle cranial fossa by removal of the anterior temporal squama to the external auditory canal [6].

The dura is opened in the standard manner. The arachnoid of the sylvian fissure is opened and the fissure is split. By retracting the frontal lobe, optic nerve and carotid artery are exposed and cerebrospinal fluid is aspirated continuously from basal cisterns. Dissection is carried out along the tentorial edge by separating the oculomotor nerve from the tip of the uncus and the crus. If necessary, intraoperative spinal drainage, hyperventilation, and intravenous mannitol can be applied to reduce brain bulk. After the temporobasal dura has been opened, the temporal lobe is gently elevated with special attention given to the temporobasal veins. The previous separation of temporomedial structures from the crus, as well as the early CSF drainage, facilitates the elevation of the temporal lobe without significant compression of the midbrain. Intradural tumor removal is then carried out in the usual way.

#### Results

In five cases the tumors originated in Meckel's cave and/or in the cavernous sinus (Table 2). The preoperative CT scan of a representative case is shown in Fig. 1.

Two patients each had a large temporomedial epidermoid which spread across the basal surface of the brain and reached as far as the basal cisterns and the posterior fossa. In one patient the tentorium was incised along the petrosal rim, opening a wide surgical field and permitting the removal of the infratentorial part of the epidermoid.

gns Postoperative complications	I	alsy Complete VIth nerve palsy; trigeminal sensory loss	Transient IIIrd nerve palsy surgically removed epidural	hematoma on 2nd postop. day ılsy IIIrd nerve palsy increased	.ves	al Transient IIIrd nerve palsy	al Transient IIIrd nerve palsy; transient hemiparesis	the Transient IIIrd nerve palsy: Y	nerve Transient aphasia; IIIrd nerve palsy increased	Permanent IIIrd nerve palsy ch
Initial symptoms and si	Generalized seizures; n	neurological deficit Incomplete VIth nerve p	Continuous facial pain; trigeminal sensory loss	IIIrd and VIth nerve pa	Incomplete palsy of ner III through VII	Seizures; no neurologic deficit	Seizures; no neurologic deficit	Diplopia; numbness of t face; trigeminal sensor	Ioss IIIrd, IVth, and VIth n nalsv	Visual deterioration; dementia; VIth and VIIt nerve palsy
Pathology	Chordoma	Meningioma	Malignant trigeminal	neurinoma Pituitary adenoma	Meningioma	Epidermoid	Epidermoid	Meningioma	Meningioma	Meningioma
Location of tumor	Meckel's cave	Cavernous sinus	Meckel's cave	Cavernous sinus	Meckel's cave	Cisterna	cisterna cisterna ambiens;	post. fossa Tentorial fold	Tentorial fold	Tentorial fold; posterior fossa
Age/ sex	m/6	19/f	45/m	46/f	53/m	27/m	46/m	43/f	56/f	65/f
Case No.		1 7	ŝ	4	2	φ	٢	ω	6	10

Table 2. Clinical data of patients with combined approach



Fig. 1. Preoperative CT scan of case No. 3 (Table 2)

Three patients had large meningiomas arising from the tentorial fold, invading the cavernous sinus and/or Meckel's cave, and extending to the suprasellar region and to the posterior fossa.

Almost complete tumor removal was achieved in seven cases. Three patients with meningioma required a second operation later on, in which a suboccipital approach was taken to remove large infratentorial parts of the tumor. There was no mortality in this series.

### Discussion

Most tumors related to the cavernous sinus and to Meckel's cave are accessible via a subtemporal as well as a transsylvian route. The surgical approach depends upon the extent of the tumor as determined by the preoperative diagnostic studies.

KAWASE et al. [10] used a transzygomatic approach to large meningiomas around the cavernous sinus and extending into the orbit. They removed meningiomas arising from clivus or anterior pyramidal bone through a transpetrosal approach. Large frontotemporosphenoid meningiomas were removed using the orbitofrontomolar approach associated with bone reconstruction [12].

Our own previous studies [7] demonstrated that less extensive tumors of the tentorial edge can be removed surgically via a transsylvian route with low morbidity and that the best results were obtained by removing tumors that primarily involved the cavernous sinus.

If the tumor is localized laterally in the peduncle area or extends to the posterior fossa, it can be reached from this approach only by lateral retraction of the uncus, which may cause damage to the sylvian veins. Phlebography is therefore essential prior to surgery to determine the venous drainage pattern of the temporal lobe. However, bony overlap hinders angiography from always supplying sufficient information concerning the venous drainage of the temporal base. The superficial middle cerebral (sylvian) vein shows the greatest variation of all the superficial cerebral vessels [2]. In 84% of cases this vein drains into the sphenoparietal and/or paracavernous sinus [9]. According to our anatomical study in 81 cadaveric specimens [15], bridging veins between temporal lobe and middle cerebral fossa are present in 96%. These veins may restrict elevation of the temporal lobe. Insufficient visualization of the rostral part of the cisterna ambiens constitutes another disadvantage of the subtemporal approach.

The combination of pterional and subtemporal craniotomy was first described by DRAKE [6] for a combined approach to the anterior circle of Willis and the basilar bifurcation region. DOLENC used a similar combined approach with additional exposure of the intrapetrous part of the ICA for treatment of intracavernous vascular lesions [3], as well as for removal of tumors of the skull base [4].

We chose this combined transsylvian-subtemporal approach on the basis of the following concepts:

- It provides visualization of all anatomical structures in the region of the tentorial fold from two different angles.
- All the anatomical structures in the area can be adequately identified in the surgical field via the shortest route.
- It permits early identification of the oculomotor nerve and perforating vessels of the posterior communicating artery.
- It provides the possibility to take both approaches alternatively.
   Elevation of the temporal lobe is possible without critical compression of the midbrain due to early CSF drainage and prior dissection of medial temporal structures through the sylvian fissure.
- Significant temporal bridging veins can be preserved, even in cases with large tumors.
- Postoperative complications due to compression of the temporal lobe and/or the peduncle, as well as due to venous damage, are avoided.
- If necessary, the approach can be extended to the posterior fossa by splitting the tentorium parallel to the petrous bone.

The surgical results in this small series were satisfactory. There were no major complications such as injury of important temporal bridging veins - the vein of Labbé or sylvian veins, for example. In case 7, however, two smaller temporobasal bridging veins had to be occluded, which was probably the cause of a transient postoperative hemiparesis.

Fixation of the temporal lobe to the sphenoid wing by sylvian veins proved to be of no disadvantage in these cases due to sufficient tumor exposure on each side of the veins (sylvian and subtemporal).

In most of these cases postoperative complications consisted of impairment of the third cranial nerve. Functional disturbance of the masseter and temporal muscle following the procedure was observed in one patient.

### Summary

A combined transsylvian-subtemporal approach to the medial skull base is presented and discussed. The purpose of this approach is to reduce compression of the temporal lobe and midbrain, as well as to preserve the sylvian veins. Our experience in ten patients showed several advantages compared with pterional (transsylvian) and subtemporal approach.

### References

- Beck DW, Menezes AH (1987) Lesions in Meckel's cave: variable presentation and pathology. J Neurosurg 67:684-689
   Capra NF, Anderson KV (1984) Anatomy of the cerebral venous
- Capra NF, Anderson KV (1984) Anatomy of the cerebral venous system. In: Kapp JP, Schmidek HH (eds) The cerebral venous system and its disorders. Grune & Stratton, Inc., Orlando, pp 1-36
- 3. Dolenc VV (1983) Direct microsurgical repair of intracavernous vascular lesions. J Neurosurg 58:824-831
- 4. Dolenc VV (1987) Treatment of tumors invading the cavernous sinus. In: Dolenc VV (ed) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 377-391
- 5. Drake CG (1968) Further experience with surgical treatment of aneurysms of the basilar artery. J Neurosurg 29:372-392
- 6. Drake CG (1978) The treatment of aneurysms of the posterior circulation. Clin Neurosurg 26:96-144
- 7. Eggert HR, Gilsbach JM (1985) Cranial nerve lesions following operations on tumors of the tentorial edge. In: Dietz H, Brock M, Klinger M (eds) Advances in neurosurgery, Vol 13. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 195-202
- Hacker H (1974) Normal supratentorial veins and dural sinuses. In: Newton TH, Potts DG (eds) Radiology of the skull and brain. The C.V. Mosby Comp., St. Louis, pp 1851-1877
- 9. Kapila A, Chakeres DW, Blanco E (1984) The Meckel cave: computed tomographic study. Radiology 152:425-433
- 10. Kawase T, Toya S, Shiobara R, Kimura C, Nakajima H (1987) Skull base approaches for meningiomas invading the cavernous sinus. In: Dolenc VV (ed) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 346-354
- 11. Lang J (1985) Anatomy of the tentorial margin. In: Dietz H, Brock M, Klinger M (eds) Advances in neurosurgery, Vol 13, Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 173-182
- Lesoin F, Pellerin P, Dhellemmas P, Jomin M (1987) Usefulness of the orbitofrontomolar approach associated with bone reconstruction for frontotemporosphenoid meningiomas. In: Dolenc VV (ed) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 332-340
   Parkinson D (1965) A surgical approach to the cavernous portion
- Parkinson D (1965) A surgical approach to the cavernous portion of the carotid artery. Anatomical studies and case report. J Neurosurg 25:474-483
- 14. Rhoton AL, Hardy DG, Chambers SM (1979) Microsurgical anatomy and dissection of the sphenoid bone, cavernous sinus and sellar region. Surg Neurol 12:63-104
- 15. Scheremet R (1984) Zur Topografie der Brückenvenen im Bereich des Temporallappens. M.D. Thesis, University of Freiburg
- 16. Taptas JN (1982) The so-called cavernous sinus: a review of the controversy and its implications for neurosurgeons. Neurosurgery 11:712-717
- 17. Umansky F, Nathan H (1982) The lateral wall of the cavernous sinus. With special reference to the nerves related to it. J Neurosurg 56:228-234
- 18. Yasargil MG, Antic J, Laciga R, Jain KK, Hodosh RM, Smith RD (1976) Microsurgical pterional approach to aneurysms of the basilar bifurcation. Surg Neurol 6:83-91
- 19. Yasargil MG, Fox JL, Ray MW (1975) The operative approach to aneurysms of the anterior communicating artery. In: Krayenbühl H (ed) Advances and technical standards in neurosurgery, Vol 2. Springer, New York Wien, pp 113-128

# Microsurgical Resection of Tumors Involving the Cavernous Sinus: Possibilities and Limitations<sup>1</sup>

# K. von Wild and N. Eskinja

Neurochirurgische Abteilung, Clemenshospital GmbH, Akademisches Lehrkrankenhaus der Westf. Wilhelms-Universität Münster, Düsbergweg 124, D-4400 Münster

# Introduction

Thanks to the deeper insight into the topography of the cavernous sinus (CS) and sellar region provided by modern diagnostic procedures [2,12,24,35,38], and on the basis of our growing experience in the operative management of pathological lesions in the region of the tentorial notch [6-9,31,33,39], we were encouraged to treat 28 tumors invading the CS more aggressively by a direct microsurgical approach from different sides, in some cases via combined approaches in two stages.

# Patients, Operative Treatment, and Results

Since March 1983, 25 patients have undergone a direct surgical approach to the CS because of tumor pathology. Their age ranged from 28 to 56 years. There were 9 meningiomas (Fig. 1), 16 pituitary adenomas (Fig. 2), 2 malignant tumors (Fig. 3) of the skull base, and 1 fibrous dysplasia. Our cases are listed in Table 1 in respect to the type and extent of the tumor, the operative approaches, and the tumor removal. There was only one meningioma that originated primarily inside the CS (Fig. 1). Tumor invasion into the CS depended on tumor sites at the base, e.g., sellar and parasellar region, sphenoid ridge, petrous apex, and tentorial edge. Different operative approaches were chosen in this respect so as to avoid brain damage and injury to the neurovascular structures outside and inside the CS.

Pituitary adenomas with parasellar invasion of the CS were approached in cooperation with the ENT surgeon in one stage via the transnasal, transsphenoidal, transsellar route (Fig. 2), avoiding infrasellar lateral tumor resection in the inferior-anterior part of the CS because of limited space and view, or via the subfrontal and pterional route, as well as in two stages from inferior and superior.

In 6 cases of subtemporal approach to petrous apex meningiomas the tentorium was partially resected with preservation of the IVth cranial nerve in all but one case, where the recurrent meningioma had invaded the CS along the sheaths of the IIIrd and IVth nerves.

 $<sup>^{</sup>m l}$  Dedicated to Prof. Dr. J. Lang on the occasion of his 65th birthday.

<sup>164</sup> Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989



Fig. 1. Nuclear magnetic resonance image of intracavernous meningioma with tumor invasion into the hypophyseal region and suprasellar extension. Notice intracavernous ICA surrounded by tumor tissue 3 years after subtotal tumor removal via the subtemporal lateral approach and radiosurgery of residual intracavernous tumor 1 year later. Postoperative contrast CCT scan in coronary sections 4 weeks after the Dolenc approach demonstrates total removal of the tumor with preservation of the ICA and the IIIrd cranial nerves

The opening of the CS followed microsurgical anatomy:

Inferior medial: seven adenomas, one ICA injury and secondary occlusion due to a false aneurysm after 10 days because of previous chronic parasellar inflammation of the paravascular area Anterior lateral after resection of the orbital roof and anterior clinoid process with control of extradural and subarachnoid ICA; two cases; one ICA injury, ICA patent after temporary clipping



Fig. 2. Postoperative CCT scan of a giant invasive pituitary adenoma with parasellar extension into the left CS and middle cranial fossa as well as supra- and intrasellar tumor growth, which was treated first by the combined transethmoidal-transsphenoidal approach to deal with CSF leakage, and then by the left pterional medial approach with total removal of the tumor, as demonstrated by the postoperative CT scan



Fig. 3. Pre- and postoperative CT scans in coronal sections of a 55-year-old man with metastatic carcinoma of the left temporal and infratemporal region and invasion of the CS and V 1, 2, and 3 compression causing neuralgic facial pain. Tumor removal was limited because of malignancy; residual tumor tissue was left to ensure preservation of the ICA and the IIIrd and IVth cranial nerves. Plastic reconstruction was undertaken with a muscle flap and free epidermis transplant

Anterior medial via the "medial triangle" of HAKUBA (1982); subchiasmatic transsellar or opticocarotid following along adenoma tissue invasion Lateral via "Parkinson's triangular space" (1965) Lateral inferior when V 2 and 3 were displaced in cases of metastatic carcinoma, malignant meningioma, or fibrous dysplasia Dorsal superior via the "oculomotor trigone" (ONO et al. 1984) in cases of giant adenoma and meningioma of the diaphragma sellae

Total removal was accomplished in 13 of 28 tumors invading the CS. Postoperative computerized tomography (CT) and/or magnetic resonance tomography (MRT), follow-up examinations, and hormone measurements (Fig. 2) demonstrated the tumors in question to be 9 pituitary adenomas and 4 meningiomas.

Only subtotal removal could be achieved in 5 meningiomas because of tumor tissue surrounding the intracavernous ICA, with one ICA injury and temporary clipping during the subtemporal approach, or because of limited space and view in the anterior part of the CS and in respect of tumor malignancy. In two cases resection was limited to preserve the function of the IIIrd cranial nerve (Figs. 1, 3).

Pituitary adenoma resection was subtotal in 7 of 16 cases. There was one invasion of the base, in which intraoperative injury of the ICA occurred. In two hormone-secreting adenomas some tissue had to be left inside the CS because of limited transsphenoidal space and view, although growth hormone levels were brought down to less than 10 ng/ml in one, while in the other serum prolactin levels were in the normal range under dopamine agonist medication. In 4 giant adenomas resections were incomplete because of limited space and view within the CS via the lateral subtemporal and anterior subfrontal approaches. At admission cranial nerve disturbances due to meningiomas

Tumor type	No. of cases	Extent of tumor	Cavernous sinus operation
Meningiomas	1 2 1	Intracavernous, middle fossa Petrous apex, tentorial notch Petrous apex tentorial edge	Pterional- subtemporal lateral subtotal Two stage suboccipital- subtemporal, dorsal total Subtemporal, lateral total
Recurrent meningiomas	1 1 1 2	Intracavernous, intrasellar, tentorial edge Medial sphenoid wing, middle fossa Petrous apex, tentorial edge Diaphragma sellae, tentorial edge petroclival area	Dolenc-approach fronto- subtemporal, anterior lateral patent ICA subtotal Pterional, anterior-lateral patent ICA, subtotal Pterional-subtemporal dorsal lateral total Pterional-subtemporal dorsal-medial 1 total dorsal-lateral 1 subtotal
Pituitary adenomas	5	Intra-,para-,supra- sellar and infrasellar	Bilateral subfrontal, medial 1 case total subfrontal, opticocarotid, medial 2 cases total pterional, lateral 2 cases subtotal Transethmoidal-transphe- noidal, inferior-medial, occlusion of ICA, 2 sub- total transnasal-transphe- noidal inferior-medial, 3 total
Recurrent adenomas	2 1 1 2	Intra-parasellar Intra-,supra-,para- sellar and infra- sellar Intra-,para- and suprasellar	Transsphenoidal 1 total Two stage transethmoidal- transsphenoidal and pterio- nal with inferior-medial, superior opticocarotid and lateral approach total Subfrontal, opticocarotid medial subtotal pterional, lateral 1 total l subtotal
Fibrous dysplasia	1	Sphenoid, temporal, petrous bones and zygomatic	Orbitozygomatico-subtempo- ral, anterior subtotal
Malignant meningioma	1	Medial sphenoid wing, infratemporal and middle fossae	Two stage embolization and orbito-pterional, anterior and lateral subtotal
Carcinoma metastasis	1	Sphenoid wing, middle and infra- temporal fossae	Orbitozygomatico-subtempo- ral, inferior lateral an- terior subtotal

Table 1. Tumors invading the cavernous sinus

were present as follows: isolated VIth nerve palsy in intracavernous meningioma; neuralgic facial pain and numbness of V l in one and of V 2 and 3 in two meningiomas of the petrous apex; numbness of V l-3 in both malignant tumors, one of them part of a complete ophthalmoplegia. Extension of adenomas into the tentorial notch caused IIIrd nerve paresis in six, in two cases combined with IVth and VIth nerve involvement. Optic nerve compression was evident in all suprasellar adenomas, and in two medial sphenoid wings and one diaphragma sellae.

Follow-up findings demonstrated the following cranial nerve lesions: In the case of complete removal of meningiomas: V l same as before in one; additional V l numbness in one; IVth nerve palsy in one; incomplete IIIrd nerve paresis in one recurrent tumor. In the case of subtotal removal of malignant meningiomas: VIth cranial nerve same as before with additional V l palsy; ophthalmoplegia following anterior lateral approach, although the IIIrd and IVth nerves and V 2 and 3 (Fig. 1) were preserved. In a case of recurrent diaphragma sellae meningioma there was incomplete IIIrd and IVth nerve palsy on the left, and after a second approach l year later, partial injury of the IIIrd nerve on the right. Partial injury of V 1-3 occurred in metastatic carcinoma (Fig. 3).

In 4 giant adenomas IIIrd nerve paresis remained unchanged, but it recovered partially in the case of ICA injury. In a case of partial intraoperative injury to Nn. III, IV, V 1, and VI, the IIIrd and IVth nerves showed partial recovery after total tumor removal (Fig. 2).

There were no postoperative deaths; however, one patient died because of myocardial infarction and pulmonary complications 5 months after transsphenoidal surgery with injury of the ICA.

Postoperative extracranial irradiation has not been a routine procedure in either total or subtotal removal except for malignancies. However, radiosurgery was carried out by Prof. Steiner in a case of primarily intracavernous meningioma with further tumor progression.

Illustrative Cases

### Invasive Pituitary Adenoma

A 43-year-old woman presented with giant adenoma invading the base and left CS, residual right hemiparesis, paresis of the IIIrd, IVth, and VIth nerves, and impaired visual acuity 2 years after partial removal of the tumor via a left frontotemporal approach. Postoperative irritation and meningitis occurred secondary to CSF leakage, with surgical occlusion of the fistula by an ENT surgeon in another clinic. The tumor was completely resected in two stages via a comextradural (Prof. W. Draf, Fulda) bined ENT-neurosurgical, transethmoidal-transsphenoidal approach on 09.07.84 and an intradural pterional approach on 30.01.85 with superior medial transsellar, opticocarotid, and dorsal-superior opening of the CS for tumor removal with injury of Nn. V l and VI. The postoperative course was uneventful, with recovery of full capacity.

### Intracavernous Meningioma

A 28-year-old woman was admitted because of a 5-year history of headaches and intermittent double vision that had worsened during pregnancy and menstruation. There was partial paresis of the IVth nerve with numbness of V 1 and 2. CCT and angiography demonstrated a typical meningioma of the right CS extending into the middle fossa. After subtotal removal via a right pterional-subtemporal indural approach on 25.03.85, there was injury of V 1 with partial numbness of V 2 and 3, and preservation of the IIIrd and IVth nerves. In May 1986 radiosurgery was performed by Prof. L. Steiner, Stockholm. After 1 year tumor progression occurred with intra- and suprasellar tumor extension. On 18.03.1988 Dolenc (Ljubljana) and the senior author approached the tumor extra-intradurally with total removal of the intracavernous and intrasellar tumor mass (Fig. 1). The intracavernous ICA was injured but kept patent after temporary clipping; the IIIrd and IVth nerves were preserved. The postoperative course was uneventful.

### Discussion

Despite the many studies of the anatomy of the parasellar space [19, 21,23,24,32,35,46,47,49], a definite topographical description of the region remains necessary [47]. The anatomy and topography of the CS and its neurovascular structures, including anatomical variants, are described elsewhere in detail [12,15,19,23,24,35].

Tumors originating outside the CS with secondary invasion of the CS most commonly arise from parasellar structures and the hypophyseal region. Tumors originating primarily inside the CS are rare. Because of the arachnoid network inside the CS and the intracavernous intrasellar venous connection [21,49], tumors may cross from one side to the other and may follow the dural sheaths along the IIIrd, to VIth cranial nerves into the CS [48]. Therefore total removal of tumors invading the base is hardly possible. Because radical excision in the region of CS has its limitations when the ICA and IIIrd nerve should be preserved, the neurosurgeon has to focus his efforts on tumor mass reduction without damaging functionally important neurovascular structures in this area.

However, based on recent anatomical studies which have given a better insight into CS topography, and microsurgical experience with dif-ferent approaches, a number of tumors now can be completely excised without additional severe injury [1,3,10,22,25,26,28,39,40). This was possible in as many as two-thirds of 63 cases in the DOLENC (1987) series via a direct extra-intradural, anterior lateral approach. SEKHAR and MOLLER (1986) reported on total removal of six of seven tumors involving the CS by a lateral, superior, or inferior approach, with temporary clipping and suture of ICA in one patient. LESOIN et al. [27,29] have preferred to approach intracavernous tumors via the pterional route together with an orbitozygomaticomolar flap and have achieved extensive though incomplete resection in 18 of 21 cases. KAWASE et al. (1987) advocate the transzygomatic approach for orbitcranial boundary tumors, and have achieved total removal in 5 of 7 cases. Moreover, these authors used a transpetrosal approach in 12 patients and removed two clival meningiomas invading the CS totally via this route [22,42]. CIOTTI et al. (1987) reported on 11 subtotal and one total removal of CS meningiomas with postoperative radiotherapy for the partially resected tumors. In the case of large lateral and posterior cranial base neoplasms invading the CS, SEKHAR et al. [41] described a subtemporal-preauricular infratemporal fossa approach that may be combined with an extradural transethmoidal or an intradural frontotemporal or retromastoid approach.

GUIOT and DEROME [16], like JEFFERSON [20], thought certain forms of invasion by adenomas, for example of the CS, to be inaccessible via the inferior medial approach [18]. SEKHAR et al. (1987) did not recommend transsphenoidal approaches for CS-invading tumors because of inadequate exposure, poor proximal and distal control of the ICA, and the danger of CSF leakage.

From our experience we can say that in the case of soft adenomas, tumor tissue can easily be sucked out of the CS, whereas inflammatory tissue contains a high risk of vascular lesion, especially when the medial wall of the CS is destroyed, as happened in a case of erosion of the bone of the sphenoid sinus where the ICA was bulging into it [12,15,24].

Intracavernous meningiomas and craniopharyngiomas are usually very hard to remove due to their type and because they are mixed with the trabeculated network; an ultrasonic surgical aspirator can be helpful but may be dangerous next to the carotid wall. The abducens nerve, running freely in the CS, was found to be most vulnerable, whereas the ophthalmic nerve more often than the V 2 and 3 branches may be sacrificed in order to obtain better access for tumor removal. Intraoperative extracranial monitoring of cranial nerves II through VIII has proven helpful in locating them during microdissection [40,41], as has been described for the ICA with the aid of Doppler sonography [14].

Inside the CS venous bleeding because of tumor infiltration was rare and could be easily controlled by packing with Surgicel. Because tumors surrounding the intracavernous ICA may erode the arterial wall, especially in the case of an inflammatory process, the slightest operative trauma can bring about rupture of the artery. We advocate leaving a part of tumor on the wall in such cases.

Intracavernous tumor surgery is limited because of its duration, which is why it has to be restricted to younger patients, and because of preservation of neurovascular structures that are involved by the tumor. Therefore the question of whether to perform radical tumor excision may involve consideration of the quality of life.

Postoperative radiation therapy for incompletely resected meningiomas and invasive pituitary adenomas is recommended today [4,5,11,13,16, 20,25,36,42,44,45,50] but the number of cases and follow-up period in meningiomas is still too limited to draw final conclusions. Moreover the most important limiting factor in radiation therapy for subtotal resected tumors invading the CS remains the vulnerability to radiation of the surrounding brain, even in radiosurgery [45].

### References

- 1. Beck DW, Menezes AH (1987) Lesions in Meckel's cave: variable presentation and pathology, J. Neurosurg 67:684-689
- Brassier G, Lasjaunias P, Guegan Y, Pecker J (1987) Mircosurgical anatomy of collateral branches of the intracavernous internal carotid artery. In: Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus, Springer, Wien New York, pp 81-103
- Butti G, Gaetani P, Giordana MT, Paoletti P (1983) Meningiomas of Meckel's cave. Surg Neurol 20:305-309

- 4. Carella RJ, Ransohoff J, Newall J (1982) Role of radiation therapy in the management of meningioma. Neurosurgery 10:332-339
- 5. Cioffi FA, Bernini FP, Punzo A, Natale M, Muras I (1987) Cavernous sinus meningiomas. Neurochirurgia 30:40-47
- Dolenc VV (1979) Microsurgical removal of large sphenoidal bone meningiomas. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 28:393-401
- 7. Dolenc VV (1983) Direct microsurgical repair of intracavernous vascular lesions. J Neurosurg 58:824-831
- 8. Dolenc VV (1985) A combined epi- and subdural direct approach to carotidophthalmic artery aneurysms. J Neurosurg 62:667-672
- 9. Dolenc  $\overline{VV}$ , Skrap M, Sustersic J, Skrbec M, Morina A (1987) A transcavernous-transsellar approach to the basilar tip aneurysms. Br J Neurosurg 1:251-259
- 10. Dolenc VV, Kregar T, Ferluga M, Fettich M, Morina A (1987) Treatment of tumors invading the cavernous sinus. In: Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 377-391
- 11. Effenterre R van, Bataini JP, Cabanis EA, Iba-Zizen MT (1979) High energy radiotherapy in the treatment of meningiomas of the cavernous sinus. Acta Neurochir 28:464-467
- Fujii K, Chambers SM, Rhoton AL (1979) Neurovascular relationships of the sphenoid sinus. J Neurosurg 50:31-39
- 13. Fukui M, Kitamura K, Nakagaki H, Yamakawa Y, Kinoshita K, Hayabuchi N, Jingu K, Numaguchi Y, Matsuura K, Watanabe K (1980) Irradiated meningiomas: a clinical evaluation. Acta Neurochir 54:33-43
- 14. Gilsbach JM (1983) Intraoperative Doppler sonography in neurosurgery. Springer, Wien New York
- 15. Grisoli F, Vincentelli F, Henry JF, Thomassin JM (1982) Anatomical bases for the transsphenoidal approach to the pituitary gland. Anat Clin 3:207-220
- 16. Guiot G, Derome P (1976) Surgical problems of pituitary adenomas. In: Krayenbühl H. et al (eds) Advances and technical standards in neurosurgery vol. 3. Springer, Wien New York, pp 1-33
- 17. Hakuba A, Matsuoka Y, Suzuki T, Komiyama M, Jin TB, Inoue Y (1987) Direct approaches to vascular lesions in the cavernous sinus via the medial triangle. In Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 272-284
- 18. Hardy J, Wigser SM (1965) Transsphenoidal surgery of pituitary fossa tumors with televised radiofluoroscopic control. J Neurosurg 23:612-620
- 19. Harris FS, Rhoton AL (1976) Anatomy of the cavernous sinus. A microsurgical study. J Neurosurg 45:169-180
- 20. Jefferson G (1955) The invasive adenomas of the anterior pituitary. Liverpool, University Press
- 21. Kaplan HA, Browder J, Krieger AJ (1976) Intercavernous connections of the carvernous sinuses. J Neurosurg 45:166-168
- 22. Kawase T, Toya S, Shiobara R, Kimura C, Nakajima H (1987) Skull base approaches for meningiomas invading the cavernous sinus. In: Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 346-354
- 23. Knosp E, Müller G, Perneczky A (1987) The blood supply of the cranial nerves in the lateral wall of the cavernous sinus. In: Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 67-80
- 24. Lang J (1985) Hypophyseal region anatomy of the operative approaches. Neurosurg Rev 8:93-124
- 25. Lesoin F, Jomin M, Bouchez B, Duret MH, Clarisse J, Arnott G, Pellerin P, Francois P (1985) Management of cavernous sinus meningiomas. Acta Neurochir 28:195-198
- 26. Lesoin F, Jomin M (1987) Direct microsurgical approach to intracavernous tumors. Surg Neurol 28:17-22

- 27. Lesoin F, Autricque A, Villette L, Franz K, Jomin M, Pellerin P (1987) The antero-external approach to the internal carotid artery at the base of the skull and intrapetrously. In: Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 311-319
- 28. Lesoin F, Pellerin P, Autricque A, Clarisse J, Jomin M (1987) The direct microsurgical approach to intracavernous tumors. In: Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 323-331
- 29. Lesoin F, Franz K, Pellerin P, Villette L, Autricque A, Jomin M (1987) An orbitozygomaticomalar bone flap approach: a technical note. In: Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 341-345
- 30. MacKay A, Hosobuchi Y (1978) Treatment of intracavernous exten-
- sions of pituitary adenomas. Surg Neurol 10:377-383
  31. Ono M, Ono M, Rhoton AL, Barry M (1984) Microsurgical anatomy of the region of the tentorial incisura. J Neurosurg 60:365-399
- 32. Parkinson D (1965) A surgical approach to the cavernous portion of the carotid artery. J Neurosurg 23:474-483
- 33. Parkinson D (1973) Carotid cavernous fistula: direct repair with preservation of the carotid artery. J Neurosurg 38:99-106
- 34. Parkinson D (1987) Carotid cavernous fistula. History and anatomy. In: Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 3-29
- 35. Paullus WS, Pait TG, Rhoton AL (1977) Microsurgical exposure of the petrous portion of the carotid artery. J Neurosurg 47:713-726
- 36. Petty AM, Kun LE, Meyer GA (1985) Radiation therapy for incompletely resected meningiomas. J Neurosurg 62:502-507
- 37. Renn WH, Rhoton AL (1975) Microsurgical anatomy of the sellar region. J Neurosurg 43:288-298
- 38. Rhoton AL, Hardy DG, Chambers SM (1979) Microsurgical anatomy and dissection of the sphenoid bone, cavernous sinus and sellar region. Surg Neurol 12:63-104
- 39. Samii M, Wild v. K (1981) Operative treatment of lesions in the region of the tentorial notch. Neurosurg Rev 4:3-10
- 40. Sekhar LN, Moller AR (1986) Operative management of tumors involving the cavernous sinus. J Neurosurg 64:879-889
  41. Sekhar LN, Schramm VL, Jones NF (1987) Subtemporal-preauricular
- infratemporal fossa approach to large lateral and posterior cranial base neoplasms. J Neurosurg 67:488-499
- 42. Shibata S, Mori K (1987) Effect of radiation therapy on extracerebral cavernous hemangioma in the middle fossa. J Neurosurg 67:919-922
- 43. Shiobara R, Ohira T, Kanzaki J, Toya S (1988) A modified extended middle cranial fossa approach for acoustic nerve tumors. J Neurosurg 68:358-365
- 44. Symon L, Jakubowski (1979) Clinical features, technical problems, and results of treatment of anterior parasellar meningiomas. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 28:367-370
- 45. Steiner (1982) Radiosurgery in intracranial tumour and L arteriovenous malformations in children. In: Voth D, Gutjahr P, Langmaid C (eds) Tumours of the central nervous system in infancy and childhood. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 315-324
- 46. Taptas JN (1982) The so-called cavernous sinus: a review of the controversy and its implications for neurosurgeons. Neurosurgery 11:712-717
- 47. Taptas JN (1987) Must we still call cavernous sinus the parasellar vascular and nervous crossroads? The necessity of a definite topographical description of the region. In: Dolenc VV (eds) The cavernous sinus. Springer, Wien New York, pp 30-40
- 48. Tsuha M, Aoki H, Okamura T (1987) Roentgenological investigation of cavernous sinus structure with special reference to paracavernous cranial nerves. Neuroradiology 29:462-467
- 49. Umansky F, Nathan H (1982) The lateral wall of the cavernous sinus. J Neurosurg 56:228-234
  50. Yamashita J, Handa H, Iwaki K, Abe M (1980) Recurrence of intracranial meningiomas, with special reference to radiotherapy. Surg Neurol 14:33-40

# Anesthesia-Independent Facial Nerve Monitoring with Orthodromic Intra/Extracranial Neurography

U. D. Schmid, H. J. Reulen, R. W. Seiler, M. Sturzenegger, and H. P. Ludin Neurochirurgische Klinik, Inselspital Bern, CH-3010 Bern

## Introduction

Electromyographic [1-4] recording from the facial muscles after intracisternal electrostimulation or mechanical irritation of the nerve is becoming increasingly common for the identification and functional testing of the facial nerve during cerebellopontine angle surgery. Institutions which use anesthesia with muscle relaxants have introduced neurographic recording techniques such as antidromic [5] or orthodromic [6] neurography, because the effect of muscle relaxants can impair the reliability of muscle recordings. This report describes our experience with 31 consecutive cases of cerebellopontine angle surgery in which orthodromic neurography was applied for the electrophysiological localization and functional testing of the facial nerve.

#### Material and Methods

Surgery was performed in 31 patients aged between 22 and 78 years (mean: 52 years) for removal of cerebellopontine angle tumors (18 neurinomas, eight meningiomas, one epidermoid tumor) or, for micro-vascular decompression (two cases of trigeminal neuralgia and one of hemifacial spasm); in one case exploration was negative. The diameter of the tumors ranged from 1 to 7 cm (mean: 3.3 cm).

For facial nerve recording, a 3-cm conventional neurography needle was inserted into the stylomastoid segment of the facial nerve. After exposure and during removal of the tumor, the facial nerve was stimulated repeatedly with threshold stimuli, observing the nerve compound action potential on-line on the oscilloscope. In this fashion, tumor areas without recordable facial CAP could be safely removed.

Threshold stimuli were also used for measurements of latencies and amplitudes after stimulation of various intracisternal segments of the facial nerve. Latencies were measured at the peak of the first positive potential deflection, and amplitudes were assessed by peakto-peak measurement of the first positive-negative potential deflection of the CAP. The use of suprathreshold stimulus intensities increased the risk of stimulating more distant sites of the facial nerve by current loops.



Fig. 1. Orthodromic intra-extracranial facial nerve action potential before relaxation (upper trace, amplification 100  $\mu$ V/unit) and after relaxation (lower trace, 10 $\mu$ V/unit); time base 1 ms/unit. Stimulation site was the intracisternal segment of the facial nerve; recording site was the stylomastoid segment of the facial nerve

#### Results

Typical recordings of CAPs of the facial nerve (and - for comparison - a facial muscle) after stimulation of the intracisternal part of the facial nerve are shown in Figs. 1 and 2.

Of the 27 tumors in this series, 25 were removed totally or radically, two subtotally or partially. The facial nerve was preserved in its anatomical continuity in 25 cases, with the nerve as an intact bundle in 17 and split or thinned in eight; the nerve was transected in two cases. After surgery, 20 patients had active voluntary facial movement, with no or only slight facial asymmetry in 16 cases, and with moderate paresis in four. Four patients had severe but subtotal palsy, and three had complete facial palsy; six of these seven cases were acoustic neurinomas 3-5 cm in size, and one was a meningioma.

Prior to the dura closure, all 27 tumor patients had the facial nerve CAP preserved when the nerve was stimulated at its entrance to the internal acoustic meatus; the mean transtemporal latency was 1.34 ms (0.92-1.76 ms), the mean amplitude 99.7  $\mu$ V (18-360  $\mu$ V). When the facial nerve was stimulated near its exit zone from the brain stem, a nerve CAP was recordable in 18 patients and was absent in eight (not assessed: two patients); the mean combined transcisternal/transtem-



Fig. 2. Orthodromic intra-extracranial facial nerve action potential without relaxation, amplification 30  $\mu$ V/unit, time base 1 ms/unit. Stimulation site was the intracisternal segment of the facial nerve; recording site was the stylomastoid segment of the facial nerve (uppertrace) and - for comparison - the orbicularis oris muscle (lower trace)

poral latency was 1.71 ms (1.07-2.28 ms), the mean amplitude 95  $\mu V$  (15-480  $\mu V$ ). Preserved active facial movement was correctly predicted in 15 cases, and was false-negative in two. Subtotal paresis was associated with a negative CAP (stimulation near the brain stem) in four and with a positive CAP in two cases. Both total facial palsies were correctly predicted.

These data indicate that loss of facial nerve function occurred solely by manipulation of the split nerve in the tumor capsule, and not during manipulation of the nerve in the internal acoustic meatus.

#### Discussion

Orthodromic (intra/extracranial) neurography of the facial nerve [6] is a new and straightforward technique of intraoperative facial nerve monitoring. Carried out with the same electrophysiological equipment as evoked potential neuromonitoring, it allows on-line identification of the facial nerve during surgery in the cerebellopontine angle, independently of the status of neuromuscular blockade. Relaxation, part of so-called "balanced" (neuro)anesthesia, facilitates controlled ventilation and avoids coughing [5]; the reduced need for narcotic agents diminishes the risk of arterial hypotension, shortens the postoperative wake-up phase, and increases the accuracy of intraoperative (cortical) evoked potential monitoring [7]. So far, with correct needle placement in the stylomastoid fossa, we have always obtained a facial nerve CAP after stimulation of the intracisternal facial nerve.

The goal of orthodromic neurography is to localize and preserve the facial nerve during tumor dissection. Distinction between tumor tissue and facial nerve fibers was usually possible, one of the factors responsible for the favorable outcome of the patients in the present series. Nevertheless, the fan-shaped nerve fibers sometimes adhered to the tumor capsule in such a fashion that microsurgical dissection was technically impossible, although the nerve had been localized by electrophysiological means.

In rare cases, however, no facial nerve CAP was obtained after stimulating the nerve near its exit zone from the brain stem. This confused the surgeons, especially when the nerve seemed to be anatomically intact. Reasons for this phenomenon may be neurapraxia when severe facial nerve palsy was observed after surgery, and reversible conduction block when the facial nerve function was partially preserved and improved rapidly during the early postoperative period. This reflects one of the important dangers of any electrophysiological monitoring method: Negative stimulation results do not exclude that nerve fibers have been stimulated, nor do they necessarily predict complete loss of postoperative function.

The opposite case, a preserved facial nerve CAP associated with severe facial palsy postoperatively, occurred occasionally. However, if the latency of the CAP following nerve stimulation near the brain stem was similar to the value obtained following stimulation 1-2 cm distally near the meatus, this phenomenon could always be discovered and explained by "current jump" across the nerve lesion. Thus, latency measurements proved that the anatomical and electrical stimulation sites were not necessarily identical in some patients, a fact to be taken into account during assessment of facial nerve function under the narrow and wet anatomical conditions in the cerebellopontine angle. If one used threshold stimuli, and provided that the respective nerves were not in direct contact with the facial nerve, distinction from the caudal cranial, the trigeminal, and the vestibulocochlear nerves was mostly easy. Again, the risk of current jumps could be minimized by the use of threshold stimuli, and comparison of amplitudes or of the stimulus threshold proved helpful.

#### Summary

This report describes our experience in 31 patients with the recently introduced technique of intra/extracranial (orthodromic) neurography of the facial nerve for monitoring facial nerve function during surgery within the cerebellopontine angle. By stimulation of the intracisternal segment of the facial nerve, a compound action potential (CAP) with amplitudes of  $10-480 \ \mu V$  could be recorded extracranially from the nerve near the stylomastoid foramen after 0.92-2.28 ms. Usually there is no need for signal averaging, and the method is independent of the effect of muscle relaxants. The technique is useful for immediate and repeated localization of the facial nerve and its discrimination from the trigeminal and the lower cranial nerves during preparation within the tumor capsule.

Acknowledgment. The authors wish to express their gratitude to the Swiss National Foundation (Nr. 3.884-0.86: "Intraoperative neuromonitoring of motor pathways during surgery in the posterior fossa") for their financial support.

#### References

- Delgado TE, Buchheit WA, Rosenholtz HR, Chrissian S (1979) Intraoperative monitoring of facial muscle evoked responses obtained by intracranial stimulation of the facial nerve: A more accurate technique for facial nerve dissection. Neurosurgery 4(5):418-42
- Harner SG, Ebersold M (1985) Management of acoustic neuromas, 1978-1983. J Neurosurg 63:175-79
- 3. Moeller AR, Jannetta PJ (1984) Preservation of facial function during removal of acoustic neuromas. J Neurosurg 61:757-60
- 4. Prass RL, Lüders H (1986) Acoustic (loudspeaker) facial electromyographic monitoring. Neurosurgery 19:392-400
- 5. Richmond IL, Mahla M (1985) Use of antidromic recording to monitor facial nerve function intraoperatively. Neurosurgery 16:458-62
- Schmid UD, Sturzenegger M, Ludin HP, Seiler RW, Reulen HJ (1988) Orthodromic (intra/extracranial) neurography to monitor facial nerve function intraoperatively. Neurosurgery 22 (5, in press)
   Thurner F, Schramm J, Romstöck J (1985) Effects of Fentanyl and
- 7. Thurner F, Schramm J, Romstöck J (1985) Effects of Fentanyl and enflurane on cortical and subcortical SEP during general anesthesia in man. In: Schramm J, Jones SJ (eds) Spinal cord monitoring. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo

# Clinical Subtyping of Trigeminal Neuralgia and Its Correlation to the Intraoperative Findings and Surgical Results Following Microvascular Decompression

# H.J.Klein, S.A.Rath, and K.Schmidt

Neurochirurgische Abteilung der Universitätsklinik Ulm, Bezirkskrankenhaus Günzburg, Reisenberger Straße 2, D-8870 Günzburg

## Introduction

From the beginning of 1983 through mid-March 1988, 150 microvascular decompressions were performed on a total of 137 patients (13 reoperations). In this period, a different form of treatment for trigeminal neuralgia (thermal coagulation) was adopted only if the patients disagreed with the suboccipital route or if their condition did not permit general anesthesia [3]. The operation was usually performed via a 2.5 x 2.5 cm cranictomy. A self-retaining spatula was introduced above the dorsolateral cerebellum, so that its tip was pointing directly towards the superior petrosal vein [1]. After initial experience with 15 patients, this route was found to avoid the preparation of the cerebral nerve VII and VIII regions. With the exception of two patients, all operations were performed in a sitting position.

#### Materials and Methods

There were 58 male and 79 female patients. Fifty-nine procedures were performed on the left-hand side, 78 on the right. The average age was 61.3 years; 33 patients were over 70 years of age.

The range of the postoperative observation period is between 1 month and 5 years. The operations were evaluated according to three defined categories: 1) totally pain-free patients, 2) patients with distinct improvement, and 3) patients with no or little improvement. Patients with pain recurrence with or without resurgery were classified as group 3 "not improved." Based on the analyses of clinical pain status, the patients with trigeminal pain were categorized in four groups:

Group I:	patients	with	triggered	shooting	pains	only	( n	=	85/137,
	62%)								

Group II: patients with continuous pain plus triggered shooting pains (n = 33/137, 24%)

- Group III: continuous pain only (atypical neuralgia; n = 9/137, 7%)
- Group IV: patients with burning pain either alone or combined with isolated continuous pain or combined with triggered pain (n = 10/137, 78)

178 Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed by R A.Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

			Pain-free	Improved	Unchanged
Group	I	85	72 (84.7%)	8 (9.4%)	5 (5.9%)
Group	II	33	23 (70%)	8 (24%)	2 (6%)
Group	III	9	4	2	3
Group	IV	10	3	2	5

Table 1. Results of microvascular decompression (137 patients)

#### Results

In group I, 67/85 patients were pain-free after the first operation, three had a late recurrence, eight were improved (one late recurrence), and ten remained unimproved (two of these were primarily unchanged, seven shifted from the "pain-free" group to the "improved" group due to an early recurrence). In group II, 23/33 patients were primarily pain-free, eight were improved, and two remained unchanged (Table 2). In group III, four of nine were pain-free, two improved, and three unchanged, while in group IV three of ten patients were pain-free, two improved, and five unchanged.

After 12 reoperations, 72 of 85 patients in group I were pain-free, eight improved, and five unchanged (one of these was reoperated for late recurrence). One reoperation was performed in group II, leaving 23/33 (70%) patients pain-free (Tables 1-3).

Table 2. Results of microvascular decompression in group II (33patients)

Pain-free 23 (1 rec	urrence)
---------------------	----------

Improved 8 of which:

2

- 2 with continuous pain disappeared, shooting pain unchanged
- 2 with continuous pain improved, shooting pain disappeared
- 1 with continuous pain and shooting pain improved
- 2 with continuous pain unchanged, shooting pain disappeared
- l with continuous pain unchanged, shooting pain
  improved

Unchanged

		Typical arterial compression	Other vessels, arterial branches, veins	No vessel, arachnoiditis
Group I Pain-free Improved Poor	(85) (72) (8) (5)	64 (9 R) 6 (1 R) 3 (1 R)	4 2 -	4 (1 R) - 2
<b>Group II</b> Pain-free Improved Poor	(33)	21 (1 R) 6 2	1 1 -	1 1 -
<b>Group III</b> Pain-free Improved Poor	(9)	2 - -	1 1 1	1 1 2
<b>Group IV</b> Pain-free Improved Poor	(10)	3 2 4	-	- - 1
137		113 = 82.5%	11 = 8%	13 = 9%

Table 3. Relations of each group to the intraoperative finding and the postoperative results (R, recurrence)

A renewed compression was found in 9 of 13 reoperations. In one case, there had been no intraoperative finding the first time. Due to the relatively long pain-free period of 17 months, a reoperation was performed, showing an arterial vessel which had been overlooked during the first operation. With regard to the intraoperative findings, 113/137 patients had typical arterial compression. Of these 113 patients, 80 were provided lasting relief from the time of the first operation until now, and ten after a reoperation. Only 18 of the 24 patients without definite arterial compression or any other vascular finding improved (Table 3). In group I, an arterial vessel was found in 73/85 cases; 64 of these were pain-free and six improved. In group II, a vessel was found in 29 of 33 cases; 21 were pain-free and six improved. Two of the nine group III patients presented with a vessel (both pain-free), and nine group IV patients had a definite intraoperative finding (three were pain-free and two improved). The complications are listed in Table 4.

#### Discussion

The conclusion from our findings is that patients with trigger and shooting pains have the best postoperative results (1). Group II, with additional continuous pain, still had a good prognosis, with 70% pain-free and 24% improved, so that the continuous pain component does not represent a contraindication for the operation. When a definite arterial compression was found, 88% of group I and 72% of group II patients were pain-free postoperatively. Since renewed vascular compression was noted in 8 of 13 patients at reoperation due to lysis Table 4. Complications after 150 microvascular decompressions, including 13 reoperations (R)

Fatal outcome due to aspiration (sudden onset, l0th postoperative day) Intracerebellar hemorrhage with severe brain stem damage (died after 5 months) Acute subdural hematoma (supratentorial) due to a torn small bridging vein (favorable outcome) Postoperatively decompensated cardiac insuf-	1 1 1	(R)	
ficiency (reversed) Impaired coordination (mild)	1 2		
Dizziness (mild)	2		
Hypoacusis	4	(lR)	
Hypo- or paresthesia Hypo- or paresthesia completely reversible Trochlear paralysis (reversible)	6 4 1	(1R,4 (2R,4	Ivalon) Ivalon)
Psychoorganic disorder Cerebrospinal fistula	1		
Hyperthermia without meningitis for 1 month Meningitis	1		
Occipital nerve neuralgia Deterioration of encephalitis disseminata	1		

or dislocation of the graft, we are now using Ivalon patches (34 patients). We do, however, have the impression that this relatively firm material leads to sensory deficits in an overproportionately high number of cases (8 of 34, 4 completely reversible). The complications we noted (Table 4) most frequently occurred in patients 70 years of age or older [2].

#### References

- Jannetta PJ (1976) Microsurgical approach to the trigeminal nerve for tic douloureux. In: Krayenbühl H. (ed) Progress in neurological surgery, vol. 7. Karger, Basel, pp 180-200
- cal surgery, vol. 7. Karger, Basel, pp 180-200
  2. Loveren H van, Tew JM, Keller JT, Nurre MA (1982) A 10-year
  experience in the treatment of trigeminal neuralgia. J Neurosurg
  57:757-764
- Penzholz H, Kühner A (1981) Critical remarks on different surgical methods in trigeminal neuralgia, In: Samii M, Jannetta PJ (eds) The cranial nerves. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 341-346

# Neurovascular Compression as a Cause of Essential Hypertension: A Microanatomical Study

# R. Naraghi, M. R. Gaab, and G. F. Walter

Neurochirurgische Klinik der Medizinischen Hochschule Hannover, Konstanty-Gutschow-Straße 8, D-3000 Hannover 61

#### Introduction

In industrialized countries 10% of the population suffer from elevated blood pressure (diastolic  $\geq$  95 mmHg, systolic  $\geq$  60 mmHg - WHO). Arterio-/arterioloscerosis, parenchymal changes of the kidney, pheochromocytoma, coarctation of the aorta, and elevated intracranial pressure (Cushing response) are known to be conditions that induce and maintain arterial hypertension (HTN) in about 10% of the cases. Idiopathic arterial HTN or essential HTN is diagnosed in the other 90% of patients with HTN, in whom the etiology remains unclear (WHO).

The possible influence of the central nervous system (CNS) in creating this most frequent type of HTN has been discussed [1,2,6,19,20]. GUYTON and REIS postulated an elevation of the normal level of CNS regulation [3,21].

From the neurosurgical standpoint, JANNETTA (1979 - 1985) introduced his concept of neurovascular compression (NVC) at the root entry zone (REZ) as a cause of essential HTN. On the basis of intraoperative observation, microvascular decompression, and animal experiments, NVC at the ventrolateral medulla (VLM) and the REZ of cranial nerves IX and X on the left is suspected to be a central factor causing HTN [8,10-18,23,24,26,27].

Comparative pathological studies between patients with and patients without HTN had not yet been carried out. We therefore investigated the neurovascular relations at the medulla of deceased patients by microsurgical technique.

#### Material and Methods

Material

Forty patients aged between 40 and 87 years (mean age 68.2 years) were examined 8-24 h postmortem during autopsy.

Twenty-three patients had a documented history of elevated blood pressure. Of them, 19 had essential HTN, whereas four suffered from renal HTN. Seventeen patients served as controls. They were known to have had normal blood pressure during their lifetime.

#### Table 1. Clinical data

	No.	Sex (m / f)	Min-max age	x age
Normotensive pat. Renal HTN Essential HTN	17 4 19	8 / 9 2 / 2 12 / 7	40 - 82 56 - 79 48 - 87	63 70.2 71.5
Total	40	22 / 18	40 - 87	68.2

The patients did not have any neurological deficit and did not die from any neurological condition. Patients' history and clinical charts were reviewed carefully (Table 1).

#### Methods

The calvaria was opened with a circular cut and removed cautiously to avoid any damage to the dura. After opening the dura, cerebrospinal fluid was let out and the adhesions of the hemispheres with the dura of the anterior cranial fossa were loosened. The tentorial edge was exposed. Using a transversal cut through the cerebral peduncle the hemispheres could be removed from the skull, and the brain stem remained in situ below the tentorium in the posterior cranial fossa.

Subsequent examinations were carried out with microsurgical technique using 6- to 25-fold magnification. Cutting the tentorium at its insertion in the petrous bone, the ventral surface of the brain stem was exposed by stepwise dissection of the arachnoid along the clivus. By injecting an autologous blood-H<sub>2</sub>O solution into the posterior cerebral artery or basilar artery at a pressure of 100-160 mmHg we were able to simulate the vital neurovascular status. The neurovascular relations between all cranial nerves and vessels and especially the REZ of cranial nerves IX and X and the bilateral VLM were examined carefully. The findings were documented by microphotography.

#### Results

There were no signs of NVC at the left VLM and REZ of cranial nerves IX and X in 17 patients with normal blood pressure. On the right side, however, we observed signs of compression in two cases. Patients with renal HTN did not have any NVC. In contrast, we observed a distinct NVC at the left VLM in all 19 patients with essential HTN (Table 2).

One patient from the normotensive controls with a longstanding history of left-sided idiopathic hypoacusis and tinnitus had a crosscompressing vein at the acoustic nerve on the same side.

Altogether we observed 24 NVCs at the VLM. The compression appeared 19 times on the left side and only five times on the right. Common to all NVCs at the VLM was a compression of the medulla in the retroolivary sulcus at the medial surface of the REZ of cranial nerves IX and X.

The posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA) caused NVC 12 times (Fig. 1), followed by a combination of PICA and vertebral artery. The



Cranial nerve XII. Cranial nerves IX and X.

Fig. 1. NVC at the VLM on the left by the PICA as was seen 12 times. Ventral surface of the medulla with the cranial nerves VII-X. The compression appears in the retro-olivary sulcus and involves the medulla and the REZ. X 16

basilar artery, vertebral artery, and anterior inferior cerebellar artery were each observed to cause compression once (Table 3).

#### Discussion

Our constant finding of a close connection between an NVC at the VLM and essential HTN corresponds to JANNETTA's intraoperative observations. He reported NVC in 51 of 53 patients with essential HTN who underwent left retromastoid craniectomy for trigeminal neuralgia or hemifacial spasm [12,13,15,17].

There were no neurological signs of cranial nerve disturbance in any patient with HTN we examined. From this one may assume that the NVC at the VLM observed by JANNETTA is not to be seen in the light of trigeminal neuralgia or hemifacial spasm, but rather essential HTN.

Older microanatomical studies on cranial nerves from WATT (1932) and SUNDERLAND (1948), together with more recent studies from RHOTON (1975) and FEIN (1980) on caudal cranial nerves, also point in this direction [6-9,22,27]. FEIN (1980) reported signs of NVC in seven of eight patients with arterial HTN.

	Normotensive pat.	Renal HTN	Essential HTN
	(n = 17)	(n = 4)	(n = 19)
Unilateral NVC, right	2	0	0
Unilateral NVC, left	0	0	16
Bilateral NVC	0	0	3
Total NVCs $(n = 24)$	2	0	22

Table 2. Frequency and distribution of NVC at the VLM in the different groups

Table 3. Arteries causing left NVC in essential HTN

A. basilaris A. vertebralis A. cerebell. inf. anterior (AICA) A. cerebell. inf. posterior (PICA) PICA and A. vertebralis	1 1 1 12 4	
Total	23	

HTN by itself leads to changes of cerebral vessels and may result in ectasia and elongation. If such neurovascular contacts as are seen in NVC were only the result and not the cause of HTN, one would expect to find NVC on the right side with about the same frequency as on the left side. One would also expect to find an increased vascular looping and NVCs of the cranial nerves III-VIII. At autopsy we did not find any compressing vascular loop at the upper brain stem. Only one patient from the normotensive controls with longstanding left hypoacusis had NVC at the VIIIth nerve by a vein.

There are no clinical data available indicating a higher incidence of cranial nerve dysfunction in arterial HTN.

Compression of the medulla in the retro-olivary sulcus was common to all types of NVC we found in essential HTN. This suggests the compressing vessel loop is not a result of HTN, but rather its direct cause.

Our investigations are now being continued by histological brain stem studies from the cases examined for the present study and by retrospective and prospective evaluation of vertebral angiograms.

## References

- Doba N, Reis DJ (1972) Localisation within the lower brainstem of a receptive area mediating the pressor to increased intracranial pressure (the Cushing response). Brain Res 47:487-491
- Doba N, Reis DJ (1973) Acute fulminating neurogenic hypertension produced by brainstem lesions in the cat. Circ Res 32:584-593

- 3. Guyton AC (1980) Arterial pressure and hypertension. In: Circulatory physiology III. WB Saunders Co, Philadelphia, pp 1-9
- 4. Haines SJ, Jannetta PJ (1980) Microvascular relations of the trigeminal nerve. J Neurosurg 52:381-383
- Hardy DG, Rhoton AL (1978) Microsurgical relationship of the superior cerebellar artery and the trigeminal nerve. J Neurosurg 49:669-678
- Fein JM (1981) Hypertension and the central nervous system, Clin Neurosurg 29:666-721
- Fein JM (1980) Microvascular anatomy of the glossopharyngeal and vagus nerve. Presented at the Annual Meeting of Congress of Neurologic Surgeons, Houston-Texas, Oct. 5
- 8. Fein JM, Frishman W (1980) Neurogenic hypertension related to vascular compression of the lateral medulla. Neurosurg 6:615-622
- 9. Lister JR, Rhoton AL, Matsushima T, Peace DA (1982) Microsurgical anatomy of the posterior inferior cerebellar artery. Neurosurg 10:170-199
- 10. Jannetta PJ (1967) Structural mechanisms of trigeminal neuralgia: arterial compression of the pons in patients with trigeminal neuralgia. J Neurosurg 26:159-162
- 11. Jannetta PJ (1970) Microsurgical exploration and decompression of the facial nerve in hemifacial spasm. Curr Topic Surg Res 2:217-220
- 12. Jannetta PJ (1980) Neurovascular compression in cranial nerve and systemic disease. Ann Surg 192:518-525
- 13. Jannetta PJ (1980) Cranial nerve vascular compression syndromes (other than tic douloureux and hemifacial spasm). Clin Neurosurg 28:445-455
- 14. Jannetta PJ, Fein JM, Dujovny M (1982) Proceedings of the symposium on neurogenic hypertension. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore
- 15. Jannetta PJ, Gendell HM (1978) Meeting abstract. Neurovascular compression associated with essential hypertension. Neurosurg 2:165
- 16. Jannetta PJ, Gendell HM (1979) Clinical observations on etiology of essential hypertension. Surg Forum 30:431-432
- 17. Jannetta PJ, Segal R, Wolfson SK (1985) Neurogenic hypertension: etiology and surgical treatment. I. Observations in 53 patients. Ann Surg 201:391-398
- 18. Jannetta PJ, Segal R, Wolfson SK, Dujovny M, Semba A, Cook EE (1985) Neurogenic hypertension: etiology and surgical treatment. II. Observation in an experimental nonhuman primate model. Ann Surg 201:253-261
- 19. Nathan MA, Reis DJ (1977) Chronic labile hypertension produced by lesions of nucleus tractus solitarii in the cat. Circ Res 40:72-81
- 20. Peiss CN (1958) Cardiovascular response to electrical stimulation of the brainstem. J Physiol 141:500-509
- 21. Reis DJ, Doba N (1974) The central nervous system and neurogenic hypertension. Prog Cardiovasc Des 17:51-71
- 22. Rhoton AL, Buza L (1975) Microsurgical anatomy of the jugular foramen. J Neurosurg 42:541-550
- 23. Segal R, Gendell HM, Canfiedl D, Dujovny M, Jannetta PJ (1979) Cardiovascular response to pulsatile pressure applied to ventrolateral medulla. Surg Forum 30:433-434
- 24. Segal R, Gendell HM, Canfield D, Dujovny M, Jannetta PJ (1982) Hemodynamic changes induced by pulsatile compression of the ventrolateral medulla. Angiology 33:161-172
- 25. Segal R, Jannetta PJ (1982) Implanted pulsatile balloon device for simulation of neurovascular compression syndromes in animals. J Neurosurg 57:646-650

- Sunderland S (1948) Neurovascular relationships and anomalies at the base of the brain. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 11:243-247
   Watt JC, McKillop AM (1932) Relations of arteries to roots of
- nerves in posterior cranial fossa in man. Arch Surg 14:336-345

# Essential Hypertension in Patients with Hemifacial Spasm or Trigeminal Neuralgia

# W. J. R. van Ouwerkerk, M. Samii, and M. Ammirati<sup>1</sup>

Neurochirurgische Klinik, Krankenhaus Nordstadt, Haltenhoffstraße 41, D-3000 Hannover 1

## Introduction

Elevated arterial pressure is a major public health problem in industrialized countries. When untreated it may lead to lethal complications [3]. Nearly 20% of a Caucasian suburban population, such as that of the Framingham Study, have hypertension (blood pressure over 160/95 mmHg) [14]. Hypertension is essential or idiopathic in at least 90% of cases [4].

Recently, vascular compression of the left ventrolateral medulla (VLM) at the root entry zones of the cranial nerves (CN) IX and X was thought to represent a cause of essential hypertension (EH) [5,8,9,10]. It has been reported that microvascular decompression (MVD) of the left VLM, performed in hypertensive patients during operations devised for cranial nerve vascular syndromes, is associated with postoperative lowering of the blood pressure [9]. However, it is not clear in which way MVD of the left VLM lowers the blood pressure, nor do we know the incidence of EH in patients undergoing MVD for cranial nerve vascular syndromes.

We undertook this study to clarify possible relationships between EH and hemifacial spasm (HFS) or trigeminal neuralgia (TN) and to study the antihypertensive effect of MVD of the left VLM. The present paper reports on the prevalence rates of EH and on the postoperative changes in diastolic blood pressure observed in patients undergoing MVD of the root entry zones of CN V or VII. In addition, results obtained in seven EH patients with left-sided HFS who underwent MVD of the left VLM are presented.

## Materials and Methods

Two hundred and twenty-six consecutive patients, presenting either left (L) or right (R) HFS or TN, form the subject of this study. They were treated by MVD of the root entry zones of CN V or VII between 1980 and 1988. Forty-nine of them had HFS-L, 33 HFS-R, 60 TN-L, and 84 TN-R. In HFS the vertebral artery alone or in combination with the anterior or posterior inferior cerebellar artery was responsible for the vascular compression in 30% of the left-sided and 9% of the right-sided cases. In the other cases of HFS the offending vessels

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dr. M. Ammirati is a recipient of a fellowship from the Alexander von Humboldt Foundation, Bonn, FRG.

<sup>188</sup> Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed. by R.A. Frowein, M. Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

Characteristics	HFS+TN	HFS-L	Reference	I HFS+TN vs Reference	pa HFS-L vs Reference
Sex: male (%)	44	49	-		
Mean age (years)	55.0	55.1	45-64		
Overweight (%)	17	10	19	>0.25	>0.1
Smoking (%)	20	20	32	<0.025	>0.1
Diabetes (%)	1	0	1	>0.25	
EH(%)	22	41	23	>0.25	<0.025

Table 1. Comparisons between 226 patients with HFS or TN, 49 patients with HFS-L, and a reference population  $^{\rm a}$ 

<sup>a</sup> P values calculated using chi-square test

were the anterior or posterior cerebellar artery, arteriovenous malformations, or veins.

The prevalence rate of EH and the distribution of age, sex, and hypertension-related risk factors (overweight, smoking, diabetes) were assessed and compared to reference rates in a matched general population [6,7,11,13] (see Table 1).

- Patients were judged to be hypertensive when blood pressure was over 160/95 mmHg or when they were on antihypertensive treatment. Newly diagnosed patients had a thorough checkup to rule out secondary hypertension. In patients with known hypertension, secondary hypertension had already been ruled out.
- Overweight was defined as a deviation of 20% or more from the desirable weight according to the Metropolitan Life Insurance Company criteria [2,11].
- Smoking more than ten cigarettes a day classified a patient as a smoker.

We did not study the incidence of hyperlipidemia and hyperuricemia, since our patients were not routinely screened for these additional risk factors before 1987.

A mean diastolic blood pressure was calculated from three daily measurements, obtained in three postoperative time periods (2nd-5th days, 6th-9th days, and the last 2 days before discharge). These values were compared to preoperative diastolic blood pressure means, measured on at least 2 preoperative days.

Finally, the efficacy of MVD of the left VLM in seven patients with EH and HFS-L was assessed, observing postoperative changes in anti-



Fig. 1. Prevalence of EH: comparison between a reference population and four surgical subgroups

hypertensive medication and diastolic blood pressure levels during a follow-up period ranging from 3 to 48 months (median 24 months). Patients' response to MVD of the VLM was graded as good when they did not require any antihypertensive medication, fair when their medications were reduced, and poor when there was no change in their antihypertensive therapeutic regimen.

Inspection of the VLM for vascular compression of the root entry zones of CN IX and X was not routinely performed. When carried out it was found to be strongly positive in the seven patients mentioned.

Statistical analysis was done whenever indicated, using the chi-square test or t-test.

#### Results

Forty-nine (22%) of our patients had EH; 44 (90%) of them were on antihypertensive treatment prior to operation, while five (10%) had newly diagnosed EH.

Even though there was no statistically significant difference in the prevalence of EH between our complete patient group (22%) and a matched reference population (23%) (P > 0.1), there was a significant difference (P < 0.025) between the HFS-L group (41% prevalence) and the reference population (Table 1). The same did not hold true when the other subgroups (HFS-R, TN-L, TN-R) were compared to the reference population (P > 0.1) (Fig. 1).

There was no statistically significant difference between the HFS-L patients and the other patient groups, including the reference group, with regard to age, sex, overweight, smoking, or diabetes (P>0.1) (Table 1).

The postoperative diastolic blood pressure was statistically significantly lower than the preoperative one in all patients, normotensive as well as hypertensive (Table 2).

	Diastolic blood	Change		
Patients	Preoperative	Postoperative	Value	pb
All (n = 226)	80.7	73.7	-7.0	<0.01
EH (n = 49)	90.6	78.9	-11.7	<0.01
Normotension $(n = 177)$	77.0	70.6	-6.4	<0.01

Table 2. Mean changes in blood pressure, preoperative vs postoperative<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> At the time of discharge <sup>b</sup> P values calculated using t-test

Six of the seven EH patients with HFS-L in whom MVD of the left VLM was performed did not require any medication in the immediate postoperative period, while one had his medication reduced by half. At a median follow-up of 24 months (range 3-48 months) two patients remained without any medication, two required half their original regimen, and three had to be switched back to their preoperative dose (Table 3).

The main offending vessel found to compress the root entry zone of CN IX and X was the vertebral artery (six of seven cases). In HFS-L the vertebral artery was involved in compression of the root entry zone of CN VII in 30% of cases, whereas the vertebral artery was involved in only 9% of the HFS-R cases.

#### Discussion

Hypertension is essential in over 90% of cases. The cardiovascular system is controlled by mechanical, chemical, and neural mechanisms. Subtle alterations in the organization of neural control may cause an imbalance at the peripheral and/or central level, resulting in EH

Table 3. Early and late results of MVD of the VLM in 7 patients with EH and HFS-L (all patients were on preoperative antihypertensive treatment)

Grade <sup>a</sup>	Discharge	Follow-up <sup>b</sup>	
Good Fair	6 1	2 2	
Poor	0	3	

<sup>a</sup> Good: no antihypertensive medication needed; fair: reduction in antihypertensive medication; poor: no change in medication

<sup>b</sup> The follow-up ranged from 3 to 48 months (median 24 months)

[1,12]. Information concerning the blood pressure is mainly mediated by the left vagal and glossopharyngeal nerves and converged to the nucleus tractus solitarius and vasomotor center in the VLM.

Jannetta has demonstrated in animal experiments that pulsatile compression at the root entry zones of CN IX and X can cause transient hypertension. He speculates that a similar mechanism may be operative in humans with increasing age, due to elongation and dilatation of the aging blood vessels as well as to the sagging of the brain [8-10]. Were that to be true, one would expect to find a higher incidence of EH in patients with cranial nerve vascular syndromes. Our data fail to show this, but at the same time they show that patients with HFS-L have a higher incidence of EH, even when adjustment is made for hypertension-related risk factors. It is not possible to state whether this has anything to do with the observation that in HFS-L the vertebral artery was found to be involved in compressing the root entry zone of CN VII more frequently than in the other subgroup with HFS-R (three times more frequently). One could other subgroup with HFS-R (three times more irequently). One could speculate that more proximal alterations in the vertebral artery itself or in its branches could somehow, by compressing the root entry zones of CN IX and X or by compressing the VLM, be responsible for a neural imbalance resulting in a higher incidence of EH in the subgroup of patients with HFS-L. That this relation is more complex than one would expect is shown by the variable response of our seven patients to MVD of the VLM. It was interesting that all of them showed an immediate response to the MVD while within a 1- to 4-month period the response declined or disappeared completely. Jannetta reported relief or improvement of hypertension and reduction in antihypertensive medication in over 80% of the patients he treated with MVD of the left VLM [9]. The issue of the relationship between vascular compression of the left VLM and hypertension is further complicated by the observation that the diastolic blood pressure was significantly lowered in all of our patients, hypertensive and normotensive.

In conclusion, our study indicates:

- 1. That there is not a higher incidence of EH in patients with cranial nerve vascular syndromes
- That there is a subgroup of patients with a high incidence of EH (HFS-L)
- 3. That the response of EH patients of this group to MVD of the left VLM is not predictable
- 4. That in all patients in whom an MVD for cranial nerve vascular syndromes was performed the diastolic blood pressure at the time of discharge was significantly lowered

Relationships between EH and vascular compression of the VLM are obviously extremely complex and can only be proved by a prospective randomized study in which the VLM is explored in all patients with EH and cranial nerve vascular syndromes. When an offending artery is obvious a decompression should be randomly performed.

#### References

 Carey RM (1984) Experimental neurogenic hypertension. In: Guthrie GP, Kotchen TA (eds) Hypertension and the brain. Futura Publishing Company, Mount Kisco New York

- Davidson S, Passmore R, Brock JF, Truswell AS (1975) Human nutrition and dietetics, 6th edn. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh London Melbourne New York, pp 569-571
- 3. Dawber TR (1980) The Framingham study. Harvard University Press, Cambridge (Massachusetts), London (England)
- 4. Epstein FH (1983) The epidemiology of essential hypertension. In: Robertson JIS (ed) Handbook of hypertension, vol. 1, Elsevier, Amsterdam New York Oxford
- 5. Fein JM, Frishmann W (1980) Neurogenic hypertension related to vascular compression of the lateral medulla. Neurosurgery 6:615-622
- 6. Hamman RF (1983) Diabetes in affluent societies. In: Mann JI, Pyörälä K, Teuscher A (eds) Diabetes in epidemiological perspective. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh London Melbourne New York, pp 7-42
- 7. Harrison TR (1987) Principles of internal medicine, 11th edn. McGraw Hill Book Company, pp 856
- Jannetta PJ (1980) Neurovascular compression in cranial nerve and systemic disease. Ann Surg vol. 192, 4:518-525
- 9. Jannetta PJ, Segal R, Wolfson SK (1985) Neurogenic hypertension: etiology and surgical treatment (I). Ann Surg vol. 201, 3:391-398
- 10. idem 9 (II) Ann Surg vol. 202, 2:253-261
- 11. Kannel WB (1983) Health and obesity: an overview. In: Kuo PT, Conn Hl, DeFelice EA (eds) Health and obesity. Raven Press, New York, pp 1-19
- 12. Reis DJ (1984) The brain and hypertension: reflections on 35 years of inquiry into the neurobiology of the circulation. Circulation vol. 70 (Suppl III):31-45
- 13. U.S. Department of health and human services (1981) Hypertension in adults 25-74 years of age. United States 1971-1975. Vital and health statistics, Ser. 11, No. 221 DHHS Publ. No.(PHS), 81-1671, Hyattsville, MD
- 14. World Health Organization (1978) Arterial hypertension. WHO Techn. Rep. Ser. 628

# Neurosurgical Topography of the Pyramidal Tract

# U. Ebeling and H. J. Reulen

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Bern, Inselspital, CH-3010 Bern

#### Introduction

The pyramidal tract is one of the most important motor fiber systems and must be preserved during surgery in the area of the precentral gyrus. Detailed knowledge of the localization of the pyramidal tract and the craniocerebral topography facilitates its preservation [6-8]. In the present study Klingler's fiber dissection method was applied to dissect the pyramidal tract in the frontal lobe and centrum semiovale, in order to obtain exact data on the topography of the pyramidal tract.

#### Topographical Anatomy of the Pyramidal Tract

"The pyramidal tract consists by definition of all those fibers which course longitudinally in the pyramid of the medulla oblongata, regardless of their site of origin" [5]. The origin of the pyramidal tract includes wide areas of the frontal and parietal lobes [1].

In order to facilitate the presentation of the pyramidal tract its origin was restricted to the main origin in the area 4 (40%) [1]. The fibers of the pyramidal tract originate from the whole convexity of the precentral gyrus and converge to the posterior part of the posterior limb of the internal capsule [1,2,4,5,10,11,15-17]. Thus the fibers of the face, arm, trunk, and leg show an arrangement like a fan, which opens against the cortex and shuts when approaching the posterior limb of the internal capsule [3,4,16,19]. Hence the course of the pyramidal tract is defined by the localization of its origin, the precentral gyrus, and the topography of the posterior limb of the internal capsule.

#### Material and Methods

Thirty formalin-fixed hemispheres of normal adult brains of both sexes were investigated. To gain data on the topography and threedimensional course of the pyramidal tract itself, the fiber dissection method of Klingler was applied [14]. The brains were fixed in formalin for 2-4 weeks. The formalin was then washed out and the brains were frozen at  $-8^{\circ}$  to  $-10^{\circ}$ C for some days [14]. After thawing of the brains, dissection was carried out with a "Schweizer Uhrmacherpinzette" and a Zeiss microscope according to the recommendations of KOMAROMY and HUILTKRANZ [12,13]. On the basis of the known topography of the precentral convolution, the precentral gyrus was identified (Fig. 1) [6,8]. Afterwards the fibers of the pyramidal



Fig. 1. Schematic drawing of the central region at the vertex. Convolutions (left side): a, middle frontal; b, superior frontal; c, precentral; d, postcentral. Fissures (right side): 1, superior frontal; 2, precentral; 3, central; 4, postcentral

tract, originating from the precentral gyrus, were dissected free after the method of Klingler by removal of the frontal and occipital mass of fibers. Medially the caudate nucleus and thalamus and laterally the insula Reilii with the basal ganglia were removed.

Results and Discussion

#### Results of Klingler's Fiber Preparation Technique

With this technique it is possible to prepare clearly the course and topography of a fiber tract in the hemisphere. Instead of reconstructing the course of such tracts by numerous sections, the technique allows demonstration of the course of the tract from its origin to its termination, in its three-dimensional and topographical relations. With this technique the pyramidal tract was dissected exactly in the centrum semiovale and internal capsule, from its origin, the precentral convolution, to the cerebral peduncles (Figs. 2, 3). The accurate dissection of the fiber systems, i.e., fibers of projection and association, and especially commissural fibers [10-12,15-18]. The intermingling of the commissural fibers of the splenium with their horizontal course and the vertically running fibers of the pyramidal tract allows only a rough dissection of the pyramidal tract in this area. Nevertheless, a clear specimen of the whole pyramidal tract could be prepared (Fig. 3). Regardless of these anatomical and tech-



Fig. 2. Schematic drawing of the fan of the pyramidal tract of a left hemisphere (looking from behind). 1, medial border of the precentral convolution; 2, lateral border of the precentral convolution; 3, convexity; 4, splenium; 5, lateral ventricle; 6, insula Reilii; 7, lentiform nucleus



Fig. 3. Photograph of a left specimen of the pyramidal tract, obtained with the preparation method of KLING-LER [14] (looking from behind)

nical problems, the method has great advantages; with training very good preparations can be accomplished, and the fan-like arrangement of the pyramidal tract and its microsurgical topography can be clearly shown [14].

Topography of the Pyramidal Tract in the White Matter of the Frontal Lobe

In the description and definition of specific fiber tracts in the white matter, the problem arises of how to define their course, because in the mass of the white matter no landmarks exist and the fibers in question are mixed with other fiber systems. In some tracts, e.g., the optic radiation, the inferior and posterior horn of the lateral ventricle can be used as a safe landmark [9]. Especially in the centrum semiovale of the frontal lobe the course of the pyramidal tract is not defined by any crebral landmark and cannot be differentiated from the neighboring fiber systems. This problem can only be resolved by following the pyramidal tract from its well defined main origin, i.e., the precentral gyrus, to its known "termination" in the cerebral peduncle above the pons. The preparation after Klingler's method allowed this approach because the fibers were followed from their origin to the cerebral peduncle.

Thus the configuration and topography of the precentral gyrus (origin) and the fiber system in the internal capsule and cerebral peduncle determine the shape and topography of the pyramidal tract itself. The anterior and posterior limits of the pyramidal tract are defined by the thin layer of fibers originating from the most anterior and posterior borders of the precentral gyrus. The medial and lateral borders of the pyramidal tract are determined in the sub-cortical area and centrum semiovale by following the most medial originating fibers at the medial end of the precentral gyrus and the most lateral originating fibers of the lateral end of the precentral gyrus. With this technique the fan-like configuration of the pyramidal tract could be prepared clearly (Figs. 2, 3).

#### Summary

The microsurgical topography and three-dimensional course of the pyramidal tract in the white matter of the frontal lobe can be shown clearly using Klingler's fiber preparation technique. The localization of the pyramidal tract is given by the topography of the precentral convolution and the posterior limb of the internal capsule. Knowledge of the exact topography of the pyramidal tract can facilitate the preservation of this important fiber tract during surgery.

#### References

- 1. Barr LM (1972) The human nervous system. An anatomical viewpoint. Harper, Intern Ed pp 316-330 2. Bechterew v W (1899) Die Leitungsbahnen im Gehirn und Rückenmark,
- 2nd edn., Verlag Leipzig
- 3. Beevor CE (1890) An experimental investigation into the arrangement of the excitable fibers in the internal capsule of the bonnet monkey. Phil Trans Roy Soc (London) 181(B):49-88 4. Benett AH (1885) Case of brachial monoplegia due to lesions of
- the internal capsule. Brain 8:78-84
- 5. Brodal A (1969) Neurological anatomy in relation to clinical medicine. Sec. ed. University Press, New York Oxford London Toronto
- 6. Ebeling U, Huber P, Reulen HJ (1986) Localization of the precentral gyrus in the computed tomogram and its clinical application. J Neurol 233:73-76
- 7. Ebeling U, Reulen HJ, Huber P (1986) Surgery of processes along the pyramidal tract and the internal capsule. In: Samii (ed) Surgery in and around the brain stem and the third ventricle. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 405-409
- 8. Ebeling U, Rikli D, Huber P, Reulen HJ (1987) The coronal suture, a useful bony landmark in neurosurgery? Acta Neurochir (Wien) 89:130-134
- 9. Ebeling U, Reulen HJ (1988) Neurosurgical topography of the optic radiation in the temporal lobe. Acta Neurochir (in press)
- 10. Elze C (1928) Einige Fasersysteme des menschlichen Grosshirns mit der Abfaserungsmethode untersucht. Z Anat 88:166-178
- 11. Flechsig P (1881) Zur Anatomie und Entwicklungsgeschichte der Leitungsbahn im Grosshirn. Arch Anat Physiol:12-75
- 12. Huiltkranz JW (1929) Gehirnpräparation mittels Zerfaserung. zum makroskopischen Studium des Anleitung Gehirnes. Julius Springer, Berlin
- (1961) 13. Komaromy L Anatomische Gehirnsektion. Verlag der ungarischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, Budapest
- 14. Ludwig E, Klingler J (1956) Atlas cerebri humani. Karger, Basel New York
- 15. Monakow v. C (1905) Gehirnpathologie, I. Allgemeine Einleitung II. Lokalisation, III. Gehirnblutungen, 2nd edn. Wien, pp 47ff
- 16. Pfeiffer RA (1934) Myelogenetisch-anatomische Untersuchungen über den zentralen Abschnitt der Taststrahlung, Pyramidenbahn, der Hirnnerven und zusätzlicher motorischer Bahnen. Nova Acta Leop Carol 1:341-473
- 17. Quensel F (1910) Ueber den Stabkranz des menschlichen Stirnhirnes. Folia Neuro-Biol 4:319-334
- 18. Rasmussen AT (1943) The extent of recurrent geniculocalcarines fibers (loop of Archambault and Meyer) as demonstrated by gross brain dissection. Anat Rec 85:277-282
- 19. Tailarach J, Szikla G (1967) (eds) Atlas of stereotaxic anatomy of the telencephalon. Masson & Cie, Paris

# Postoperative Mortality in the Era of Microneurosurgery

J. Gilsbach, A. Harders, L. Mayfrank, and H. Bertalanffy

Abteilung Allgemeine Neurochirurgie, Universitätsklinikum Freiburg, Hugstetter Straße 55, D-7800 Freiburg i. Br.

#### Introduction

Even with the aid of microneurosurgery, not all neurosurgical diseases can be cured. Further improvements of the surgical results may be possible by detailed analysis of the unfavorable outcomes and unsatisfactory results. In order to assess the major problems limiting microsurgical attempts at curing neurosurgical diseases today, we performed a retrospective reevaluation of the postoperative deaths in our intensive care unit (ICU). We believe that the mortality during hospitalization is an indicator of severe surgical and perioperative failures and complications.

#### Method

In our department all patients who have undergone intracranial operations, including transsphenoidal ones, are brought to the ICU. Patients with operations on the skull, orbit, and spine are only electively admitted to the ICU. Trauma cases are only admitted for secondary procedures (e.g., CSF fistula repair). Patients whose condition has deteriorated secondarily in other wards are readmitted to the ICU. Patients in poor preoperative or postoperative condition are only transferred to other hospitals when they have been vegetatively stabilized.

Between January 1983 and December 1987, 3355 patients were admitted to the ICU. Brain tumor operations or other intracranial procedures were performed in 75%. Ninety-four patients died in this period, 30 of them without a preceding operation and five after stereotactic procedures. The remaining 59 patients died after neurosurgical procedures (Table 1).

#### Mortality in Patients Not Operated On

Ten percent of the patients who were not operated on died in the ICU. The most frequent cause of death were bleedings in the subarachnoid space or into the substance. This is a consequence of our policy of investigating early acute bleedings. Four patients died after a recurrence of subarachnoid hemorrhage from aneurysm: one from an unnoticed anterior communicating artery aneurysm, the others while waiting for a decision on whether a giant aneurysm could be treated by balloon. Two of them had not bled until the final event. These patients underline once more the danger of rebleeding of aneurysms during hospitalization (Table 2).

<sup>198</sup> Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

Diagnosis	No.
Intracranial lesions <sup>a</sup>	
Tumor	1669
Vascular	475
Other	342
Extracranial and spinal lesions <sup>b</sup>	533
Stereotactic <sup>b</sup>	38
Supervision, no op.	298
Total	3355
Postoperative deaths	64
Nonsurgical deaths	30
Mean postoperative stay: 5 days	

Table 1. Admissions to the ICU, 1983-1987

a Routinely admitted; b Electively admitted

#### Mortality After Neurosurgical Procedures

The majority of routine operations were followed by a mortality of below 4%. Even difficult procedures in cases of mediobasal meningioma or acoustic neurinoma were followed by a mortality of 1% or less, despite the fact that nearly all of these tumors were removed radically. The outcome in vascular diseases was not as favorable, with

Table 2. Causes of death in nonoperated patients (30/298 = 10%)

Cause of death	Pat		
	No.	8	
Intraparenchyma hemorrhage			
No recovery	10	3.4%	
Aneurysm			
Initial bleeding	3	1.0%	
Lethal "preoperative" rebleeding	4	1.3%	
Subarachnoid hemorrhage			
No recovery	4	1.3%	
Tumor			
Nontreatable	4	1.3%	
Spinal	2	1.0%	
Nontreatable quadriparesis			
Trauma	2	1.0%	
Nontreatable			
Encephalitis	1	0.5%	
Total	30	10.1%	

mortality as high as 8%. The results of early aneurysm surgery were not as satisfactory as those of delayed surgery, with 6.3% mortality as opposed to 3.4%. This is associated with the fact that one of the consequences of the policy of early surgical intervention is an increased number of patients in poor properative condition. In patients in good preoperative condition the mortality in early surgery equals that in late surgery. Unsatisfactory results were obtained in cerebellopontine angle meningiomas, especially if they were of the petroclival subtype. The results in cases of chronic subdural hematoma which were treated in the ICU (because of their poor condition) were worse than those in the majority of brain tumors. The mortality in patients with subdural hematomas treated in the same period was 2%, which was twice as high as for mediobasal meningiomas, for example (Table 3).

The causes of death could be subdivided roughly into three equal groups: One-third of the patients suffered from lesions which were not effectively treatable by an operation (e.g., patients in grade 5 after an aneurysmal bleeding or incarcerated brain tumors). Another third died of surgical and perioperative failures and problems. Surgical lesions with early postoperative death were rare (5 of 59 patients). Secondary fatal complications following surgery were more frequent: 12 of 59 patients. These secondary fatal outcomes in most cases were caused by pulmonary embolism, pneumonia, and infections following surgical complications with poor recovery. The perioperative management was as important as the direct surgical trauma (e.g., vasospasm which decompensated after inadvertent hypotension), with 5

Diagnosis	Operations	Mortality		
	No.	No.	8	
Meningioma, CPA	38	5	13.2%	
Abscess/empyema (ICU)	20	2	10.0%	
Chronic subdural hematoma (ICU)	77	7	9.1%	
Cerebellar hemangioblastoma	25	2	8.0%	
AVM	79	6	7.6%	
Aneurysm, early	188	13	6.9%	
Cerebellar metastasis	34	2	5.9%	
Hypophyseal TU, trep.	29	1	3.4%	
Aneurysm, late	58	2	3.4%	
Hypophyseal TU, oronasal	188	3	1.6%	
Cerebellar glioma	62	1	1.6%	
Hydrocephalus/shunt (ICU)	162	2	1.2%	
Glioma, metastasis, supratentorial	624	8	1.1%	
Meningioma, mediobasal	193	2	1.0%	
Frontobasal fracture, CSF fistula	106	1	0.9%	
Meningioma, convexity + falx	229	2	0.9%	
Cerebellopontine angle TU (glomus, acoustic, epidermoid)	140	-	-	
Total	2252	59	2.6%	

Table 3. Diagnosis of diseases with postoperative mortality

(ICU), lesions treated only electively at ICU

of 59 deaths. Finally, one-third of the patients died from secondary complications after an uneventful operation. In 10 of 59 patients these complications were related to the operation (hemorrhage and infection). In eight cases, complications were not related to the operation (Table 4).

Of 1669 patients operated on for a brain tumor, 24 (1.4%) died in the ICU. The analysis of the surgically induced fatal outcomes shows that with one exception, the patients suffered from inadvertent lesions of large arteries or small perforating vessels. Five patients died of early pulmonary embolism within 48 h after uneventful operations. Since we have preferred a position in which the legs are elevated to the level of the nose, these problems have disappeared, despite the fact that we use no mechanical or pharmacological antithrombotic measures. Only one single patient died of a late pulmonary embolism despite good initial recovery. One patient died due to an unrecognized CSF hyperdrainage during operation with brain stem incarceration, one 80-year-old patient died due to fluid lung caused by hyperinfusion, and four died due to infections after an uneventful operation.

Of 236 patients who underwent aneurysm surgery, 15 (6.1%) died. The cause of death in seven of these patients was the initial bleeding. This fact emphasizes the importance of better prognostic criteria. The remaining eight patients died of surgical or management complications, which reflects the typical problems of (early) aneurysm surgery. These cases included two rebleedings (one after clipping and another after coagulation of a large cavernosus aneurysm), one hypertensive intrapontine hemorrhage due to a high perfusion pressure (lumbar drainage and systemic hypertension), one decompensated vasospasm (after unintended hypotension), and four cases of complicated surgery.

Cause of mortality	Pat	lients
	No.	8
Nontreatable lesion: poor preoperative condition, no recovery	19	32.2%
Indirect surgical lesion: no or incomplete recovery, secondary death	12	20.3%
Direct surgical (brain stem) lesion: no recovery, early death	5	8.5%
Management/wrong indication Uneventful operation, secondary lethal complications:	5	8.5%
Postop, hemorrhage	2	3.48
Postop. infection	8	13.6%
Internal medical	8	13.6%
Total	59	100%

Table 4. Causes of postoperative mortality in intracranial procedures (59/2486 = 2.4%)

Of 79 patients who underwent surgery for arteriovenous malformations, 6 (7.6%) died. There were two deaths (8%) after the removal of hemangioblastomas of the posterior fossa in 25 patients. The fatal complications in cases of arteriovenous angioma were typical for arteriovenous malformations: twice incomplete removals with rebleedings, once rebleeding after complete removal, and once breakthrough. Two patients operated on in the acute stage after a massive bleeding did not recover.

#### Discussion

Analysis of the early postoperative mortality during hospitalization supplies only limited information on the late result. Six months' follow-up after early aneurysm surgery revealed that the mortality increased (from 6.9% to 8.0%) due to secondary complications (mostly in patients discharged in poor condition).

The mortality analysis showed that an active policy for vascular diseases is followed by a relatively high incidence of surgical and nonsurgical deaths due to bleedings and surgical complications in arteriovenous malformations and in aneurysms. To overcome or to reduce the fatal problems in arteriovenous malformations, the endovascular neuroradiologist can reduce the volume of the malformation to a volume suited for operation and adapt the brain circulation on a normal flow. In aneurysm surgery, especially for large and giant ones, endovascular procedures may also be helpful. In "normal" aneurysm operations the experience of the surgeon and the preoperative management must be improved in order to obtain better results.

Tumorous lesions, gliomas, metastases, convexity and frontobasal or parasellar meningiomas, as well as acoustic tumors pose no serious problems as concerns mortality. In these tumors, the reduction of the morbidity is more important. The unfavorable results in petroclival meningiomas are partially due to tumors which did not respect the arachnoid membranes and in which dense adhesions existed between the tumor and brain stem or vessels. For these tumors we now prefer partial removal or a staged operation.

# Incidence, Management, and Outcome of Patients with Premature Rupture of Cerebral Aneurysms During Surgery

V. Seifert, D. Stolke, H. A. Trost, A. Brüning, and J. Schäffer

Neurochirurgische Klinik der Medizinischen Hochschule Hannover, Konstanty-Gutschow-Straße 8, D-3000 Hannover 61

## Introduction

Despite the routine application of microsurgical techniques, the intraoperative rupture of an intracranial arterial aneurysm represents an unexpected and sometimes disastrous event. Although every neurosurgeon has encountered intraoperative rupture, the neurosurgical literature on this topic is surprisingly sparse. Few authors have tried to determine the incidence, the criteria of management, and the impact of intraoperative aneurysm rupture on the subsequent outcome of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage [2,4,9,10,14]. In this study we report the results of a retrospective investigation of 85 intraoperative aneurysm ruptures occurring among 204 surgically treated aneurysms.

#### Material and Methods

Within an observation period of 4 years, 85 patients among a group of 204 aneurysm patients presented with intraoperative rupture of their aneurysm during the surgical procedure (41.6%).

When the overall outcome is considered it is obvious that intraoperative aneurysm rupture has an unfavorable impact on the subsequent outcome (Table 1). Whereas in the group without intraoperative rupture 73% of the patients achieved a satisfactory postoperative result, only 61% in the group with intraoperative rupture did so. Consequently the percentage of patients in grades IV and V of the

ll9 patients without intraoperative rupture		85 patients with intraopera- tive rupture			
Postoperative status	No. c	of patients	Postoperative status	No. c	of patients
I	69	(57.9%)	I	40	(47.1%)
II	18	(15.1%)	II	12	(14.1%)
III	8	( 6.7%)	III	9	(10.6%)
IV + V	24	(20.1%)	IV + V	24	(28.2%)

Table 1. Intraoperative rupture and postoperative outcome (GOC)

Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 2 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

ll9 patients with intraoperative rupture		85 patients with intraoperative rupture				
Localization	No. of	patients	Localization	No. of	patients	
Anterior comm. artery	46	(38.6%)	Anterior comm. artery	38	(44.7%)	
Internal carotid artery	36	(30.2%)	Internal carotid artery	23	(27.0%)	
Middle cerebral artery	25	(21.0%)	Middle cerebral artery	23	(27.0%)	
Vertebr./basil. artery	12	(10.1%)	Vertebr./basil. artery	1	( 1.2%)	

Table 2. Aneurysmal location and intraoperative rupture

Glasgow Outcome Scale [7] is increased from 20.1% in the nonrupture group to 28.2% in the rupture group.

Concerning the relationship between aneurysmal location and incidence of rupture, surgery of aneurysms of the anterior communicating artery has the highest risk of premature rupture, at 45%. The risk in carotid artery and middle cerebral artery aneurysms is equal, at 27% (Table 2).

As proposed by Yasargil, we have divided the surgical procedure into opening of the dura, microsurgical dissection, and finally clipping of the aneurysm (Table 3).

Premature rupture during the craniotomy period occurred in six patients, or 7% of the whole cohort. The grave prognosis of aneurysm rupture during this early operative period is demonstrated by the fact that five of these patients died.

Almost four-fifths of the intraoperative ruptures happened during the dissection period prior to definitive clipping. Of this patient group, 70% reached a satisfactory postoperative result, while one-fourth remained in a vegetative state or died. The high percentage of satisfactory outcome demonstrates that premature rupture during this operative period can usually be managed appropriately with the application of microsurgical techniques.

				Outcome (GOS)					
Surgical period	No. d	of patients	I	II	III	IV	v		
Craniotomy Dissection Clipping	6 66 13	(7%) (78%) (15%)	0 33 6	1 10 1	0 6 3	0 0 1	5 17 2	-	

Table 3. Time frames of aneurysm (intraoperative rupture and outcome)

Table 4. Intraoperative management (temporary clipping/induced hypotension) and postoperative outcome)

Postoperative status (GOC)	No. of patients			
Temporary clipping (n = 20)				
I II III IV + V	10 4 1 5	(50%) (20%) (5%) (25%)		
Induced hypotension $(n = 62)$				
I II III IV + V	31 6 6 19	(50%) (10%) (10%) (30%)		

Rupture during the final period of clip application occurred in only 15%, again with 70% of the patients reaching the postoperative status of I - III (GOS).

In addition to the continuation of microsurgical techniques, both temporary clipping and induced hypotension were used in our patients (Table 4).

In 20 of our 85 patients (23.5%) with intraoperative rupture, temporary clipping of the aneurysm-bearing vessel became necessary. In 17 patients exact data concerning the time of clip application were collected from the operative reports and anesthesiological charts. This interval ranged from 2 to 12 min, with a mean closure time of 3.2 min. Fourteen patients, or 70%, reached a satisfactory postoperative outcome, whereas five patients had aneurysms of the anterior communicating artery.

Assessment of the impact of induced hypotension, which was performed in 62 of our patients (72.9%), on the subsequent outcome is more difficult. The mean time of hypotension was 78 min. The mean systemic blood pressure (SBP) induced was 86 mmHg, with a range from 50-130 mmHg. No absolute threshold of the SBP below which the danger of ischemic sequelae was apparent could be defined. However, a dynamic relationship between the resting blood pressure of the patient prior to surgery and the percentage of the blood pressure decrease during induced hypotension was clearly demonstrable. Whereas a decrease of the SBP of no more than 40% was well tolerated in most of the patients, a decrease of more than 40% from resting parameters was accompanied by significant ischemic sequelae and consequent worsening of the outcome.

#### Discussion

Intraoperative aneurysm rupture is not a rare event during microsurgery for intracranial aneurysms. According to a literature survey premature rupture occurs in between 19% and 65%, with a mean percentage of 37%. This incidence of intraoperative rupture is slightly lower than that reported from our data. Despite the familiarity and routine use of microsurgical techniques, the occurrence of premature aneurysm during surgery definitely worsens the postoperative results, as could be demonstrated from our study. Literature reports of mortality due to premature aneurysm rupture during surgery range from 3% to as much as 70% [2,9,10,14].

In regard to the location of the aneurysm and the incidence of premature rupture, the high rate of intraoperative bleeding in anterior communicating aneurysms reflects the difficult topographical situation of these aneurysms as well as the surgical difficulties they cause, which, according to the experience of many authors, are especially pronounced under the circumstances of early surgery [3,8,11-13].

Considering the moment of aneurysm rupture during the surgical procedure, it is obvious that intraoperative rupture during the craniotomy period almost invariably leads to a fatal outcome, whereas rupture during the dissection or clipping period can usually be managed satisfactorily by the experienced neurosurgeon, with good postoperative survival in many of the patients.

The routine use of induced hypotension has come under some criticism in recent years. Some authors have denied the right to render the whole brain oligemic or even ischemic in order to reduce blood flow in the one vessel bearing the aneurysm. In contrast temporary clipping has been increasingly advocated, and some authors have reported long clipping times without or with only minimal neurological deficits [1,6]. These reports are substantiated by our data, in which temporary clipping is shown to have a greater margin of safety than induced hypotension, with consequent better results. Should the absolute necessity of using hypotension arise, a decrease in the SBP of more than 40% from the resting blood pressure of the patient has to be avoided.

Whether the application of so-called cerebroprotective substances can make hypotension or temporary clipping safer by prolonging the time of ischemic tolerance needs to be further elucidated.

#### References

- Ausmann JI, Diaz FG, Malik GM, Fielding AS, Son ChS (1985) Current management of cerebral aneurysms: Is it based on facts or myths? Surg Neurol 24:625-635
- Batjer H, Samson D (1986) Intraoperative aneurysmal rupture: incidence, outcome, and suggestions for surgical management. Neurosurgery 18:701-707
- 3. Fox JL (1983) Intracranial aneurysms. Springer-Verlag, New York
- 4. Greenberg TM (1984) Cerebral aneurysm rupture during neurosurgery. Neurosurgery 15:243-245
- Hunt WE, Hess RM (1968) Surgical risk as related to time of intervention in the repair of intracranial aneurysms. J Neurosurg 28:14-19
- Jabre A, Symon L (1987) Temporary vascular occlusion during aneurysm surgery. Surg Neurol 27:47-63
- Jennett B, Bond M (1975) Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet 1:480-485
- Jomin M, Lesoin F, Lozes G (1984) Prognosis with 500 ruptured and operated intracranial arterial aneurysms. Surg Neurol 21:13-18
- 9. Paul RL, Arnold JG (1970) Operative factors influencing mortality in intracranial aneurysm surgery: analysis of 186 consecutive cases. J Neurosurg 32:289-294

- 10. Pertuiset B, Van Effenterre R, Goutorbe J, Yoshimasu N (1974) Management of aneurysmal rupture during surgery using bipolar coagulation, deep hypotension, and the operative microscope. Acta Neurochir 30:195-205
- 11. Saito I, Aritake K, Sano K (1982) Early operation of ruptured cerebral aneurysms - result of 120 cases operated on within one week after SAH. Mod Neurosurg 1:424-435
- 12. Seifert V, Stolke D, Trost HA (1988) Timing of aneurysm surgery: comparison of operative results of early and delayed intervention. Europ Arch Neurol Psychiat Sci (in press)
- 13. Snykers FD, Drake GC (1973) Aneurysms of the distal anterior cerebral artery: a report of 24 verified cases. S Afr Med J 47:1787-1791
- 14. Yasargil MG (1984) Microneurosurgery, vol II. Georg Thieme Verlag, Stuttgart

# Temporary Vessel Occlusion by Microvascular Clips

H. Wassmann, C. Werner, and A. v. Stockert

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Bonn, Sigmund-Freud-Straße 25, D-5300 Bonn 1

## Introduction

Microvascular procedures for cerebral aneurysms or revascularization of small arteries require the application of microvascular clips. In 1911, CUSHING [1] became the first to describe the application of vascular clips for the occlusion of bleeding cerebral vessels. Increasingly authors are recommending the application of some temporary clips before preparation and occlusion of an aneurysm without regard to possible vessel wall lesions being caused by the clips themselves. To ensure the successful performance of the finest surgical techniques these clips are expected to bring about the temporary occlusion of a cerebral vessel combined with minimal vessel wall lesion. We therefore set out to study the effects of different microvascular clips with a diameter of 1-2 mm on the vessel wall and measured blood flow in the temporarily clipped arteries.

#### Method

Forty carotid arteries of male Wistar rats were divided into four groups (A-D) and occluded for 60 min by different microvascular clips. These segments of the artery were fixed by intracardial perfusion of the animals with glutaraldehyde and examined by light (LM) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM).

Group A was a control group without temporary occlusion of the carotid artery. In group B the carotid artery was occluded by an alpha-type clip (Biemer FD 560) with an occlusion force of 35 g.

In group C carotid artery occlusion was done by a pivot-type clip (Heifetz) with an occlusion force of 115 g and 5 x 1.5 mm length. Group D was occluded by an alpha-type clip (modif. Mehdorn) with an occlusion force of 40 g and a length of 4 x 1 mm.

Additionally these clips and a temporary Sugita clip with an occlusion force of 65 g were used to clip the abdominal aorta of rats for 30 min. Changes of blood flow volume in this artery were determined by a Doppler vessel clamp with an accuracy of  $\pm 12.8\%$  for 30 min after reopening the clip [6].


Fig. 1. Light micrograph (above) of the normal common carotid artery (group A) shows a smooth endothelial cell lining (EC), endothelial nuclei (N), internal elastic lamina (EL), medial smooth muscle cell (SM), and vessel lumen (VL). X 1000. The arterial seqment below was compressed by a clip and reveals crater formation with destruction of endothelium, internal elastic membrane, and medial layers of smooth muscle cell up to connective tissue of the adventitia

#### Results

In control group A SEM examination of the vessel wall demonstrated a regular tissue structure with protrusions of nuclear endothelial cells with digs and folds in the longitudinal direction of the vessel. LM showed a tissue wall with a lamina of spindle-like endothelial cells near the lumen, with protruding nuclei lying close to the membrana elastica, followed by circular layers of smooth muscle cells (Fig. 1).

As tissue lesions did not differ qualitatively between the groups in the region of the applied clips, the results for groups B-D may be summarized as follows:

SEM showed a flattened endothelial layer with loss of physiological nuclear protrusion. Lesion of the endothelial lamina, followed by denuding of subendothelial connective tissue, was accompanied by leukocyte adhesions and platelet aggregation (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Scanning electron micrograph of an arterial segment compressed by a Biemer clip (group B). Platelets (P) are adherent to the endothelium. Slight crater formation (arrows) seen (E). X 1200



Fig. 3. Light micrograph of an arterial segment compressed by a Heifetz clip (group C). The vessel lumen is occluded by a thrombus. Parts of the vascular wall are destroyed (arrows). X 16



Flow Changes After 30'Clip

Fig. 4. Mean changes of blood flow in arteries with a diameter of 2 mm after closure with microvascular clips for 30 min

LM showed diapedesis of endothelial lamina by neutrophil granulocytes. The cytoplasm of smooth muscle cells was vacuolated, and the nuclei were pyknotic in some cases. In severe lesions there was disruption of the endothelial lamina, with crater formation and lesion of the media cells (Fig. 1). In one case of group B these vessels wall lesions led to a secondary thrombotic occlusion of the examined vessel (Fig. 3).

The quantitative examination showed segments of arteries closed by alpha-type clips with an occlusion force of 35 or 40 g to display lesions of the endothelial surface, slight alterations of the media, some pyknotic nuclei, or vacuolated cytoplasm. The pivot-type clip, with an occlusion force of 115 g, caused destruction of the intima and media cells, and severe crater formation with thrombosis of the vessel.

A follow-up examination of blood flow in the temporarily occluded artery showed a characteristic behavior (Fig. 4): Immediately after opening the clip, blood flow showed values far above steady state. Values then decreased steadily until in the 10th min they sank below the steady state value and remained virtually unchanged at a low level from the 30th min. These changes were not significantly different between the groups. The mean value in relation to steady state showed a 92% increase after clip opening; after 10 min it was 15% below the steady state value and after 30 min, 46% below.

#### Discussion and Conclusion

Our studies provide evidence that even microvascular clips available today, with minimal occlusion force, cause vessel wall lesions when used temporarily for periods between 30 and 60 min.

FEIN [4] was able to reveal stenoses angiographically at the sites where Biemer clips were applied in five patients who underwent cerebral revascularization operations. Because this clip produces 35 g of force and the serrated blades increase the focal distribution of the stress load, the Biemer clip may damage the vessel in a similar manner to that demonstrated in our investigations.

Furthermore, nearly all clips utilized have a lever system so that Archimedes' law applies: the force exerted by the lever is inversely proportional to the distance from the fulcrum. Therefore the force exerted by the blade near the fulcrum is greater than the force exerted at the tips. These types of clip produce the least force in the closed resting position. So a thick-walled vessel that prohibits a clip from closing fully receives more force than does a thin-walled vessel that can be compressed to a greater extent.

DUJOVNY et al. [3] showed in a computer simulation model that the calculated shear forces were very high at the points where the vessel folds over itself. This indicates that the greatest amount of stress is on the inner layer of a vessel closest to the fulcrum and that this region is most susceptible to "corner mirror lesion."

In accordance with SZILAGYI et al. [5], we found in our blood flow measurements a shortlasting hyperperfusion in the first 5 min after opening the clip, followed by a drastically reduced flow in the early postinjury period. Dodson et al. contended that the autoregulatory function of the vessel might itself be altered by such a clip [2].

These changes cannot be marked off from peripheral tissue alterations produced by transient ischemia. Irrespective of this question, the reduced flow may increase the risk of thrombotic vessel occlusion, so that additional rheological measurements should be discussed.

We were bound to conclude that no clip currently available allows small arteries to escape temporary occlusion unscathed. This endothelial trauma, which could readily compromise even the finest surgical techniques, can be reduced by using clips with minimal occlusive forces, and with smooth, long, and broad blades, which should be gently applied [7] as far from the fulcrum as possible.

An electronic microclip would be desirable that can alter its force and blade configuration as its sensors control the vessel wall.

#### References

- Cushing H (1911) The control of bleeding in operations for brain tumors: with the description of silver "clips" for the occlusion of vessels inaccessible to the ligature. Ann Surg 54: 1-19
- Dodson RF, Tagashira Y, Chu LWF (1976) Acute ultrastructural changes in the middle cerebral artery due to injury and ischemia of surgical clamping. Can J Neurol Sci 3:23-27
- Dujovny M, Kossovsky N, Laha R, Leff L, Wackenhut N, Perlin A (1979) Temporary microvascular clips. Neurosurgery 5:456-463

- 4. Fein J, Dujovny M, Kossovsky N (1983) Angiographic demonstration of postoperative cortical artery stenosis induced by Biemer temporary clips. Neurosurgery 13:520-522
- 5. Szilagyi DE, Whitcomb JG, Schenker W, Waibel P (1960) The laws of fluid flow and arterial grafting. Surgery 47:55-73
- 6. Wassmann H, Fischdick G (1985) Ultrasonic Doppler assessment of hemodynamics and flow volume in cerebrovascular neurosurgery. In: Hartmann A, Hoyer G (eds) Cerebral blood flow and metabolism measurements. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 603-607
- Weinstein PR, Chater NL, Maglio MT (1977) Scanning electron microscope studies of endothelial injury in microsurgical anastomosis. In: Schmiedeck P (ed) Microsurgery for stroke. Springer-Verlag, pp 135-138

# Aneurysmal Location and Operative Timing

## D. Stolke, V. Seifert, and H. A. Trost

Neurochirurgische Klinik der Medizinischen Hochschule Hannover, Konstanty-Gutschow-Straße 8, D-3000 Hannover 61

The timing of aneurysm surgery is often thought to be beyond discussion, but a retrospective study of 415 aneurysms operated on between 1970 and 1986 in Hannover revealed results which made it clear that the timing of surgery will remain a major topic of controversy. Management involving early operation [7] was not endorsed in all instances, and this result led to a reassessment of the problems of timing aneurysm surgery [2].

In the Federal Republic of Germany there are about 7000 subarachnoid hemorrhages (based on US data), or 11-13 per 100 000 inhabitants, per year [3,4,8]. Of these patients, 2500 will die immediately from the hemorrhage without possible medical intervention. A further 2000 will die because of rebleedings, pre- and/or postoperative cerebral vasospasm, and operative and medical problems. Only 2500 patients become functional survivors with no or minimal deficits. These statistics were so impressive that the approach of delaying surgery was changed to operating on all ruptured aneurysms within 72 h if possible. The rationale behind this change was as follows:

- Clipping of the ruptured aneurysm will definitely prevent recurrent hemorrhage.
- Evacuation of subarachnoid blood clots during early surgery may reduce the amount of spasmogenic substances which are thought to be released during posthemorrhagic clot lysis, consequently reducing the occurrence and the sequelae of vasospasm [1,3,5,6,9,10].

This study was designed to answer the following questions:

- Did the operation in the acute posthemorrhagic stage (within 72 h) improve the results?
- 2. Are there differences in the results according to the location of the aneurysms?

#### Patients, Methods, and Results

Between January 1979 and December 1986 526 patients were admitted for subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), as confirmed by CT and/or lumbar puncture. In only 415 patients was an aneurysm found to be the cause of SAH.

All the patients underwent surgery using standard microsurgical techniques with clipping of the aneurysm. No wrapping or coating tech-

214 Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M.Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

Age	Male	Female
10-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-60 70-79	7 22 32 51 35 17 0 164	5 22 54 52 57 50 11 251

## Table 1. Age and sex distribution of the patients (n = 415)

niques were used. Surgery was performed under neuroleptic anesthesia. Intraoperative hypotension was not used regularly but was occasionally found necessary during the final dissection of the aneurysm.

The age and sex distribution of the 251 female and 164 male patients is presented in Table 1. Of the 415 patients, 181 (45.2%) were operated on within 72 h and 234 (54.8%) were operated on after the 3rd day. Postoperative angiographic control was performed 3-8 weeks after surgery. All the surviving patients were reexamined after a minimum interval of 6 months following surgery according to the guidelines of the Cooperative Aneurysm Study using the criteria of the Glasgow Outcome Scale.

In both the early and the delayed surgery groups the anterior cerebral artery (ACA) represented the most common location of the aneurysm (35.5% and 32.5% of cases, respectively), followed by the internal carotid artery (ICA) (33.1% and 27.4%) and the middle cerebral artery (MCA) (22.7% and 23.1%) (Tables 2, 3). Only two (1.1%) aneurysms of the posterior circulation were operated on within 72 h, whereas these aneurysms accounted for 7.7% of the delayed group. Fourteen pa-

	All groups		I +	I + II		III		IV + V	
Aneurysmal location	n	£	n	₹	n	8	n	ફ	
A. carotis interna A. cerebri media A. cerebri anterior A. vertebr. basilaris Multiple aneurysms	64 54 76 18 22 234	27.4 23.1 32.5 7.7 9.4 100.0	47 40 59 13 17 176	73.4 74.0 77.6 72.2 77.3 75.2	2 3 3 0 <u>1</u> 9	3.1 5.6 3.9 <u>4.5</u> 3.8	$15 \\ 11 \\ 14 \\ 5 \\ 4 \\ 49$	23.7 20.4 18.4 27.8 <u>18.2</u> 20.9	

Table 2. Location of aneurysm and outcome (Glasgow Outcome Scale) in patients in whom surgery was delayed

	All groups		I + II		III		IV + V	
- Aneurysmal location	n	ક	n	8	n	÷	n	₹
A carotis interna	60	33 1	4.4	73 3	<u> </u>	15 0	7	
A. cerebri media	41	22.7	29	70.7	4	9.8	8	19 5
A. cerebri anterior	64	35.5	40	62.5	7	10.9	17	26.6
A. vertebr. basilaris	s 2	1.1	1	50.0	i	50.0	0	20.0
Multiple aneurysms	_14	7.7	7	50.0	0		_7	50.0
	181	100.0	121	66.9	21	11.6	39	21.5

Table 3. Location of aneurysm and outcome (Glasgow Outcome Scale) in patients undergoing early surgery

tients (7.7%) with multiple aneurysms were operated on early, while in 22 patients (9.4%) surgery was delayed.

The results showed that early surgery reduced rebleedings to less than 50%, from 23.2% in the delayed group to ll% in the early group (Tables 4, 5).

Internal carotid artery aneurysms rebled in 27% of the delayed cases; the corresponding figures for MCA aneurysms and ACA aneurysms were 24.1% and 19.7% respectively. Regarding the early operations, ICA aneurysms rebled in 13.3% of cases, MCA aneurysms in 14.6%, and ACA aneurysms in only 6.3%. The results regarding the location of the aneurysms demonstrated a comparably good outcome of ICA and MCA aneurysms (73.3% and 70.7%) in the early group and in the delayed group (73.4% and 74.0%). There was a striking difference in good outcome of the ACA aneurysms between the early group (62.5%) and the delayed group (77.6%).

To complete the results it has to be pointed out that even grade IV and V patients (according to Hunt and Hess) were operated on, especially if there was an additional space-occupying intracerebral hematoma. The results demonstrated an insignificantly better progno-

Aneurysmal location	n	Recurre hemorri	ent nage	Frequency of recurrent hemorrhage regarding aneurysmal location
A. carotis interna A. cerebri media A. cerebri anterior A. vertebr. basilaris Multiple aneurysms	64 54 76 18 22 234	17 13 15 3 <u>6</u> 54	7.3% 5.6% 6.4% 1.3% <u>2.6%</u> 23.2%	26.6% 24.1% 19.7% 16.7% 27.3%

Table 4. Recurrent hemorrhage (delayed operation)

Aneurysmal location	n	Recuri hemori	cent chage	Frequency of recurrent hemorrhage regarding aneurysmal location
A. carotis interna A. cerebri media A. cerebri anterior A. vertebri basilaris	60 41 64	8 6 4	4.48 3.38 2.28	13.3% 14.6% 6.3%
Multiple aneurysms	14	_2	1.1%	14.3%
	181	20	11.0%	

Table 5. Recurrent hemorrhage (early operation)

sis in the early group than in the delayed group. This supports the performance of surgery even in these poor-risk patients.

This study confirms that the preoperative neurological status of patients suffering from SAH to a large extent determines the postoperative outcome (cf. Tables 6, 7).

#### Discussion

Analyzing our data and in answer to our introductory questions, we were able to demonstrate that the rebleeding rate was reduced by early operation to less than 50% of that following delayed operation. To demonstrate a reduction of the occurrence of vasospastic complications is much more difficult, but based on occasionally repeated angiograms, clinical diagnosis, and CT criteria, it can be asserted that the occurrence of cerebral vasospasm in about 30% of the late surgery group was reduced to about 15% in the early surgery group.

Returning to our questions we have to conclude:

1. That a definitive answer concerning the superiority of early or delayed surgery for the treatment of ruptured intracranial aneurysms cannot be given. Early surgery was not as convincing as we had initially thought, whereas delayed surgery led to better results than expected.

		All	All groups		I + II		III		IV + V	
Hunt and grade	Hess	n	8	n	8	n	8	n	8	
I + II + IV + V	III	195 _39	83.3 16.7	157 <u>19</u>	89.7 <u>48.7</u>	7 <u>2</u>	3.6 <u>5.1</u>	31 <u>18</u>	15.9 46.2	
		234	100.0	176	75.2	9	3.8	49	20.9	

Table 6. Preoperative neurological status and outcome (Glasgow Outcome Scale) in patients in whom surgery was delayed

All groups I + IIIII IV + VHunt and Hess n ջ n ₿ n 웅 n ₿ grade 143 79.0 105 73.4 I + II + III 13 9.1 25 17.5 IV + V38 21.0 16 42.1 \_\_\_8 21.1 14 36.8

Table 7. Preoperative neurological status and outcome (Glasgow Outcome Scale) in patients undergoing early surgery

2. The aforementioned conclusion is based on consideration of all intracranial aneurysms, but if only the results regarding ICA and MCA (i.e., not ACA) aneurysms are examined, the early operated patients are seen to fare distinctly better.

121

66.9

21

11.6

39

21.5

181

100.0

As regards surgical management, this means: Ruptured aneurysms should undergo early surgery if the location of the aneurysm is at the ICA and MCA. In cases of ACA aneurysms only grade I and II patients should be operated on early, and then by the most experienced surgeon. These aneurysms tend to rebleed to only a minor degree and their outcome was best after delayed surgery in the present series [11,12].

## References

- 1. Allen GS (1984) Cerebral arterial spasm. Clin Neurosurg 32:70-78
- Ausmann JI, Diaz FG, Malik GM, Fielding AS, Son CS (1985) Current management of cerebral aneurysms: Is it based on facts or myths? Surg Neurol 24:625-635
- 3. Bonita R, Thomson S (1985) Subarachnoid hemorrhage: epidemiology, diagnosis, management, and outcome. Stroke 16:591-594
- 4. Cooper PR, Shucart WA, Tenner M, Hussain S (1980) Pre-operative arteriographic spasm and outcome from aneurysm operation. Neurosurgery 7:587-592
- Gianotta SL, Frazee JG (1980) Treatment of cerebral vasospasm with intravascular volume expansion and induced hypertension. Contemp Neurosurg 2:1-6
- 6. Hashi K, Aoyama I, Nin K, Shinotake K (1985) Further trial of cisternal clot removal for severe subarachnoid hemorrhage. In: Auer LM (ed) Timing of aneurysm surgery. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin New York, pp 373-380
- 7. Kassell NF, Drake CG (1982) Timing of aneurysm surgery. Neurosurgery 10:514-519
- Kassell NF, Torner JC (1984) The international cooperative study on timing of aneurysm surgery - an update. Stroke 15:566-570
- 9. Kassell NF, Sasaki T, Colohan ART, Nasar G (1985) Cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 16:562-572
- 10. Mizukami M, Kawase T, Usami T, Tazawa T (1982) Prevention of vasospasm by early operation with removal of subarachnoid blood. Neurosurgery 10:301-307

- 11. Säveland H, Ljunggren B, Brandt I, Messeter K (1986) Delayed ischemic deterioration in patients with early aneurysm operation and intravenous nimodipine. Neurosurgery 18:146-150
- 12. Stolke D, Seifert V (1988) Früh- oder Spätoperation des rupturierten Aneurysmas? Eine Analyse anhand von 356 Fällen. Acta Neurochir, in print

# Ventral Transvertebral Intradural Approach in Cervical and Thoracic Lesions

# R. Lorenz, W. I. Steudel, and F. Kreth

Neurochirurgische Klinik der Medizinischen Hochschule Hannover, Konstanty-Gutschow-Straße 8, D-3000 Hannover 61

Intradurally and ventrally situated extramedullary or intramedullary lesions can be operated on from a dorsal, dorsolateral, ventrolateral, or ventral approach. Disadvantages of the dorsal approach consist in the danger of damaging the spinal cord. The direct way to the ventral spinal cord is the ventral approach [2,3,7,14,15].

Because of the need for thoracotomy in the lower region and sternotomy in the upper region of the thoracic spine, in combination with vertebrectomy, the ventral approach is doubtless the more elaborate and should therefore be restricted to specific indications.

We report on three cases of ventrally and intradurally situated lesions which we removed via the familiar ventral approach in combination with vertebrectomy.

Case Reports

Case No. 1

This 51-year-old man with neurofibromatosis had suffered for 1 year from increasing tetraparesis accompanied by multiple paralyses, especially in the region of the diaphragm, the recurrent nerve, and the shoulder girdle musculature on the left side. A large tumor was palpable in the lateral neck triangle on the left.

Neuroradiological examinations: The plain X-rays of the cervical spine showed a pronounced malposition with development of kyphosis at the level of C3. MRI demonstrated six extraspinally situated tumors and a further intraspinal premedullary tumor at the level of C3-C5 (Fig. 1).

**Operation:** On 1 October 1985, the tumors were operated on from a neck incision on the left side. The intradural intraspinal portion was imaged by partial vertebrectomy of C3, C4, and C5 with opening of the dura and removed completely. Altogether, two intradurally localized tumors and eight extraspinally situated tumors were found.

**Postoperative course:** Postoperatively, the tetraparesis and paralyses in the region of the shoulder girdle and the left arm improved to such an extent that the patient could once more fully practice his profession as a bookkeeper. Investigation of the sensory evoked potentials of the tibial nerve and the median nerve revealed a marked



Fig. 1. MRI: intradurally located tumor at the level of C3-C5. Pronounced malposition of the cervical spine

improvement in the cortical stimulus response after 7 weeks and 17 months. The histological investigation revealed neurinomas.

Case No. 2

This 71-year-old woman was operated on elsewhere in 1981 for an intradural spinal meningioma at the level of C6-T2 by laminectomy. The readmission took place because of increasing paraparesis of the legs.

Neuroradiological examinations: MRI showed a ventrally situated tumor recurrence at the level of C7-T2 (Fig. 2). Owing to the planned approach, aortography was performed; it did not reveal any anomalies.



Fig. 2. MRI: meningioma situated ventral to the spinal cord at the level of C7 and extending to T2



Fig. 3. Plain X-ray of the lateral cervical spine (same patient as in Fig. 2): postoperative X-ray after vertebrectomy and stabilization with a bone graft from the iliac crest

**Operation:** Because of the prior dorsal operation and the ventrally localized tumor recurrence, we decided to carry out cervical sternotomy, which was performed on 6 July 1987. Here, the dura was imaged from ventral and opened with resection of the 7th cervical and the 1st thoracic vertebral bodies. The tumor, which originated from the ventral dura, was resected. The tumor was dissected out from spinal cord and removed completely. Afterwards, a dura patch was inserted and stabilization was performed with an autologous bone graft from the right iliac crest (Fig. 3).

**Postoperative course:** Postoperatively, the paraparesis improved well, so that the patient could again look after her household on her own. The tibial somatosensory evoked potentials showed this improvement by shortening of the latencies and increase of the amplitudes.

Case No. 3

This 24-year-old woman suffered several spinal hemorrhages which led to the diagnosis of spinal arteriovenous malformation at the level of T9 and T10. The malformation was partially resected from dorsal by laminectomy in 1979 elsewhere. In the subsequent period, there was renewed hemorrhage with increasing paraparesis of the legs.

Neuroradiological examinations: MRI and angiography showed a right ventral intramedullary location of the malformation (Fig. 4). The feeding arteries came above all from the left.

**Operation:** Owing to the presence of laminectomy and the ventral position of the lesion, we decided to make an anterolateral transpleural



Fig. 4. Spinal angiography: representation of the arteriovenous malformation with blood supply via the radicular artery from the left (Prof. Dr. H. Hacker, Department of Neuroradiology, Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität, Frankfurt a.M.)

approach from the right, with resection of the thoracic vertebral bodies T9 and T10; this was done on 15 October 1986. After opening the dura, the individual feeding arteries could be isolated and coagulated, and the malformation removed. After closing the dura with a patch, stabilization was carried out with an autologous bone graft from the iliac crest.

**Postoperative course:** Neurologically, the paraparesis did not improve appreciably.

#### Discussion

According to BREIG (1979), a lesion situated ventrally to the spinal cord in the region of the vertebral column leads, in pathophysiological terms, to a traumatization of the spinal cord and to transmitted alterations [1]. The traumatization of the spinal cord arises above all in flexion movement by stretching of the nervous structures, and can lead gradually or even suddenly to appreciable neurological deficits.

For surgical treatment in particular of degenerative diseases, of tuberculous lesions, and of tumors in the region of the spine, a large variety of ventral approaches have been developed and modified. In the region of the cervical spine, the ventral approach has been developed above all in degenerative diseases [3,10,11,15]. In the thoracic region, the approach to the upper thoracic spine was first described as cervical sternotomy in one of the rare vertebral disk prolapses by CAUCHOIX, BINET and EVRARD in 1957 [2]. The ventral approaches to the lower thoracic spine were employed primarily for treatment of injuries and in spinal tuberculosis and abnormalities [4-9,12-14]. We have used these familiar approaches in order to operate on intradural lesions. For this purpose, partial or complete vertebrectomy is necessary. Afterwards, stabilization is indispensable. We prefer autologous bone grafts from the iliac crest.

The advantages of the ventral approach in the lower region of the thoracic spine are that the thoracotomy can be extended to the ventral or lateral part of the spine and the surgeon obtains a sufficiently wide angle of vision.

On the basis of our experience, we can observe that the familiar ventral approaches to the spine can be extended to intradural without difficulties. In lesions with a ventral extramedullary or intramedullary location, only this ventral transvertebral intradural approach can be successful in extirpation.

#### References

- 1. Breig A (1978) Adverse mechanical tension in the central nervous system. Almquist and Witsell, Stockholm 2. Cauchoix J, Binet JP, Evrard J (1957) Les voies d'abord inhabi-
- tuelles dans l'abord des corps vertebraux, cervicaux et dorsaux. Ann Chir 74:1463
- 3. Cloward RB (1958) The anterior approach for removal of ruptured cervical disks. J. Neurosurg 15:602-617
- 4. Dohn DF (1980) Thoracic spinal cord decompression: alternative surgical basis of approaches and choice. Clin Neurosurg 27:611-623
- 5. Dott NM (1974) Skeletal traction and anterior decompression in the management of Pott's paraplegia. Edinburgh Med J 54:620-627
- 6. Hodgson AR, Stock FE (1956) Anterior spinal fusion: preliminary communication on the radical treatment of Pott's disease and Pott's paraplegia. Br J Surg 2:266-275
- 7. Louis R (1983) Surgery of the spine. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 188-261
- 8. Oppel F, Pannek HW, Brock M, Faensen M, Hahn E (1986) The use of transthoracic and ventro-lateral access in the surgical treatment of extradural spinal tumors in the thoracic and lumbar areas. Advances in Neurosurgery 14:98-105
- 9. Perot PL, Munro OD (1969) Transthoracic removal of midline thoracic disc protrusions causing spinal cord compression. J Neurosurg 31:452-462
- Ransohoff J, Spencer F, Slewe F (1969) Transthoracic removal of thoracic disc. Report of three cases. J Neurosurg 31: 459-461
  Schmidek HH (1982) Anterior cervical disc excision in cervical spondylosis. In: Schmidek HH, Sweet WH (eds) Operative neurosurgical techniques. Grune and Stratton, New York, pp 1237-1257
- 12. Seeger W (1982) Microsurgery of the spinal cord and surrounding structures. Springer, Wien New York, pp 218-297
- 13. Simeone FA, Rashbaum R (1982) Transthoracic disc excision. In: Schmidek HH, Sweet WH (eds) Operative neurosurgical techniques. Grune and Stratton, New York, pp 1259-1268
- 14. Smith GW, Robinson RA (1958) The treatment of certain cervical spine disorders by anterior removal of the intervertebral disc and interbody fusion. J Bone Joint Surg 40 A:607-624
- 15. Verbiest H (1978) From anterior to lateral operations on the cervical spine. Neurosurg Rev 1:47-67

# Lateral Approach for Resection of Anterior Craniospinal Tumors

# A. Karimi-Nejad

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Köln, Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

## Introduction

The dorsolateral approach for surgical resection of ventrally located craniospinal tumors [14] was elaborated to a lateral approach in the further course in relation to the upper spinal canal and the ventral surface of the brain stem of the medullary plate. In the following, the operative technique as well as the results of surgery are described in 22 patients with extradural and intradural craniospinal and spinocranial tumors with an exclusively ventral location. Patients with a craniospinal or spinocranial tumor with a lateral or dorsal location have not been included in this study.

## Surgical Technique

In the sitting position, an angular incision is extended far to lateral to about 4 cm above the mastoid process and the midline up to about C6 to C7 on the right or the left, in accordance with the predominant extension of the tumor, and the head is turned to the side of the predominant extension of the tumor (Fig. 1). The skin flap dissected angularly from the musculature corresponding to the cutaneous incision is fixed far to lateral in order to avoid obstructions to vision. The neck musculature is severed transversely at the level of the nuchal plane with a remnant at the occiput remaining for the lateral suture. It is dissected free of spinous processes and transverse arches from Cl to C3 on the side of the angular incision in the midline, mobilized, and also fixed far to lateral to avoid obstruction to vision. The dorsal atlas arch up to the lateral mass or up to the vertebral arterial sulcus and the dorsal arch of the second vertebral body up to the site of axis insertion are exposed and freed of soft tissue. In the dissection of the vertebral artery and the root C2 which now follows, the numerous thick-caliber veins must be carefully dissected free around the artery and the root, coagulated, and covered at an early stage with cotton wool pads to avoid air embolism. In anterior spinocranial tumors, resection of the lateral part of the atlas arch up to the lateral mass is not necessary as a rule. Lateral partial or total resection of the C2 dorsal arch extending up to the site of insertion of the axis body is sufficient. In tumors within and above the foramen magnum, on the other hand, the lateral part of the atlas arch and the bone ridges projecting from the lateral mass and below the sulcus of the vertebral artery or the vertebral artery up to the foramen of the transverse process of the atlas are removed and the vertebral artery is mobilized in the entire horizontal section (Fig. 1). In this way, a displacement of the vertebral artery is possible to cranioventral. This position of the ver-



Fig. 1. Position of the head and neck in accordance with predominant extension of a tumor to the right side. Approach to the craniocervical junction with exposure of the vertebral artery on the right side

tebral artery can be retained during the entire operation by the assistant with a bent dissector or with a self-retractor. By mobilization of the artery, the approach is facilitated above the C2 root and ventral to the point of entry of the vertebral artery into the intradural space. In extradural tumors, it is entirely feasible to remove a tumor via an approach between the vertebral artery and the C2 root or below the C2 root. In intradural tumors, the dura is opened behind the C2 root and extended longitudinally ventral to the site of entry of the vertebral artery in the cranial and caudal direction. Since the vertebral artery initially runs upwards and then to the midline after its entry into the dura, there is no danger of its being injured. The large opening in the dura created in the longitudinal direction is enlarged by traction and fixation of dura holding sutures over a wide area to anterior and posterior. For a better intradural access in tumors extending to cranial, the root C2 is displaced to caudal after opening the arachnoidea; the denticulate ligament and the uppermost denticulate tip are severed cranial and dorsal to the vertebral artery, and the intraspinal fibers of the accessory nerve are also mobilized and displaced to dorsal. In this operation as well as in the further course, damage to the laterally situated ganglion on the spinal part of the cranial nerve XI should be avoided as far as possible. The exposure of anterior tumors in the lower clivus region as well as in the greater foramen is made possible by this technique. The medullary plate is now situated dor-226

sally in the field of vision of the surgeon, and thus outside the danger zone. Intradural ventrally located craniospinal meningiomas emanating from the clivus are as a rule demonstrated in aged patients. In order to avoid any mechanical damage to the vulnerable medulla, the tumor should be approached ventrally (if possible with a Cusa instrument), primarily at the site of attachment, and reduced in size. Only afterwards is it possible to luxate the dorsal part stepwise to ventral and to remove it without exerting pressure on the medullary plate. In intradural tumors, dural suture is carried out continuously. The musculature, fascia, and skin are closed layer by layer.

#### Case Report

A 76-year-old woman patient with increasing tetraparesis finally became unable to walk and bedridden about 2 months before admission to hospital. On admission to the hospital, the legs could be moved to a minimal extent, but could not be raised from the bed. The left arm could just be raised from the bed, but only minimal finger movements were possible on the right side. CT and nuclear magnetic resonance tomography indicated an anterior craniospinal meningioma (Fig. 2) which was more extensive on the right side. A small space not occupied by the tumor was still present only on the left side. Two days before the operation, the paresis on the right side intensified to paralysis. Central respiratory disorders occurred from time to time. The operation took place using the previously described technique in a sitting position by an angular incision on the right side with turning of the head to the right side. After exposure of the lateral parts of the Cl and C2 arches, the projecting bony parts of the lateral mass above and below the vertebral artery as well as the most lateral part of the dorsal atlas arch were resected. The vertebral artery was mobilized over its entire horizontal distance up to the point of entry into the dura. The dura was opened directly behind the C2 root and the opening extended longitudinally in the cranial direction. The opening of the dura was also extended cranially as far as possible after displacement of the vertebral artery in the cranioventral direction. After opening of the arachnoidea and severance of the denticulate ligament, the meningioma was shown up well (Fig. 3). The meningioma was initially approached with the Cusa instrument at the site of attachment and reduced in size. Only afterwards were the parts which had extended more dorsally in the direction of the



Fig. 2. MRI (left, middle panel); CT (right panel): Huge meningioma of the foramen magnum. A small space not occupied by the tumor is still present only on the left side



Fig. 3. Same case as Fig. 2. After the opening of the dural and arachnoidea and severance of the denticulate ligament, the meningioma is clearly visible

medullary plate luxated to ventral and finally resected completely. Only when the dorsal dural layer was retracted further to dorsal after removing the tumor could the surgeon see the ventral surface of the medullary plate (Fig. 4).

The patient recovered rapidly after the operation. She was already able to walk 6 weeks after the operation. A dextrolateral arm paresis which was still present also showed a good tendency to regress in the further course. Despite the good clinical improvement of the neurolo-

228



Fig. 4. Same case as Figs. 2 and 3. After removal of the tumor the ventral surface of the medullary plate can be seen if the dorsal dural layer is retracted further dorsally

gical symptoms, the anterior tumor cavity could be discerned in MRI even 6 weeks after operation, as in other cases with anterior craniospinal meningiomas. The medullary plate had not yet unfolded completely (Fig. 5).

#### Patients and Results of Surgery

A total of 22 patients with anterior craniospinal and anterior spinocranial tumors were operated on with this approach. Table 1 shows the type diagnosis, the craniospinal or the spinocranial extent, and the location (extradural, intradural). The catamneses (6 months after the operation) are listed in Table 2. In all patients, an almost



Fig. 5. Same case as Figs. 2-4. MRI 6 weeks after surgery. The medullary plate had not yet unfolded completely

complete regression of the neurological deficits was demonstrated after this period. Only a 35-year-old woman patient with an anterior craniospinal meningioma in which large amounts of air were aspirated repeatedly from the pulmonary artery by the anesthetist during the operation in the sitting position remained unconscious after the operation. She showed a mydriasis on the right side and extensor convulsions on the left side, and died on the third postoperative day. The autopsy showed a massive swelling of the brain which was more pronounced on the right. A massive arterial air embolism of the cranial vessels with corresponding typical alterations in the brain tissue was demonstrated to be the cause. This arterial air embolism was the result of an unknown and clinically irrelevant open oval foramen at the heart. The open oval foramen was not discovered in routine preoperative internist investigations.

#### Discussion

Since the description, definition, and analysis of craniospinal tumors [2,5,7-9,15,16] the paradoxical symptoms and the difficulties in diagnosing these tumors have been emphasized [6,30, containing further references]. Myelography in the region of the foramen magnum [17,18] and computer tomography have not led to any appreciable

Extension Tumors No. Foramen magnum C1-C2 Intradural Meningioma 15 9 5 1 Neurinoma 2 1 1 Epidermoid 1 1 Extradural Chordoma 1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Table 1. Type, location, and extent of 22 tumors operated on via a lateral approach in the craniospinal or spinocranial region

Hemangiopericytoma

Osteoid osteoma

Plasmacytoma

Tumors		Neurolo before	gical signs surgery	Neur <u>6 mo</u>	Neurological signs 6 months after surgery				
		R	R+M	R	R+M	None	Death		
Meningioma Neurinoma Epidermoid	15 2 1	2	13 2 RM + increased in- tracranial pressure	4 2	1	9 1	1		
Intradural	18	2	16	6	1	10	1		
Chordoma Hemangi\operi cytoma Osteoid	 1	Pain	1			1 1			
osteona Plasmacytoma	1 a 1	Pain	1			1 1			
Extradural	4	2	2			4			

Table 2. Neurological findings in 22 cases of anterior craniospinal or anterior spinocranial tumors

R, radicular; M, medullary

improvement in the diagnosis of these tumors. Only MRI has provided a major advance in their diagnosis [21,24], so that they are diagnosed more frequently today. This is illustrated by the fact that more ven-trally located craniospinal tumors have been diagnosed and operated on in the last 4 years at the Neurosurgery Division, University of Cologne than in almost 30 previous years. If the literature of the last 10 years is considered with regard to the approach, then reports on a dorsal suboccipital approach predominate [11,12,19,30]. A more precise differentiation of the location (anterior, lateral, posterior) mostly took place intraoperatively in accordance with the diagnostic possibilities available. Like the reports from other authors, the reports from the Mayo Clinic, which concern the largest number of cases (120 benign intradural tumors of the foramen magnum), refer to the difficulties in surgery in the ventral location, which was as a rule the cause of a lethal outcome or inoperability of the tumors [19,30]. Owing to the disappointing results of surgery of ventrally located tumors in the craniospinal region carried out via the dorsal suboccipital approach, the transoral approach recommended for extradural tumors by MULLAN et al. [22] has recently also been applied in occasional cases with intradural lesions [1,3,4,20,28]. Extradural tumors with a cervical extension can also be approached via the transoral route [23]. On the other hand, apart from the necessary resection and retrospective replacement of the axis, intradural tumors with extension into the cervical region are difficult to approach. The main problem is the frequently occurring postoperative CSF fistulae [3,13,20,29]. The transcervical, transclival approach recommended for clivus tumors by STEVENSON et al. [26], which has been used more rarely, is not suitable for intradural tumors. SUGIJA-

MA et al. [27] mentioned a technique with an approach from the side in the lateral position without describing it in detail.

The dorsolateral paracondylar approach recommended by SEEGER [25] for aneurysms of the vertebrobasilar region was also used for craniocervical tumors by GILSBACH et al. [10]. The lateral approach to the upper spinal canal and lower clivus region described above, which has up to now been applied in 22 patients with ventrally located craniospinal and spinocranial tumors, is suitable for the resection of anterior craniospinal and spinocranial tumors and carries a low risk. Apart from slight microsurgical variations for dissection and mobili-Apart from slight microsurgical variations for dissection and mobili-zation of the vertebral artery, this approach is well known to the neurosurgeon with experience of the dorsosuboccipital approach for removing tumors from different locations. Owing to the lateral approach, the medullary plate is outside the field of operation and is thus not in danger of mechanical damage. This approach can be applied both for extradural and for intradural tumors. Tumors with extensions above the caudal half of the clivus or in front of the pons cannot be reached via this approach. The transoral approach also appears to be more suitable in extradural tumors which extend far to cranial (clivus chordoma).

#### References

- 1. Abe H, Tsuro M, Iwasaki Y, Isu T (1985) Surgical treatment of atlanto-axial dislocations. In: Hudson AR, Hoffmann H, Peerless S, Schatz St (eds) 8th international congress of neurological surgery. Abstracts 112, Toronto 7-13
- 2. Abrahamson I, Grossmann M (1921) Tumors of the upper cervical cord. Trans Am Neurol Assoc 47:149-168
- 3. Chono Y, Abe H, Iwasaki Y, Kobayashi N, Imai T, Sakuragi M, Tsuru (1985) Transoral anterior approach to foramen magnum М meningioma. No Shinkei Geka 13:109-114
- 4. Crockard HA, Bradford R (1985) Transoral transclival removal of a schwannoma anterior to the cranio-cervical junction. J Neurosurg 62:293-295
- 5. Cushing H, Eisenhardt L (1938) Meningiomas: their classification, regional behaviour, life history and surgical end results. Springfield III, Charles C. Thomas, pp 785 6. Editorial (1973) Missed foramen-magnum tumours. Lancet 2:1482
- 7. Elsberg CA (1925) Tumors of the spinal cord and the symptoms of irritation and compression of the spinal cord and nerve roots. Pathology, symptomatology, diagnosis and treatment. New York, PB Hoeber Inc., pp 42
- 8. Elsberg CA (1929) Tumors of the spinal cord. Problems in their diagnosis and localization; procedures for their exposure and removal. Arch Neurol Psychiatry 22:949-965
- 9. Elsberg CA, Strauss I (1929) Tumors of the spinal cord which project into the posterior cranial fossa. Arch Neurol Psychiatry 21:261-273
- 10. Gilsbach JM, Eggert HR, Seeger W (1987) The dorsolateral approach in ventrolateral craniospinal lesions. In: Voth D, Glees P (eds) Diseases in the cranio-cervical junction. De Gruyter, Berlin New York 359-364
- 11. Guidetti B, Spallone A (1980) Benign extramedullary tumors of the foramen magnum. Surg Neurol 13:9-17
- 12. Hakuba A, Nishimura S, Mishima Y, Kawano K (1982) Foramen magnum tumors. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 22:563-576
- 13. Hayakawa T, Kamikawa K, Ohnishi T, Yoshimine T (1983) Prevention postoperative complications after transoral transclival of approach to basilar aneurysms. J Neurosurg 54:699-703

- 14. Karimi-Nejad A (1985) Operativer Zugang und die Lagerung bei ventral lokalisierten kranio-spinalen Tumoren. 36th Annual Meeting of the German Society of Neurosurgery, Berlin, 12-15 Mai 1985
- 15. Love JG, Adson AW (1941) Tumors of the foramen magnum. Trans Am Neurol Assoc 67:78-81
- 16. Love JG, Thelen EP, Dodge HW Jr (1954) Tumors of the foramen magnum. J Int Coll Surg 22:1-17
- 17. Malis LI (1958) The myelographic examination of the foramen magnum. Radiology 70:196-221
- 18. Margolis MT (1976) A simple myelographic maneuver for the detection of mass lesions at the foramen magnum. Radiology 119:482-485
- 19. Meyer FB, Ebersold MJ, Reese DF (1984) Benign tumors of the foramen magnum. J Neurosurg 61:136-142
- 20. Miller E, Crockard HA (1987) Transoral transclival removal of anteriorly placed meningiomas at the foramen magnum. Neurosurgery Vol. 20, 6:966-968
- 21. Modic MT, Weinstein MA, Pavlicek W, Boumphrey F, Starnes.D, Duchesneau PM (1983) Magnetic resonance imaging of the cervical spine: technical and clinical observations. AJR 141 (6):1129-36
- 22. Mullan S, Naunton R, Hekmat-panah J, Vailati G (1966) The use of an anterior approach to ventrally placed tumors in the foramen magnum and vertebral column. J Neurosurg 24:536-543
- 23. Pasztor E, Valda J, Piffko P, Horváth M, Horváth M, Gàdor I (1984) Transoral surgery for craniocervical space occupying processes. J Neurosurg 60:276-281
- 24. Paushter DM, Modic MT, Masaryk TJ (1985) Magnetic resonance imaging of the spine: applications and limitations. Radiol Clin North Am 23 (3):551-62
- 25. Seeger W (1978) Atlas of topographical anatomy of the brain and surrounding structures. Springer, Wien New York
- 26. Stevenson GC, Stoney RJ, Perkins RK, Adams JE (1966) A transcervical transclival approach to the ventral surface of the brain stem for removal of a clivus chordoma. J Neurosurg 24:544-551
- 27. Sugiyama S, Kodama N, Yoshimoto T, Suzuki J (1980) Foramen magnum neurinoma. An operated case of foramen magnum neurinoma. No Shinkei Geka 8 (11):1101-1105
- 28. Tokuda K, Abe H, Iwasaki Y, Chono Y (1986) Foramen magnum tumor the diagnosis and surgical approach. No Shinkei Geka 14 (3 Suppl):271-276
- 29. Yamaura A, Makino H, Isobe K, Takashima T, Nakamura T, Takemiya S (1979) Repair of cerebro spinal fluid fistula following transoral transclival approach to a basilar aneurysm. Technical note. J Neurosurg 50:834-836
- 30. Yasuoka S, Okazaki H, Daube JR, Maccarty CS (1978) Foramen magnum tumours: analysis of 57 cases of benign extramedullary tumors. J Neurosurg 49:828-838

Brain Death

# Diagnosis of Brain Death

R.A. Frowein, R. Firsching, and K. Nanassis

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Köln, Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

Except for single contributions in 1977 and 1985, so far our society has discussed brain death only at the annual convention in Göttingen in 1968, organized by Karl August BUSHE 20 years ago (BUSHE 1970). Today we consider brain death the irreversible cessation of all integrating brain functions, while the cardiorespiratory functions are maintained with artificial ventilation (FROWEIN 1986; FROWEIN et al. 1987).

Diagnosis of brain death is based on certain prerequisites and the clinical findings of coma, brain stem areflexia, and apnea. As proof of the irreversibility of the loss of brain functions, additional investigations are required; angiography demonstrating cerebral circulatory arrest, EEG showing electrocortical silence, abolition of brain stem auditory evoked potentials, or confirmatory clinical investigation after an adequate waiting period, the length of which depends on the kind of underlying brain lesion and the age of the patient. Specific guidelines for these investigations were developed internationally in a first and second generation of brain death criteria (FROWEIN et al. 1987).

From our contribution in Göttingen and numerous publications, in particular by WALKER [1981, 1985, 1987], it became apparent that the consecutive order of symptoms during the development of brain death may be variable (FROWEIN and POHL 1970).

The terms "cortical," "neocortical," and "brain stem death" will not be considered here. At the Neurological Congress in 1984, organized by GANSHIRT, the variable clinical courses were discussed: e.g. electrocortical silence (ECS) preceding apnea by 10 h after a traumatic supratentorial lesion (FROWEIN et al. 1985) and apnea preceding ECS in infratentorial lesions like cerebellar hemorrhage, infratentorial operation, or basilar artery thrombosis (FROWEIN et al. 1985; HACKE et al. 1985; FERBERT et al. 1985).

In 7 out of 97 primary supratentorial brain lesions we found ECS preceding apnea by 1, 3, 7, 8, 12, 13, and 27 h. These courses are not controversial as the diagnosis of brain death is based on the complete clinical findings of coma, brain stem areflexia, and apnea all together.

These observations are confirmed by transcranial Doppler sonography revealing a shuttle flow in the basal vessels of the brain in patients in coma grade IV as a sign of cerebral circulatory arrest with preserved respiration. As early as 1970 a preserved basilar artery flow was documented in similar cases by vertebral angiography;

237

such documentation is now easier with Doppler sonography through the foramen magnum.

In acute primary infratentorial lesions, however, apnea may precede ECS or the abolition of the intracerebral parts of the auditory evoked potentials. Therefore, the Bundesärztekammer (1986) concluded that in primary infratentorial lesions the additional documentation of ECS is mandatory for the diagnosis of brain death. In 5 out of 13 patients with primary infratentorial brain lesions leading to brain death, persisting EEG activity was found 5, 7, 8, 14, and 18 h after documentation of apnea. In the literature, such observations have been reported in six patients with infratentorial hemorrhages or tumors and in six patients with basilar artery thrombosis (FROWEIN 1986; FERBERT et al. 1986; JANZEN et al. 1985; HAUPT 1987). It should be noted that in these cases the documentation of EEG was not continuous and the onset of ECS may have been earlier.

Therefore it is our main concern today to gather more experience on the synchronous and asynchronous loss of single brain functions during the development of brain death.

#### References

Bundesärztekammer (1986) Fortschreibung der Kriterien des Hirntodes. Deutsches Ärzteblatt - Ärztliche Mitteilungen 83: 2940-2946

- Bushe KA (1970) Fortschritte auf dem Gebiet der Neurochirurgie. Stuttgart, Hippokrates-Verlag
- Ferbert A, Buchner H, Ringelstein EB, Hacke W (1985) Der Hirnstammtod bei Basilaristhrombose – eine besondere Variante des Hirntodes? In: Gänshirt H, Berlit P und Haack G. Kardiovaskuläre Erkrankungen .... Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo
- Ferbert A, Buchner H, Ringelstein RB, Hacke W (1986) Isolated brain stem death. Case report with demonstration of preserved visual evoked potentials (VEPs). Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology. 65:157-160
- Frowein RA, Pohl F (1970) Klinische Beobachtungen bei zerebralen Zirkulationsstillständen und Hirntod-Syndrom. In: Bushe KA, Fortschritte auf dem Gebiete der Neurochirurgie. Stuttgart, Hippokrates 24-29
- Frowein RA, Richard K-E, Hamel E (1985) Probleme des Hirntodes. In: Gänshirt H, Berlit P, Haack G Kardiovaskuläre Erkrankungen .... Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo
- Frowein RA (1986) Die Feststellung des Hirntodes. Anaesthesiol Intensivmed 27:383-388
- Frowein RA, Gänshirt H, Richard K-E, Hamel E, Haupt WF (1987) Kriterien des Hirntodes: 3. Generation Anästhesie Intensivther Notfallmed 1987 (22) 1-48
- Frowein RA, Gänshirt H, Hamel E, Haupt WF, Firsching R (1987) Hirntod-Diagnostik bei primärer infra-tentorieller Hirnschädigung. Der Nervenarzt 58:165-170
- Hacke W, Ringelstein EV, Buchner H, Ferbert A, Wulfinghoff F (1985) Neurophysiologische und neurosonologische Verlaufsuntersuchungen beim drohenden Hirntod. In: H Gänshirt, Berlit P, Haack G, Kardiovaskuläre Erkrankungen .... Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo
- Haupt WF (1987) Multimodale evozierte Potentiale und Hirntod. Der Nervenarzt 58:653-657

Janzen RWC, Hohnstädt P, Lachenmayer L, Rohr W, Neunzig HP (1985) Neurologische Symptome bei Manifestation des Hirntodes. In: Gänshirt H, Berlit P, Haack G, Kardiovaskuläre Erkrankungen .... Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo Walker AE (1981, 1985) Cerebral death. Urban & Schwarzenberg, Balti-

more-München

Walker AE (1987) Cerebral death. Neurosurg Rev, Suppl I

# Differentiated Diagnostic Measurements in Determining Brain Death in Clinical Practice

F. Kilian, H.-E. Nau, H. Wiedemayer, V. Reinhard, and C. Langer Neurochirurgische Klinik Essen, Hufelandstraße 55, D-4300 Essen 1

## Introduction

In recent years the possibilities of transplantation of different organ systems have been enlarged. The term "multiorgan donor" has been created. Because of the vulnerability of the organs to be explanted, quick and reliable determination of the moment of brain death has become necessary.

Three diagnostic procedures (neurological examination, cerebral angiography, and electroencephalography) have been established [1-5]. Today evoked potential measurements are also recommended and the use of transcranial Doppler sonography is progressing.

#### Patients and Methods

In a retrospective study, lll patients (52 females and 59 males) were analyzed. They were treated because of different cerebral diseases in the neurosurgical ICU. The average age of the patients was 51.9 years; the youngest was aged 15, the oldest 84. The average duration of stay in the ICU was 9.7 days. The underlying diseases were severe brain injuries in 48 patients, spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage in 18, subarachnoid hemorrhage in 21, and malignant brain tumors in 24.

The criteria of brain death employed corresponded to the guidelines of the German Bundesärztekammer and of the German EEG society [1,2].

#### Results

Of the lll patients only 30 fulfilled the stringent criteria employed to define multiorgan donors (a stay in the ICU up to 2 days and age up to 45) (see Table 1). Explantation was done in ten cases. In all these cases, the determination of brain death was established by a clinical examination followed by angiography. In none of the organ donors was brain death established by electroencephalography.

In 77 patients a diagnosis of brain death was not necessary and the clinical follow-up examination was finished by evaluating the reliable criteria of death. In these cases organ explantation was not possible.

Electrophysiological examinations were done as follow-up studies until the stage of brain death.

240 Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M. Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

	SAH	ICH	SBT	Tumor	Total
Age < 45 years ICU < 2 days	5	3	21	1	30
Explantation	4	1	5	0	10

## Table 1. Diseases of multiorgan donors of the total group

SAH, subarachnoid hemorrhage; ICH, intracerebral hematoma; SBT, skull-brain trauma; ICU, intensive care unit

#### Discussion

The retrospective analysis of patients who died in the neurosurgical ICU showed that only one-third fulfilled the stringent guidelines for multiorgan donors. Angiography was done mainly in patients with severe skull-brain trauma and multiple organ lesions because of the unstable circulatory situation. In these cases quick and reliable diagnosis of brain death was only possible by means of angiography. Those patients with a longer stay in the ICU had electrophysiological follow-ups and therefore brain death could be established by clinical examination and EEG or evoked potential measurements. These were also done in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage and subsequent deterioration.

In nearly half of the patients, brain death diagnosis by means of medical apparatus was not necessary because the patients' history contraindicated explantation. Most of these patients had a history of heart or circulatory diseases.

#### Summary

Retrospective analysis of lll patients who died in the neurosurgical ICU showed that brain death diagnosis employing apparatus was not necessary in nearly half the patients because explantation of their organs was not possible because of adverse diseases in the history. Only a third of the patients dying in the ICU fulfilled the stringent criteria for multiorgan donors. Most of them were patients with severe skull-brain injuries and threatening circulatory collapse, and brain death could be established most quickly by angiography. Electrophysiological investigations and clinical examination proved of value in the follow-up of long-stay patients. These results, obtained retrospectively, will certainly be important in future management.

#### References

- Frowein RA (1986) Die Feststellung des Hirntodes. Anaesthesiol Intensivmed 12:383
- 2. Hirsch H, Kubicki St, Kugler J, Penin H (1970) Empfehlungen der Deutschen EEG-Gesellschaft zur Bestimmung des Hirntodes. Elektroenz Elektromyographie 1:147
- 3. Hughes JR (1982) Guidelines for the determination of death. Letter. Neurology 32:82,682

- 4. Nau HE, Zerkowski HR, Doetsch N, Rimpel J, Engel W, Militzer K (1987) Multimodality evoked potentials and EEG in brain death clinical experiences and animal investigations. Neurosurg Rev Suppl 1
- Suppl 1 5. Wolff HP, Kuhlendahl H (1982) Kriterien des Hirntodes. Deutsches Ärzteblatt 14:45

# Neurosurgical Diagnosis of Brain Death in the Peripheral Hospital Preceding Multiorgan Donation

W. v. Tempelhoff, C. Sprick, and W. J. Bock

Neurochirurgische Klinik der Universität Düsseldorf, Moorenstraße 5, D-4000 Düsseldorf

In recent decades rapid development of intensive care medicine has made dissociated brain death/coma dépassé [3] with artificially maintained cardiorespiratory function a diagnostic problem. After a long period of debate, brain death is today defined as the full clinical picture of brain stem death [1,4,5] with apnea, coma, and loss of brain stem reflexes. With this diagnosis established, organ donation can be considered in appropriate cases. The success of organ donation, however, is critically dependent on rapid and close cooperation between several medical specialties.

For 2 years at the University of Düsseldorf, outpatient diagnosis of brain death has been practised by the Department of Neurosurgery and the Section of Nephrology of the Department of Internal Medicine upon the suggestion of the "Kuratorium Heimdialyse und Organspende." The set-up and diagnostic procedures of the medical-neurosurgical investigation team are based on the Recommendations of the Scientific Commission of the Federal Medical Council (FMC) "Criteria of Brain Death" in its 1986 revision [5].

The institution of a "transplantation duty rota" ensures rapid deployment of a neurosurgeon and an internist in the peripheral hospital. The neurosurgeon on call can be contacted by a Euro-bleeper. The Kuratorium Heimdialyse also provided a transportable EEG recorder.

In the peripheral hospital the team takes a detailed history and excludes reversible causes of the clinical picture of brain death such as hypothermia and metabolic or drug-induced coma. Furthermore primary and secondary brain damage is noted. Thus excluding false-positive cases, clinical diagnosis is established to demonstrate apnea, coma, and brain stem areflexia. The test for apnea can be performed in any ICU by allowing paCO<sub>2</sub> to rise to 60 mmHg, disconnecting the patient from the ventilator under diffusion of oxygen (6  $10_2/min$ ) through an NG tube introduced into the trachea. Following a 30-min recording of an isoelectric EEG, a first brain death protocol is signed [5]. The internist investigates the feasibility of multiorgan donation and institutes organ-centred maximal therapy. Blood samples for HLA typing are taken in the peripheral hospital. To avoid unnecessary effort, relatives' consent has to be obtained by the colleagues treating the patient before the team is called in. In patients without relatives or cases with medicolegal uncertainties the coroner on duty should be informed.

We have not included patients who clearly did not fulfill the brain stem death criteria. Frequently brain stem reflexes were still preserved; history and diagnosis remained obscure in one case and



Fig. 1. Course of events in outpatient diagnosis of brain death

another patient was still being treated with muscle relaxants at the time of investigation.

With the diagnosis of brain death established, the organ donor is transferred from the peripheral hospital either straight to the Department of General Surgery or temporarily to the neurosurgical or medical ICU of the University of Düsseldorf (depending on the availability of IC beds). In the Department of Neurosurgery evoked potential studies can be performed. However, according to the FMC recommendations their use is limited in the context of organ donation and they do not lead to a further reduction of observation time.

After completion of diagnosis with a second brain death protocol in the ICU by the neurosurgeon, explantation of donor organs is performed in the Department of General Surgery under continued organspecific maximal therapy (Fig. 1).

First experiences have shown that by interdisciplinary cooperation with colleagues in the peripheral hospitals, misconceptions were avoided in the outpatient diagnosis of brain death which previously had repeatedly thwarted organ donation in cases of attempted suicide, head injury, and resuscitation.

The obvious advantages of this procedure of diagnosis of brain death by a mobile investigation team are shortening of observation time and recruitment of potential organ donors.

#### References

- Frowein RA, Gänshirt H, Richard KE, Hamel E, Haupt WF (1987) Kriterien des Hirntodes: 3. Generation. Anästh Intensivther Notfallmed 22:17-20
- Haupt WF (1987) Multimodule evozierte Potentiale und Hirntod. Nervenarzt 58:654-657
- 3. Mollaret P, Goulon M (1959) Le coma dépassé. Rev Neurol 101:3-15
- 4. Pallis Ch (1983) ABC of brain stem death. Br Med J 286:39, 123-124, 209-210, 284-287

5. Kriterien des Hirntodes (1986) Entscheidungshilfen zur Feststellung des Hirntodes. Fortschreibung der Stellungnahme des wissenschaftlichen Beirates, Kriterien des Hirntodes vom 9.4.1982. Dtsch Ärztebl 83:2940-2946

# Experience with Determination of Brain Death and Organ Donation

W. I. Steudel, F. Kreth, R. Lorenz, A. Fürsch, W. Faßbinder, and W. Schöppe

Abteilung für Allg. Neurochirurgie, Universitäts-Klinikum Frankfurt, Schleusenweg 2–16, D-6000 Frankfurt/Main 71

In a retrospective analysis, we report on our experience with determination of brain death on the basis of the patients at the neurosurgical intensive care unit of the University Hospital in Frankfurt in the period from 1980 to 1987. The following three criteria are of particular practical significance: the epidemiology of the mortalities, the practical significance of the diagnosis of brain death with the EEG, and the choice of organ donors.

## Patients and Methods

In the period from 1980 to 1987, 3850 adult patients received intensive care and 543 (14.1%) died.

The epidemiological data are based on information from the Federal Office of Statistics in Wiesbaden [9]. The mortality rates in West Germany are broken down in accordance with the 9th Revision of the ICD [8]. The numbers 851, 852, and 800.3 are subsumed as head injuries. The numbers 530, 431, and 432 are listed under spontaneous hemorrhages. Numbers 191, 225, 253, and 239.1 are considered under brain tumors.

Brain death is established in accordance with the guidelines of the Bundesärztekammer from 1982 and 1986 [3,4]. In certain cases, EEG examinations are carried out as a supplementary measure for determination of brain death. The technique of EEG recording follows the guidelines of the German EEG Society [7].

The choice of organ donors is carried out in collaboration with the Department of Nephrology of the Johann Wolfgang Goethe University, Frankfurt.

Results

#### Epidemiology

Between 1980 and 1987, 3850 patients were treated in the neurosurgical intensive care unit. On average, 481 patients were treated per year (range: 378-582). Etiologically, head injuries (44.2%) predominate among the 543 who died, followed by spontaneous intracranial hemorrhages (29.2%) and brain tumors (22.8%). Roughly one-fifth of the patients died within 24 h after admission (Table 1).
Table .	1.	Causes	of	disea	ses	in t	the	dece	ease	eđ	perso	ns	(numbers	i	r
parenth	iese	s indica	ate	those	who	died	wit	hin	24	h	after	adm	ission)		

			Et	iology		
Year		No.	Head injuries	Spontaneous intracranial hemorrhages	Brain tumors	Othera
1980 1981 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987	64 59 60 80 78 71 63	(17) (15) (6) (7) (17) (14) (7) (17)	32 (11) 34 (11) 24 (4) 28 (5) 28 (9) 34 (7) 31 (4) 29 (10)	19 (4) 23 (3) 10 11 (2) 30 (6) 27 (4) 21 (3) 17 (3)	12 (1) 11 (1) 22 (2) 19 19 (1) 14 (2) 14 13 (3)	1 (1) 3 2 3 (1) 3 (1) 5 4 (1)
	543	(100)	240	158	124	21

<sup>a</sup> Spinal lesions ll times, brain abscess twice, brain infarction four times, hydrocephalus four times.

The statistics on causes of death in West Germany show a decrease in the absolute and relative number of deaths due to head injuries in the years 1980-1986. The annual mortality due to spontaneous brain hemorrhages has displayed a slight decrease since 1985. No appreciable change can be discerned for brain tumors (Tables 2-4). Comparison of those among our patients who died with the overall deaths in West Germany shows that in relative terms the number of patients

Table 2. Deaths from head injuries in West Germany (Federal Office of Statistics, Wiesbaden) (ICD/9 nos. 851, 852, 853, 854, 800.3, 801.3) in relation to the number of deaths on the neurosurgical intensive care ward

		Deaths	from head in	juries	
Year		West German	У	Neu _car	rosurgical intensive e unit
	No.	Percentage of total deaths	Deaths per 100 000	No.	Percentage of deaths in West Germany
1980 1981	7448	1.04	12.10	32 34	0.43
1982	7245	1.01	11.75	24	0.33
1983	7451 6824	0.98	12.13	28 28	0.38 0.41
1985 1986	5878 5715	0.83 0.81	9.63 9.36	31 29	0.53 0.51

Table 3. Deaths from spontaneous intracranial hemorrhages in West Germany (ICD/9 nos. 430, 431, 432) in relation to the number of deaths on the neurosurgical intensive care ward

		West Germa	ny	Neurosurgical intensive care unit			
Year	No. (SAH)	Percentage of total deaths	Deaths per 100 000	No.	Percentage of deaths in West Germany		
1980	9436	1.11	15.33	19	0.20		
	(1529)						
1981	9579	1.12	15.53	23	0.24		
	(1475)						
1982	9457	1.13	15.34	10	0.11		
	(1365)						
1983	9507	1.12	15.48	11	0.12		
	(1425)						
1984	9254	1.14	15.13	30	0.32		
	(1316)						
1985	8772	1.06	14.37	27	0.31		
	(1310)						
1986	8345	1.00	13.67	21	0.25		
	(1332)						

Deaths from spontaneous cerebral hemorrhages

SAH, subarachnoid hemorrhage

Table 4. Deaths from brain tumors in West Germany (ICD/9 nos. 191, 253, 239.6) in relation to the number of deaths on the neurosurgical intensive care ward

		Dea	ths from brain	tumors	
		West Germa	ny	Ne ca:	urosurgical intensive re unit
Year	No.	Percentage of total deaths	Deaths per 100 000	No.	Percentage of deaths in West Germany
1980 1981 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986	3864 3891 3942 4113 4115 4161 4031	0.54 0.55 0.55 0.57 0.59 0.59 0.59	6.28 6.31 6.40 6.70 6.73 6.82 6.60	12 11 22 19 19 14 14	0.31 0.28 0.56 0.46 0.46 0.34 0.35

with head injuries who die on the neurosurgical intensive care ward has increased since 1985. For 1987, there are as yet no figures from the Federal Office of Statistics. A similar tendency is to be observed in respect of spontaneous brain hemorrhages. Comparison of the mortality rates for brain tumors does not show any demonstrable alteration.

## Determination of the Time of Brain Death with the EEG

In the years 1980-1987, one or several EEG recordings (a total of 1060) were performed in 364 of those who died; an isoelectric EEG was performed 92 times. The EEG is recorded as a supplementary measure for determination of brain death after the clinical investigation in order to end the therapy, including the artificial ventilation, or if an organ explantation is planned. A repetition of the EEG recording with demonstration of electrocerebral silence was necessary in 19 of the above-mentioned cases, since the EEG was disturbed by artifacts.

EEG follow-up studies are performed in the prestages of brain death in all infratentorial processes. A dislocation between a still wellpronounced electrical basal activity within the alpha or beta range and loss of brain stem functions or the extinction of the early acoustic evoked potentials is often shown in these cases.

#### Organ Donation

The choice of possible organ donors is made in collaboration with the Department of Nephrology and the Transplantation Working Group at the University Hospital. Establishment of brain death and the written consent of the nearest relatives form the basis for an organ donation. In about one-quarter of the planned organ explantations, the relatives refused to give their consent. Besides the fundamental rejection of an organ explantation, restrictions with regard to the organ explantation are made by relatives, e.g., agreement to kidney explantation but not to multiorgan donation. Retrospective objections to the procedure were made only once with examination of the protocols and findings.

Exclusion criteria for kidney donation are primary disease of the kidney, malignancies outside the brain, high-risk groups, known arterial hypertension, infectious diseases, and religious and cultural reasons. Between 1980 and 1987, 184 explantations were performed, and of these 41 were in neurosurgical cases.

Discussion

#### Epidemiology

Deaths from head injuries in West Germany decreased markedly in the period 1980-1987. A similar trend is also to be observed in respect of spontaneous cerebral hemorrhages. Compared to this, the relative proportion of those who have died on the neurosurgical intensive care ward has increased. A possible explanation for this is that the more severe cases are being increasingly admitted to the neurosurgical unit. The number of deaths from brain tumors has remained the same. Here, it is to be considered that the data of the Federal Office of Statistics are based on the entries of the cause of death on the death certificate [2] and not, for example, on the result of autopsy. As a supplementary investigation, the EEG has retained its practical value in the determination of brain death. If electrocortical silence is shown for at least 30 min during a continuous registration, then brain death can be observed in adults without a further observation period [1,3,4]. The extinction of the acoustically evoked brain stem potentials may replace an EEG recording in primary supratentorial brain damage. EEG follow-up examinations are absolutely necessary in primary infratentorial processes [5,6,10,11]. Employing the criteria of the German EEG Society [7], the appraisal is unequivocal.

#### Organ Donation

The criteria for the selection of organ donors are relatively uniform in the different study groups [6]. In recent years, and especially since 1985, the indication for organ explantation has been appreciably extended. The age for the donor is no longer a contraindication: the biological age of the organ and the age of the recipient are regarded as crucial. Kidney malformations are no longer an absolute objection. In horseshoe kidneys, a separation of the organs can be performed in many cases. In infectious diseases, especially Australia antigen-positive hepatitis, transplantation is occasionally possible when the modus of infection in the donor is known and the recipient is also positive. The basis for the decision to plan an organ donation is precise recording of investigative findings. Here, the protocol of the Bundesärztekammer has proved effective [3]. Retrospective objections to the procedure must be reckoned with, but such objections are rare.

#### References

- Besser R (1983) Das Problem des Hirntodes. In: Hopf H-CH, Poeck K, Schliack H (eds) Neurologie in Praxis und Klinik I, Thieme Stuttgart, pp 5.46-5.51
- 2. Brettel HF (1981) Die Leichenschau und das Ausstellen des Leichenschauscheins durch den Notarzt. Hessisches Ärzteblatt 42:178-179
- 3. Bundesärztekammer (1982) Kriterien des Hirntodes. Deutsches Ärzteblatt 79:45-55
- 4. Bundesärztekammer (1986) Kriterien des Hirntodes. Deutsches Ärzteblatt 83:2940-2946
- 5. Frowein RA (1987) Kriterien des Hirntodes (Stellungnahme I und II), Deutsches Ärzteblatt 84:B767-B770
- Hacke H (1988) Neurologische Intensivmedizin, 2. Aufl. Perimed, Erlangen, pp 278-284
- 7. Hirsch H, Kubicki St, Kugler J, Penin H (1970) Empfehlungen der Deutschen EEG-Gesellschaft zur Bestimmung des Hirntodes. Z EEG EMG 1:53-54
- 8. Internationale Klassifikation der Krankheiten (ICD) (1986)
   9. Revision, Band I, Teil A, Kohlhammer, Stuttgart
- 9. Statistisches Bundesamt Wiesbaden (1988) Persönliche Mitteilung
- 10. Steudel WI, Krüger J, Grau H (1979) Zur Alpha-und Spindel-Aktivität bei komatösen Patienten nach einer Schädelhirnverletzung unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Computer-Tomographie. Z EEG EMG 10:143-147
- 11. Steudel WI, Rittierodt M, Vonofakos D (1986) Alpha and spindle activity in comatose patients with various brainstem lesions: correlation of EEG and CT findings. In: Kunze K, Zangemeister WH, Arlt A (eds) Clinical problems of brainstem disorders. Thieme, Stuttgart New York, pp 157-161

# On Problems in the Determination of Brain Death

W.-D. Siedschlag, U. Friedrich, and H. Winkelmann

Neurochirurgische Klinik im Städtischen Klinikum Berlin-Buch, Karower Straße 11, DDR-1115 Berlin-Buch

Diagnosis of brain death is only possible in cases of complete and permanent loss of function of the brain. If brain death is diagnosed, all further therapeutic procedures are purposeless.

There is no doubt that brain death must be established clinically and that the irreversibility of this state must be documented for a suitable time. It is necessary to know exactly the development of a disease in order to reach the diagnosis and to exclude transient restrictions of cerebral function. The purpose of other diagnostic procedures is to aid the clinical diagnosis and to shorten the time until definitive determination of brain death.

In our neurosurgical clinic in Berlin-Buch in the last 10 years we have had to decide on the question of brain death in 57 patients (Table 1). In all cases the determination and documentation of brain death was performed according to the principles proposed in 1973 by the Society of Neurology and Psychiatrics and the Society of Anesthesiclogy of the German Democratic Republic. The decision on brain death must be reached by a team consisting of at least two specialists, one neurologist and one anesthetist. In our clinic this team is completed by the specialist for intensive care and the director of the clinic.

In all our patients the course is exactly documented on a supervisory protocol. If all clinical signs of brain death are manifest - i.e. (a) unconsciousness without any reaction to pain and auditory stimuli, (b) absence of spontaneous respiration, and (c) total cerebral areflexia - the protocol must be compiled by the neurologist. The findings have to be controlled three times within 12 h (Table 2).

Supratentorial brain tumors	15	
Infratentorial brain tumors	6	
Brain injuries	18	
Aneurysms and angiomas	11	
Intracerebral hematomas (nontraumatic)	4	
Occlusion of basilar artery	1	
Inflammatory diseases	2	

Table 1. Diagnoses in 57 patients with documented brain death

Table 2. Protocol for documentation of irreversible loss of cerebral function

1.	Name: Date of birth: Date of study:					
1.1.	Diagnosis: Primary damage or supratentorial infratentorial	f brain: : :	yes - no yes - no yes - no			
1.2.	Onset and progres Exclusion of in hypothermia, hypo	ssion of th toxications ovolemic sh	yes - no e illness: s, neuromusc ock, endocri yes - no	ular blo ne or me	ockade, tabolio	primary c coma
2.	Clinical identif: tion loss Examination: date time	ication of	determinant	symptoms	of bra	ain func-
2.1.	Coma - deep uncon muscular atonia, neous movements,	nsciousness absence of and lack o	with sponta- f respon-	1.	2.	3.
2.2.	Absence of sponta (since date:	aneous resp time:	iration			
2.3. 2.3.1. 2.3.2. 2.3.3. 2.3.4. 2.3.5. 2.3.6. 2.3.6. 2.3.7. 2.4. 2.5.	Apnea test Cerebral areflex Reflex of accomme Pupils dilated Oculocephalic re: Vestibulo-ocular Corneal reflex Trigeminal pain : Reflex of traches Additional findi Actual clinical : Blood pressure	ia odation flex reflex reaction a and phary ngs (for ex findings:	nx ample spinal	. reflexe	25)	
	Pulse Temperature					
3. 3.1.	Additional diagno EEG isoelectric Date/time	ostic proce	dures: ves - no		sia	nature
3.2.	Date/time Cerebral angiogra Circulation arre	aphy st	yes - no yes - no		sig	nature
	Date/time				sig	nature
4.	The loss of brain In summary of all brain death of t	n function l findings he patient	has lasted f documented i is diagnosed	forhc n this p l	ours. protoco	l, the
	date:		time:			
Neurolo	ogist	Anesthetis	t	Treat	ing ph	ysician

Three hours after the first documentation of brain death we perform an EEG examination. In 50 of our 57 patients we saw an isoelectric EEG. In all our cases neurological and EEG examination were performed by the clinic neurologist. The EEG examinations were performed for at least 30 min under special technical conditions. In seven of our 57 patients we found residual EEG activity in spite of documentation of all signs of clinical death. In those patients EEG examination was repeated, and in all of them we saw an isoelectric EEG within 24 h. We conclude that residual activity in the EG in cases of loss of function of brain and brain stem is always the forerunner to complete loss of cerebral function and is never effective for the whole organism. The determination of residual EEG activity excludes the diagnosis of brain death at this time; the diagnosis of brain death cannot be made before documentation of an isoelectric EEG.

Only in four of our patients did we perform cerebral angiography additionally. Twice we saw some different vertebrobasilar vessels far within the posterior fossa. In these cases EEG activity was no longer seen and the neurological signs of brain death had been registered for 24 h.

#### Summary and Conclusions

This report deals with our experiences in the diagnosis of brain death in 57 patients. After manifestation of all symptoms of brain death a protocol must be filled out. All clinical examinations have to be repeated three times within 12 h.

Three hours after the first manifestation of all symptoms of brain death an EEG examination must be performed for at least 30 min under special conditions. If there is any residual activity, EEG examination must be repeated within 24 h.

The diagnosis "brain death" is documented by a protocol, signed by at least three specialists.

## Latency of Recovery and Electrical Silence of Auditory Evoked Potentials and the Electrocorticogram After Peracute Complete Brain Ischemia of 2–30 Minutes' Duration

## H. Hirsch, M. Kaegler, V. Hohmann, and B. Mues

Institut für normale und pathologische Physiologie der Universität zu Köln, Robert-Koch-Straße 39, D-5000 Köln 41

## Introduction

The time from the end of complete cerebral ischemia to the reappearance of first potentials of the electrocortigram has been determined in several investigations [e.g. 1,5,7,8,9]. This time interval is called the latency of recovery. There are only a few data about the latency of recovery of auditory evoked potentials after complete ischemia, although evoked potentials have great clinical brain importance for diagnosis and prognosis. The purpose of this paper is to determine the latencies of recovery of the early and middle latency auditory evoked potentials after peracute complete global ischemia lasting 2-30 min. Moreover, the latency of recovery of the electrocorticogram is determined in order to compare the latencies of recovery of auditory evoked potentials with those of the electrocorticogram. Finally, the duration of electrical silence of the auditory evoked potentials is compared with the duration of electrical silence of the electrocorticogram.

## Materials and Methods

Complete peracute global ischemia lasting 2 min (n = 6), 5 min (n = 6), 10 min (n = 6), 20 min (n = 6), or 30 min (n = 6) was induced in dog brains perfused with an extracorporeal system. Details of the methodological procedure have already been described [1,5]. The ischemia began at brain temperatures of  $37^{\circ}$ C. During ischemia of 2 min, 5 min, 10 min, 20 min, and 30 min duration the temperature decreased by 0.2°, 0.2°, 0.3°, 1.1°, and 1.9°C respectively and reached  $37^{\circ}$ C again 2-20 min after the end of ischemia. The methodological procedure for the registration of the early and middle latency auditory evoked potentials and the electrocorticogram has been described in another paper [4]. Auditory evoked potentials were elicited using 0.2-ms alternating clicks of 70-90 dB above hearing level presented binaurally at a rate of 0.92 Hz.

The latency of recovery of the auditory evoked potentials is the interval between the end of complete ischemia and the first potentials which can be discriminated from the background noise. The duration of electrical silence of the auditory evoked potentials is the interval between the complete extinction of the last evoked potentials which can be discriminated from the background noise during complete ischemia and the reappearance of the first evoked potentials which can be discriminated from the background noise after the end of complete ischemia.

<sup>254</sup> Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol. 17 Ed. by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

Electrocorticographic recordings were carried out with a gain of 25  $\mu$ V/cm. The latency of recovery of the electrocorticogram is the interval between the end of complete ischemia and the reappearance of the first potentials with a minimum amplitude of 3  $\mu$ V. The duration of electrical silence of the electrocorticogram is the interval between the complete extinction of the last potentials with an amplitude of 3  $\mu$ V during complete ischemia and the reappearance of the first potentials with a minimum amplitude of 3  $\mu$ V during complete ischemia and the reappearance of the first potentials with a minimum amplitude of 3  $\mu$ V after the end of complete ischemia.

Only one period of complete ischemia was performed on each brain.

### Results

The longer the peracute complete brain ischemia continued, the later the auditory evoked potentials reappeared after peracute complete global brain ischemia. Figure 1 gives representative examples of the early auditory evoked potentials after ischemia of 2 min, 5 min, 10 min, 20 min, and 30 min duration. In Fig. 2 representative examples for the reappearance of the middle latency auditory evoked potentials after ischemia of the same durations are shown.

Figure 3 shows the latencies of recovery of the early and middle latency auditory evoked potentials and of the electrocorticogram of all experiments after ischemia. Only 5 of 30 brains showed the same latencies of recovery of the early and middle latency auditory evoked potentials. In the other cases the latencies of recovery of the early auditory evoked potentials were shorter than the latencies of recovery of the middle latency auditory evoked potentials. The latencies of recovery of the electrocorticogram were longer than those of the evoked potentials in all brains.

Figure 4 gives the mean values of the duration of electrical silence of the early and middle latency auditory evoked potentials and the electrocorticogram. The durations of electrical silence of the early



#### complete ischemia

Fig. 1. Early latency auditory evoked potentials before and after complete brain ischemia of 2 min, 5 min, 10 min, 20 min, and 30 min duration. The first tracing of each column was recorded before complete ischemia, the following tracings after complete ischemia. The second tracing is a registration immediately before the reappearance of the evoked potentials. The third tracing is the registration of the first reappearance of evoked potentials. The following two tracings are later registrations. The figures left of the columns indicate the duration of reperfusion after the end of complete ischemia. The arrows indicate the click signal

#### complete ischemia



Fig. 2. Middle latency auditory evoked potentials before and after complete brain ischemia of 2 min, 5 min, 10 min, 20 min, and 30 min duration. Further explanations as in Fig. 1

and middle latency auditory evoked potentials were the same in only 3 of 30 brains. In the other 27 brains the durations of electrical silence of the early auditory evoked potentials were shorter than those of the middle latency auditory evoked potentials. In all brains the durations of electrical silence of the electrocorticogram were longer than those of the early and middle latency auditory evoked potentials.

## Discussion

Data presented in this paper concerning the latency of recovery of electrocorticogram correspond to those reported in other papers [1,5,7,8,9].

Our experiments revealed that the latencies of recovery of auditory evoked potentials are shorter than the latencies of recovery of the





Fig. 4. Duration of electrical silence of early and middle latency auditory evoked potentials (AEP) and electrocorticogram (ECOG) after complete brain ischemia of 2 min, 5 min, 10 min, 20 min, and 30 min duration. Mean values and standard deviations

electrocorticogram. This is in agreement with the fact that the survival time (i.e., the time from the onset of peracute complete brain ischemia until the complete extinction of the potentials) is longer for the auditory evoked potentials than for the electrocorticogram [4].

The durations of electrical silence (Fig. 4) demonstrate the different resistance of the auditory evoked potentials and of the electrocorticogram to complete cerebral ischemia. In a study by SOHMER et al. with various degrees of lowered cerebral perfusion pressure the electroencephalogram also became isoelectric before the early auditory evoked potentials. After complete ischemia for 30 min SOHMER et al. found no more recovery, whereas in our experiments the latencies of recovery ranged between 2 and 30 min. These differencies between the data of SOHMER et al. and our results may be due to different conditions of recovery.

This paper only reports on the beginning of recovery of evoked potentials. A report on the further recovery of auditory evoked potentials will appear in a later publication. Single observations of our data have been reported previously [2,3].

#### References

- Hirsch H (1982) Recovery of the electrocorticogram after incomplete and complete ischemia of the brain. Acta Neurochir 6:147-158
- Hirsch H, Hohmann V, Kaegler M, Sickel B (1987) Auditory evoked potentials during and after complete ischaemia of the brain. In: Wenker H, Klinger M, Brock M, Reuter M (eds) Advances in neurosurgery, vol 14. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 364-367

- Hirsch H, Hohmann V, Kaegler M, Sickel B (1988) Recovery of auditory evoked potentials after longterm complete ischaemia. Neurosurg Rev Suppl. I. In press
- 4. Hirsch H, Hohmann V, Kaegler M, Sickel B, Mues B (In preparation) Auditory evoked potentials during complete brain ischaemia
- Hirsch H, Tesch P (1982) Recovery of the electrocorticogram of canine brains after complete cerebral ischaemia at 37°C and 32°C. Neurosurg Rev 49-54
- Sohmer H, Gafni M, Goitein K, Fainmesser P (1983) Auditory nervebrain stem evoked potentials in cats during manipulation of the cerebral perfusion pressure. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 55:198-202
- 7. Steen PA, Milde JH, Michenfelder JD (1978) Cerebral metabolic and vascular effects of barbiturate therapy following global ischemia. J Neurochem 31:1317-1324
- Sugar O, Gerard RW (1938) Anoxia and brain potentials. J Neurophysiol 1:558-572
- 9. Yashon D, White RL, Taslitz N, Wolin LR, Massopust LC (1970) Experimental cerebral circulatory arrest: effect on electrocortical potentials. J Neurosurg 32:74-82

Methodological and Technical Problems in the Confirmation of Brain Death by Evoked Potentials

W. F. Haupt

Universitäts-Nervenklinik Köln, Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

## Introduction

A number of clinical criteria have been established and internationally accepted as sufficient to document total loss of brain function which can be equated to the death of the individual [1,8].

The comparison of various national brain death codes shows that there is agreement on the clinical signs of brain death: coma, absence of all cranial reflexes, and apnea. Variations, however, exist in the number of clinical examinations and the number of physicians required to make the clinical diagnosis of brain death. Also, various technical methods are accepted to corroborate the clinical diagnosis. By the standards put forth by the West German Medical Association in 1982 [8], the clinical signs of brain death must be present for 12 h and confirmed by two physicians if the diagnosis is to be made by clinical examination alone. To shorten this procedure, three technical procedures can be implemented alternatively to confirm the clinical diagnosis in supratentorial disease after the first examination: EEG, angiography, or somatosensory and brain stem auditory evoked potentials [3,9]. In infratentorial disease, however, the development of the brain death syndrome can follow different patterns. Therefore, evoked potentials can only be implemented in conjunction with EEG recordings [2].

The methodological and technical problems of the use of evoked potentials in the diagnosis of brain death are to be discussed further.

Numerous publications [e.g., 4,7] have shown that abolished acoustic evoked brain stem potentials (BAERs) are associated with brain death. Also, there is widespread agreement that bilaterally abolished cortical median-evoked somatosensory potentials (SEPs) can be a sign of loss of cortical function and in cases of supratentorial disease invariably indicate poor prognosis. Bilateral SEP loss alone, however, is not sufficient to document brain death [6]. The confirmation of the clinical signs of brain death as defined above by evoked potentials is dependent on the subsequent loss of all intracerebral components of BAERs and SEPs.

## Results

We examined 67 patients in a state of clinically confirmed apneic brain stem areflexia as defined previously [8,9]. Sixty-two patients suffered from primary supratentorial disease (brain infarction and hemorrhage, tumors, subarachnoid hemmorrhage, and anoxia) and five patients had suffered infratentorial vascular accidents. After clinical diagnosis of brain death, all 67 showed abolished intracerebral components of BAERs; 29 patients demonstrated neither intracerebral nor extracerebral BAER waves. In 53 examined patients, all cortical SEPs were abolished and in 15 cases, additionally registered spinal SEPs were preserved. Forty-three patients were examined only in the state of brain death so that prior patency of the acoustic pathways of the brain stem could not be proven.

### Typical Patterns

A 35-year-old patient suffered a left hemispherical embolus. On the 5th day of treatment, the BAERs were only mildly altered on the left and otherwise within normal limits. The SEPs were abolished bilaterally as a sign of poor prognosis. On the 9th day the clinical signs of brain death were present. At this time BAERs and cortical SEPs were bilaterally abolished whereas the spinal SEP  $C_2$  was still preserved (Fig. 1). At the same time, an isoelectric EEG was registered (Fig. 2). This course demonstrates the typical rostrocaudal development of the brain death syndrome.

#### Technical Problems

Technical problems in the use of evoked potentials for the confirmation of brain death usually arise from electrical interference



Fig. 1. Cerebral embolus. Preserved BAERs and abolished cortical SEPs on day 4. Loss of BAERs and cortical SEPs with preserved spinal SEP C<sub>2</sub> on day 9



K., M. EEG 427/86

Fig. 2. Same patient as in Fig. 1, isoelectric EEG on day 9

emitted by the electrical apparatus on intensive care units: respirators, monitors, and infusion equipment. Whenever possible, all nonessential equipment should be switched off and the registration performed far away from the respirator. Even then, many tracings will be contaminated by electrical interference. In cases of doubt, three or more averaging cycles can help to clarify the findings. In some cases, cranial muscular activity can also distort the tracings; this interference can easily be avoided by the administration of muscle relaxants. This finding does not contradict the diagnosis of brain death [5].

#### Methodological Problems

The principle of confirmation of brain death by evoked potentials lies in the demonstration of subsequent loss of all intracerebral components of BAERs and SEPs. In many cases, especially in massive intracerebral and subarachnoid hemorrhage with rapid development of tentorial herniation, evoked potentials can be absent at first examination. In this situation, patency of the acoustic pathways of the brain stem prior to brain death cannot be proven. This was the case in 43 of our examinations. Evoked potential testing, therefore, must be performed as soon as possible in critically ill patients. Exact knowledge of primary etiology and localization of disease is also most important. In supratentorial disease where the brain death syndrome develops in a rostrocaudal direction, evoked potentials are reliable to document complete cessation of brain function. In infratentorial disease, such as infratentorial hemorrhage but also in severe meningoencephalitis with predominant affection of the brain stem, BAERs and SEPs can be abolished in the presence of persisting EEG activity for a prolonged period. In these cases, evoked potential findings can only be interpreted together with EEG findings [2]. A patient suffering from brain stem infarction demonstrated bilaterally abolished BAERs at first examination with preserved SEPs. One day later, both BAERs and SEPs were absent (Fig. 3); however, on the



Fig. 3. Brain stem infarction. Abolished BAERs with preserved SEPs at first examination; abolished BAERs and SEPs on the following day

H., J. EP 144/83

following day, unquestionable cortical EEG activity was registered (Fig. 4). The patient died on the next day. This course shows the caudal to rostral development of the brain death syndrome in infratentorial lesions and proves that in spite of loss of evoked potential responses EEG activity can persist in some cases.



H,. J. EEG 1271/83

Fig. 4. Same patient as in Fig. 3: preserved EEG activity 1 day after loss of BAERs and SEPs

#### Summary

Evoked cerebral potentials have been demonstrated to be a viable noninvasive reliable method to confirm the clinical signs of brain death. Technical problems are usually surmountable; however, a number of methodological reservations must be kept in mind. The examinations must demonstrate successive loss of BAER components; therefore, initial testing must be done as early as possible. The etiology and primary localization of disease must be known. In uncertain cases and especially in primary infratentorial disease, evoked potentials can only be used to confirm the clinical signs of brain death in conjunction with EEG examinations.

### References

- Beecher HK (1968) A definition of irreversible coma. JAMA 205:85-88
- 2. Frowein RA, Gänshirt H, Hamel E, Haupt WF, Firsching R (1987) Hirntoddiagnostik bei primärer infratentorieller Hirnschädigung. Nervenarzt 58:165-170
- Frowein RA, Gänshirt H, Richard K-E, Hamel E, Haupt WF (1987) Kriterien des Hirntodes: 3. Generation. Anaesth Intensivther Notfallmed 22:17-20
- 4. Goldie WD, Chiappa KH, Young RR, Brooks EB (1981) Brainstem auditory and short-latency somatosensory evoked responses in brain death. Neurology (Minneap) 31:248-256
- 5. Haupt WF (1986) Kraniale Muskelaktivität beim dessoziierten Hirntod. Nervenarzt 57:145-148
- Haupt WF, Schumacher A (1988) Medianus-SEP und Prognose in der neurologischen Intensivmedizin. Z EEG - EMG (in print)
- 7. Starr A (1976) Auditory brain stem responses in brain death. Brain 99:543-554
- Wissenschaftlicher Beirat der Bundesärztekammer (1982) Kriterien des Hirntodes. Dtsch Ärzteblatt 14:45-55
- 9. Wissenschaftlicher Beirat der Bundesärztekammer (1986) Kriterien des Hirntodes. Dtsch Ärzteblatt 43:2940-2946

## Nasopharyngeal Recording of Subcortical Somatosensory Evoked Potentials in Brain Death

## W. Wagner

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Mainz, Langenbeckstraße 1, D-6500 Mainz

## Introduction

If the recording of somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs) is used as an ancillary method in the diagnosis of brain death, the distinction between cerebral and extracerebral SEP components is essential: the former must be absent in (whole) brain death, whereas the latter may be preserved. Usually, extinct cortical potentials with facultatively recordable neck potentials are considered a typical finding in brain death [7,8,11]. However, the neck potential N13 (after median nerve stimulation), under clinical conditions usually recorded from neckto-scalp electrode montages, is contributed to by two components: N13a (horizontal dipole in the lower cervical spinal cord) and N13b [longitudinal dipole in the lower brain stem, corresponding to the third farfield potential (P14) in scalp-noncephalic reference recordings] [6,10]. These two subcomponents can be separately recorded: N13a from lower posterior against anterior neck [5] and N13b from nasopharynx against a midfrontal reference [13]. The application of this recording technique in brain-dead patients is described here for the first time.

## Patients and Methods

Nine brain dead patients (ages 19-67 years; seven males, two females) were studied. Eight had supratentorial lesions (hemorrhage, tumor, brain edema), and one suffered from large bilateral acoustic neuromas.

The brain death syndrome had lasted between 6 and 72 h at the time of evoked potential recording. In all patients, the median nerve was stimulated at the wrist, in some cases on both sides. Scalp and neck recordings were made from Teflon-coated needle electrodes; the nasopharyngeal lead consisted of an isolated silver wire with a (nonisolated) ball-shaped tip.

Details of stimulus and recording parameters are listed in Table 1.

### Results

Two typical SEP constellations found in brain death are shown in Figs. 1 and 2: Nl3b (Pgz-Fz) was regularly absent, while Nl3a (Cv7-Jugulum) was preserved in most cases. As a rule, the scalp far-field potential Pl4 was lacking (Fig. 1), but in two cases it could

Table 1. Stimulus and recording parameters

Stimulus site Stimulus intensity Stimulus duration Stimulus repetition rate Electrode montages Electrode impedance Filter setting Analysis time No. of samples averaged N. medianus (wrist)
Just above motor threshold
0.2 ms
3/s
C'3-Fz, C'4-Fz, Fz-NC, Pgz-Fz,
Cv7-Jugulum, Cv7-Fz, Cv2-Fz
<2000 Ohm
20-2000 Hz
20 ms, 50 ms
500-1000</pre>

Pgz, median nasopharynx; Cv2/Cv7, skin over spinous process of 2nd/7th cervical vertebrae; NC, noncephalic reference (hand contralateral to stimulation side); Fz, C'3, and C'4, electrode positions at the scalp according to the 10-20 system



Fig. 1. Subcortical SEPs several hours after brain death had been established in a 59-year-old patient suffering from recurrent subarachnoid hemorrhage. N13b in Pgz-Fz and P14 in Fz-NC absent; N13a in neck recordings preserved. For explanation of electrode positions, see Table 1



Fig. 2. Subcortical SEPs 20 h after brain death had been established in a 53-year-old patient suffering from left frontal intracerebral bleeding. No N13b in Pgz-Fz, but a low amplitude P14 in Fz-NC. N13a preserved. For explanation of electrode positions, see Table 1

be reproduced, having a very low amplitude (Fig. 2). The findings in detail are as follows:

C'3-Fz, C'4-Fz: Cortical potentials were absent in all patients (not shown in Figs. 1 and 2).

Fz-NC: P9 was preserved in every patient; Pll was distorted or not identifiable; Pl4 was lacking in seven cases and reproducible, but of very low amplitude, in two cases.

Pgz-Fz: N13b was lacking in all patients (including those showing a low amplitude Pl4 farfield potential in Fz-NC); in some cases, a very flat positive wave with the same latency as Pl4 was seen.

Cv7-Jugulum: N13a was reproducible in six patients, the dorsal root potential ["N10," cf. [5]] in all cases.

Cv7-Fz: N13 was preserved in those six patients showing N13a in Cv7-Jugulum.

Cv2-Fz: The same as in Cv7-Fz, but with markedly lower amplitude.

In contrast to these results, an example of subcortical SEPs in deep coma is shown in Fig. 3. This patient sustained a severe brain stem injury (without brain death) following head trauma and had no cortical potentials. Here, the N13b component is clearly visible in Pgz-Fz (and, as third farfield potential, in Fz-NC).



Fig. 3. Subcortical SEPs in a comatose (not brain dead) 39-year-old patient with signs of severe brain stem injury due to head trauma. N13b in Pgz-Fz (and Pl4 in Fz-NC) clearly preserved. For explanation of electrode positions, see Table 1

#### Discussion

As could be expected from previous work by other authors [1-4,7-9,11,12] cortical potentials were absent in every brain-dead patient, whereas spinal (N13a) and peripheral (P9, "N10") components were preserved in most cases. The interpretation of these findings is clear: they are the electrophysiological correlate of a dead brain and a still functioning spinal cord and peripheral nervous system.

Less obvious is the significance of the component N13b (or P14, respectively), generally attributed to lemniscus medialis, or nucleus cuneatus [6]. It is the most important finding of this study that, in recordings from Pgz-Fz, N13b was lacking in every brain-dead patient (Figs. 1, 2), whereas this wave was regularly recordable in living patients even with severe brain stem injury (Fig. 3) [14].

In noncephalic referenced scalp recordings (Fz-NC), this component appears as Pl4 (or Pl3/l4). In brain (stem)-dead patients, this component should be lacking (and it is in most cases, cf. Fig. 1), but in two of our own patients, Pl4 was reproducible with a very low amplitude (Fig. 2). This phenomenon has also been described by other authors [1,3,4,11]; it seems to be inconsistent with whole brain death (including brain stem).

We suggest that in some cases of brain death syndrome there may be residual electrical activity in the caudal medulla oblongata (below the tip of the nasopharyngeal lead), resulting in a very small Pl4 farfield potential without N13b in Pgz-Fz. This hypothesis is supported by SEP recordings in the progression from coma to brain death; moreover it could explain why in some brain-dead patients a very flat **positive** wave in Pgz-Fz with the same latency as Pl4 in Fz-NC can be recorded [14].

With subcortical SEP recording only from neck electrodes (in neck-toscalp montages), it would have been difficult to clearly distinguish the brain stem N13b from the spinal N13a component, as is demonstrated by the preservation of an N13 wave in brain death even in higher cervical regions.

#### Conclusion

Nasopharyngeal SEP recording facilitates the differentiation of spinal and brain stem subcomponents of the neck potential, which is crucial in electrophysiological brain death studies. It therefore provides a useful ancillary test in the assessment of this clinical syndrome and seems highly sensitive to brain death, yielding no false-negative results in all hitherto investigated patients.

#### References

- Anziska BJ, Cracco RQ (1980) Short latency somatosensory evoked potentials in brain dead patients. Arch Neurol 37:222-225
- Belsh JM, Chokroverty S (1987) Short-latency somatosensory evoked potentials in brain dead patients. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 68:75-78
- Besser R, Dillmann U, Hartmann M, Henn M (1987) Somatosensorisch evozierte Potentiale beim dissoziierten Hirntod. Presented at the 32. Jahrestagung der Deutschen EEG-Gesellschaft, October 8-10, 1987, Ludwigshafen
- 4. Buchner H, Ferbert A, Scherg M, Hacke W (1986) Evoked potential monitoring in brain death - generators of BAEP and spinal SEP. In: Kunze K, Zangemeister WH, Arlt A (eds) Clinical problems of brainstem disorders. Thieme, Stuttgart New York, pp 130-133
- brainstem disorders. Thieme, Stuttgart New York, pp 130-133
  5. Desmedt JE, Cheron G (1981) Prevertebral (oesphageal) recording of subcortical somatosensory evoked potentials in man: the spinal P13 component and the dual nature of the spinal generators. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 52:257-275
- 6. Desmedt JE, Nguyen TH (1984) Bit-mapped colour imaging of the potential fields of propagated and segmental subcortical components of somatosensory evoked potentials in man. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 58:481-497
- Goldie WD, Chiappa KH, Young RR, Brooks EB (1981) Brain stem auditory and short-latency somatosensory evoked responses in brain death. Neurology (Ny) 31:248-256
- Haupt WF (1987) Multimodale evozierte Potentiale und Hirntod. Voraussetzungen, Aussagen und Probleme. Nervenarzt 58:653-657
- 9. Maugière F, Grand C, Fischer C, Courjon J (1982) Aspects des potentiels évoqués auditifs et somesthésiques précoces dans les comas neurologiques et la mort cérébrale. Rev EEG Neurophysiol 12:280-286
- 10. Stöhr M (1982) Somatosensible Reizantworten von Rückenmark und Gehirn (SEP). In: Stöhr M, Dichgans J, Diener HC, Buettner UW, Evozierte Potentiale. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 17-232

- 11. Stöhr M, Riffel B, Trost E, Ullrich A (1987) Short-latency somatosensory evoked potentials in brain death. J Neurol 234:211-214
- 12. Trojaborg W, Jorgensen EO (1973) Evoked cortical potentials in patients with "isoelectric" EEGs. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 35:301-309
- 13. Wagner W (1988) Ableitung subkortikaler somatosensibel evozierter Potentiale mit Nasopharyngealelektroden - eine Untersuchung an sedierten Patienten. Z EEG-EMG, submitted for publication
- 14. Wagner W (In preparation) Brain stem and spinal SEP components in the progression from coma to brain death: assessment by nasopharyngeal, neck and scalp farfield recording

## Is the Loss of Evoked Potentials and Brain Stem Reflexes as Investigated Electrophysiologically Proof of Brain Death?

N. Klug, A. Laun, G. Csécsei, and P. Christophis

Zentrum für Neurochirurgie der Universität Gießen, Klinikstraße 37, D-6300 Gießen

## Introduction

Since 1984, besides the electroencephalogram (EEG), evoked potentials and electrically as well as mechanically triggered brain stem reflexes have also been registered at the Neurosurgery Division, University of Giessen. Since 1984, nine patients have been observed in whom there was clinical evidence of cerebral death (dilated or moderately dilated fixed pupils, clinical brain stem areflexia, respiratory arrest, flaccid muscular tonus, abolished muscle monosynaptic reflexes) and loss of the evoked potentials and the brain stem reflexes investigated electrophysiologically, but in whom the EEG still showed electroencephalographic activity.

### Material and Methods

Nine adult patients (26-68 years old, mean 40.55 years) are reported on in whom early acoustic (BAEP), somatosensory (SEP:  $N_{14}/N_{20}$ ) and visual (VEP:  $P_{100}$ ) evoked potentials and among the brain stem reflexes the electrically evoked blink reflex as well as the mechanically evoked glabella reflex and masseter reflex were elicited. Before triggering the blink reflex, the muscular response from the orbicularis oculi muscle in stimulation of the facial nerve was registered. The technique for registration of evoked potentials and brain stem reflexes has been described in detail elsewhere [4]. The underlying causes of damage were craniocerebral traumata in five cases, spontaneous primary infratentorial diseases in three cases (one cerebellar mass hemorrhage and two basilar thromboses), and secondary brain damage in the form of global cerebral hypoxia after circulatory arrest of cardiac origin and resuscitation in one case.

## Results

All patients displayed clinical signs of brain death at the time of the investigation. The registration of the BAEPs revealed a zero line or a still preserved wave I, absence of cortical SEPs, and a zero line in registration of VEPs (Fig. 2). In stimulation of the facial nerve, a muscular response could be recorded in all patients. This was slightly reduced in amplitude in only two cases. All early and late reflex responses of the blink reflex and the glabella reflex were absent. The masseter reflex was also absent on both sides (Fig. 3). On the other hand, the EEG recording still displayed spontaneous activity which was altered in the form of an alpha EEG (case 1) as the most severe form of general alteration or in terms of burst suppression EEG (Fig. 4) with development to the zero-line EEG.

Case 1. A 58-year-old female patient suffered a basilar arterial occlusion with development of a complete bulbar brain syndrome. In this condition, all evoked potentials and the brain stem reflexes investigated electrophysiologically were negative, whereas electroencephalography showed an alpha EEG.

**Case 2.** A 27-year-old female patient suffered an open craniocerebral trauma with diabetes insipidus and development of a bulbar brain syndrome from the 4th day. In the registration 2 days after the trauma, the VEP was still approximately normal, and the masseter reflex which could be evoked on one side was pathological; all further potentials and reflexes were absent. The control registration 2 days later revealed a loss of all reflexes and potentials, whereas the EEG recorded afterwards revealed distinct electroencephalographic activity.



Fig. 1. A 27-year-old male patient with severe brain contusion. In the EEG, burst suppression pattern with 5- to 7-s bursts roughly every 2-3 s



Fig. 2. The same patient with loss of BAEPs on the left side and loss of BAEP waves rostral to wave I on the right side. Absent cortical SEPs. Zeroline VEP

Case 3. A 27-year-old male patient with severe brain contusion which was more pronounced on the left showed 5- to 7-s bursts in the EEG approximately every 2-3 s (Fig. 1). The evoked potentials registered 3 l/2 h later merely showed a peripherally generated wave I on the right side. In the registration of the SEPs, a neck SEP which could be evoked over  $C_2$  was shown, whereas the VEP displayed a zero line (Fig. 2). All oligosynaptic and polysynaptic reflex responses were absent (Fig. 3). The EEG which was afterwards recorded once more over the right hemisphere revealed a declining burst suppression pattern with development to the zero-line EEG (Fig. 4).



Fig. 3. The same patient. Loss of the electrically evoked blink reflex and the mechanically evoked glabella and masseter reflexes



Fig. 4. The same patient after registration of the evoked potentials and brain stem reflexes. The EEG shows a declining burst suppression activity over the right hemisphere with development to the zero-line EEG

## Discussion

Within the space of 4 years, we saw, in nine patients with clinical signs of brain death, an electrophysiological pattern which documented a loss of the cortical and brain stem functions investigated on the basis of acoustic, somatosensory, and visually evoked potentials as well as the electrically evoked blink and mechanically evoked glabella and masseter reflexes. On the other hand, the spontaneous EEG of these patients still revealed electroencephalographic activity. This constellation of findings caused us to question the value of evoked potentials and electrophysiologically investigated brain stem reflexes in the diagnosis of brain death: the loss of potentials and reflexes may document a loss of function in certain nuclear areas and of specific sensory and reflex tracts in the central nervous system. However, it does not prove cerebral death, if this is defined as a condition of electroencephalographic zero-line Our findings indicate a dissociation between induced activity. bioelectrical processes on the one hand and spontaneous electroencephalographic activity on the other hand. It is not difficult to explain this dissociation in primary infratentorial lesions. The absence of a visually evoked potential might also be interpreted on the basis of the conditions in the circulation, at least for patients

with basilar artery thrombosis. It is more difficult to explain the dissociation of the electrophysiological findings described in primary supratentorial lesions. For this purpose, it appears necessary to resort to the familiar neurophysiological investigations according to which diencephalic structures as pacemakers or oscillators of the EEG influence large cortical areas [1-3].

It is conceivable that impulses still emanate from the neuronally nonspecific thalamic system which is not precisely defined histologically [5], whereas the specific thalamocortical systems are already defunct. Here, further clinical and experimental studies are necessary in order to be able to interpret the findings.

#### References

- 1. Adrian ED (1941) Afferent discharges to the cerebral cortex from peripheral sense organs. Physiol (London) 100:159-191
- Bremer F (1938b) Effects de la déafférentation complète d'une région de l'écorce cérébrale sur son activité électrique spontanée. CRS Biøl (Paris) 127:355-359
- Jasper HH, Droogleever-Fortuyn J (1947) Experimental studies on functional anatomy of petit mal epilepsy. Res Publ Assn Nervous Ment Dis 26:272-298
- 4. Klug N, Csécsei G, Christophis P, Rap ZM (1987) Multimodale elektrophysiologische Untersuchungen bei raumfordernden Prozessen des kranio-spinalen Übergangs. In: Jahrbuch der Neurochirurgie 1987, Regensberg & Biermann
- 5. Morison RS, Dempsey EW (1942) A study of thalamocortical relations. Am J Physiol 135:281-292

Multimodality Evoked Potentials in the Diagnosis of Brain Death

R. Firsching and R. A. Frowein

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Köln, Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

When evoked potentials are used to determine brain death, primary supratentorial lesions must be distinguished from infratentorial lesions, as the order of the loss of different brain functions varies.

According to the guidelines for the determination of brain death by the Bundesärztekammer (BÄK) [6], documentation of the stepwise abolition of brain stem auditory evoked potentials (BAEP) in serial investigations in primary supratentorial lesions may be used as proof of the irreversibility of the loss of all brain functions after the clinical signs coma, cranial nerve areflexia, and apnea have been established [3-6]. As a minimum, wave III has to be preserved at a first investigation, as waves I and II are considered to be generated peripheral to the brain stem.

In 56 patients with coma grades I-III, we found only one patient who presented with the absence of auditory evoked potentials at the initial investigation. When he regained consciousness, it turned out that he had been deaf.

## Patients and Methods

In ten patients serial recordings of somatosensory evoked potentials (SEP), visual evoked potentials (VEP), BAEP, and the 40-Hz AEP [1,2] during the development of brain death were possible. Of these patients, six had primary supratentorial lesions and four had primary infratentorial lesions.

## Findings

For each lesion one illustrative case will be presented:

Supratentorial brain lesion: A 42-year-old female (1619/86) had a subarachnoid supratentorial hemorrhage. CT clearly demonstrated blood in supratentorial subarachnoid spaces. She was admitted with severe clouding of consciousness; SEP, VEP, and BAEP were reproducible. She lapsed into coma; 7 h later cranial nerve areflexia and apnea were recorded. Another 6 h later the abolition of SEP, VEP, and BAEP was documented (Fig. 1).

Infratentorial brain lesion: A 71-year-old female (1653/86) lapsed into coma from a posterior fossa hematoma she developed on anticoagulant therapy. While there was no reproducible SEP and BAEP, the VEP



Fig. 1. Abolition of SEP, VEP, and BAEP in subarachnoid hemorrhage. (Preserved potentials on the left, abolished potentials on the right)

proved to be reproducible. Twelve hours after onset of coma, cranial nerve areflexia and apnea were found; EEG still revealed  $\alpha$ -activity. Another 5 h later, the VEP was no longer reproducible (Fig. 2).

As defined by the BÄK [6], the irreversible loss of all brain functions is required for the determination of brain death. In infratentorial brain lesions, however, cortical function may outlast the loss of brain stem function. Thus, in infratentorial lesions, an EEG demonstrating electrocortical silence is always mandatory.

The 40-Hz AEP was found to coincide with the BAEP except for two cases. In the 42-year-old presented above, the second BAEP was abolished except for waves I and II. At the same time, the 40-Hz AEP was partly reproducible (Fig. 3).

In a 39-year-old female (47/87) with intracerebral hematoma and coma grade IV, a preserved wave I of the BAEP was found on one side. An abnormal but still reproducible 40-Hz AEP was found on the same side (Fig. 4).







## Abolition of VEP 18 hours after admission

Fig. 2. Abolition of VEP in infratentorial hemorrhage (Rechtes Auge = right eye; Linkes Auge = left eye; J. = year)

Conclusions

Explanations for a partly preserved 40-Hz AEP along with abolition of wave III of the BAEP can only be speculative. More clinical experience is needed.

From our experience so far, abolition of the BAEP in serial investigations in supratentorial brain lesions after the documentation of

## After apnea





Fig. 3. Bilaterally preserved reproducibility of 40-Hz AEP with preserved wave II of BAEP

coma, cranial nerve areflexia, and apnea is sufficient to demonstrate the irreversible loss of brain functions.

#### Summary

Serial recordings of multimodality evoked potentials in ten patients demonstrated the stepwise abolition of all responses. The order of the loss of cortical and brain stem function, however, depends on the location of the primary brain lesion. Preserved cortical function in spite of coma, cranial nerve areflexia, and apnea after primary infratentorial lesions stresses the need for EEG recording of electrocortical silence. In two cases reproducible potentials of the

278







Fig. 4. Unilaterally preserved reproducibility of 40-Hz AEP with preserved wave I of BAEP on the same side

40-Hz AEP were found although the BAEP was preserved up to wave II only. It is concluded that more data on the 40-Hz AEP in brain death is desirable.

### References

- Firsching R, Frowein RA (1988) The 40 Hz middle latency auditory evoked potential in comatose patients. In: Advances in Neurosurgery 16:108-113
- Firsching R, Luther J, Eidelberg E, Brown WE, Story JL, Boop FA (1987) 40 Hz-middle latency auditory evoked response in comatose patients. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 67:213-216
- 3. Frowein RA (1986) Die Feststellung des Hirntodes. Anästh Intensivmed 27:383-388

- 4. Frowein RA, Gänshirt H, Hamel E, Haupt WF, Firsching R (1987) Hirntod-Diagnostik bei primär infra-tentorieller Hirnschädigung. Nervenarzt 58:165-170
- Frowein RA, Gänshirt H, Richard KE, Haupt WF (1987) Kriterien des Hirntodes: 3. Generation. Anästh Intensivther Notfallmed 22:17-20
   Wissenschaftlicher Beirat der Bundesärztekammer (1986) Kriterien
- 6. Wissenschaftlicher Beirat der Bundesärztekammer (1986) Kriterien des Hirntodes. Entscheidungshilfen zur Feststellung des Hirntodes. Dtsch Ärztebl 83:2940-2946

# The Value of Motor Potentials Following Transcortical Stimulation in Diagnosing Brain Death – First Results

H. Wiedemayer, H.-E. Nau, G. Demmer, and A. Feldges

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Essen, Hufelandstraße 55, D-4300 Essen 1

## Introduction

Electrical stimulation of the motor cortex has until now been restricted by the necessity of opening the skull to apply the electrodes. The intact scalp and skull offers considerable resistance to the conventional methods of electrical stimulation. In 1980 MERTON and MORTON [6] introduced a technique to stimulate the motor cortex without any special preparation. The principle of this method is to apply a single very brief high voltage stimulus [7]. By means of this technique electrophysiological assessment of the corticospinal pyramidal tract is now possible, which was not the case using conventional methods of evoked potentials.

## Patients and Methods

Twenty-eight comatose patients in the intensive care unit were studied by motor evoked potentials (MEPs) following cortical and spinal stimulation, by brain stem auditory evoked responses (BAERs), and by median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials (M-SSEPs). The clinical features of these patients are listed in Table 1. The classification of coma was based on WFNS coma scaling [1]. The diagnosis of brain death was made using the criteria of brain death published by the Federal Chamber of Physicians in 1982 [2]. Transcranial cortical stimulation was performed with a commercially available Digitimer D 180 Cortical Stimulator. This stimulation unit delivers a high voltage shock (max. 750 V) of short duration (time constant 50  $\mu$ s). To stimulate the brain, the anode was placed over the hand area of the motor cortex, corresponding to positions F3/C3 and F4/C4 of the international 10-20 system. The cathode was applied 6 cm in front of

No.	Sex	Age	Diagnosis	
28	m 12	Median 45 yrs.	Head injury	12
	I 16	Range 8-6/yrs.	ICH SAH	4
			Others	5

Table 1. Clinical features of patients

ICH, intracerebral hematoma; SAH, subarachnoid hemorrhage

Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol. 17 Ed. by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

281



Fig. 1. Motor evoked potentials recorded from thenar muscles (opp poll) and anterior tibial muscles (tib ant) following cortical and spinal stimulation

the anode in the same axial plane. For spinal stimulation the anode was placed in the midline over the C6 spinal process and the cathode over the D2 spinal process. Recordings were made using silver needle electrodes in the contralateral thenar muscles. Signals were registered on the Compact Four (Nicolet) and stored on floppy discs. Filters were set at 30 Hz and 3 kHz and the time base chosen was 100 or 200 ms. Parameters of evoked potential recording are described elsewhere [8].

#### Results

A summary of the results is given in Tables 2 and 3. For spinal stimulation, stimulus intensity was between 30% and 70% of maximal stimulus intensity, and for cortical stimulation, 60%-100% of maximal stimulus intensity. Latency to onset of EMG response in thenar muscles was about 21 ms for cortical stimulation and 14 ms for spinal stimulation (Table 2).

282
		Late	ency		L-R dif	ference	
		<u>x</u>	S		x	S	
	L	R	L	R			
Cortical- thenar	21.6	21.2	1.6	1.7	0.9	0.8	
Spinal- thenar	14.3	14.4	1.6	1.9	0.8	0.6	
Central conduction time	7.5	7.0	1.2	1.6	0.7	0.8	

Table 2. Latency to onset of EMG response in thenar muscles to spinal and cortical stimulation

Thirty-three recordings were made in 28 patients. In all cases a muscle action potential was registered following spinal stimulation. No muscle action potential was evoked in 19 of 33 recordings following cortical stimulation. In one case MEP was missed on one side. Seven of 19 recordings with absent cortical MEPs were made in patients classified as coma grades I-III. All other recordings with absent cortical MEPs were in patients classified as coma grade IV or belonging to the group of "brain dead" who showed deep coma, absent brain stem reflexes, and apnea. The three patients classified as coma grade IV showed absent cortical MEPs. In two of these patients BAERs were preserved on both sides and M-SSEP was absent bilaterally. In the third patient only M-SSEP was found to be intact on both sides, while BAERs were missing bilaterally.

All patients with deep coma, absent brain stem reflexes and apnea (classified as brain dead) showed absence of cortical MEPs and BAERs as well as disappearance of the primary cortical responses N20/P25 of M-SSEP. MEPs following spinal stimulation were preserved in all cases.

#### Discussion

Motor evoked potentials can also be recorded in patients in a comatose state. In awake patients cortical stimulation of higher intensity can produce some discomfort. All patients studied here received some sedative drugs in respect of mechanical ventilation. No vegetative reactions, e.g., increase in heart rate or arterial blood pressure, were observed by continuous monitoring following spinal or cortical stimulation. No seizures or other concomitant reactions were noticed during our procedure.

Sedative drugs given continuously in medium dosage (alfentanil 1.5 mg/h and midazolam 9 mg/h) apparently do not influence recording of spinal and cortical MEPs. Whether there is some interference with high dosage sedatives or barbiturates is beyond the scope of our experience. Two patients received high dosage barbiturates because of raised intracranial pressure. Both showed normal muscle action potentials following spinal stimulation but absent cortical MEPs. We are

potentials	(M-SSEPs), and	motor evoked pot	entials (N	(EPs )						
		BAERS			M-SSEPs			MEPS		
Patient groups, WFNS	No. of patients ===	Left/ri + 0	ght		Left/right + 0			Left/ri + 0	ght	
coma scale	recordings	+ 0 + +	0 0	++	+ 0	0	++	•	0	。
Coma I	6	* * *	* * *	* ** **	* *		* * * * * *		*	
Coma II	8 === 10	* * * * * * *	* *	** ** ***	* * *		* * * * *	•	* **	•
Coma III	t 7	* *	•	* * *		•	* *		* *	
Coma IV	ო    ო	* *	•	•		* *			* *	+
"Brain dead"	6		* * * * * * * * *			*** ***			*** ***	***

+, correct evoked potential; 0, evoked potential lost

Table 3. Results of brain stem auditory evoked responses (BAERs), median nerve somatosensory evoked

not sure whether the absence of cortical MEPs is to be attributed to the barbiturate effect or to cortical or brain stem lesions.

The latencies following cortical and spinal stimulation do not differ significantly from those of awake patients described in the literature [4,5]. In coma grades II and III half of the patients showed absent cortical MEPs. BAERs and M-SSEPs seem to be more stable in the deep coma state. This finding is confirmed by the recordings of patients in coma grade IV.

Loss of cortical and brain stem function (patient group "brain dead") is in all cases linked with absent cortical MEPs, as well as loss of BAERs and primary cortical responses of M-SSEP.

The advantages of cortical MEPs are simple handling, few problems with artifacts, and time sparing in relation to the evoked potential technique. A single stimulus evokes a muscle action potential, and averaging methods are unnecessary. In relation to BAERs and M-SSEPs, cortical MEPs seem to be less stable in the deep coma state. In the course of brain stem dysfunction due to transtentorial herniation, cortical MEPs seem to be affected earlier than BAERs and M-SSEPs. The influence of drugs (sedatives in high dosage, barbiturates) has not yet been clearly defined. More experience is necessary to evaluate the role of cortical MEP recording in diagnosing brain death. Further possibilities may emerge in the future using transcranial magnetic stimulation.

#### Summary

In 28 patients of the neurosurgical intensive care unit motor evoked potentials (MEPs) were studied in different coma stages and in brain death. The first results showed that MEPs seem to be less stable than BAERs and SSEPs. All patients with deep coma, loss of brain stem reflexes, and apnea showed absent cortical MEPs, BAERs, and SSEPs.

- Brihaye J, Frowein RA, Lindgren S, Loew F, Stoobant G (1978) Report on the meeting of the W.F.N.S. Neuro-traumatology Committee, Brussels, 19-23 September 1976. Acta Neurochir 40:181-186
- Bundesärztekammer (1986) Fortschreibung der Kriterien des Hirntodes. Deutsches Ärzteblatt – Ärztliche Mitteilungen 83:2940-2946
- Cowan JMA, Dick JPR, Day BL, Rothwell JC, Thompson PD, Marsden CD (1984) Abnormalities in central motor pathway conduction in multiple sclerosis. Lancet 11:304-307
- 4. Hacke W, Buchner H, Schnippering H, Karsten CH (1987) Motorische Potentiale nach spinaler und transkranieller Stimulation: Normalwerte für die Ableitung ohne willkürliche Vorinnervation. Z EEG-EMG 18:173-178
- 5. Ludolph AC, Eiger CE, Gößling JH, Hugon J (1987) Methodik und Normalwerte für die Ableitung evozierter motorischer Potentiale nach transkranieller Stimulation beim Menschen. Z EEG-EMG 18:32-35
- 6. Merton PA, Morton HB (1980) Stimulation of the cerebral cortex in the intact human subject. Nature 285, p 227
- 7. Merton PA, Morton HB, Hill DK, Marsden CD (1982) Scope of a technique for electrical stimulation of human brain, spinal cord, and muscle. Lancet II:597-600

8. Nau HE, Wiedemayer H, Brune-Nau R, Pohlen G, Kilian F (1987) Zur Validität von Elektroenzephalogramm (EEG) und evozierten Potentialen in der Hirntoddiagnostik. Anästh Intensivther Notfallmed 22:273-277

# Motor-Evoked Potentials and Transcranial Doppler Sonography During Development of Cerebral Circulatory Arrest

# J. Zentner and W. Hassler

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Tübingen, Calwer Straße 7, D-7400 Tübingen

# Introduction

Personal experience with monitoring of motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) [4] in patients suffering increased intracranial pressure has shown the high stability of motor responses, which are sometimes recordable even up to clinical brain death. Since with transcranial Doppler sonography (TCD) a noninvasive assessment of intracranial hemodynamics is available [1], it was the aim of our study to correlate MEP and TCD findings and to define the degree of cerebral blood flow necessary for elicitability of motor responses. Therefore, we compared the results of both tests in 46 patients suffering increased intracranial pressure and report on our findings.

#### Patients and Methods

Forty-six patients (24 males, 22 females) from 17 to 89 years (average age 41 years) were studied. All were comatose, intubated, and artificially ventilated and finally died from increased intracranial pressure caused by a severe closed head injury (n = 34), intracranial hemorrhage (n = 8), or subarachnoid hemorrhage (n = 4). The observation time ranged from 1 to 21 days.

Motor evoked potentials were elicited by transcranial electrical stimulation of the motor hand area. Stimulus strength was increased until distinct electromyographic (EMG) responses from the contralateral thenar muscles were recordable or the absence of any response could be documented despite a maximum stimulus strength of 750 V. In each case the lower cervical region at C6-7 was also stimulated to make sure of an intact peripheral pathway. TCD examinations were performed transtemporally on the internal carotid and the proximal middle cerebral arteries on both sides.

The MEP findings were divided into three categories. Type I means well-preserved responses following transcranial stimulation. In type II amplitudes are noticeably diminished to below 200  $\mu$ V, and in type III they are absent on both sides despite a maximum stimulus strength of 750 V, while they are still preserved following lower cervical stimulation (Fig. 1).

The TCD findings were also divided into three categories. Type I means reduced diastolic flow velocities. In type II diastolic flow is absent on both sides, and in type III only oscillating flow or systolic peaks are present or the signals are completely abolished (Fig. 2).

287



Fig. 1. MEP patterns. Recordings of three patients are shown. Type I: bilaterally preserved EMG responses. Type II: bilaterally noticeably diminished MEPs. Type III: bilateral loss of EMG responses following transcranial (CTX) stimulation; bilaterally preserved responses following lower cervical (C6/7) stimulation

#### Results

Table 1 shows the combination of MEP and TCD results. In 46 patients 85 recordings were performed. Twenty-one patients (75.0%) with reduced diastolic flow velocities (TCD type I) showed distinct EMG responses (MEP type I), while amplitudes were diminished in five (17.9%) and completely absent in two (7.1%) cases. With absent diastolic flow (TCD type II), MEP amplitudes were noticeably reduced (MEP type II) in 17 cases (53.1%), but distinct in six (18.9%) and absent in nine (28.1%).



Fig. 2. TCD patterns. Recordings of three patients are shown. Type I: reduced diastolic flow velocities. Type II: absent diastolic flow. Type III: oscillating flow, systolic peaks or absent signals

TCD MEP		I		II	1	III	То	tal
	No.	ę	No.	ę	No.	£	No.	8
I	21	75.0	6	18.9	1	4.0	28	32.9
II	5	17.9	17	53.1	-	_	22	25.9
III	2	7.1	9	28.1	24	96.0	35	41.2
Total	28	100.0	32	100.0	25	100.0	85	100.0

#### Table 1. Combination of MEP and TCD Results

EMG responses were absent in all but one patient with oscillating flow, systolic peaks, or absent TCD signals. Figure 3 shows a typical example of MEP and TCD findings during development of intracranial circulatory arrest.

#### Discussion

Our results show a close relationship between MEPs and TCD findings during development of intracranial circulatory arrest. Usually distinct EMG responses could be recorded in cases with reduced diastolic flow velocities. Typically, MEP amplitudes decreased with absent diastolic flow and were abolished in all but one case with oscillating flow, systolic peaks, or absent TCD signals. Thus, for elicitability of MEPs only a minimum cerebral blood flow seems to be necessary. This might also be an explanation for other experience we had which did not reveal any prognostic significance of preserved MEPs in comatose patients.

The patient with preserved MEPs despite oscillating flow seems to be unusual. This concerned a 27-year-old man who was comatose due to a subarachnoid and intracerebral hemorrhage. MEPs and TCD were examined 4 days after clipping of a middle cerebral artery aneurysm when the patient showed clinical signs of brain death. It is possible that in this case due to skull defects (although the bone flap had been reimplanted) foci of high charge density occurred [2,3] which allowed the impulse to overcome damaged supratentorial structures, thus exciting deeper structures such as the brain stem.

To conclude, excitability of MEPs elicited by transcranial electrical stimulation is given even when there is a minimum cerebral blood flow. In our opinion, these findings are only valid in supratentorial and secondary brain stem lesions. In primary brain stem lesions, other results would have to be expected, such as reduced or abolished motor responses, while supratentorial TCD findings would not be noticeably influenced.



Fig. 3. MEPs and TCD in a single patient with a severe closed head injury. Recordings on 4/2/88 show MEP and TCD types I. With increased intracranial pressure (4/4/88) diastolic flow is absent (TCD type II), coinciding with MEP type II. With beginning of oscillating flow (4/5/88) there is only a minimum EMG response which is completely absent (MEP type III) with appearance of clear oscillating flow (TCD type III) on 4/6/88

#### Summary

In a total of 46 patients suffering under increased intracranial pressure, motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) and transcranial Doppler sonography (TCD) were examined to consecutively monitor functional and hemodynamic changes during development of cerebral circulatory arrest. It was the aim of our study to correlate MEP and TCD findings and to define the degree of cerebral circulation necessary for elicitability of motor responses. With regard to three MEP and three TCD types, we found that usually distinct motor responses could be obtained with reduced diastolic flow velocities (type I). Typically, MEP amplitudes decreased noticeably with absent diastolic flow (type II) and were abolished in all but one case with the appearance of oscillating flow (type III). To conclude, under transcranial electrical stimulation, descending pathways may still be excitable with minimal cerebral blood flow when recovery of the neurological condition is no longer possible.

- Aaslid R, Markwalder TM, Nornes HC (1982) Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 57:769-774
- Agnew WF, McCreery DB (1987) Consideration for safety in the use of extracranial stimulation for motor evoked potentials. Neurosurgery 20:143-147

- 3. Day BL, Thompson PhD, Dick JP, Nakashima K, Marsden CD (1987) Different sites of action of electrical and magnetic stimulation of the human brain. Neurosci Lett 75:101-106
- 4. Merton PA, Morton HE (1980) Stimulation of the cerebral cortex in the intact human subject. Nature 285:227

# Neuropathology of Brain Death in Relation to Continuously Measured Intracranial Pressure

R. Schröder, K. E. Richard, K. Nanassis, and R. A. Frowein Pathologisches Institut der Universität Köln, Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

# Introduction

The brain death syndrome results from increase of the intracranial pressure (ICP), which causes an irreversible arrest of the cerebral perfusion. However, ICP values continuously obtained with the hitherto existing methods in relation to the blood pressure (BP) partially seem to contradict this pathogenesis. Thus, RICHARD et al. [1] observed in 21 patients three patterns of the terminal ICP/BP relation, each of which occurred in one-third of cases:

Type I : ICP > systolic BP Type II : ICP > diastolic BP Type III : ICP < diastolic BP

Especially in the cases of type III measurements, the explanation of the intracranial circulation arrest is difficult. The question arises as to whether the neuropathology can make a contribution to the explanation. Can the circulation stop in the type III cases be confirmed by postmortem examination, and are peculiarities observable hinting at various effects of a lower ICP?

# Material and Results

From our neuropathological file of more than 300 brain death cases we reexamined all the cases of exclusively supratentorial spaceoccupying lesions with continuously measured ICP in the period of transition to brain death and with sufficient neuropathological documentation. "Sufficient" means the presence of histological sections from the boundary of the intra- and extracranial circulation, at least from the intracanalicular part of the nervi optici and from the hypophysis (sometimes supplemented by the upper cervical cord), because the changes in other parts of the cerebral total infarction are unspecific [2].

We present 16 cases (Table 1). They are nearly equally distributed among the three ICP/BP types. Because morphological changes at the border zones are first demonstrable 8 h after the onset of brain death, as we have shown previously [2], the number of evaluable cases is reduced to 14. Cases of type I and II are combined because of their small numbers. Within the so formed two groups the use of intraventricular or epidural measurement was nearly equal.

Sure morphological signs of intracranial circulation arrest are demarcations with myelin palor in the canalicular part of the nervus

292 Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol. 17 Ed. by R. A. Frowein, M Brock, and M. Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989 Table 1. Neuropathologically examined cases with brain death syndrome (BD) and continuous measurement of ICP. V, ventricular fluid pressure; E, epidural pressure

I	4 , with BD period of >	8 h 2	7 20 4F 10+F
II	5	5∫	, 20, 40, 1010
III	_7	_7	3V, 4E
	14	14	

opticus and in the upper cervical cord at the boundary of the intracranial blood supply. Another such demarcation arises within the anterior lobe of hypophysis by necrosis. In both types of ICP/BP relation these demarcations were demonstrable in all cases (Table 2). Another change occurring exclusively in cases of brain death is shearing of cerebellum at the edge of the foramen magnum with displacement of cerebellar particles into the spinal subarachnoid space. This was also shown in two of the seven cases in each group (Table 2). Since the frequency of this phenomenon increases with time, we show in the table the periods of brain death, which also correspond in both groups.

Other morphological changes occur independent of the development of the brain death syndrome and are signs of the terminal herniation. Pontine hemorrhages result from shearing of dorsal parts against basal fixed parts by axial mass shifting. In their frequencies in the two ICP/BP groups we might expect a reflection of the different development of ICP, but as shown in Table 3, the difference was only small and not significant. Sometimes a cortical hyperemia is conspicuous not only on the side of the lesion but also contralaterally. This results from final cerebral vasoparalysis with blood engorgement. This was found in both groups nearly equally as well (Table 3).

# Conclusion

In all cases of type III with subdiastolic ICP values the clinical diagnosis of brain death could be confirmed by neuropathological proof of typical demarcations at the border zone of the intracranial circulation. Other findings were also similar to those in group I/II with relatively higher ICP values. From the neuropathological point of view we can accept the same pathogenetic mechanisms in both groups, which result in the arrest of the intracranial circulation.

Table 2. Changes proving the intracranial circulation arrest. BD, brain death

BD pe	eriod	Demarcation	Spinal cerebellum
I/II	13-30 h	7/7	2/7
III	10-27 h	7/7	2/7

	Pontine hemorrhage	Cortical hyperemia
1/11	4/7	4/7
111	2/7	3/7

# Table 3. Changes associated with terminal herniation

It follows that the ICP values obtained with present neurosurgical practice do not yield in all cases measurements which are usable for the calculation of the cerebral perfusion pressure. Therefore, at present the ICP values cannot be accepted as an additional sure diagnostic criterion of brain death.

- 1. Richard KE, Nanassis K, Frowein RA (in press) Intracranial pressure: a reliable criterion of brain death? ICRAN
- Schröder R (1978) Chronomorphology of brain death. Adv Neurosurg 5:346-348

# The Use of Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound Monitoring in the Determination of Brain Death

I. T. H. J. Verhagen, D. J. Zeilstra, and J. J. A. Mooij

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Groningen, Academisch Ziekenhuis, NL-Groningen

The exact diagnosis of cerebral death has two objectives. In the first place there are considerations about whether or not to continue treatment; secondly, and of increasing importance in recent years, the question of removal of organs for transplantation is raised.

Current methods of establishing a diagnosis are:

1. Clinical and neurological examination, indicating complete loss of cerebral function: absent pupillary responses, no reaction to painful stimuli, absence of reflexes, including brain stem reflexes, lack of response to caloric stimulation, and absence of spontaneous breathing even during hypercapnia (apnea test).

2. Electroencephalography, demonstrating an isoelectric pattern. As a bedside method of investigation this is an elaborate procedure and therefore time consuming. In patients under barbiturate therapy the results are not fully reliable. There is often some form of electrical interference, especially when recordings with increased sensitivity are made in an intensive care unit. Recently recordings of acoustic evoked potentials have also been used for this purpose.

3. Investigations of cerebral circulation:

a) Four-vessel angiography [4,8]. This investigation calls for patient transportation and is also time consuming. The administration of contrast agents to patients who are potential organ donors is a disadvantage.

b) Sequential isotope scanning [7]. The applicability of this method of investigation depends on the availability of an isotope, so that it cannot be performed everywhere. It would also require a mobile gamma-camera.

c) Extracranial ultrasound Doppler sonography [3,9]. This investigation is not completely reliable. Patients have been described in whom a brief reversal of flow was detected, with later recovery of circulation. Duplex scanning, however, has been shown to be a reliable method. It allows precise investigation and differentiation of circulation in internal and external carotid arteries.

d) Transcranial ultrasound Doppler sonography (TCD) [1,2,5]. This method of investigation allows measurement of direction of flow, pattern of flow, and flow velocity in intracranial vessels. The technique has been developed by Aaslid and co-workers and is available in most neurosurgical units, usually as a routine method of monitoring vasospasm in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. The method has been routinely applied in our clinic since 1985. A disadvantage of this procedure is the possible interference of the signal caused by other electrical appliances present. In a small number of patients it is impossible to detect a transtemporal signal.

In 1984 AASLID, and later RINGELSTEIN, MOSKOPP, and RIES, demonstrated the typical flow pattern in circulatory arrest caused by brain death [1,2,6]. The "to-and-fro" movement described by Yoneda et al. in extracranial Doppler sonography [9] was also detected by TCD.

It is questionable whether TCD is reliable in establishing cerebral death. In the literature there is evidence that in experienced hands the presence of an oscillating flow correlates with cerebral death and an isoelectric EEG in all cases [6]. Brain death may, however, be present without a fluctuation in the flow pattern [6]. This indicates that only the **presence** of such a flow pattern ascertains the diagnosis of cerebral death.

In patients with a severe neurological condition or suspected brain death TCD should be performed as soon as possible. CT may demonstrate the presence of a midline shift and thus facilitate the investigation. A complete investigation with TCD takes only a few minutes. In the case of an improvement of the clinical situation further investigations are not necessary. In the event of a deterioration it can be easily repeated. Progressive reduction of diastolic flow velocity and clinical deterioration necessitate repeated TCD investigations. On demonstration of an oscillating pattern preparations for removal of donor organs may be made. In such cases we believe that recording of an EEG is unnecessary. A proposal for the diagnostic management is summarized in Fig. 1.

The usefulness of the method was studied in 17 consecutive adult patients. In eight cases clinically established brain death was the result of a subarachnoid hemorrhage or intracerebral hematoma, in eight cases there was a severe head trauma, and in one patient there was deterioration following the removal of a large meningioma. In three patients, all with clinical signs of brain death, it was not possible to record a signal. TCD could not be performed earlier in these patients, so the absence of the signal allowed no conclusions on TCD alone. In all patients a recent CT scan was available. In our

Emergency admission

Neurological examination

Computed tomography

Transcranial Doppler sonography

No signal present conventional diagnostic procedures Signal present

as required

Fig. 1. Flowchart of management scheme in patient with suspect cerebral death



Fig. 2. Typical "to-and-fro" movement signal in clinically brain dead patient

experiences the findings on CT are not essential for the accurate recording of TCD. The experiences of the investigator seems to be far more important.

In the 14 patients in whom it was possible to demonstrate a transtemporal Doppler signal, we found two types of signal:

- an oscillating signal as mentioned above (Fig. 2)
- a signal showing only a systolic peak without inversion of the diastolic signal

In all cases the patients were cerebrally dead following clinical criteria (apnea test, caloric stimulation, no brain stem reflexes, no reaction to painful stimuli). In ten patients an EEG was recorded within 1 1/2 h, showing a flat curve in each case.

In summary our study has led to the following conclusions:

- 1. Our results, and those reported in the literature, show that TCD is a reliable method in the investigation of cerebral death.
- 2. The diagnosis of cerebral death may only be established in the presence of an oscillating flow or the absence of continuous diastolic flow providing the signal is distinct.
- 3. In our experience the transorbital signal at a depth of 60-70 mm is very variable and difficult to validate. An oscillating signal has only been detected in two patients, so transorbital TCD seems to be unreliable.
- 4. Measurements of flow in the basilar artery in ventilated patients are very elaborate. As they do not contribute any useful information they are superfluous.
- 5. In the case of legal circumstances requiring EEG recording, TCD can aid in predicting the moment the EEG will yield an isoelectric pattern. Thus a single recording will suffice.
- 6. TCD is not influenced by drugs such as barbiturates.
- 7. TCD in experienced hands is an instant method of investigation that can be repeated at any time and as often as necessary.

- Aaslid R, Markwalder TM, Nornes H (1982) Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 57:769-774
- Aaslid R (1986) Transcranial Doppler Sonographie. Springer-Verlag, Wien New York
- Büdingen HJ, Reutern v G-M, Freund H-J (1982) Doppler-Sonographie der extrakraniellen Hirnarterien. Georg Thieme Verlag, Stuttgart New York 115-121
- 4. Gros C, Vlahovitch L, Roilgen A (1959) Images angiographiques d'arrêt circulatoire encéphaliques total dans les souffrances aiguës du tronc cérébral. Neurochirurgie 5, 1:113-129
- Kirkham FJ, Levin SD, Padayachee TS, Kyme HC (1987) Transcranial pulsed doppler ultrasound findings in brain stem death. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 50:1504-1513
- 6. Ries F, Moskopp D (1987) Nicht invasive Bestimmung des zerebralen Kreislaufstillstandes mit der transcraniellen Doppler-sonographie. In: Transkranielle Doppler-sonographie bei zerebro-vaskulären Erkrankungen. Widder B (Hrsg) Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York London Paris
- 7. Schober O, Galaske R, Heyer R (1987) Determination of brain death with <sup>123</sup>I-IMP and <sup>99m</sup>Tc-HM-PAO. Neurosurg Rev 10:19-22
- 8. Wertheimer P, Descotes J, Bourret J et al. (1961) Traumatologie cranienne. Masson, Paris
- 9. Yoneda S, Nishimoto A, Nukada T (1974) To-and-fro movement and external escape of carotid arterial blood in brain death cases. A doppler ultrasound study. Stroke 5:707-13

# Comparative Evaluation of Angiography and Transcranial Doppler Sonography in the Determination of Intracranial Circulatory Arrest

H. M. Mehdorn, A. Feldges, B. Hoffmann, and E. Löhr

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Essen, Hufelandstraße 55, D-4300 Essen 1

# Introduction

Although brain death is diagnosed on the basis of well known clinical neurological signs of permanent loss of cerebral functions [6], angiography is often used to additionally determine the intracranial circulatory arrest (ICCA), particularly when an organ explantation is discussed. However, this invasive method may be harmful to the brain so that it should not be used to determine ICCA in a patient who does not completely fulfil the clinical criteria of brain death, e.g., because of the suspicion of intoxication. Furthermore, it requires that an angiographic suite is available permanently, it is expensive, and it may be time consuming. The need for a simple bedside procedure with at least the same reliability to diagnose ICCA is evident.

Transcranial Doppler sonography (TCD) has been used for a variety of clinical conditions [1,4,5,8] and because of its approach to the basal arteries it has been acclaimed to be more accurate for the study of cerebral circulatory pattern than is conventional extracranial Doppler sonography. In order to elucidate the value of TCD to determine ICCA, a prospective study was undertaken using TCD in addition to clinical judgment of comatose patients in the intensive care unit. Additionally, a retrospective analysis of angiograms of patients who had undergone cerebral angiography over the last 4 years to determine ICCA was performed to determine the "flow pattern" in this particular group of patients.

# Material and Methods

Between April 1984 and 1988, 341 patients died in our department or were examined by staff members with the assumed diagnosis of brain death. Forty of them underwent cerebral angiography in order to determine ICCA; 31 of them could be reevaluated retrospectively. Since TCD had been introduced into our department and become a routine method, it was used in 27 comatose patients for a total of 43 examinations to determine ICCA.

Angiography was performed with intraarterial contrast injection into the aortic arch in combination with digital subtraction imaging in the vast majority of patients. Only in one patient studied early in the series was contrast medium injected selectively into the extracranial arteries, in combination with conventional angiography. In ten patients, contrast was injected into the vena cava superior through the antecubital vein. Transcranial Doppler sonographic studies were performed using the TC 2-64B from EME (Überlingen, FRG), which is a pulsed Doppler system with frequencies of 2, 4, and 8 MHz. This machine allows for evaluation of both the major extra- and intracranial arteries. A complete study was attempt in every case, including the carotid and vertebral arteries in the neck, the middle and anterior cerebral arteries (MCA and ACA respectively) through the temporal window, the ophthalmic arteries (OA) through the orbita, and the basilar artery (BA) via the foramen magnum.

In seven patients, TCD studies prompted cerebral angiography within such a short time interval that the results of the two studies could be compared.

#### Results

#### Angiography

Angiography showed contrast medium in all carotid bifurcations, and extension of the contrast column up to the skull base in two-thirds. The carotid siphon was contrasted in one-fifth, and the MCAs were shown in 1/31. In the posterior circulation, the vertebral arteries were stained in three-quarters, the BA was shown in 19%, and the posterior cerebral arteries were shown in 16%. The flow in the stained intracranial arteries was so slow that ICCA could be assumed.

#### Transcranial Doppler Sonography

In normal patients, TCD demonstrates a flow pattern in the intracranial arteries which is characterized by a systolic peak and a slow return of velocity to the diastolic valley. The ratio between peak systolic and lowest diastolic velocities can be calculated to give either the ratio itself, the "pulsatility index" (PI) as defined by GOSLING [3] as the difference between systolic and diastolic flow velocity divided by mean velocity or the "Pourcelot index" [7], which both represent the vascular resistance. Because better ways to characterize the flow curves are currently lacking, these figures are used to characterize the flow pattern as intracranial as opposed to extracranial. The TC 2-64B's built-in computer analyzes the flow curves and computes and displays automatically the PI.

In the comatose patients reported in this study, the flow pattern changed in such a fashion that a higher and sharper systolic peak could be observed, followed by a rapid flow reduction at the end of systole, and in the diastole sometimes another sharp hill developed. In some patients, the diastolic flow was reversed, resulting in an undulating flow pattern. In late stages prior to central loss of circulatory regulation and cardiac arrest, either a flow pattern as shown in Fig. 1 was observed (sharp systolic peaks are followed in all insonated arteries by zero-flow in diastole or a minor negative flow), or the MCA/ACA complex could not be insonated at all; this was the case in one-half of the patients. If the MCA/ACA complex could not be demonstrated at all through the temporal window, the transorbital route used to insonate the carotid siphon and the ACA showed the flow pattern just described. Similar flow was demonstrated in the BA, although in a few patients at this stage the BA still had an undulating flow pattern.

Under the assumption that, in addition to a systolic flow, a diastolic flow is essential to maintain an intracranial circulation, the



Fig. 1 A, B. Oneyear-old child clinically diagnosed as brain dead following blunt head injury. A TCD shows sharp systolic peaks followed by narrow negative diastolic flow. B Angiography confirms the ICCA

absence of diastolic flow, that is the pure presence of sharp systolic peaks, was used as the criterion for ICCA. Forty-three TCD observations were performed in 27 patients; in 21 observations, clinical diagnosis of brain death was followed by ICD findings which corresponded to ICCA. In three cases with a clinical diagnosis of brain death, the TCD findings were suggestive of ICCA but did not comple-



Fig. 2 a, b. The relationship between perfusion pressure (mmHg) and pulsatility index (a) for supratentorial arteries and (b) for infratentorial arteries. 0 represents a comatose patient while + represents a clinically brain-dead patient (Pulsatilitäts Index = pulsatility index)

tely fulfil the above-described criteria. In 19 cases, TCD showed flow patterns suggestive of some intracranial circulation.

In order to test further the reliability of TCD in the diagnosis of ICCA, the curves of all patients were evaluated by using the PI. The curves obtained in brain-dead patients were opposed to those obtained in comatose patients who did not fulfil criteria of brain death. The mean PI derived from flow measurements in supratentorial arteries in 16 brain-dead patients was  $4.211 \pm 2.26$ , while in 12 comatose patients it was  $1.587 \pm 0.85$ . This difference is highly significant (P < 0.005). Also, in seven patients clinically diagnosed as brain dead, it was possible to compare TCD findings with angiography performed shortly after TCD evaluation. In six patients, TCD showed the typical flow pattern demonstrated in Fig. 1 A, and angiography proved the absence of intracranial circulation (Fig. 1 B). In one patient, TCD was suggestive of some residual flow, but angiography showed ICCA.

Additional information obtained from the TCD studies could become helpful in the management of comatose patients: Because we observed a high PI in patients in the state of brain death or shortly prior to this state, we arranged the data in a graphic presentation against the perfusion pressure, which was computed according to the formula of BUR- TON [2], taking into account the intracranial pressure. Figure 2 clearly shows a trend for high PI to correspond to low perfusion pressure. The comatose patients are represented on the left part of the abscissa, and the border between the PI for the living and the dead is between 2 and 3. All patients with PI values within this range determined in all intracranial arteries died within the next 24 h.

# Discussion

In view of the results reported here, TCD seems to be most helpful and accurate in the noninvasive diagnosis of ICCA. With careful evaluation of intracranial arteries, it was possible to diagnose ICCA using TCD, and TCD was correct in all cases. However, the experience is limited and has to be confirmed in a large-scale study before it should be generalized to add legally useful information to our present handling of deeply comatose patients. Some issues should be discussed.

1. TCD study is a noninvasive study that can be easily performed and repeated in a bedside manner. However, because technical mistakes can be made by the examiner, it requires an experienced examiner to give reliable results. In order to exclude the possibility of mistakenly diagnosing the noninsonability of an intracranial artery and deducing an ICCA, the same observer should perform repeat studies on a patient with as many arteries insonated as possible. This will certainly not always be possible, e.g., when a patient is referred for organ explantation from elsewhere already in the state of brain death and ICCA; in such instances particular attention should be given to the possibility of technical errors. Insonation of OA down to the carotid siphon and of the BA should usually be helpful to rule out misdiagnosis.

2. As with all other examinations of ICCA, blood pressure should be within the normal range. It is possible to demonstrate, by means of TCD, the effect of stepwise cardiac arrest on the intracranial circulation, but this is only the very final stage which is of no major clinical interest.

3. Using the formula mentioned above, TCD should become able to estimate noninvasively the intracranial pressure as it affects the flow pattern in the intracranial arteries.

Acknowledgment. Dr. R. Kalff provided clinical care to the patients in the intensive care unit.

- Aaslid R (1986) Transcranial Doppler sonography. Springer, Wien New York
- Burton AC (1969) Physiologie und Biophysik des Kreislaufs. Schattauer, Stuttgart
- Gosling RG, King DH (1974) Arterial assessment by Doppler shift ultrasound. Proc R Soc Med 67:447-475
- Harders A (1986) Neurosurgical applications of transcranial Doppler sonography. Springer, Wien New York
- 5. Hassler W (1986) Hemodynamic aspects of cerebral angiomas. Acta Neurochir Suppl 37. Springer, Wien New York
- 6. Pendl G (1986) Der Hirntod. Springer, Wien New York
- 7. Pourcelot L (1974) Applications cliniques de l'examen Doppler transcutane. Les Colloques de l'Inserm 34:213-240
- 8. Widder B (1987) Transkranielle Doppler-Sonographie bei zerebrovaskulären Erkrankungen. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York

# Hemodynamics of Cerebral Circulatory Arrest: Correlation Between Perfusion Pressure and Blood Flow Velocity

W. Hassler and H. Steinmetz

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Tübingen, Calwer Straße 7, D-7400 Tübingen

# Introduction

Since 1986, transcranial Doppler ultrasonography (TCD) has been used in our department to assess cerebral blood flow velocities (FV) in patients developing intracranial circulatory arrest due to intracranial hypertension. This method offered new insights into cerebral hemodynamics under conditions of raised intracranial pressure (ICP) as it allows repeated bedside recordings which are noninvasive and easy to interpret. Application of TCD and normal values have been reported in the literature [1,3,4,6,7]. The following questions arise: How do TCD spectra, which represent arterial FV in basal cerebral arteries, change with rising ICP? What is the influence of systemic arterial pressure (SAP)? Can perfusion be improved by dehydration or induced systemic hypertension?

# Clinical Material and Method

Thirty patients were studied who suffered from and finally died of intracranial hypertension with developing intracranial circulatory arrest due to severe head trauma in the majority of cases. ICP was measured using unilateral Gaeltec probes (Gaeltec Ltd. Dunvegan, Isle of Skye, Scotland) inserted over the frontal convexity, usually on the right side. SAP was registered continuously through radial artery catheters. Patients showing no TCD signal upon the initial investigation were excluded. Partial arterial  $CO_2$  values measured 30-35 mmHg during the TCD evaluation. SAP and ICP were documented continuously on computer-generated printouts, so that the interrelation between FV in basal cerebral arteries (TCD) and cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP = SAP - ICP) could be studied.

Results (Figs. 1-4)

# Correlation Between TCD and CPP

Normally, the pulsatility amplitude of FV in basal cerebral arteries is about 0.5, i.e., end-diastolic FV is 50% of the systolic peak value. A consistent relationship was found between CPP and the shape of the FV spectrum outline in severe intracranial hypertension. With rising ICP, the diastolic FV decreases while systolic peak FV remains unchanged. This results in a pronounced systolic-diastolic pulsatility (high resistance flow). Diastolic FV becomes zero when diastolic ICP reaches diastolic SAP. A further decline of CPP leads to the

Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol. 17
 Ed. by R.A Frowein, M Brock, and M.Klinger
 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989



Fig. 1. Relationship between SAP, ICP, and FV as measured in the middle cerebral artery by TCD. In all displayed TCD spectra, upward deflections indicate blood flow toward the Doppler probe, whereas downward deflections appear with flow directions away from the probe

occurrence of diastolic backflow (biphasic flow). When the time averaged mean forward flow equals the backflow, the pattern is called oscillating. Oscillating TCD profiles have been shown to correctly predict angiographic nonfilling of the anterior intracranial circulation [5]. Following the oscillating pattern, a profile with characteristic small systolic spikes develops (Fig. 2), which then leads over to zero flow. These patterns also correspond to angiographic circulatory arrest [5].

In cases of circumscribed mass lesions causing intracranial hypertension, the existence of different pressure compartments within the skull can be demonstrated by TCD, e.g., showing circulatory arrest on one side with less severe disturbance on the other.

#### Effect of Therapy for Intracranial Hypertension

Dehydration (mannitol) proved effective provided the TCD spectra had not yet become oscillating. Beneficial effects can be demonstrated by an increase or recurrence of diastolic forward FV upon TCD which corresponded to ICP improvement. In cerebral circulatory arrest, however, dehydration and induced systemic hypertension were ineffective as they did not change time averaged inflow to the brain.



Fig. 2. Blood flow velocities as measured in the middle cerebral artery under rising ICP up until cerebral circulatory arrest as proven by angiography. Three different TCD patterns correlate with angiographic nonfilling: oscillating flow, small systolic spike flow, and zero flow (provided that there has been a signal before)

# Discussion

As supposed by AASLID et al. [2], TCD can be used to assess the severity of intracranial hypertension.

Blood inflow to the skull cavity is determined by CPP and cerebrovascular resistance (CVR). As severe intracranial hypertension decreases CPP and increases CVR, blood inflow becomes reduced. The instantaneous CPP varies over the cardiac cycle, being lowest at the end of diastole. Diastolic CPP will therefore be the first to become zero in progressing intracranial hypertension. This point corresponds to the occurrence of diastolic zero FV upon TCD. With further ICP increases (or SAP decreases), diastolic CPP becomes negative, being accompanied by a diastolic backflow on TCD. When time-averaged systolic forward FV equals time-averaged diastolic reverse FV (= net zero FV, the oscillating TCD pattern), circulation in the peripheral vascular tree of the evaluated vessel has come to a standstill, as was demonstrated by intracranial angiographical nonfilling [5]. Despite extracranial stop of dye flow in these cases, the basal cerebral arteries remain patent since oscillating TCD patterns are obtainable. The site of distal outflow obstruction within this "blind duct," which must be caused by vascular collapse, remains unclear.







Fig. 4. Failure of systemic arterial hypertension to reestablish cerebral perfusion in a patient with cerebral circulatory arrest following head trauma and severe brain swelling. The cerebral vascular tree has become a "blind duct" with distal outflow obstruction of unknown location

- Aaslid R, Huber P, Nornes H (1984) Evaluation of cerebrovascular spasm with transcranial Doppler ultrasound. J Neurosurg 60:37-41
- 2. Aaslid R, Lundar T, Lindegaard KF et al. (1986) Estimation of cerebral perfusion pressure from arterial blood pressure and transcranial Doppler recordings. In: Miller JD, Teasdale GM, Rowan JO et al. (eds) Intracranial pressure VI. Springer, Berlin, pp 226-229
- Aaslid R, Markwalder TM, Nornes H (1982) Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 57:769-774
- 4. Hassler W (1986) Hemodynamic aspects of cerebral angiomas. Acta Neurochir, Suppl 37:1-136 (see pp 42-44)
- 5. Hassler W, Steinmetz H, Gawlowski J (1988) Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography in raised intracranial pressure and in intracranial circulatory arrest. J Neurosurg 68:745-751
- Hennerici M, Rautenberg W, Sitzer G et al. (1987) Transcranial Doppler ultrasound for the assessment of intracranial arterial flow velocity - Part 1. Examination technique and normal values. Surg Neurol 27:439-448

7. Lindegaard KF, Bakke SJ, Grolimund P et al. (1985) Assessment of intracranial hemodynamics in carotid artery disease by transcranial Doppler ultrasound. J Neurosurg 63:890-898

# Comparison of Transcranial Doppler Sonography and Cerebral Angiography for the Diagnosis of Cerebral Circulatory Arrest

W. Hassler, J. Pirschel, J. Gawlowski, and E. Grote Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Tübingen, Calwer Straße 7, D-7400 Tübingen

# Introduction

Cervical Doppler examinations on clinically brain dead patients have been performed since the mid-1970s. BÜDINGEN et al. [4] described the typical oscillating "compliance flow" patterns in the carotid and vertebral arteries which were explained by back-and-forth movements of the blood column in the presence of an intracranial circulatory stop. Today, transcranial Doppler sonography allows the insonation of basal cerebral arteries [1,2] which are directly affected by rising intracranial pressure [6,8]. The method might therefore be of diagnostic relevance for cerebral circulatory arrest and can be compared with the widely accepted method of cerebral angiography [3].

# Clinical Material and Methods

Fifty-five patients were studied who suffered from and finally died of intracranial hypertension with developing intracranial circulatory arrest due to severe head injury and intracerebral hemorrhage in the majority of cases. Angiography was performed after clinical diagnosis of brain death and after transcranial Doppler sonographic prediction of cerebral circulatory arrest. Four-vessel angiography was performed with 15 ml of contrast medium which was injected by machine into the common carotid arteries or cervical segments of vertebral arteries. The last angiographic images were taken 26 s after contrast medium injection, and 14 shots were taken for each vessel.

Transcranial Doppler sonographic examination was performed before and after angiography through the temporal basal window with the depth set at about 55-60 mm for carotid arteries. The foramen magnum window was used to insonate the basilar and vertebral arteries at a depth of 70-90 mm. If no signal was obtained, transorbital and retromastoid insonation was also performed.

# Results

Correlation of Internal Carotid Artery Filling to the Transcranial Doppler Sonographic Signal

One hundred and ten internal carotid arteries (ICA) from 55 patients were investigated (Table 1).

310 Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989

	Angiographic findings (n	= 110)	Transcrania	al Doppler	findings
Fi:	lling of ICA up to:	Number of cases	No signal	Systolic spikes	Oscilla- ting flow
1.	Bifurcation, petrosus bone	57	52	4	1
2.	Petrosus bone	23	6	15	2
3.	Siphon	12	4	8	0
4.	Siphon + ophthalmic art	. 8	0	1	7
5.	Minor filling of intrac nial vessels after 14 s	ra- 10	0	0	10

Table 1. Correlation between cerebral angiography and transcranial Doppler sonography in the internal carotid artery (ICA)

ICA I.

2. ANGIO

1. ANGIO



Fig. 1. Different levels of filling of ICA in cerebral circulatory arrest and transcranial Doppler sonographic findings. On the right side, the right ICA fills up to the siphon. Transcranially, systolic spikes can be recorded. These systolic spikes show a typical respiration-dependent time course when the signals are recorded at a very slow velocity. On the left side, the left ICA breaks at the level of the petrosus bone. No signal can be obtained transcranially In 57 cases, the contrast medium in the ICA stopped at the level between the carotid bifurcation and the base of the skull. In most of these cases (52), no transcranial Doppler sonographic signal was obtained. In four cases, small systolic spikes were recorded. The systolic spike spectrum is composed of sharp and narrow peaks during systole, with a maximum flow velocity of 100 cm/s. No diastolic flow was recordable. These systolic spikes show a typical respirationdependent wave (Fig. 1). Oscillating flow (compliance flow) was seen in only one case: the oscillating flow spectrum is defined as forward flow during systole and backflow during diastole. Cerebral circulatory arrest is reached when time-averaged mean forward flow equals the backflow.

In 23 cases, the contrast medium in the ICA stopped at the level of the petrosus bone. The majority of cases showed systolic spikes (15); no signals were obtained in six cases and in two patients, oscillating flow patterns were recorded.

In 12 cases, the contrast medium in the ICA stopped at the level of the siphon (Fig. 2). In the majority of cases (8), systolic spikes were recorded, while in four cases no signal was obtained.

In eight cases, the contrast medium in the ICA stopped at the end of the siphon with filling of the ophthalmic artery. In this angiographic situation, in most cases oscillating flow patterns were recorded (7); in one case systolic spikes were recorded.

In ten cases minor filling of thin intracranial vessels (MCA, ACA) occurred after 14 s. Cerebral veins were not seen after 26 s. Oscillating flow patterns were obtained in all of the ten cases.

Correlation of Vertebral and Basilar Artery Filling to the Transcranial Doppler Sonographic Signal

Fifty-five basilar arteries were investigated with Doppler sonography (Table 2). In some cases, retrograde flow in the contralateral vertebral artery occurred due to filling of the homolateral vertebral artery without filling of the PICA of the cerebellum.

In two cases, the contrast medium stopped in the vertebral artery at the level of the cervical vertebral column. Transcranially, no flow velocity in the vertebral artery or basilar artery was obtained.

In 42 cases, the vertebral artery flow was stopped at the level of the atlas, only filling muscular branches of the neck. Here, in most cases (41), no signal was obtained in the basilar arteries or vertebral arteries; small systolic spikes were recorded in only one case.

In five cases, angiography showed scarce filling of a thin basilar artery up to the clivus and dorsum sellae. In this condition, systolic spikes were recorded three times and oscillating flow patterns twice.

In six cases, minor filling of posterior cerebral arteries occurred after 14 s. Cerebral veins could not be seen after 26 s. Four of these cases showed oscillating flow patterns, while two showed systolic spikes.



Fig. 2. Brain-dead patient with different angiographic filling of ICA. The right ICA stops at the level of the siphon with typical systolic peak flow. The left ICA shows minor intracranial filling of the proximal MCA after 26 s. Transcranial Doppler sonographic recordings show oscillating flow patterns. The basilar artery (BA) fills up to the middle part of the clivus. After 14 s, only systolic peaks can be recorded (the systolic peaks point downward because the flow velocity is away from the Doppler probe)

Table 2. Correlation between cerebral angiography and transcranial Doppler sonography in the vertebral basilar system

Angiography (n = 55)		Transcran (ba	ial Dopple silar_arte	r findings ry)
Filling of basilar artery/ vertebral artery up to:	Number of cases	No signal	Systolic spikes	Oscilla- ting flow
<ol> <li>Cervical vertebral column C2-C6</li> </ol>	<sup>1</sup> , 2	2	-	-
2. Atlas (vertebral artery)	42	41	1	-
<ol> <li>Clivus-dorsum sellae (basilar artery)</li> </ol>	5	-	3	2
4. Minor filling of posteric cerebral artery after 14	or s 6	-	2	4

#### Discussion

The transcranial Doppler sonographic signal of flow velocities in basal cerebral arteries is influenced by cerebral perfusion pressure, cerebral vascular resistance, and the amount of open vascular beds [6]. This means that during developing cerebral circulatory arrest, the level of intracranial pressure and amount of vascular bed volume influence the Doppler flow velocity spectrum the most.

Cerebral circulatory stop and an open vascular bed can be found during subarachnoid hemorrhage [5,6]. In this condition, very pronounced oscillating flow signals can be recorded, which means that the moved blood volume is large and therefore produces a good signal [7]. Conditions with slowly increasing intracranial pressure up to cerebral circulatory arrest lead to a slowly diminishing size of the vascular bed. In this condition, the volume of oscillating blood is decreased, so that the Doppler sonographic signal becomes weaker. Therefore, the transformation of pronounced oscillating flow patterns to systolic spikes and furthermore to no obtainable signal is a sign that the vascular bed is shrinking. Accordingly, no signal can be obtained when the carotid artery filling stops at the level of the carotid bifurcation (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Schematic drawing of angiographic and Doppler sonographic findings with reduction of intravascular bed. Doppler signals show a typical time course. Minor filling of intracranial arteries is accompanied by oscillating flow patterns. Filling up to the siphon shows systolic peaks, and contrast medium stop at the level of the carotid bifurcation shows no signal recording

Comparison with angiography shows that transcranial Doppler sonography is a very good and simple method to determine cerebral circulatory arrest. The method is accurate if certain parameters are observed:

- Time course investigation with typical Doppler spectra
- Typical Doppler signals: systolic spikes and oscillating flow patterns
- Absence of signal recording can only be accepted if it is preceded by a typical time course of Doppler spectra
- An experienced investigator

The method is less accurate if no signal is recorded, and if there is no time course investigation (normally in 4% no signal can be obtained because the skull bone is too thick) [1,2]. Air in the skull cavity leads to a total reflection of ultrasonic beams, so that no signal can be observed. Swelling and intracerebral bleeding may displace intracranial vessels, so that recording may be difficult or impossible. The method is also inaccurate if the investigator is inexperienced.

When all these factors are taken into consideration, transcranial Doppler sonography can replace angiography. Angiography should only be performed in situations which are unclear.

- Aaslid R, Markwalder TM, Nornes H (1982) Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 57:769-774
- arteries. J Neurosurg 57:769-774
  2. Aaslid R, Lundar T, Lindegaard KF et al. (1986) Estimation of cerebral perfusion pressure from arterial blood pressure and transcranial Doppler recordings. In: Miller JD, Teasdale GM, Rowan JO et al. (eds) Intracranial pressure VI. Springer, Berlin, pp 226-229
- Agnoli A, Clar HE, Magnus L (1970) Fehlende Darstellung von Hirngefäßen im Carotisangiogramm infolge intrakranieller Drucksteigerung. Arch Psychiat Nervenkr 213:408-421
- 4. Büdingen HJ, Reutern v GM (1979) Noninvasive screening of cerebral death by Doppler sonography. Dtsch Med Wschr 104:1347-1351
- 5. Grote E, Hassler W (1988) The critical first minutes after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurg 22:654-661
- 6. Hassler W, Steinmetz H, Gawlowski J (1988) Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography in raised intracranial pressure and in intracranial circulatory arrest. J Neurosurg 68:745-751
- Hassler W, Steinmetz H (1988) Reversible intracranial circulatory arrest in acute subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiat, in print
- Lindegaard KF, Bakke SJ, Grolimund P et al. (1985) Assessment of intracranial hemodynamics in carotid artery disease by transcranial Doppler ultrasound. J Neurosurg 63:890-898

# Electrographic Changes in Brain-Dead Patients

G. Pendl and M. Hirschl

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Wien, Währinger Gürtel 18-20, A-1090 Wien

# Introduction

Cardiac rhythm in brain-dead patients has been studied under artificial ventilation [3]. However, few studies have been done on cardiac arrhythmias after disconnection of the respirator, since cessation of cardiac function or electrocardiographic silence in brain-dead patients occurs spontaneously or after disconnection without any further monitoring. The aim of this study was to analyze the influence of total anoxia on cardiac function as well as on the mode and course of cardiac arrest.

# Methods and Results

In 35 brain-dead patients of a neurosurgical unit, ECGs were examined before and after removal of the ventilator. In all 35 cases, criteria of brain death included coma, loss of spontaneous respiration, electrocerebral silence, and cessation of circulatory arrest in the brain documented by arteriography [4].

The causes of brain death were intracranial expansive mass lesions, severe hemorrhages or other unfavorable courses of well-established cerebral diseases, or trauma. Drug intoxication was excluded.

ECGs were recorded until circulatory arrest, and the terminal changes analyzed (Table 1). In some patients, peripheral arterial as well as central venous pressures were recorded. Blood samples were taken for evaluation of blood gas analysis, serum electrolytes, and myocardial enzymes. Cardiac output was determined. Catecholamines were not studied (Table 2).

Before disconnection of the respirator, a sinus rhythm was noted in all patients; in 12 cases there was sinus tachycardia, in 4 cases, sinus bradycardia. The time between termination of ventilation and cessation of electrocardiographic activity was 7-38 min. During this period a gradual slowing of the sinus rhythm was seen in all cases. In seven cases it was interrupted by a junctional rhythm, in ten cases by intermittent atrial fibrillation (Fig. 1). Five patients had first-degree AV block, six patients had second-degree AV block, and seven patients had third-degree AV block. Terminal atrial fibrillation occurred in three cases. In all other cases a terminal sinus bradycardia was recorded. An atrial mechanism persisted for 20 s to 3 min in all patients without any ventricular activity before the ECG became isoelectric. Ventricular tachycardia was transient and returned to a sinus rhythm in five cases; ventricular extrasystole of

Preterminal rhythm		Changes of atrial activity	Changes of ven- tricular activity	Terminal ischemia	J-wave	Terminal rhythm	Cessation of ECG activity
Normal		AV block:	Tachycardia 5	Anterior	ſ	P-Wave only 32	
Sinus rhythm	19	First degree 5	Fibrillation 6	and inferior	ή c		итш / •итм
		Second degree 6		MALL	77	ALLIAL fibrillation 3	Max. 38 min
tachycardia	12	Third degree 7	rremature beats 6				
Sinus oradycardia	4	Atrial fibrillation 10 Junctional rhythm 7	All changes transiently			In no case was ventricular activity ob-	
		Progressive slowing of the sinus rhythm 35				served	

35
11
с С
patients
n-dead
brair
in
changes
ic
Electrocardiograph
н.
Table

		Tir	ne of sampl:	ing	
	17.29	17.38	17.43	17.47	17.50
РН	7.47	7.38	7.21	7.08	7.05
PCO2	29.3	42.1	63.5	82.5	87.6
PO2	63.5	17.5	7.4	4.1	4.9
BE	-1.8	-0.5	-4	-7.7	-8.7
SBC	22.7	23.6	20.9	18.2	17.5
Na	146.6	149.3	148.9	147.8	147.0
К	4.59	4.89	7.03	7.82	7.76
Ca	1.09	1.08	1.24	1.17	1.11
				(Ces act	sation of F ivity)

Table 2. Blood gas analysis and changes of serum electrolytes after disconnection in a typical case of brain death (56-year-old patient)







318


Fig. 2. A Preterminal sinus rhythm, no ischemic signs; B beginning ischemia, first-degree AV block; C complete ischemia with prominence of ST segment and T-wave; D isolated terminal atrial activity

bigeminal type occurred in three cases and atrial premature beats in three cases. A ventricular escape rhythm was never observed. In 12 cases an acute infarction of the anterior as well as the inferior wall was recorded with elevation of the ST interval until complete fusion of the R-wave and ST interval (Fig. 2). In all cases, progressive slowing of ventricular activity until asystole was present. Preterminal ventricular tachycardia was never recorded. A J-wave was observed in three cases.

### Discussion and Conclusion

Electrocardiographic changes are not due to destruction of cerebral (i.e., central nervous system) structures, but result from changes in the cardiac sympathetic innervation itself [2]. Termination of ventilation with subsequent hypoxemia and anoxemia with hyperkalemia does not result in characteristic arrhythmias of the ECG or in a sudden loss of heart function. The myocardium of the ventricles seems to

Fig. 1. A Preterminal sinus rhythm, ischemic signs; B progressive slowing of the sinus rhythm, ischemia; C ventricular tachycardia; D ventricular fibrillation; E atrial fibrillation; F terminal QRS complex, atrial fibrillation be more sensitive to hypoxemia than the atrial structures and the conduction system [1].

- 1. There is no correlation between electrocardiographic activity in brain-dead patients before and after disconnection of the respirator.
- 2. Apparently the atrial complex is less susceptible to hypoxia than the ventricular complex, since atrial activity persists up to 1 min after cessation of ventricular activity.
- 3. There is no correlation between preterminal and terminal ischemia: in 14 cases myocardial ischemia was present in the preterminal stage, although only seven cases showed a preterminal electrocardiographic pattern of myocardial anoxia.
- Ventricular arrhythmias are independent of existing myocardial ischemia.
- Disconnection from the respirator with complete anoxia in braindead patients does not change cardiac rhythm characteristic of sudden heart death.

The electrocardiographic studies in brain death after disconnection of the respirator give an insight into the destruction pattern of an organ in total anoxemia, but have no place in the diagnosis of brain death. However, they might be of some consequence in heart transplantation for harvesting an organ in fully oxygenized blood and perfusion of the organ itself.

### References

- Kaindl F, Zilcher H (1973) Zur Bestimmung des Todeszeitpunktes aus kardiologischer Sicht. In: Kösl W, Scherzer E (eds) Die Bestimmung des Todeszeitpunktes, Maudrich-Verlag, Wien, pp 59-67
- Logigian EL, Ropper AH (1985) Terminal electrocardiographic changes in brain-dead patients. Neurology 35:915-918
- 3. Ouaknine GE (1978) Cardiac and metabolic alterations in brain death. Ann NY Acad Sci 315:252-264
- 4. Pendl G (1986) Der Hirntod. Springer, Wien New York

# Brain Death in Fulminant Hepatic Failure

U. Schauseil-Zipf, B. Roth, M. Voßkämper, and R. Schröder Universitäts-Kinderklinik Köln, Joseph-Stelzmann-Straße 9, D-5000 Köln 41

Fulminant hepatic failure is a rare but severe illness with a rather poor prognosis. It is the result of massive hepatocellular necrosis occurring in most cases without preexisting liver disease. Viral hepatitis is the most important cause of fulminant liver failure [19,22,31]. Exogenous etiological agents include several drugs such as acetaminophen, halothane, paracetamol, valproate, and isoniazid, and toxins such as Amanita phalloides [17,18,21,24]. In general the survival rate of the disease averages about 20% [2,14,27,31]. Only in specialized liver units have survival rates up to 40% been reported [5,6].

Cerebral edema is one of the major complications of fulminant hepatic failure, occurring in 50%-80% of all cases [2,11,25,27,28]. At present the etiology of cerebral edema remains unclear and its importance as a cause of death in fulminant hepatic failure is a source of controversy. Well documented cases of fulminant hepatic failure with lethal cerebral edema have only rarely been published [28].

### Case History

An ll-year-old girl was referred to the Children's Hospital of Cologne University with a 5-week history of nausea, abdominal pain, intermittent fever, jaundice, and progressive lethargy. Previous history and family history were uneventful. There was no history of drug exposure, infection, or intoxication.

Clinical and laboratory findings confirmed the diagnosis of fulminant hepatic failure. Serological examinations showed no evidence of any viral or bacterial infection. No hepatotoxic substances were identified. The child was disoriented and lethargic with episodes of hallucinations, consistent with the clinical signs of hepatic encephalopathy stage II [21].

A regimen of intravenous fluids, protein exclusion, cleansing enemata, and oral neomycin was started together with parenteral administration of heparin and antithrombin III. Seven combined treatments with plasmapheresis and hemodialysis were carried out between the 2nd and the 8th hospital day. Nevertheless the clinical condition of the patient deteriorated continuously.

Hepatic encephalopathy stage III-IV was evident on the 4th day, together with radiological signs of cerebral edema on CT scan examination. Clinical and neurophysiological signs of brain death were recognizable on the 9th day of treatment. Neurophysiological findings during the course of the disease are demonstrated in Table 1.

Postmortem microscopic examination of the liver showed a nearly complete necrosis of hepatocytes together with intranuclear inclusion bodies suggestive of a subacute type of hepatitis, probably of viral origin. The brain was markedly edematous. There was a herniation of the cerebellar tonsils. Microscopic examination of the brain showed disseminated areas of necrotic ganglial cells in both cerebral hemispheres, the cerebellum, and the brain stem. Both optic nerves showed characteristic histological signs of demarcation with pallor of myelin within the intracranial parts and normal myelin staining within the extracranial orbital parts. This demarcation can be considered as histological proof of the intracranial circulatory arrest [23].

### Discussion

For the last several years the pathogenetic mechanisms of hepatic encephalopathy, i.e., the functional changes within the central nervous system, have been partly understood [7,8,13]. Currently it is thought that hepatic encephalopathy results from: (a) accumulation of toxic substances in the brain because of impaired hepatic filtering; (b) alteration of the plasma amino acid profile, resulting in accumulation of false neurotransmitters and impaired synthesis and kinetics of true neurotransmitters; and (c) increased brain tissue levels of neuroinhibitory substances such as  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid [21].

The pathophysiology of cerebral edema in fulminant hepatic failure, however, has remained unclear and hypothetical in many respects [1]. Data from animal experiments [12,33] as well as the benefical effects of osmotherapy [2,5,6,12] have led to the conclusion that cerebral edema during the early stages of fulminant hepatic failure is of the cytotoxic type. An increase in intracellular water is probably caused by the accumulation of still unidentified toxic substances in the blood which inhibit the sodium- and potassium-ATPase of the cell membranes in pericapillary astrocytes [4,5]. At this stage the bloodmemoranes in pericapiliary astrocyces (4,5). At this stage the brook brain barrier is still intact. Therefore cytotoxic cerebral edema can be successfully treated with mannitol. Osmotherapy is particularly effective when started during early stages of fulminant hepatic failure and in the presence of low or only moderately raised intracranial pressure [12,20]. With progression of the disease, the vasogenic type of cerebral edema is added to the cytotoxic edema. This was demonstrated experimentally by the increased passive per-meability of insulin and L-glucose into the brain tissue [4,15,32]. Osmotherapy has no beneficial effect on the vasogenic cerebral edema [33]. In several controlled clinical studies it has further been demonstrated that administration of either glucocorticoids or dexamethasone does not improve the survival rate of patients with fulminant hepatic failure and cerebral edema [29,26]. Renal failure, not infrequently associated with hepatic failure, apparently does not contribute to the development of cerebral edema [2,5].

The prognosis of fulminant hepatic failure is mainly dependent on the prevention of clinical complications during the acute phase of the disease such as bleeding, renal failure, and cerebral edema [9]. In addition to the standardized therapeutic regimen in hepatic coma, metabolic parameters can be stabilized by plasmapheresis and hemofiltration. In our own case a transient increase in the cortical activity was observed in the EEG for several hours after termination of plasmapheresis and hemofiltration, indicating that the elimination

q11 years) <sup>a</sup>				lbsent only wave I zable, later nts absent
(N.L.,	BAERS	I	Normal	Left: a Right: recogni compone
hapatic failure	VECPS	I	Amplitude depression	Absent
findings in fulminant	EEG	Diffuse slowing triphasic waves	Severe diffuse slowing, amplitude depression	No cortical activity
and neurophysiological	Clinical course	Hepatic encephalopathy Stage II Glasgow Coma Scale 11	Hepatic encephalopathy stage III-IV Glasgow Coma Scale 6	Clinical signs of brain death Glasgow Coma Scale 3
Table 1. Clinical	Hospital day	1	4	σ

.

Parallel to progressive clinical symptoms of hepatic encephalopathy, the EEG and the VECP findings (day 1, day 4). Severe abnormalities and complete absence of the BAERs on the 9th hospital day are indicate the deterioration of cerebral function on the cortical level while at BAERs are still normal neurophysiological signs of the herniation of the brain stem and the intracranial circulatory arrest due to excessive cerebral edema. These findings correlate with the clinical symptoms of brain death d

and the absence of cortical activity in the EEG and the VECPs

323

of toxic substances from the blood had transiently improved the metabolic situation of the CNS. The clinical symptomatology of hepatic encephalopathy, however, remained unchanged.

Diagnosis of cerebral edema in patients with fulminant hepatic failure is difficult. Papilledema is rarely noted [21] and computed axial tomography of the brain cannot be repeated at short intervals. Together with the evaluation of the neurological status, the epidural monitoring of intracranial pressure is the most important diagnostic measurement for prevention and early detection of cerebral edema. Clinical studies of patients with fulminant hepatic failure demonstrated intermittent rises of intracranial pressure in 85% of the cases. Intracranial pressure of 60 mmHg and more was associated with decerebrate posturing and/or unequal or abnormally reacting pupils [2,5,6].

Additionally, continuous EEG monitoring and the recording of visual evoked cortical potentials (VECPs) and brain stem auditory evoked responses (BAERs) provide valuable neurophysiological data on cerebral function. In contrast to the rather impressive alterations of the cortical EEG and the VECPs in patients with fulminant hepatic failure, BAERs are not influenced by metabolic coma if the intracranial circulation remains unimpaired [3]. The prolongation of central conduction time within the brain stem and the complete disappearance of BAERs are indicators for the compression of brain stem structures and the arrest of intracranial blood circulation during the terminal phase of cerebral edema [10].

At present, treatment of cerebral edema due to fulminant hepatic failure consists in osmotherapy, hyperventilation, and administration of analgesics, sedatives, and diuretics, together with controls of the serum sodium level and restriction of intravenous fluids [16]. The prognosis of the patients however, remains doubtful even in cases with early start of treatment. Further knowledge about the pathogenetic mechanisms of cerebral edema in the future may help to develop new therapeutic concepts for causal prevention and treatment, thus improving the survival rate of patients with fulminant hepatic failure.

### Conclusion

Cerebral edema is a major complication of fulminant hepatic failure. Its pathophysiology is only partly understood and its significance as a cause of death has rarely been documented in the literature. We present the case history of a girl aged ll years with fulminant hepatic failure. Brain death due to cerebral edema was documented by EEG monitoring, VECPs and BAERs, CT scan findings, and postmortem examination of the brain with histological proof of intracranial circulatory arrest. Epidural monitoring of the intracranial pressure is the most effective procedure for early diagnosis of cerebral edema, which seems to be of the cytotoxic type during earlier and of the vasogenic type during later stages. Osmotherapy has a benefical effect on cytotoxic cerebral edema in the presence of an intact blood-brain barrier. Dexamethasone and glucocorticoids do not improve the survival rate.

### References

- 1. Baethmann A (1979) Das Hirnödem mechanischer, zirkulatorischer, metabolischer und toxischer osmotischer, Genese. In: Klin Anaesthesiol Intensivther, Vol 19. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 56-75
- 2. Canalese J, Gimson AES, Mellon PJ, Davies M, Williams R (1982) Controlled trial of dexamethasone and mannitol for the cerebral oedema of fulminant hepatic failure. Gut 23:625-629
- Chiappa KH, Ropper AH (1982) Evoke medicine. New Engl J Med 306:1140-1150 (1982) Evoked potentials in clinical
- 4. Crossley IR, Wardle EN, Williams R (1983) Biochemical mechanisms of hepatic encephalopathy. Clinical Science 64:247-252
- 5. Ede RJ, Gimson AES, Canalese J, Williams R (1982) Cerebral oedema and monitoring of intracranial pressure in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterol Jpn 17:163-176
- 6. Ede RJ, Gimson AES, Bihari D, Williams R (1986) Controlled hyperventilation in the prevention of cerebral oedema in fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol 2:43-51
- 7. Fischer JE, Baldessarini RJ (1971) False neurotransmitters and hepatic failure. Lancet 10:75-79
- 8. Fraser CL, Arieff AI (1985) Hepatic encephalopathy, New Engl J Med 313:865-872
- 9. Gazzard BG, Portmann B, Murray-Lyon J, Williams R (1975) Causes of death in fulminant hepatic failure and relationship to quantitative assessment of parenchymal damage. Quart J Med XLIV:615-626
- 10. Goiteni KJ, Gainmesser P, Schmer H (1983) Cerebral perfusion pressure and auditory brain stem responses in childhood CNS diseases. Am J Dis Child 137:77-781
- ll. Hanid MA, Mackenzie RL, Jenner RE, Chase RA, Williams R (1979) Intracranial pressure in pigs with surgically induced acute liver failure. Gastroenterology 76:123-131
- Hanid MA, Davies M, Mellon PJ, Silk A, Strunin L, McCabe J, Williams R (1980) Clinical monitoring of intracranial pressure in 12. fulminant hepatic failure. Gut 21:866-869
- 13. Jones EA, Schafer DF, Ferenci P, Pappas SCh (1984) The neuro-biology of hepatic encephalopathy. Hepatology 4:1235-1242
  14. Lanzinger-Rossnagel G, Czygan P, Kommerell B (1980) Elektroen-zephalographische Befunde beim Coma hepaticum: Therapie mit Hämoperfusion. Klin Wschr 58:557-561
- 15. Livingstone AS, Potvin M, Goresky CA, Finlayson MH, Hinchey EJ (1977) Changes in the blood brain barrier in hepatic coma after hepatectomy in the rat. Gastroenterology 73:697-704
- 16. Miller JD (1979) The management of cerebral oedema. Br J Hosp Med 2:152-166
- 17. Mörl M (1984) Diagnostik des Comas hepaticum. Therapie des Comas hepaticum. Dtsch Med Wschr 109:501-506
- 18. Plöchl E (1983) Leberkoma mit letalem Ausgang bei zwei Kindern unter antiepileptischer Dauertherapie. Pädiatrie und Pädologie 18:57-63
- 19. Psacharopoulos HT, Mowat AP, Davies M, Portmann B, Silk DB, Williams R (1980) Fulminant hepatic failure in childhood. Arch Dis Child 55:252-258
- 20. Richard KE (1980) Intrakranielle Drucksteigerung, ihre Pathogenese, Klinik und Behandlung. Nervenarzt 51:392-405
- 21. Russel GJ, Fitzgerald JF, Clark JH (1987) Fulminant hepatic failure. Pediatrics 111:313-317 22. Scholz H (1984)Die Therapie des virusinduzierten Coma hepaticum
- im Kindesalter. Kinderärztl Prax 52:163-168
- 23. Schröder R (1983) Chronomorphologie der zerebralen Durchblutungsstörungen. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo

- 24. Sutherland LR, Muller P, Lewis DR (1981) Massive cerebrale edema associated with fulminant hepatic in acetaminophen overdose. Am J Gastroenterol 76:446-448
- 25. Thölen H (1972) Hirnödem. Eine Todesursache beim endogenen Leberkoma. Klin Wschr 50:296-301
- Tygstrup N (1979) A randomised trial of steroid therapy in acute 26. liver failure. Gut 20:620-623
- 27. Voßkämper M (1987) Neuropathologische Befunde bei verschiedenen Formen des Coma hepaticum. Inaug Diss, Köln
- 28. Ware AJ, D'Agostino AN, Coombes B (1971) Cerebral edema: a major complication of massive hepatic necrosis. Gastroenterol 61:877-884
- 29. Ware AJ, Jones RE, Shorey JN, Coombes B (1974) A controlled trial of steroid therapy in massive hepatic necrosis. Am J Gastroenterol 62:130-133
- 30. Wiese M, Kirsch WD, Wesslau C, Haupt R (1984) Leberkoma bei foudroyanter Virushepatitis. Behandlungsergebnisse des Jahres 1981 in einem Bezirkskrankenhaus. Z Ges Inn Med 39:92-97 31. Williams R (1983) Fulminant hepatic failure. Postgrad Med J 59
- (Supp 4):33-41
- 32. Zaki AEO, Ede RJ, Williams R (1984) Experimental studies of blood brain barrier permeability in acute hepatic failure. Hepatology 4:359-367
- 33. Zimmerli W, Grubinger C, Thölen H, Oberholzer M, Bianchi L (1981) Mannitol treatment of cerebral edema in rats with galactosamineinduced severe hepatitis. Experientia 37:1323-1325

# Ethical and Legal Aspects of the Diagnosis of Cerebral Death in the GDR

# H. Pothe

Abteilung Neurochirurgie der Klinik für Chirurgie an der Medizinischen Akademie Erfurt, Nordhäuser Straße 74, DDR-5010 Erfurt

Dying and death have always had a particular relevance in every society. Analogous philosophical problems are also at the very center of ideological and ethical reflections nowadays, particularly when medical activities and decisions are concerned.

Questions concerning organ transplantation, presupposing the donation of organic material, have increasingly been at the forefront of public interest and have been made a subject for discussion by the mass media - unfortunately not always correctly and to the point.

The fact that death may have occurred in an individual although the heart and other organ systems are still functioning has demanded a reorientation, not only by physicians, lawyers, and theologians, but also by the general population. In the meantime the conception that the irreversible loss of all brain functions corresponds with the end of individual human existence has been generally accepted. Two important principles can therefore be stated:

- 1. Cerebral death corresponds with individual death.
- 2. The timely diagnosis of cerebral death is a human concern of comprehensive practical importance.

In order to reach these principles it was necessary to solve medical, ethical, and juridical as well as religious and moral problems.

The solution concerning the moral aspect was perhaps quite easy: at all times and with all means at our disposal we have to offer care for the benefit of the patient whose organs are of vital importance for the survival of other people after the patient's death is beyond all doubt.

From the religious point of view it was evident that nobody except the physician is able to discern and determine the exact moment of death. Pope Pius XII stated as long age as 1957 that this is solely the task of the physician and does not touch the competence of the church (Speeches of the Pope, 1958, Volume 4).

Even now improvements in the field of medicine still involve a wide sphere of juridical and ethical problems for the physician. Above all we have to point out that modern possibilities of intensive care must not be misused.

There are certainly biological bounds that have to be known and must be taken into consideration by the physician, and young colleagues must learn to recognize them. Eagerness and ignorance should not give

327

rise to the exceeding of these bounds. Hippocrates said that the physician should not venture upon those who are already overpowered by sickness, and this is certainly still true today. Not only the right to live but also the right to die has to be recognized. Bacon interpreted this with his words: "as it is truly not little part of human blissfulness, that is to say to have a gentle end."

Of course the irreversible decision of the physician over cerebral death must be beyond question and therefore the highest personal sense of responsibility is necessary. To certify death is still one of the duties of the physician. Modern medicine insists on two different demands in this connection:

- 1. The classical symptoms of death are known. If they are evident, only the physician decides on certification.
- 2. The exact criteria of cerebral death are still not a general part of medical knowledge. If the mental process has obviously not yet been brought to a close, the committee must decide on certification.

Committees for certifying individual death on the basis of the irreversible loss of all brain functions are installed by the County Medical Officer of Health (M.O.H. /Bezirksarzt). Compulsory members of the committee are: one specialist in neurology and psychiatry or neurosurgery and one anesthetist. The doctor in charge can also be appointed to the committee. With regard to the personnel, the committee is variable in order to meet all required practical measures at any time. There are no legal rules prohibiting removal of organs from the just deceased, but aliens and members of the army and similar organizations are excluded.

There is no juridical requirement to speak to the relatives about the determination of death and the probable organ donation. Such decisions would go beyond the relatives' capability to judge this responsible situation. We are of the opinion that such a procedure should be excluded for ethical and humane reasons.

Consent or refusal by relatives is not possible because the very idea of ownership of a corpse is unthinkable. Ownership results as a matter of principle only from purchase, heritage, or gift, none of which is applicable in this case. The relatives are only responsible for a dignified funeral. In this connection it must be pointed out that the act of certifying cerebral death must not be taken into consideration only with regard to an organ donation.

The technical term "declaration of death" ought to be eliminated from the vocabulary of physicians, because it is a juridical statement which might be applicable to persons who are missing for a very long time. There are no ethical scruples about timely typing of seriously injured patients or other potential donors - for instance within the transition stage from midbrain syndrome to bulbar brain syndrome because a procedure of that kind implies nothing at all. The therapeutic efforts are not at all reduced by such a situation. On the contrary: for the purpose of conditioning the donor the circulatory backup, the correction of metabolic derangements, fluid balance, electrolyte substitution, and control measures against metabolic acidosis cannot be neglected. The therapy has to be carried on to its full extent. Thus the basis for eventual survival can be created. With regard to the patient as well as to organ explantation a reduction of the therapeutic efforts cannot be justified from either the ethical or the juridical viewpoint.

According to the legal regulations the admissibility of organ donation is not dependent on the consent of the organ donor. Organ donation is based on the ethical principle of genuine mutual assistance. If the deceased has appointed by will that in the case of death organs must not be used for explantation, this has to be taken note of. Nevertheless, in cases of emergency very lengthy investigations ought to be left undone. If death occurs under suspicious circumstances the state prosecutor has to consent to the intended organ explantation.

Cerebral death can only be certified by an exact clinical examination and observation of the course. The total cessation of brain stem function corresponds with individual death. The electroencephalogram (EEG) is unsuitable for cogent evidence and has no legal documentary value.

According to the original version of the Harvard criteria, EEG is not obligatory. The poikilothermal temperature type is of essential importance. Angiography is not necessary but it is of considerable help in determining the time of cerebral death.

#### In conclusion:

- Certifying cerebral death is a task of medical practice; the physicians who are entrusted with it must possess a pronounced sense of personal responsibility, requiring excellent ethical traits of character. The task of certification is in the hands of experienced and skilled specialists in the field of neurology, psychiatry, neurosurgery, and anesthesia who are in the employ of the committees appointed by the County Medical Officer of Health. Two signatures are sufficient.
- Although certification of death is based on exact scientific facts, at first sight it does not seem to be compatible with the physician's vocational duty to cure; nevertheless, correct procedure in this regard is obligatory on a humane basis.
- 3. Ethical and legal fundamentals enable the physician to come to exact decisions concerning the restoration of other peoples' health in this exceptional situation, too.

#### References

- Becker G (1970) Rechtliche Probleme bei Organtransplantationen unter den Bedingungen des sozialistischen Gesundheitsschutzes in der DDR. Dtsch Gesundh Wesen 25:1469-1473
- Flemming J, Lehmann R, Schädlich H (1978) Zu Problemen bei Patienten mit totalem, irreversiblem Hirnfunktionsverlust. Dtsch Gesundh Wesen 33:293-298
- Leopold D, Hunger H (1981) Die ärztliche Leichenschau. Joh. Ambrosius Barth, Leipzig
- Papo I (1987) The limits of surgical management of traumatic coma. Zentralbl Neurochir 48:312-319
- Pothe H (1987) Die Verantwortung des Arztes und ethische Aspekte bei der Feststellung des Individualtodes vor einer Organspende. Schriftenreihe des Koordinierungsrates der med.-wiss. Gesellschaften der DDR. Volk und Gesundheit, Berlin
- Schulz H (1977) Thesen zum Stellenwert klinischer und paraklinischer Untersuchungsmethoden bei der Feststellung des Hirntodes. Dtsch Gesundh Wesen 32:1201-1202

Schulz H (1981) Zur Praxis der Feststellung des Hirntodes und Spenderkonditionierung in der Intensivtherapie. Dtsch Gesundh Wesen 36:2181-2184

# Brain Death Diagnosis in Anencephalics?

K. H. Krähling, J. Anagnostopoulos-Schleep, and H.-J. König

Neurochirurgische Universitätsklinik Münster, Albert-Schweitzer-Straße 33, D-4400 Münster

In October 1987 organ transplantation from still breathing anencephalic donors was feigned in a television report [1] in the Federal Republic of Germany. Although the response was groundless, the report caused indignation among the public. In the region of the transplantation center in Münster the declaration of consent to organ transplantation declined. A gynecologist is on trial for murder.

Gynecologists from Europe and America have recommended use of organs from anencephalics for transplantation [2,3,5-8,11]. MARTIN in 1969 published a case of kidney transplantation from an "anencephalic monster" [8].

BELLER in 1980 proposed a hypothesis to define the legal position of anencephalics [3]. The discovery of such malformations places the gynecologist in a difficult situation: abortion after the 22nd week of pregnancy has been prohibited, but in many cases the discovery of anencephaly occurs much later. To solve this problem gynecologists have defined anencephaly as brain death. In the event of brain death no therapy is necessary. Therefore pregnancies with anencephalic fetuses may be interrupted at any time [2]. This solution, also favored by HARRISON in the United States [5], is now in practice worldwide.

When organs are intended to be taken from anencephalics for transplantation the legal situation becomes difficult, because explantation itself causes death. "Anencephaly" is a term for various malformations concerning the brain and spinal cord to different extents [10]. Therefore the time of survival ranges from early embryonic periods to several weeks after normal birth. During pregnancy the diagnosis "anencephaly" is possible by sonographic, radiological, and chemical studies. Nevertheless, brain function cannot exactly be determined before abortion, and especially potential brain stem function cannot be estimated.

The gynecological statement "anencephaly is brain death" is a form of brain death determination which comes into conflict with all rules of the Bundesärztekammer [12,13].

Neurosurgeons and neurologists must offer their comments, because they are the specialists in cerebrospinal diagnosis and therapy. In the television report one of the central questions was whether a neurosurgeon was consulted, but neurosurgeons had not been involved.

Faced with imprecisely defined conditions for this kind of brain death determination, it is not the time to discuss such problems in

331

public. A horrible scenario was designed by television: the report predicted the future breeding of genetically manipulated anencephalic organ donors, carried to term by hired women. Of course, the television viewers' reactions ranged from "misuse" to "child murder."

To avoid legal complications and to safeguard transplantation medicine, the following has to be stated:

- 1. The statement "anencephaly is brain death" has to be refuted.
- 2. Brain death determination following the rules of the Bundesärztekammer is not possible in anencephalics.
- 3. Brain death determination fulfilling legal and medical prescriptions is impossible in anencephalics. For this reason organ explantation from anencephalic children is not practicable.

Moreover there is no requirement for explantation from anencephalic donors: In the Federal Republic of Germany about 8000 persons aged between 0 and 50 years die annually in accidents. If only half of them were to be made available for explantation, the current 20 000 patients with terminal renal insufficiency could be transplanted within a few years.

## References

- 1. ARD-"Report" (1987) Television report, October 13th, 21.00 h.
- Beller FK (1987) "Nie eine Gegenstimme." Professor Fritz Beller: Hirnlose Föten entsprechen Hirntoten. Öffentliche Stellungnahme. Münstersche Zeitung vom 12.11.1987
- Beller FK, Quakernack K (1980) Fragen zur Bioethik. Terminierung der Schwangerschaft im II. und III. Trimenon aus eugenischer Indikation. Geburtshilfe Frauenheilk 40:142-144
- 4. EB (1988) Organentnahme bei hirngeschädigten Neugeborenen? Deutsches Ärzteblatt 85, 4:110
- Harrison MR (1986) The anencephalic as organ donor. Hastings Cent Rep 4:21-23
- 6. Holzgreve W, Beller FK, Buchholz B, Hansmann M, Köhler K (1987) Kidney transplantation from anencephalic donors. N Engl J Med, Vol 316, 17:1069-1070
- Titaka K, Martin LW, Cox JA, McEnery PT, West CD (1978) Transplantation of cadaver kidneys from anencaphalic donors. J Paediatrics, Vol 93, 2:216-220
   Martin LW, Gonzalez LL, West CD, Swartz RA, Sutorius DJ (1969)
- Martin LW, Gonzalez LL, West CD, Swartz RA, Sutorius DJ (1969) Homotransplantation of both kidneys from an anencephalic monster to a 17 pound boy with Eagle-Barrett syndrome. Surgery 66, 3:603-607
- 9. Naeye RL, Blanc WA (1971) Organ and body growth in anencephaly. A quantitative, morphological study. Arch Path 91:140-147
- Pfeiffer J (1984) Neuropathologie. In: Remmele W (ed) Pathologie, Vol 4. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 1-287
- 11. Vroemen JPAM, Ruers TJM, Jörning PJG, van der Vliet JA, Soeters PB, Leunissen KPM, van Hoohh JP, Kootstra G (1986) Surgical experiences with neonatal grafts. Transplantation Proc XVIII, 3:482-484
- 12. Wissenschaftlicher Beirat der Bundesärztekammer (1982) Kriterien des Hirntodes. Entscheidungshilfen zur Feststellung des Hirntodes - Stellungnahme des Wissenschaftlichen Beirates "Kriterien des Hirntodes." Deutsches Ärzteblatt Vol. 79, 14:35-41

13. Wissenschaftlicher Beirat der Bundesärztekammer (1986) Kriterien des Hirntodes. Entscheidungshilfen zur Feststellung des Hirntodes - Fortschreibung der Stellungnahme des Wissenschaftlichen Beirates "Kriterien des Hirntodes" vom 9. April 1982. Deutsches Ärzteblatt Vol. 83, 43:2940-2946

New Research

# Monitoring of Hemodynamics in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Using Transcranial Doppler and Laser Doppler

T. Hashimoto, N. Nakamura, T. Kanki, and S. Abe Dept. of Neurosurgery, Jikei University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

# Introduction

The surgical treatment of ruptured cerebral aneurysms has been made safer by the use of microsurgical techniques and recent therapeutic advances. Nevertheless, postoperative vasospasm remains a major complication, producing delayed ischemic neurological deficits. Until the introduction of transcranial Doppler, there was no noninvasive to assess the vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. method Arterial narrowing causes an increase in the flow velocity and this change is inversely proportional to the diameter squared. Therefore, recording of flow velocities of the circle of Willis can be a sensitive method of monitoring vasospasm. Blood flow velocity can be measured in the circle of Willis transcranially using a 2-MHz pulsed directional velocimeter and spectral analyzer [1]. Several investigators have recently reported that transcranial Doppler may be beneficial for estimating vasospasm and cerebral ischemia [2-6]. Laser Doppler flowmetry now makes it possible continuously to measure the blood flow, blood volume, and velocity of the cerebral cortex using an implantable transducer. Hemodynamics after subarachnoid hemorrhage fluctuated due to vasospasm or increased intracranial pressure. In our department, flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery and cerebral blood flow have been measured continuously in 25 cerebral aneurysms after surgery, using a transcranial Doppler and a laser Doppler respectively. Intracranial pressure, systemic arterial pressure, pulmonary arterial pressure, and central venous pressure have been measured simultaneously. The aim of this study was to correlate the flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery with the clinical course of patients after ruptured aneurysm, and to investigate the relationship between the flow velocity and intracranial pressure. Serial changes in flow velocity, cerebral blood flow, and intracranial pressure will be discussed in relation to drug therapy, which is given to prevent the ischemic deficits after subarachnoid hemorrhage.

### Materials and Methods

Flow velocity was measured using a 2-MHz transcranial Doppler ultrasound (EME and Medasonics) and cortical blood flow was measured using a laser Doppler (TSI) in 25 patients undergoing early aneurysm surgery within 3 days after subarachnoid hemorrhage. The flat probe of the transcranial Doppler was placed at the temporal region for continuous monitoring. The low profile device of the laser Doppler was placed on the cortex during surgery for the intracranial aneurysm. Cerebral blood flow, blood volume, and velocity of the cortex were estimated



Fig. 1. Time course of mean flow velocity (cm/s) after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Increased flow velocities were seen in patients with symptomatic vasospasm as compared with asymptomatic cases

continuously. Intracranial pressure was measured by an epidural sensor (Cardio Search). A Swan-Ganz catheter was introduced supraclavicularly. Information derived directly from the Swan-Ganz catheter includes pulmonary arterial pressure, pulmonary artery wedge pressure, cardiac output, and central venous pressure. Systemic arterial pressure was also monitored simultaneously via an arterial catheter.

Results

Flow Velocity After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording was carried out in 25 patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage during the 3 weeks after the surgery. All patients had increased flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery between days 4 and 21 after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Even in asymptomatic cases, increased flow velocity was detected by a transcranial Doppler. However, flow velocity showed a rapid increase in symptomatic cases of vasospasm in comparison with asymptomatic cases (Fig. 1). It was impossible to assess the existence of vasospasm by the actual value of flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery.

Flow Velocity Correlated with CT Grading (Fisher's Grading)

Transcranial Doppler flow velocity was compared with CT visualized blood (Fisher's CT grading). Increased flow velocity was seen in cases with Fisher's grade 3 and 4 compared with Fisher's grade 1 and 2. There was a significant correlation between diffuse deposition of subarachnoid hemorrhage and development of vasospasm evaluated by transcranial Doppler sonography (Fig. 2).









Fig. 2. Cerebral vasospasm evaluated by transcranial Doppler correlated with CT grading (Fisher). Fisher's grades 3 and 4 revealed

Flow Velocity of the Circle of Willis and Cortical Blood Flow

increased flow velocities in comparison with grades 1 and 2

Flow velocity and cortical blood flow were measured simultaneously using a transcranial Doppler and a laser Doppler respectively. When the flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery increased, cortical blood flow and velocity were also increased. Figure 3 shows increased flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery and cortical blood flow after glycerol infusion. Relative changes in flow velocity detected by a transcranial Doppler are similar to those in cortical blood flow detected by laser Doppler (Fig. 3).

### Effect of Glycerol, Albumin, and Calcium Channel Blocker

Intracranial pressure was reduced by glycerol infusion. On the other hand, mean flow velocity of transcranial Doppler was increased gradually, and the S/D ratio was reduced. Cerebral blood flow and velocity were shown to be increased by laser Doppler after glycerol infusion (Fig. 3). Hypervolemic hemodilution with plasma reduced cortical vascular resistance and increased cerebral blood flow. The administration of albumin increased the cortical blood flow and velocity. These data suggest that hypervolemic hemodilution with expansion of plasma volume increases cardiac output and cerebral blood flow. When a calcium channel blocker (nicardipine l mg) was administered intravenously, the flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery was shown to decrease gradually by a transcranial Doppler, and cortical blood flow and velocity were also decreased.

### Flow Velocity and Intracranial Pressure

Intracranial hemodynamics are altered by vasospasm, and there is increased intracranial pressure after subarachnoid hemorrhage.



Fig. 3. Flow velocity measured by transcranial Doppler and CBF measured by laser Doppler were measured simultaneously. This figure showed increased flow velocity and CBF after glycerol infusion. Relative changes of flow velocity by transcranial Doppler were similar to CBF alteration by laser Doppler

Serial flow velocity, cerebral blood flow, and intracranial pressure were studied. Systemic arterial pressure, pulmonary arterial and central venous pressure showed relative changes pressure, simultaneously. When a pressure wave appeared, mean flow velocity was decreased and the S/D ratio was increased, which suggested increased systolic velocity and decreased diastolic velocity. However, the mean flow velocity was increased rapidly and the S/D ratio was decreased at the descending slope of the pressure wave. The same alternation of flow velocity showed reduction at the time of plateau wave. Cortical blood flow and velocity were also changeable when the pressure wave appeared after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Blood volume of the cerebral cortex was increased before the appearance of pressure wave, and blood flow and flow velocity were decreased gradually when intracranial pressure was high. The flow velocity of the middle cerebral





bottom of pressure wave

Fig. 4. Intracranial hemodynamics fluctuated due to vasospasm and increased intracranial pressure (ICP). Systemic arterial pressure, pulmonary arterial pressure, and central venous pressure fluctuated with ICP changes simultaneously. Mean flow velocity and CBF were reduced when a pressure wave appeared. Flow velocity and CBF increased at the descending slope of the pressure wave artery, measured using a transcranial Doppler, and the cortical blood flow, measured by a laser Doppler, showed synchronous changes in response to alteration of intracranial pressure (Fig. 4).

# Discussion

Transcranial Doppler ultrasound is a new method which provides realtime evaluation of flow velocity in the basal cerebral arteries. We have shown that transcranial Doppler may be useful for noninvasive continuous examination of cerebral vasospasm subsequent to subarachnoid hemorrhage. Several investigators have reported that vasospasm can be evaluated by the actual mean value of flow velocity using a transcranial Doppler (2-6). Our data suggested that it was difficult to assess the vasospasm by an absolute value of velocity. However, it was possible to estimate the existence of vasospasm by continuous monitoring. When the arteries became narrowed, the flow velocity increased rapidly in symptomatic cases; nevertheless, asymptomatic vasospasm also showed increased flow velocity. It was also impossible to evaluate the critical reduction of cerebral blood flow by the absolute value of the mean flow velocity using a transcranial Doppler. However, relative changes in flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery were similar to those in cortical blood flow and velocity measured by a laser Doppler. The flow velocity of the middle cerebral artery measured by transcranial Doppler and the cerebral blood flow measured by laser Doppler coincided relatively. Therefore, continuous monitoring is very valuable for estimating hemodynamics after subarachnoid hemorrhage.

These studies suggested that flow velocity and blood flow fluctuated instantaneously together with the changes in intracranial pressure. When the intracranial pressure became elevated, the mean flow velocity was reduced at the ascending slope of the pressure wave and the S/D ratio became elevated due to increased vascular resistance; meanwhile, the flow velocity increased at the descending slope of the pressure wave. The peak of the pressure wave coincided with the lowest flow velocity and cerebral blood flow. Cerebral blood volume increased before the appearance of the pressure wave. Transcranial Doppler and laser Doppler monitorings are very valuable in assessing hemodynamics after subarachnoid hemorrhage as well as intracranial pressure. Recent interest in intravascular expansion involves use of infusates for the treatment of cerebral hemodiluting colloid vasospasm and delayed ischemic deficits. These studies suggested that intravascular volume expansion with albumin raises cardiac output and increases cerebral perfusion. The effects of hypertonic solutions of glycerol and mannitol on flow velocity, blood flow, and intracranial pressure were studied. The present data demonstrated that glycerol or mannitol infusion decreased intracranial pressure gradually and increased flow velocity and cerebral blood flow; meanwhile cerebral blood volume was shown to be decreased by glycerol or mannitol infusion. Hypertonic solutions should be used to prevent the delayed ischemic deficits after subarachnoid hemorrhage. On the other hand, a calcium channel blocker did not increase flow velocity or cerebral blood flow. It is important to estimate the hemodynamics of vasospasm by continuous monitoring and to provide prompt treatment or prevention of vasospasm.

# References

- Aaslid R, Markwalder TM, Nornes H (1982) Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of the flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 57:769-774
- 2. Aaslid R, Huber P, Nornes H (1984) Evaluation of cerebrovascular spasm with transcranial Doppler ultrasound. J Neurosurg 60:37-41
- 3. Harders AG (1986) Monitoring hemodynamic changes related to vasospasm in the circle of Willis after aneurysm surgery. In: Transcranial Doppler sonography, Aaslid R (ed), Springer-Verlag
- Harders AG, Gilsbach JM (1987) Time course of blood velocity changes to vasospasm in the circle of Willis measured by transcranial Doppler ultrasound. J Neurosurg 66:718-728
   Seiler RW, Aaslid R Transcranial Doppler for evaluation of
- Seiler RW, Aaslid R Transcranial Doppler for evaluation of cerebral spasm. In: Transcranial Doppler sonography, Aaslid R (ed), Springer-Verlag
- 6. Seiler RW, Grolimund P, Aaslid R, Huber P, Nornes H (1986) Cerebral vasospasm evaluated by transcranial ultrasound correlated with clinical grade and CT-visualized subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 64:594-600

# Cerebral Blood Flow Measurements with <sup>99m</sup> Tc-HMPAO and <sup>123</sup> I-Amphetamine (HIPDM) in Patients with Cerebral Tumors (1)

# K. Maier-Hauff, L. Gerlach, R. Baerwald, and M. Cordes

Neurochirurgische und Radiologische Klinik, Universitätsklinikum Rudolf Virchow der FU, Spandauer Damm 130, D-1000 Berlin 19

# Introduction

New methods in the treatment of brain tumors, e.g., boron neutron capture therapy, external stereotactic irradiation by linear accelerator, and the use of chemotherapy and interferons in patients with malignant brain tumors, demand not only knowledge of the localization and histology of the lesion. Information on the pathophysiological behavior of the tumor and edematous tissue is also important for planning strategies involving these therapeutic methods. An important factor for the irradiation sensitivity of brain tumors is the oxygenation of the tissue [2,8]. Failure of radiotherapy can be explained by various factors, e.g., the presence of hypoxic or anoxic cells in the tumor area [1]. The effectiveness of chemotherapy depends on drug concentration in the tumor tissue. Both examples illustrate the importance of studies dealing with measurements of tumor perfusion.

# Material and Methods

Two methods are used in measuring regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF): positron emission tomography (PET) and single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT). The high cost of the PET system prevents its widespread introduction as a screening method, in contrast to SPECT. Measuring rCBF with SPECT, lipophil substances are used which enrich in the cerebral tissue in relation to the cerebral blood flow. The first tracer is hexamethylpropyleneamine oxime, labeled with technetium 99 m (HMPAO SPECT) followed by N,N,N-trimethyl-N-(2 hydrox-yl-3-methyl-5-idobenzyl)-1,3-propane-diamine, labeled with iodine 123 (HIPDM SPECT). In a study with untreated cerebral tumors we tested the value of these two cerebral blood flow tracers and tried to identify a tumor-specific rCBF pattern. The results were compared with CT and MRI. During the last 12 months we examined 36 patients with intracranial tumors: 23 females and 13 males, the aged 27-82 years. Histological diagnosis was performed in 12 cases by stereotactic biopsy, in 24 cases by surgery. There were 10 meningiomas, 22 gliomas, 2 lymphomas, and 2 metastases (Table 1).

# Analytical Procedures

HMPAO SPECT was performed by a rotating gamma camera with a matrix of  $64 \times 64$  pixels and a slice thickness of 6.25 mm (Table 2) and analyzed semiquantitatively. Our patients received 555 MBq 99 mTc-HMPAO (Ceretec, Amersham Internat. plc, Amersham U.K.) in 0.9% NaCl intravenously. Ten minutes after application SPECT was carried out.

### Table 1. Histological diagnosis

Meningioma	10
Low grade glioma	8
High grade glioma	14
Metastasis	2
Lymphoma	_2
Total	36

HIPDM SPECT mostly was done using a rotating multidetector scanner with a slice thickness of 20 mm (Table 3) and was analyzed qualitatively. 123I-HIPDM (100 MBq) was injected intravenously, followed by the examination 2 min postinjection. The cerebral uptake of HMPAO and HIPDM was then measured within the tumor area and the perifocal edema and correlated to a corresponding region of the contralateral normal hemisphere. The SPECT region of tumor and edema was determined by comparison with the corresponding CT or MRI scans. The evaluation of SPECT ought to differentiate between solid, cystic, and necrotic tumor tissue. Regions of interest (ROI) ranging from 6.25 cm<sup>2</sup> to 47 cm<sup>2</sup> were defined in tumor and perifocal edema areas and compared with the corresponding contralateral normal cerebral tissue. A cerebral index (CI) was calculated by the quotient of counts per pixel in the pathological ROI to counts per pixel in the normal contralateral ROI. A CI above 1.05 was interpreted as hyperperfusion, a CI lower than 0.95 as hypoperfusion.

### Results

The blood flow measurements with HMPAO SPECT and HIPDM SPECT showed almost identical results in the meningioma group. In nine of the ten cases with HMPAO SPECT and in seven of the ten cases with HIPDM an increased perfusion rate was found in meningiomas (Table 4). Two tumors, a large meningioma in the temporoparietal region and a small fibromeningioma, were hypoperfused with HIPDM. There was only a small area of perifocal edema in both tumors. With both SPECT methods a small endothelial meningioma surrounded by edema grade 2 was hypoperfused, whereas one metastatic process showed an increased tracer uptake and the other a decreased blood flow pattern with HMPAO SPECT (Table 5). This tumor was represented in CT and MRI as a spaceoccupying lesion with a large area of central necrosis and a solid tumor rim surrounded by perifocal edema grade III. In contrast the

Table 2. Data acquisition and analysis - <sup>99m</sup>Tc-HMPAO

Rotating gamma camera
Apex 415 Elscint
Low energy, high resolution
555 MBg
360°/60 projections
20 s/projection
64 x 64 pixels
6.25 mm
7 mm <sup>°</sup> FHWM
Transversal, coronal, sagittal

Detector system: Rotating multidetector system (Tomomatic 64) Activity: 100 MBq 360°/10 s Rotation: Acquisition time: 4 min 64 x 64 pixels Matrix: Slice thickness: 20 mm Spatial resolution: 17 mm FHWM Reconstructions: Transversal

Table 3. Data acquisition and analysis - 123 I-HIPDM

Table 4. rCBF measurement in cerebral tumors: 99mTc-HMPAO in comparison with 123I-HIPDM. Results in ten meningiomas

	НМРАО	HIPDM	
Hyperperfusion Hypoperfusion Pathological perfusion	9 1 -	7 3 -	
Total	10	10	

Table 5. rCBF measurement in cerebral tumors: 99mTc-HMPAO in comparison with 123I-HIPDM. Results in two metastases and two lymphomas

	НМРАО	HIPDM	
Hyperperfusion Hypoperfusion Pathological perfusion	3 1 	2 1 1	
Total	4	4	

hyperperfused metastasis showed a homogeneous contrast enhancement of the whole tumor tissue and was surrounded by a large area of edema as well. This small metastasis could not be recognized in HIPDM SPECT.

The results of rCBF measurements of the glioma group are demonstrated in Tables 6 and 7. We found almost identical results in low grade gliomas with both methods: five astrocytomas, one oligodendroglioma grade II, one subependymoma of the IIIrd ventricle, and one myxoid ependymoma grade II (Table 6). A decreased tracer uptake was seen in five of the eight cases with HMPAO SPECT and in four of the eight tumors with HIPDM SPECT, whereas two tumors with HIPDM SPECT and one with HMPAO SPECT were not detectable. Two gliomas, one astrocytoma of the thalamus, and one cystic fibroastrocytoma with contrast enhancement were hyperperfused. A small oligodendroglioma grade II could Table 6. rCBF measurement in cerebral tumors:  $9^{9m}$ Tc-HMPAO in comparison with 123I-HIPDM. Results in eight low grade gliomas

	НМРАО	HIPDM		
Hyperperfusion Hypoperfusion Pathological perfusion	2 5 1	2 4 2		
Total	8	8		

not be recognized by SPECT. In the high grade glioma group (12 glioblastomas, one astrocytoma grade III, and one ependymoma grade III-IV) there was an increased HMPAO uptake in seven patients and a decreased uptake in the other seven (Table 7). With HIPDM SPECT there was an increased rCBF in the tumor area in only 4 of 14 cases. Eight tumors were hypoperfused. In two tumors we could not measure any difference between the tumor area and the normal contralateral cerebral tissue. Perifocal edema of grades II and III and, in one case, of grade I could be represented as a hypoperfused area in SPECT. Figure la shows the axial MRI of a 38-year-old man after contrast enhancement demonstrating a cystic thalamus tumor. The patient was operated stereotactically. Histologically we found a glioblastoma grade IV with a great pathological vascularization. The rCBF measurement with HMPAO SPECT is shown in Fig. lb. According to the axial MRI shift in the tumor area we found a distinct increased tracer uptake represented as a white area in the thalamic region. Figure 2a shows the CT scan of a right frontal glioblastoma with contrast enhancement. The solid hyperdense tumor rim can be recognized clearly. The central tumor necrosis is seen as a distinct hypodense area. In the histological examination we found a great number of thrombosed pathological vessels. The corresponding rCBF measurement with HIPDM SPECT is demonstrated in Fig. 2b. The tumor tissue is hypoperfused, being represented as a dark region.

# Discussion

Our results indicate that HMPAO and HIPDM are able to trace the rCBF in brain tumors. HIPDM has a good blood-brain extraction fraction of about 90% [5,6] and stays long enough in the tissue that it is possible to measure the cerebral perfusion with the rotating gamma camera and SPECT. In contrast to other groups [4,5], we measured an

Table 7. rCBF measurement in cerebral tumors: 99mTc-HMPAO in comparison with 123I-HIPDM. Results in 14 high grade gliomas

	НМРАО	HIPDM	
Hyperperfusion Hypoperfusion Pathological perfusion	7 7	<b>4</b> 8 2	
Total	14	14	





Fig. 1. a Axial MRI in a 38-yearold man suffering from headache. In the left thalamic region a cystic tumor is detectable, characterized by stereotactic biopsy as a glioblastoma. b rCBF measurement with HMPAO SPECT in the same patient shows an increased tracer uptake in the tumor area (hyperperfusion)

increased uptake of HIPDM in the tumor tissue in 15 of 36 patients. We suppose that iodine-labeled amines are able to measure rCBF in cerebral tumors. HMPAO SPECT is a method introduced for measuring rCBF in cerebrovascular disorders [3]. In our examinations we could demonstrate that HMPAO SPECT is also able to measure rCBF in tumor and edematous areas. In comparison with HIPDM SPECT there is a better imaging quality. The two methods showed a good correspondence in meningiomas, lymphomas, metastases, and the low grade glioma group. The different resolution power of the HIPDM SPECT may cause different rCBF results in the tumor areas and in the areas of perifocal edema with identical measurements. In most cases low grade gliomas were hypoperfused according to the CT findings as a hypodense lesion without contrast enhancement. The rCBF measurements of the malignant gliomas varied; 50% were hyperperfused and 50% hypoperfused. These results agree with the work of Langen et al. [7], who could not find a homogeneous blood flow pattern. In the PET study of Tyler et al. [9], 5 of 14 malignant gliomas were hyperperfused, three of them located in the thalamus. In our study one thalamic glioma also had an increased rCBF, probably resulting from the special blood supply of the basal ganglia. Comparing CT and MRI findings with the SPECT flow had contrast increased blood results, all tumors with enhancement. Small solid tumor rims were not detectable with the SPECT methods. The results of the rCBF measurements with SPECT depend on several factors such as the perfusion rate of the tumor tissue, the relation of the necrotic area to the solid tumor tissue, the relation of hypoperfused perifocal edema to the size of the tumor





Fig. 2. a CT scan after contrast enhancement in a 49-year-old man hospitalized with general seizures. The CT scan demonstrates a right frontal glioblastoma with a large area of central necrosis and a small solid tumor rim. b The blood flow measurement of the tumor with HIPDM SPECT shows a decreased tracer uptake (hypoperfusion) in the necrotic area, visible as a dark region. The small solid tumor rim is not detectable with SPECT

(partial volume effect), and the localization of the lesion. The main advantages of the two SPECT methods, and especially of HMPAO SPECT, is the excellent imaging quality in brain tumors, and SPECT is the method of choice as regards availability and cost.

# Conclusion

HMPAO and HIPDM are appropriate tracers for rCBF measurements in brain tumors. The previous results did not show a homogeneous blood flow pattern in gliomas, in contrast to the areas of perifocal edema. When PET is not available, HMPAO SPECT is the method of choice. Our results provide evidence for the importance of the SPECT methods as diagnostic tools in the planning of radio- and chemotherapy of malignant brain tumors.

#### References

 Chapman JD (1984) The detection and measurement of hypoxic cells in solid tumors. Cancer 54:2441-2449

- Colombo F, Benedetti A, Pozza F, Avanco R, Marchetti C, Chierego G, Zanardo H (1985) External stereotactic irradiation by linear accelerator. Neurosurgery 16:154-160
- Cordes M, Rummeny E, Reissmann M, Fox K, Panitz N, Pfannenstiel P (1987) HM-PAO SPECT in der Diagnostik der cerebro-vaskulären Erkrankung. Der Nuklearmediziner 10:93-97
- 4. Creutzig H, Schober O, Gielow P, Friedrich P, Becker H, Dietz H, Hundeshagen H (1986) Cerebral dynamics of N-isopropyl-(123-I) p-iodoamphetamine. J Nucl Med 27:178-183
- 5. Drayer B, Jaszak R, Friedman A, Albright R, Kung H, Geer K, Lischko M, Petry N, Coleman E (1983) In vivo quantitation of regional cerebral blood flow in glioma and cerebral infarction: validation of the HIPDM-SPECT method. AJNR 4:572-576
- 6. Holman BL, Lee RGL, Hill TC, Lovett RD, Lister-James J (1984) A comparison of two cerebral perfusion tracers, N-isopropyl-I-123 piodoamphetamine and I-123 HIPDM, in the human. J Nucl Med 25:25-30
- 7. Langen KJ, Roosen N, Kuwert T, Herzog H, Kiwit JCW, Bock WJ, Feinendegen LE (1987) 99m Tc-HMPAO SPECT in the study of cerebral tumors: results in 40 patients. Nuklearmedizin 26:118
- Sheline GE (1986) Normal tissue tolerance and radiation therapy of gliomas of the adult brain. In: Bleehan NM (ed) Tumors of the brain. Springer-Verlag Berlin, pp 147-161
   Tyler JL, Dikcic M, Villemure JG, Evans AC, Meyer E, Yamamoto JL,
- 9. Tyler JL, Dikcic M, Villemure JG, Evans AC, Meyer E, Yamamoto JL, Feindel W (1987) Metabolic and hemodynamic evaluation of gliomas using positron emmission tomography. J Nucl Med 28:1123-1133

# CSF Flow Visualization by Magnetic Resonance Imaging Techniques – Methods and Clinical Examples

U. Kunz, P. Heintz, Ch. Ehrenheim, H. Dietz, and H. Hundeshagen

Military Hospital (Academic Hospital of Ulm University), Neurosurgical Department, P.O. Box 1220, D-7900 Ulm

# Introduction

It has been recognized that the circulation of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) plays a key role in several diseases of the central nervous system. The relative inaccessibility of the subarachnoid space has impeded the pace of investigations in this area. Until now invasive techniques, such as spinal puncture with application of contrast agents or intracranial pressure measurement, have been the mainstay of studies concerning CSF flow dynamics.

# Theory

Based on the different measuring components of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), flow effects can be visualized [1]. Moving spins cause a signal alteration because of their movement within and between the different parts of the status of measurement. The formula of signal intensity takes this into consideration.

 $I = N(H)f(v)e - TE/T_2(1 - e - TR/T_1)$ 

I is the pixel intensity, N(H) is the proton density, f(v) is a function of flow, e is the base of the natural logarithm, and TE and TR represent the common programmable sequence parameters, the echo delay time and the repetition time. T<sub>1</sub> and T<sub>2</sub> are tissue-dependent relaxation times. On this basis it is possible to obtain flow information from MRI, as has been well known since the early days of its use [1,2,4,7,8]. At first the signal loss (flow void) of high velocity blood flow was obvious [2]. But later signal increase caused by flow effects was also described [5]. To understand this it is necessary to recognize the known effects corresponding with flow:

- 1. Signal loss from: a) Time of flight effect (high velocity signal loss) b) Dephasing effect (first echo dephasing)
- 2. Increased signal by:
  - a) Diastolic pseudogating
  - b) Entry phenomenon
  - c) Second echo rephasing

Signal loss from time of flight is clearly visible in arteries because the protons exposed to the first pulse are not within the plane at the readout time; this is an effect of through plane flow. Because of dephasing the signal void phenomenon depends on flow within the plane [4] as well; flow causes a loss of local information.

Especially two signal increasing effects depend on through plane flow. The first effect is seen in the multislice technique when the TR is a harmonic of the RR time, so that some pictures are taken during diastolic rest of blood or CSF. The entry phenomenon is evoked by unsaturated protons entering the slice causing a higher signal. These mechanisms are used for visualization of blood and CSF flow. Electrocardiographic (ECG) gating provides information about pulsatile flow alterations [2,3,5]. Other techniques without gating demonstrate complex information of pulsatile and total spin movement [6].

If the first echo dephasing effect is traceable and the flow is constant within the time of 2 x TE, rephasing can be done with a second  $180^{\circ}$  pulse of a conventional spin echo sequence. After subtraction of both pictures we only get signal from spins with laminar flow. The signal intensity is a function of the number of moving spins, i.e., of flow, not of the velocity [8].

#### Patients and Methods

We used a conventional spin echo multiecho which consists of 16 180° pulses and built up a subtraction image with flow information usually within the sagittal midline plane. Up to now we have examined 27 patients upon 34 occasions:

-Normal pressure hydrocephalus	9
-Hydrocephalus of various etiology	8
-Spinal examination of paraparesis	3
-Intracranial cystic lesion (no tumor)	3
-Isolated fourth ventricular syndrome	3
-Intraventricular tumor	1

#### Results

Figure 1 shows a normal volunteer. CSF flow of the fourth ventricle is visible, as is flow of the third ventricle with a lower signal in



Fig. 1. Sagittal multiecho subtraction image of a normal volunteer. It visualizes the CSF flow of the third and fourth ventricles and the craniocervical junction; a strong signal is also caused by the midline veins



Fig. 2. The signal intensity curve of a normal volunteer shows the proton movement from special regions by down and up signal alteration. Flow is demonstrated at the foramen magnum; no flow is shown at the aqueduct

some cases. The pulsatile flow within the craniocervical junction causes a strong signal; the aqueduct was not enhanced in normal cases, but was if normal pressure hydrocephalus existed. If we added this image to a normal anatomical image of the same series, it could be shown that the flow within the basilar cistern is enhanced. This is an example of the sensitivity and local resolution of the method. It is also possible to obtain a signal intensity curve out of a region of interest. This shows whether there really is a flow effect, by down and up alteration of the signal intensity from echo to echo time (Fig. 2).



Fig. 3. The image of patient with a great temporal arachnoid cyst shows the basal CSF communication with the basal cistern system after operation by a high intensity area (arrows)

Pathological cases such as a great temporal arachnoid cyst (Fig. 3) prove that we are able to procure clinical information from this method. A strong signal at the base of the cyst shows the communication with the basal cistern system of the surgically treated arachnoid cyst.

First results from normal pressure hydrocephalus [1] demonstrate the disturbed pathological flow pattern with a strong signal of the aqueduct, and accordingly we have also seen a lowered signal at the craniocervical junction. This pattern has been normalized in our results after shunting. The method seems a new approach to the diagnosis of this progressive disturbance of CSF circulation. The spinal canal can be visualized if there is a stop of pulsatile CSF movement, as is caused by spinal blockade. It seems possible that these disturbances provoke an increased neurological deficit after lumbar puncture during myelographic examination.

Other information can be obtained from ECG gated gradient echo sequences (so-called fast imaging such as FLASH). After a first saturation time we are able to obtain information about the signal alteration within the cardiac cycle. If we use a  $T_2$ -weighted FLASH sequence, CSF movement causes a visible signal void. From alterations within the RR cycle a pulsatile inflow of CSF from the spinal canal to the extended fourth ventricle could be demonstrated and later verified (Fig. 4) by isotope cisternography. Additionally, the



Fig. 4. Pulsatile CSF movement is demonstrated from within the socalled isolated fourth ventricle by an alternating signal void during the RR cycle. Pulsatile inflow from the spinal canal is visualized.

transmission of the pulsatile motion from the choroid plexus of the fourth ventricle is obvious within these series.

# Conclusions

Our results show that the described multiecho technique is able to provide presurgical information about normal pressure hydrocephalus. The shunt function can be visualized and thus controlled after surgical treatment. Pulsatile flow visualization is able to demonstrate circulation pathways (Fig. 4).

Only a few clinical examples could be demonstrated here, but they indicate the possibilities of these MRI methods. Further experiments will be done to develop a clearly reproducible noninvasive method for CSF flow imaging without disturbance of the CSF system itself. Up to now, there is no direct way to visualize turbulences, but unlike with MR angiography this is no real problem because of lower velocities within the so-called third circulation. Faster measurement techniques such as gradient echos with phase imaging [3,5] are a promising new tool.

# References

- Bradley JR, Kortman KE, Burgoyne B (1986) Flowing cerebrospinal fluid in normal and hydrocephalic states: appearance on MR images. Radiology 159:611-616
- Citrin ChM, Sherman JL, Gangarosa RE, Scanlon D (1987) Physiology of the CSF "flow-void" sign: modification by cardiac gating. AJR 148:205-208
- Edelman RR, Wedeen VJ, Davis KR, Widder D, Hahn P, Shouikimas G, Brady ThJ (1986) Multiphasic MR imaging: a new method for direct imaging of pulsatile CSF flow. Radiology 161:779-783
   Kemp SS, Zimmermann RA, Bilaniuk LT, Hackney DB, Goldberg HI,
- 4. Kemp SS, Zimmermann RA, Bilaniuk LT, Hackney DB, Goldberg HI, Grossman RI (1987) Magnetic resonance imaging of the cerebral aqueduct. Neuroradiology 29:430-436
- Klose U, Requardt H, Schroth G, Deimling M (1987) MR-tomographische Darstellung von Liquorpulsationen. Fortschr Roentgenstr 147:313-319
- 6. Rubin JB, Enzmann DR (1987) Harmonic modulation of proton MR precessional phase by pulsatile motion. AJR 148:983-994
- 7. Sherman JL, Citrin ChM, Gangarosa RE, Bowen BJ (1987) The MR appearance of CSF flow in patients with ventriculomegaly. AJR 148:193-199
- Waluch V, Bradley WG (1984) NMR even echo rephasing in slow laminar flow. J Comput Assist Tomogr 8:594-598
## Intracranial Complications After Anticoagulant Therapy

### Ch. Reith and G. Lausberg

Neurochirurgische Abteilung im Knappschaftskrankenhaus, D-4630 Bochum-Langendreer

#### Introduction

Anticoagulant therapy is, without doubt, one of the major achievements in medical history [1,5,7,12,15]. However, the benefit of longterm therapy has been limited to only a few conditions because of the dangers based on the risk of hemorrhage [10,11,13]. Intracranial hemorrhage, though less frequent than other bleeding manifestations, is more often fatal and more hazardous from a prognostic point of view [6,8].

It is important to develop a realistic estimate of the incidence of hemorrhage and to determine how successfully this risk can be avoided.

#### Results

In a series of 149 spontaneous intracranial bleedings in the year 1987 we found 21 (14%) to be due to anticoagulant therapy. Ten patients had an intracerebral hemorrhage, nine a subdural hematoma, and two a subarachnoid hemorrhage. A similar distribution was also found in the literature [14].

#### Intracerebral Hemorrhage (Table 1)

Of the ten patients in this report, two had a cerebellar hemorrhage. There were six males and four females. The age range was 57-78 years, and four had hypertension. It seems that anticoagulation is more dangerous in hypertensive patients. The duration of anticoagulation

Table 1. Results of intracranial hemorrhage after operative treatment

	Intracerebral hemorrhage	Subdural hematoma	Subarachnoid hemorrhage
No. of patients	10	9	2
Died	4	1	1
Neurological deficiency	1	1	-
Rehabilitated	5	7	1

Advances in Neurosurgery, Vol 17 Ed by R A Frowein, M Brock, and M Klinger © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989 was from 3 months to 22 years. Four patients died, one had an outcome with neurological deficiency and four were rehabilitated.

Below we report one case with intracerebral hemorrhage and outcome without neurological deficiency.

Case Report. A 57-year-old man had been receiving anticoagulant therapy since cardiac surgery in 1981. After a simple injury he suffered headache. Although he had no neurological symptoms, he was admitted to hospital. On the 3rd day of hospital stay he became somnolent. Cranial computer tomography showed a bifrontal intracerebral hemorrhage (Fig. 1) and an acute midbrain syndrome emerged. Postoperatively the patient was without paralysis but had slow reactions. The outcome showed no neurological deficiency.

It is important for the outcome to recognize the situation and evacuate the hemorrhage quickly.

#### Subdural Hematoma (Table 1)

Of our nine patients with subdural hematoma, eight were males and one a female. The age range was 50-84 years. Three of the patients had hypertension. The duration of anticoagulation was from 1 month to 10 years. The 84-year-old man with subdural hematoma died, one patient had neurological deficiency, and seven were rehabilitated. The prognostic situation of subdural hematoma was much better than that of intracerebral hemorrhage or subdural hematoma.

Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (Table 1)

The two women with subarachnoid hemorrhage had hypertension. One patient died, one had no neurological deficiency.



Fig. 1. a CCT: bifrontal intracerebral hemorrhage; preoperative scan in 57-year-old man. b Postoperative control



Fig. 2. Correlation between pre- and postoperative situation after intracranial hemorrhage

The correlation between the pre- and the postoperative neurological situation showed us that none of the patients with bulbar brain syndrome showed recovery. By contrast, patients with midbrain syndrome or hemiplegia had a good chance of rehabilitation (Fig. 2).

The typical clinical development with subdural hematoma often started 14 days before neurological signs occurred. The early symptoms were headache, sickness, emesis, and vertigo (Fig. 3a). The typical clinical development with intracerebral or subarachnoid hemorrhage also showed early symptoms, but the duration of this period was often short, ranging between 2 and 6 h (Fig. 3b).

The development, the localization, and hypertension were the limiting factors for the prognosis of intracranial complications of anticoagulant therapy. We found the prothrombin (Quick) index most often to be in the therapeutic range (Table 2) [4,11,12,15]. The risk of bleeding was independent of the prothrombin index.

After diagnosis the evacuation of hemorrhage was indicated. A blood transfusion or treatment with PPSB increased the prothrombin (Quick) index, so time from CCT to exploration was often less than 45 min.

#### Conclusions

 Intracranial complications of anticoagulant therapy were possible in spite of drug control and a therapeutic prothrombin (Quick) index.

Range	No. of patients	Died
<15% 15%-30% >30%	1 15 5	1 4 1
	21	6

Table 2. Prothrombin (Quick) index



Fig. 3. a Clinical development with subdural hematoma. I, early symptoms; II, hemiplegia; III, midbrain syndrome; IV, bulbar brain syndrome. N, begin of hospital stay: ●, department of neurosurgery. b Clinical development with intracerebral hemorrhage

- Vigorous appraisal of the benefit of long-term anticoagulant therapy had limited the indications for such treatment to only a few conditions. A risk of bleeding arose in the elderly and patients with hypertension.
- 3. Intracerebral hemorrhage had a poor prognosis and was the most often found complication of intracranial hemorrhage.
- 4. With subdural hematoma the clinical symptoms occurred slowly. Intracerebral hemorrhage had increased neurological symptoms.
- 5. As the compressive effects of hemorrhage may be reversed by early operative intervention, the importance of careful investigation of all patients on anticoagulant therapy who develop symptoms and signs referable to the central nervous system is evident.

#### References

- Angstwurm H, Frick E (1967) Nil nocere! Neurologische Komplikationen der Antikoagulantientherapie. MMW 109:1103-1109
- 2. Askey JM (1966) Hemorrhage during longterm anticoagulant drug therapy. Calif Med 104:6-10

- Beck R, Stammler A (1983) Spontane und traumatische intrakranielle Blutungen unter Antikoagulantientherapie (Marcumar). In: Verhandlungen der Deutschen Gesellschaft f. Neurologie, (56. Tagung) Bd.
  Seitz D, Vogel P (Hrsg.) Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo
- 4. Bewermeyer H, Schumacher A, Neveling M, Heiss WD (1984) Hämorrhagische neurologische Komplikationen bei Therapie mit Antikoagulantien und Fibrinolytika. DMW 109:1653-1659
- 5. Gänshirt H, Keuler R (1980) Intracerebrale Blutungen. Nervenarzt 51:201-206
- 6. Gänshirt H, Haack G (1983) Nebenwirkungen der Antikoagulation am Nervensystem. In: Seitz D. Vogel P (Hrsg) Verhandlungen der Deutschen Gesellschaft f. Neurologie (56. Tagung), Bd 2, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo
- 7. Huguenin P (1967) Das intracranielle Subduralhämatom unter Antikoagulantienbehandlung. Schweiz Arch Neurol Neurochir Psychiatr 100:38-69
- 8. Iizuka J (1972) Intrcranial and intraspinal haematomas associated with anticoagulant therapy. Neurochirurgia 1:15-25
- 9. Kaps M, Schütz HJ (1983) Spontane intracerebrale Hämatome unter Antikoagulantien. In: Seitz D, Vogel P (Hrsg) Verhandlungen der Deutschen Gesellschaft f. Neurologie (56. Tagung), Bd. 2, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo
- 10. Klingler M (1966) Intrakranielle Blutungen bei Antikoagulantientherapie. Schweiz Arch Neurol Neurochir Psychiatr 98:20-25
- 11. Levy A, Stula D (1971) Neurochirurgische Aspekte bei Antikoagulantienblutung im Zentralnervensystem. DMW 96:1043-1048
- 12. Moskopp D, Brassel F, Ries F (1987) Intrakranielle und intraspinale Blutungen unter Behandlung mit Cumarinderivaten. Klin Wochenschr 65:781-790
- 13. Schöndorf H (1974) Blutungskomplikationen am Nervensystem unter Antikoagulantien-Therapie. MMW 116:373-378
- 14. Sluga E. Donis J, Grünwald P. Vafiadis K (1983) Intracerebrale Blutungen. Nervenarzt 54:181-185
- 15. Winter R (1984) Antikoagulantientherapie mit Phenprocoumon (Marcumar) unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Komplikationen. Dissertation Bochum
- 16. Wintzen AR, Tijssen JGP (1982) Subdural hematoma and oral anticoagulant therapy. Arch Neurol 39:69-72

## Subject Index

Abdominal aorta 208 Ability to work 36 -, recovery of 39 Acoustic neurinoma 199,264 Acute midbrain syndrome 258 Acute subdural hematoma 53,181 -, mortality 44,53,54 -, prognosis 55 -, survival rates 49 Acute traumatic subdural hematoma, outcome 49 Adenocarcinoma of the mastoid, clinical findings 145 AEP lesions patterns 113 AEP outcome prediction 115 AEPs, see Auditory evoked potentials Age 121 Age distribution in craniocerebral trauma patients 63 Y-Aminobutyric acid 322 Anacusis 181 Anencephalics 331 Anencephaly 331 Aneurysm 198,203 Aneurysm surgery 214 Angiogram 217 Angiography 237,295,299 Anoxemia 319 Anterior cerebral artery 215 Anterior communicating artery aneurysm 198 Anterior cranial fossa 183 Anterior inferior cerebellar artery 184 Anterior siphon knee, approaches 153 Anticoagulant therapy 357 Antidromic neurography 174 Apallic syndrome Apnea 237,243,276 Aqueduct 353 94 Arachnoid cyst 354 Areflexia 276 Arterial air embolism 230

Arterial compression 180 Arterial hypertension 182,249 Arterio-/arterioloscerosis 182 Arteriovenous malformation 189, 202 -, spinal 222 Artificial ventilation 237,316 Astrocytoma 346 Asymmetry 105 Auditory evoked potentials (AEPs) 111,237,254,275 Auditory evoked responses 281 BAEPs, see Brain stem auditory evoked potentials BAERs, see Brain stem auditory evoked responses "Balanced" (neuro)anesthesia 176 Basal ganglia 195 Basilar arterial occlusion 271 Basilar artery 183,184,312 Basilar artery thrombosis 238,274 Basilar cistern 353 Basilar thrombosis 270 Blink reflex 270 Biphasic flow 305 Blind duct 306 Blood flow velocity 337 Blood pressure 182 -, diastolic 189 Boron neutron capture therapy 344 Brain contusion 272 Brain death 87,88,237,246,251,259, 264,275,281,299,316,321,331 -, evoked responses 94 Brain death/coma 95,243 Brain death syndrome 264,292 Brain edema 264 -, temporal development 82 Brain injured patients 93 -, evoked respones and outcome Brain injury 93 95 Brain injury -, organizational model for treatment 78 -, in twins 60

Brain stem 175,185,225,237,289 Brain stem acoustic evoked responses, see Brain stem auditory evoked responses Brain stem areflexia 237,243 Brain stem auditory evoked potentials (BAEPs) 100,259,270, Cerebral aneurysm 208 275 -, lethal outcome 108 Brain stem auditory evoked responses (BAERs) 94,259,281, 324 Brain stem death 237,243 Brain stem infarction 261 Brain stem lesions 94 -, alterations of BAERs 94 -, BAERs 95 -, primary acute 102 -, primary traumatic, bilateral change of CCT 105 -, secondary 102,103 -, -, SEP changes 103,104 -, secondary traumatic 105 Brain stem reflexes 270,295 Brain swelling, temporal development 84,85 Brain tumors 246 Bulbar brain syndrome 271,328,359, Cerebral vascular resistance 360 Burning pain 178 Calvaria 183 Cardiac arrest 316 Cardiac insufficiency 181 Cardiač rhythm 316 Cardiorespiratory functions 237 Cardiovascular system 191 Carotid bifurcation 312 Caudal cranial nerves 129 Caudal medulla oblongata 268 Caudate nucleus 195 Cavernous aneurysm 201 Cavernous sinus 154,155,164 -, combined approach 160,162 -, -, location of tumor 160 -, -, postoperative complications 160,162 -, microsurgical approaches 153, 154 -, pterional approach 159 -, subtemporal approach 159 -, transsylvian-subtemporal approach 158,162 -, tumors 158,159,161 Carvernous sinus surgery for tumor lesions 156 CBF, see Cerebral blood flow CCT, see Central (somatosensory) conduction time Central (somatosensory) conduction 98,102,103,117,121 time (CCT) -, clinical outcome 106

-, findings 104 -, prognostic value 99 Cerebellar hemorrhage 357 Cerebellar metastasis 200 Cerebellopontine angle 174,200 Cerebellum 178 -, ruptured 337 Cerebral angiography 240,310 Cerebral areflexia 252 Cerebral blood flow (CBF) 87,289, 342 -, oscillating 305 Cerebral blood flow velocities 304 Cerebral circulatory arrest 310 Cerebral death 270,295,327 Cerebral edema 321 Cerebral index (CI) 345 Cerebral ischemia 254 Cerebral midline lesions 113 Cerebral midline structures 112 Cerebral peduncle 183,195 Cerebral perfusion 292,347 Cerebral perfusion pressure 294, 304,314 Cerebral trauma 51 314 Cerebral vasospasm 214 Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) 351 Cerebrovascular resistance (CVR) 306 Cervical paragangliomas 134 -, angiographic studies 137 Cervico-oto-neurosurgical approach 146 Chemodectomas 133,141,143, see also Glomus jugulare tumors -, arterial blood supply 143 -, classification 143 -, tumor localisation 143 Chemotherapy 344,349 Choroid plexus of fourth ventricle 355 Chronic subdural hematoma 200 Circle of Willis 337 Circulatory arrest 296 Cisterns 121 Clinical findings in neurinoma patients 142 Clipping 201,204,214 -, temporary 169,205 Clivus 227 Clivus chordoma, clinical findings 145 Closed brain injury 57 Coarctation of the aorta 182 Coma 237,268,283,316 Coma and brain death 95,243 Coma grade 19 Comatose children, long-term outcome 18

Commissural fibers 195 Complete disability to work (CDW) 38 Complete recovery 36 Complex cortical functions 60 Computed tomography 27 -, lesions of orbit 11 -, scans 121 Conventional spin echo multiecho 352 Corneal reflex 252 Cortex 194 Cortical death 237 Cortical hyperemia 293 Cortical potentials 267 Cortical SEPs 103,104,106 Corticospinal pyramidal tract 281 Cranial nerve 183,188 Cranial nerve vascular syndromes 188 Craniocerebral topography 194 Craniocerebral trauma 61 -, age distribution 63 -, rehabilitation 62 Craniopharyngiomas 170 Craniospinal tumors 225 Craniotomy 204 CSF, see Cerebrospinal fluid CSF circulation 354 CSF fistula repair 198 CSF leakage 168 CT, see Computed tomography Current jump 176 Cytotoxic cerebral edema 322 Declaration of death 328 Degenerative diseases 223 Degree of coma 73 Diabetes insipidas 271 Diastolic backflow 305 Diastolic blood pressure 189 Diastolic flow 300 Diffuse brain injury 71 Dizziness 181 Dopamine agonist 166 Doppler sonography 170 Drug intoxication 316 Duplex scanning 295 Duration of coma 20,27,36,40,69 - and profession 41 Early recurrence 179 Echo sequence 354 EEG, see Electroencephalogram EEG recordings 249 Electrocortical silence (ECS) 237 Electrocortigram 254 Electroencephalogram (EEG) 237, 270,329 Electroencephalography 295 Electromyography (EMG) 287

Electronic microclip 212 Elevated intracranial pressure 182 Encephalitis 199 Encephalitis disseminata 181 Endothelial lamina 209 Endothelial meningioma 345 Epidermoid tumor 174 Epidermoids -, clinical findings 145 -, of posterior cranial fossa 142 Essential hypertension 188 Evoked brain stem potentials 250, see also Brain stem auditory evoked potentials Evoked potential measurements 240 Evoked potential monitoring 94,95 Evoked potential neuromonitoring 176 Evoked potentials 259,270,272,275, 281 Evoked responses and brain death 94 Evoked responses and outcome for brain injured patients 95 External stereotactic irradiation 344 Extracranial ultrasound Doppler sonography 295 Facial nerve 174,270 Facial palsy 175 False neurotransmitters 322 Fibromeningioma 345 Fibrous dysplasia 164 Fisher's CT grading 338 FLASH 354 Flow velocity 341 Foramen jugulare surgery 148 Foramen magnum 225,227,238 Foramen magnum window 310 Fourth ventricle 355 Fracture 200 Fulminant hepatic failure 321 Gaeltec probes 304 GCS, see Glasgow coma score GCS score group 114 Giant aneurysm 198 Glabella reflex 270 Glasgow coma score (GCS) 47,98, 323 -, and mortality 47 Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) 19,20, 50,51,69,118,204,215 Glioblastoma 347 Glioma 200,346 Glomus jugulare tumors 143, see also Chemodectomas 27,240,271, -, operative technique 144 -, selective embolization of feeding vessels 144

-, symptomatology 142 Glucocorticoids 322 Glutaraldehyde 208 Glycerol 339 Harvard criteria 329 Head-injured children 19 Head-injured patients, CT findings 81,86 Head injury 36,97,246,310 -, CT 33 -, CT findings 118 -, Glasgow outcome scale 118 -, long-term outcome 27 -, MRI 33 -, statistics 118 Head injury in children, long-term outcome 17 Hemangioblastoma 200 Hemangioepithelioid endothelioma 145 Hematoma 216 Hemifacial spasm 174,184,188 Hemiparesis 168 Hemiplegia 359 Hemodialysis 321 Hemofiltration 322 Hemorrhage 270,357 Hepatic encephalopathy 321 Hepatocellular necrosis 321 Herniation 293 High pressure coma 70 HIPDM SPECT 344 HMPAO SPECT 344 Hormoné-secreting adenomas 166 Hydrocephalus 200,352 Hyperlipidemia 189 188,189,201,258 Hypertension Hyperthermia 181 Hypertonic solutions 342 Hyperuricemia 189 Hyperventilation 324 Hypervolemic hemodilution 339 Hypoacusis 181,183 Hypoxemia 319 Hypoxia 270 ICP, see Intracranial pressure ICP wave analysis 69 Idiopathic arterial hypertension 182 Increased intracranial pressure 283,287,292,337 Infection 200 Infectious diseases 249 Infraclinoidal aneurysm 153 Insula Reilii 195 Integration level 60 Intellectual functions 57 Intensive care unit (ICU) 198 Interdisciplinary organization 79 Interferon 344

Internal acoustic meatus 175 Internal capsule 194 Internal carotid artery 215 Intracerebellar hemorrhage 181 Intracerebral hematoma 241,276, 296 Intracerebral hemorrhage 310,360 Intracisternal electrostimulation 174 Intracranial circulation 301 Intracranial circulatory arrest (ICCA) 299,304,310 Intracranial hematoma, mortality 47 Intracranial hemodynamics 339 Intracranial hemorrhage 357 Intracranial hypertension 304, 310 Intracranial pressure (ICP) 73, 87,302 and prognosis 71 Intranuclear inclusion bodies 322 Intraventricular tumor 352 Isotope cisternography 354 Isotope scanning 295 Ivalon patches 181 Jaundice 321 Jugular foramen 129 -, anatomy 125 -, measurements 126 -, surgery 140,148 127 -, vessels Jugular foramen neurinoma 150 -, clinical picture 141 Jugular paraganglioma 134 Klingler's fiber dissection method 194 Kyphosis 220 Lack of cerebral perfusion 88 Laminectomy 222 Laser Doppler flowmetry 337 Late recurrence 179 Lateral approach 225 Legal complications 332 Lesion of nucleus caudatus 114 Lesions of orbit, CT 11 Lethal outcome, BAEPs 108 -, SEPs 109 Linear accelerator 344 Linear regression analysis 121 Long-term epilepsy 20 Long-term outcome 19,21 -, comatose children 18 -, head injury 27 -, head injury in children 17 Longlasting coma 36,39 Lymphoma 345

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) 27,351 240,344 Malignant brain tumors Mannitol 322 Masseter reflex 270 Mastoid approach 225 Maximum ICP 74 Meckel's cave, tumors 158,159,161 Medulla 182,185 Meningioma 164,174,199,200,296, 345 -, of skull base 142,164 Meningitis 181 Meningoencephalitis 261 Mesencephalic syndrome 24 Metastatic carcinoma 166 Microneurosurgery 198 Microphotography 183 Microsurgical approaches to cavernous sinus 153 Microvascular clip 212 Microvascular decompression 174. 178,182,188 Midbrain syndrome 23,328 Middle cerebral artery 215,305,337 Outcome prediction Middle cerebral artery aneurysm 289 Midline shift in CT, mortality 45 78 Model of treatment Monitoring methods 66 Mortality 199 -, acute subdural hematomas 54 -, midline shift in CT 45 Motor cortex 281 Motor evoked potentials (MEPs) 281,287 MR angiography 355 MRI, see Magnetic resonance imaging Multifocal blushes 139 107 Multimodal evoked potentials Multimodality evoked potentials 93 Multiorgan donor 240 Multiple aneurysms 215 Multiple linear regression 118 Multivariate studies 121 Mydriasis 230 Myelography 230 Myocardial infarction 168 Myocardial ischemia 320 Myxoid ependymoma 346 237 Neocortical death Nerve compound action potential 174 168 Nerve palsy 176 Neurapraxia Neurinoma 174 -, of jugular foramen 150 -, symptomatology 142

Neurofibromatosis 220 Neuroinhibitory substances 322 Neurological outcome 115 Neuromuscular blockade 176 Neurosurgical intensive care units 93 Neurovascular compression 182 Normal pressure coma 69,87 Occupational reintegration 61 Oculocephalic reflex 252 Oculomotor trigone 166 Oligodendroglioma 346 Opthalmoplegia 168 Optic radiation 196 Orbitophlebography 8 Organ transplantation 327,331 Organizational model for treatment of brain injuries 78 Orthodromic neurography 174 Oscillating flow 305 Osmotherapy 322 Outcome 69 -, severe head injury 23 -, CT 112 -, evoked potentials 112 -, ICP monitoring 112 Pacemaker 274 324 Papilledema Paraclinoidal aneurysm 153 Paraganglioma 133,134,135,136 -, cervical 134,137 -, -, angiographic studies 137 -, embolization 138 -, endovascular technical aspects 138 -, jugular 134 -, presurgical embolization 138 -, tympanic 134 Paralysis 227,258 Paraparesis 222,352 Paresthesia 181 Parkinson's triangular space 166 Partial recovery 38 Perifocal edema 345 Petrous apex 164 182 Pheochromocytoma Pituitary adenomas 164 Plasmapheresis 321 Pneumonia 200 293 Pontine hemorrhages Positron emission tomography 344 Posterior cerebral artery 183,312 Posterior cranial fossa 183 Posterior fossa 202,253 Posterior fossa hematoma 275 Posterior inferior cerebellar artery 183 Posterior limb 194 Posttraumatic brain edema 83

Posttraumatic coma 17 Posttraumatic CT 31 Posttraumatic unconsciousness 21 Pourcelot index 300 Precentral gyrus 194 "Predictor of survival" 111 Premature aneurysm rupture 206 Premature rupture 206 Presurgical embolization 138,139 Primary brain damage, SEPs 100 Primary brain stem lesions, see Brain stem lesions, primary mary coma 21 Primary coma -, extent, long-term outcome 21 Primary coma grade 19,20 Profession and duration of coma 41 Prognosis -, severe head injury 73,107 -, -, CBF 87 -, -, contrast scan 87 -, -, ICP 87 Prognostic classification 76,77 Prognostic importance - of clinical findings 117 - of CT 117 - of electrophysiological findings 117 Prognostic parameters of severe head injuries 66,113 Prolactin 166 Prothrombin (Quick) index 359 Psychoorganic disorder 181 Pulmonary complications 168 Pulmonary embolism 200 Pulsatility index 300 Pyramidal tract 194 Quadriparesis 199 Radiotherapy 169 Raised intracranial pressure 283, 287,292,337 Real-time evaluation of flow velocity 341 Rebleeding 214 Rebleeding rate 217 Recovery of ability to work 39 Reduced capacity 63 Reduction of earning capacity 61 Reflex of accommodation 252 Regional cerebral blood flow 344 Rehabilitation after craniocerebral Spinous processes 225 trauma 62 Renal failure 322 Reoperation 179 Representation level 60 Respirator 316 Retromatoid craniectomy 184 Retro-olivary sulcus 185 Root entry zone 182,188 Ruptured aneurysm 214,218

Ruptured cerebral aneurysm 337 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) 208 Secondary brain stem lesion, see Brain stem lesion, secondary SEP changes in secondary brain stem lesions 103,104 SEP lesion patterns 113 SEP measurements 69 SEP outcome prediction 115 SEPs, see Somatosensory evoked potentials Serum osmolality Serum urea 73,74 73,74 Severe head injury -, CT 117 -, outcome 23,73 -, prognosis 73,107 -, -, CBF 87 -, -, contrast scan 87 -, -, ICP 87 -, prognostic parameters 66,113 -, SEPs 117 -, -, prognostic importance 117 -, surgical treatment Severe head trauma 304 Single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) 344 -, with iodine 123 (HIPDM SPECT) 344 -, with technetium 99 m (HMPAO SPECT) 344 Sinus rhythm 316 Sitting position 178 Skull base tumors 140 Somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs) 97,102,222,259,264,270, 275,281 -, cortical 103,104,106 -, lethal outcome 109 -, monitoring 107 -, predictor of outcome 117 -, prognostic importance 117 -, prognostic significance 102 -, prognostic value 97 Somatosensory tracts 105 Space-occupying lesions of the orbit 6 Spasmogenic substances 214 Sphenoid ridge 164 Spinal angiography 223 Splenium 195 Spontaneous hemorrhage 246 Spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage 240 State of consciousness 73,74 Sternotomy 220 Strategy of examination 79 Stylomastoid fossa 176

Subarachnoid hemorrhage 198,203, 214,240,241,295,296,314,337, 357 Subarachnoid space 198 Subdural hematoma 97,357 -, chronic 200 Subependymoma 346 Superior petrosal vein 178 Supraselective angiography 135 Survival rate 50,51 -, acute traumatic subdural hematoma 49 Swan-Ganz catheter 338 Symptomatology -, glomus jugulare tumors 142 -, in neurinoma patients 141 Systemic arterial pressure 304 Systolic flow 301 Temporary clipping 169,205 Tentorial edge 164 Tentorial notch 164 Tentorium 183 Tetraparesis 220,227 Thalamocortical systems 274 Thalamus 195,346,348 Thermal coagulation 178 Thoracic spine 220 Thoracotomy 220 Threshold stimuli 174 Time delay, trauma to neurosurgical treatment 50,51 Tinnitus 183 Total cerebral areflexia 251 Transcranial approach to orbit 8 Transcranial cortical stimulation 281 Transcranial Doppler sonography (TCD) 237,240,287,299,300,304, 310,337 Transcranial electrical stimulation 287 Transcranial ultrasound Doppler sonography (TCD) 295, see also Transcranial Doppler sonography Transient hypertension 192 Transplantation 240,295 Transtentorial herniation 285 Transverse arches 225 Trauma 241,296 Trauma population 118 Trauma studies 121 Trauma to surgery, time delay 50 Traumata 270 Traumatic brain edema, prognosis 81 Traumatic brain stem lesions 102 Traumatic complications, course of examinations 80 Traumatic intracranial hematomas 43,47

Traumatic intracranial hemorrhages in elderly people 43 Traumatic lesions -, isolated -, -, of periventricular region 112 -, -, of ventricular region 112 Traumatic normal pressure coma 70 Trigeminal neuralgia 174,178,184, 188 Triggered pain 178 True neurotransmitters 322 Tuberculosis 223 Twins 57 Tympanic paraganglioma 134 Type of cerebral trauma 50 Ultrasonic surgical aspirator 170 Variables after trauma -, clinical parameters 119 -, CT findings 119 -, outcome variable 119 -, SEP results 119 Vascular clip 208 Vascular resistance 300 Vascular tumors, clinical findings 145 Vasospasm 201,214,295,337 Vegetative state 19,31 -, persistent, CT 31 Ventral approach 220 Ventricular arrhythmia 320 Vertebral angiogram 185 Vertebral artery 183,225,312 Vertebrectomy 220 Vestibulo-ocular reflex 252 Viral hepatitis 321 Visual acuity 168 Visual evoked cortical potentials 324 Visual evoked potentials (VEPs) 270,275 WFNS coma scaling 281 Work level 63 Wound infection 181

# M. Samii, Hannover; W. Draf, Fulda Surgery of the Skull Base

1989. 289 figures in 840 separate illustrations. Approx. 500 pages. Hard cover. In preparation. ISBN 3-540-18448-1

Contents: Surgery of the Anterior Skull Base: Surgery of Malformations of the Anterior Skull Base. - Surgery for Trauma to the Anterior Skull Base. - Surgery for Inflammatory Complications in the Region of the Anterior Skull Base. - Surgery of Space-Occupying Lesions of the Anterior Skull Base. - Surgery of Tumors of the Orbit and Adjacent Skull Base. - Special Operative Techniques. Surgery of the Middle Skull Base: Surgery of Traumatic Lesions of the Middle Skull Base. - Surgery of Inflammatory Disorders of the Middle Skull Base. - Surgery of Space-Occupying Lesions of the Middle Skull Base. Surgery of the Posterior Skull Base: Surgery of the Internal Auditory Canal and Cerebellopontine Angle. - Surgery of Tumors of the Lateral Posterior Skull Base and Petrous Bone. - On the Problem of Paralytic Dysphagia Caused by Posterior Skull Base Tumors. Surgery of the Clivus: Introductory Remarks. -General Operative Techniques. Surgery of the Craniocervical Junction: Introductory Remarks. - Operative Technique. Surgery of the Facial Nerve and Skull Base: Introductory Remarks. - General Operative Techniques. - Special Operative Techniques.

This is the first text to consider the skull base as a whole and from an interdisciplinary point of view. It analyzes the wide spectrum of pathological entities which can affect this crossroad region, including anomalies, traumatology, tumors and infectious processes.

The book considers general as well as specific surgical aspects and offers a wealth of excellent drawings and pictures to complement the text.

The reader will find himself equipped with a complete textbook on skull base surgery that emphasizes clinical applications and reflects valuable relevant experience from the fields of both ENT and neurosurgery.



Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York London Paris Tokyo Hong Kong **R. Unsöld**, University of Düsseldorf; **W. Seeger**, University of Freiburg

## **Compressive Optic Nerve Lesions at the Optic Canal**

Pathogenesis - Diagnosis - Treatment

Collaborators: M. Bach, H.-R. Eggert, G. Greeven, J. DeGroot 1989. 88 figures, mostly in color. X, 138 pages. Hard cover. ISBN 3-540-18838-X

Contents: A Narrow Passage - Anatomic Considerations. Topography of the Optic Canal Representing a Predilection of Nerve Compression with Various Pathologic Conditions. -The Clinical Signs and Symptoms of Optic Nerve Compression and Clinical Disease Entities Masking Compressive Lesions. - Ophthalmoscopic Findings. Visual Loss, Visual Field Defects, Afferent Pupillary Defect, Color Vision, -Visual Evoked Potentials in Optic Nerve Compression. - The Concept of Optic Nerve Compression by Dolichoectatic Arteries Revisited. The Literature and Why It Became Forgotten. -Pneumosinus Dilatans - Rarely Diagnosed and Poorly Understood. - CT Findings of Compressive Lesions at the Optic Canal. - Pterional Approach for Microsurgical Decompression of the Optic Nerve. - Intraoperative Findings in Patients with Intracanalicular Optic Nerve Compression. - Selected Case Reports.

This comprehensive monograph opens up sensational new diagnostic and therapeutic perspectives. The topographic information is presented with excellent anatomic preparations. The wide spectrum of symptoms is taken from extensive clinical experience; they are critically analysed and compared to the ophthalmological, neurosurgical, and neuroradiological literature.

The monograph is an excellent source for the ophthalmologic and neurologic clinician who is the first to be confronted with symptoms of optic nerve lesions. For the radiologist, it offers a clear, didactic overview of typical pathological changes of the most important lesions. For the neurosurgeon, the discussion of optimal approach and intraoperative findings points to the possibility of early microsurgical intervention that retains as much function as possible.



Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York London Paris Tokyo Hong Kong